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DEAR SHAREHOLDERS

he past year has been defining one for Chesapeake as

we implemented many strategic and financial changes and

several important governance enhancements all while

navigating the lowest natural gas prices in over decade

In 2012 we sold non-core assets increased our liquids

production reduced our overall rig count by nearly half op

timized our capital expenditures reduced administrative and

operating costs improved safety across our operations and

strengthened our overall financial position Five new indepen

dent directors and new independent non-executive Chair

man have been appointed to our Board of Directors since

June 2012 Aubrey McClendon our co-founder and Chief

Executive Officer agreed with the Board to retire on April

2013 and have been tasked to serve as Acting Chief Execu

tive Officer and as member of newly created three-person

Office of the Chairman Additionally we implemented gover

nance reforms focused on enhancing financial and manage

ment oversight Board accountability to shareholders arid cor

porate responsibility am very proud of our accomplishments

and the contributions of our employees who remain dedicated

and focused in challenging market environment

Looking ahead Chesapeakes management and Board are

aligned on the companys business strategy and objectives We

will continue to execute our plan to develop existing assets

optimize our portfolio through targeted asset sales strengthen

our balance sheet and drive capital efficiencies throughout our

organization am confident this strategy will generate more

efficient production growth stronger cash flow better returns

on capital and greatly improved shareholder returns

As write this letter our operations continue to perform ex

ceptionally well The three main initiatives contributing to our

strong operational performance and improving financial position

include our shift to liquids drilling the core of the core of our

acreage and selling non-core assets

SHWI TO LiQUDS

Chesapeake entered 2012 focused on continued growth of

oil and natural gas liquids production to provide more bal

anced portfolio of cash-flow generating assets This initiative

has been under way since 2010 and am pleased to report

great progress During 2012 our liquids production increased

nearly 47000 barrels per day or 54% year over year ranking

Chesapeake among the top three organic liquids growth stories

in the industry Our liquids plays are generating the strongest

returns in the company and we have accordingly allocated ap

proximately 85% of our drilling and completion capital to liquids

plays in 2013

flow It is now time to realize the benefits of our investments and

deliver efficiency gains as we transition from hold-by-production

drilling to pad drilling across our asset base Our emphasis will

be to concentrate on the core of the core in these plays which

means drilling our best well next

As part of our ongoing efforts to strengthen our financial posi

tion and meet our funding objectives we are executing an asset

sales program primarily targeting non-core assets This enables

us to redirect capital to higher rate-of-return drilling projects and

reduces our total invested capital During 2012 we sold nearly

$12 billion of assets with the largest sales comprising our exits

from the Permian Basin and the midstream business In 2013

we are well on our way to achiev

ing our target of $4 to $7 billion

in asset sales

OUR

Chesapeake has built one of the

largest resource bases in the

domestic exploration and produc

tion industry which we believe

will serve as the foundation for

strong shareholder returns or

cecades to come However the

pa forward for Chesapeake and

its ha eholders is very different from our past Our next chap

ter will be charac erized by continued operational excellence

prudent approach funding future growth hrough fiscal and

capital discipline an increased emphasis on safety the environ

ment and corporate governance and commitment to better

returns for our shareholders

believe we have the best employees and assets in the

business which will enable Chesapeake to further its leader

ship position in the energy industry As we continue to deliver

on our plan Chesapeake will grow stronger and more profitable

and we are also well positioned to reap the benefits of natural

gas price recovery which we believe is beginning to take hold In

my 22 years with Chesapeake have never been more excited

and energized about our future and look forward to Chesa

peake delivering strong results for our shareholders in 2013

and the years ahead

Best regards

Chesapeake has shifted its operational strategy from capturing Steven Dixon

acreage to developing our extensive existing acreage positions Acting Chief Execu we Officer

Chesapeake has invested billion of dollars in leasehold and Chief Operating Officer

infrastructur to deliver decades of production growth and cash April 15 2013
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Part

ITEM Business

Our Business

We are the second-largest producer of natural gas top 11 producer of liquids and the most active driller of wells

in the U.S We own interests in approximately 45400 producing natural gas and oil wells that are currently producing

approximately 3.9 bcfe per day net to our interest The Company has built large resource base of onshore U.S

unconventional natural gas and liquids assets Our core natural gas resource plays are the Haynesville/Bossier Shales

in northwestern Louisiana and East Texas the Marcellus Shale in the northern Appalachian Basin of West Virginia and

Pennsylvania and the Barnett Shale in the Fort Worth Basin of north-central Texas In addition we have built leading

positions in the liquids-rich resource plays of the Eagle Ford Shale in South Texas the Utica Shale in Ohio and

Pennsylvania the Granite Wash Cleveland Tonkawa and Mississippi Lime plays in the Anadarko Basin in northwestern

Oklahoma the Texas Panhandle and southern Kansas and the Niobrara Shalein the Powder River Basin in Wyoming

We have also vertically integrated many of our operations and own substantial marketing compression and oilfield

services businesses

The map below illustrates the locations of Chesapeakes natural gas and oil exploration and production operations

The Companys December 31 2012 estimated proved reserves were 15.690 tcfe decrease of 3.099 tcfe or

17% from 18.789 tcfe at year-end 2011 Thedecrease was primarily price related as natural gas prices in 2012 declined

to the lowest levels in ten years The 2012 proved reserve movement included 6.391 tcfe of extensions downward

revisions of 5.414 tcfe resulting from lower natural gas prices and downward revisions of 1.349 tcfe resulting from

changes to previous estimates In 2012 we produced .422tcfe acquired 42 bcfe and divested 1.347 tcfeof estimated

proved reserves including the disposition of 1.013 tcfe associated with the sale of our Permian Basin assets in

September and October 2012

Natural gas pnces used in estimating proved reserves as of December31 2012 decreased by $1 36 or 33% to

$2.76 per mcf from $4.12 per mcf as of December 31 2011 using the trailing 12-month average prices required by the

Securities and Exchange Commission SEC The reserve reductions included the loss of significant proved

undeveloped reserves primarily in the Barnett Shale and the Haynesville Shale plays for which future development

is uneconomic at the natural gas prices used in the reserve estimates As result of lower natural gas prices leading

to lower estimated reserves we were required to impair the carrying value of our natural gas and oil properties in the

2012 third quarter See Natural Gas and Oil Properties in Note of the notes to our consolidated financial statements

included in Item of this report for further discussion of this impairment and its impact on the consolidated financial

statements

Powder River Basin

Niobrara Shale

Anadarko Basin

Mississippi Lime

Anadarko Basin Cleveland

and Tonkawa Tight Sands

Anadarko Basin

Texas Panhandle Granite Wash

Anadarko Basin Colony Granite Wash
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Eagle Ford Shale

Haynesville/Bossier Shales



Our daily production for 2012 averaged 3.886 bcfe an increase of 614 mmcfe or 19% over the 3.272 bcfe of

daily production for 2011 and consisted of 3.084 bcf 80% on natural gas equivalent basis approximately 85420
bbls of oil 13% on natural gas equivalent basis and approximately 48130 bbls of NGL 7%on natural gas equivalent

basis Our natural gas production in 2012 grew by 12% or 333 mmcf per day our oil production increased by 84%
or approximately 38950 bbls per day and our NGL production increased by 19% or approximately 7820 bbls per

day

Information About Us

Our principal executive offices are located at 6100 North Western Avenue Oklahoma City Oklahoma 73118 and

our main telephone number at that location is 405 848-8000 We make available free of charge on our website at

www.chk.com our annual reports on Form 10-K quarterly reports on Form 10-Q current reports on Form 8-K and

amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file suOh material with or furnish

it to the SEC From time to time we also post announcements updates events investor information and presentations

on our website in addition to copies of all recent news releases References to Chesapeake the Company us
we and our in this report are to Chesapeake Energy Corporation together with its subsidiaries unless the context

otherwise requires

Business Strategy

Since our inception in 1989 Chesapeakes primary goal has been to create value for investors by building and

developing one of the largest onshore natural gas and liquids-rich resource bases in the U.S Key elements of this

business strategy are further explained below

Grow Through the Drilibit We believe that our most distinctive characteristic is our commitment and ability to

grow production and proved reserves organically through the drillbit at low cost in areas with large unconventional

accumulations of natural gas and liquids We are currently utilizing 83 operated drilling rigs and 31 non-operated drilling

rigs to conduct the most active drilling program in the U.S We are active in most of the nations major unconventional

plays where we drill more horizontal wells than any other company in the industry For many years we have invested

large amounts of capital in undeveloped leasehold three dimensional 3-D seismic information and human resources

to take full advantage of our capacity to grow through the drillbit As result of those investments we have been able

to increase production for 23 consecutive years We believe the success of our drilling program is largely due to our

recognition earlier than most of our competitors that advanced horizontal drilling and completion techniques would

enable development of previously uneconomic natural gas and liquids-rich reservoirs and that as consequence
various unconventional formations could be recognized and developed as potentially prolific reservoirs For 2013 and

beyond we anticipate spending significantly less than in previous years on undeveloped leasehold oilfield service

assets and other fixed assets and at the same time benefiting from our past investment in non-drilling assets that

facilitate our ability to drill the best wells in the most efficient manner

Increase Liquids Production In recognition of the value gap between liquids and natural gas prices that has

widened to historic levels in the last five years we have directed significant portion of our technological and leasehold

acquisition expertise to identify secure and commercialize new unconventional liquids-rich plays This planned

transition will result in more balanced and likely more profitable portfolio between natural gas and liquids To date

we have established production in multiple liquids-rich plays on approximately 6.4 million net acres Our production of

liquids averaged approximately 133550 bbls per day during 2012 54% increase over the average during 2011 as

result of the increased development of our unconventional liquids-rich plays In 2012 approximately 85% of our

drilling and completion expenditures were allocated to liquids-rich plays compared to 50% in 2011 and 30% in 2010

We are projecting that 85% of our operated drilling and completion expenditures will be allocated to liquids development
in 2013 as well and we expect to increase our liquids production through our drilling activities by approximately 27%
in 2013 compared to 2012 net of expected asset sales We project that liquids will account for more than 25% of our

2013 production and approximately 60% of our natural gas oil and NGL revenue after differentials and realized

hedging

Control Substantial Land and Drilling Location Inventories Recognizing that better horizontal drilling and

completion technologies when applied to various new unconventional reservoirs would likely create unique

opportunity to capture many years worth of drilling opportunities we aggressively acquired leases in natural gas shale

plays from 2006 through 2008 and unconventional oil plays from 2009 through 2011 We believe our lease acquisition

program has given us competitive advantages in some of the best unconventional resource plays in the U.S As of

December 31 2012 we held approximately 15 million net acres of onshore leasehold in the U.S We believe this

extensive leasehold position provides substantial opportunities for future growth and offers valuable divestiture



opportunities as we focus on developing the most promising of our plays Our undeveloped leasehold acquisition phase

is now substantially complete We spent approximately 50% less on new leasehold in 2012 than in2011 and are

forecasting to spend approximately 75% less in 2013than in 2012

Focus our Operations in the Core of the Core of Our Leasehold We have made significant acquisitions of

leasehold inventoryand necessary investments in infrastructure oilfield services seismic data and human resources

that have allowed us to drill wells more successfully and at lower cost Recently we have shifted our focus to the

development of the 10 plays in which we have or ownership position In an effort to optimize our portfolio

around our core natural gas and oil properties during 2012we completed sales of non-core natural gas and oil

properties midstream and other assets for proceeds of approximately $12 billion including $1.25 billion from the sale

of preferred security in subsidiary and in 2013 we are planning to sell additional natural gas and oil properties as

well as midstream certain oilfield services and other assets that do not fit our long-term plans for expected additional

proceeds of approximately $4 -$7 billion We expect that much higher percentage of our total expenditures in 2013

will be directed toward drilling and completion activities By concentrating on the core of the core of our assets we

believe we can leverage our past investments to prioritize our drilling program around our highest-return assets and

enhance returns on capital

Improve Our Balance Sheet through Reduction of Debt Our strategic and financial plan calls for reduced long-

term debt along with continued growth in production We believe that reduced debt and continued growth in our asset

base will lead to investment grade metrics We expect to reduce debt primarily with proceeds from asset sales Among

the several benefits of lower debt are lower borrowing costs and we believe improved credit metrics will lead to more

favorable debt ratings by the major ratings agencies over time

Mitigate Natural Gas and Oil Price Risk We have used and intend to continue using our hedging program to

mitigate the risks inherent in developing and producing natural gas and liquids rich resources and to provide level

of cash flow certainty We intend to periodically use the volatility in natural gas and oil prices to our benefit by adjusting

our hedge position when market prices reach levels that management believes are either unsustainable for the long

term have material risk in the short term or offer unusually high rates of return on oUr invested capital We currently

have downside hedge protection on approximately 85% of our expected 2013 oil production and 50% of our expected

2013 natural gas production which equates to approximately 72% of our expected 2013 natural gas oil and NGL

revenue after differentials We have also hedged significant portion of our projected 2014 oil production

Focus on Low Costs and Vertical Integration By minimizing lease operating expenses through focused activities

vertical integration and increased scale we strive to deliver attractive profit margins and financial returns through all

phases of the commodity price cycle Our operational efficiencies are reflected in faster spud-to-spud cycle times

overall decreases in production costs per unit and economies of scale from pad drilling We believe our low cost

structure is the result of managements effective cost-control programs high-quality asset base and access to oilfield

services especially those we own through our wholly and non-wholly owned subsidiaries and natural gas processing

and transportation infrastructures that exist in our key operating areas Our high level of drilling activity and production

volumes create considerable value for our oilfield services and compression businesses As of December 31 2012

we operated approximately 27200 of our 45400 gross wells which delivered approximately 85% of our daily production

volume This large percentage of operated properties provides us with high degree of operational flexibility and cost

control

Maintain an Entrepreneurial Culture As an employer of approximately 12000 people and an indirect employer

of tens of thousands more we take pride in our innovative and aggressive implementation of our business strategy

and strive to be as entrepreneurial today as we were when we were much smaller company We have maintained

an unusually flat organizational structure as we have grown to help ensure that important information travels rapidly

through the Company and decisions are made and implemented quickly Our efforts in the development of our human

resources have been recognized by many most recently Fortune Magazine which in January 2013 named Chesapeake

the 26th best company to work for in the U.S including the second highest ranked company within the U.S oil and

gas industry This was the sixth year in row that we have been named by Fortune as one of the 100 Best Companies

to Work for in America



Operating Divisions

Chesapeake focuses its exploration development acquisition and production efforts in the four geographic

operating divisions described below

Southern Division Primarily includes the Haynesville/Bossier Shales in northwestern Louisiana and East Texas

and the Barnett Shale in the Fort Worth Basin of north central Texas

Northern Division The Mid-Continent region principally the Anadarko Basin in northwestern Oklahoma the Texas

Panhandle and southern Kansas including the Mississippi Lime Cleveland and Tonkawa tight sands and Granite

Wash plays

Eastern Division Primarily includes the Marcellus Shale in the northern Appalachian Basin of West Virginia and

Pennsylvania andthe Utica Shale in Ohio and Pennsylvania

We stern Division Primarily includes the Eagle Ford Shale in South Texas the Niobrara Shale in the Powder River

Basin in Wyoming and prior to November 2012 the Perniian and Delaware Basins of West Texas and southern New
Mexico In September and October 2012 we sold all of our producing properties gathering business and substantially

all of our leasehold in the Permian and Delaware Basins

Well Data

At December31 2012 we had interests in approximately 45400 gross 21200 net productive wells including

properties in which we held an overriding royalty interest of which 37300 gross 18500 net were classified as primarily

natural gas productive wells and 100 gross 700 net were classified as primarily oil productive wells Chesapeake

operates approximately 27 200 of its 45 400 productive wells During 2012 we drilled 642 gross 1111 net wells

and participated in another 959 gross 161 net wells operated by other companies We operate approximately 85%
of our current daily production volumes



Development

Productive..

Dry

Total

Exploratory

Productive

Dry

Total

99

100

Drilling Activity

The following table sets forth the wells we drilled or participated in during the periods indicated In the table gross

refers to the total wells in which we had working interest and net refers to gross wells multiplied by our working

interest

2012 2011 2010

Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net

2075 99 956 99 2536 99 1077 99 2721 99 1031

21 10 30 12
____

2096 100 961 100 2546 100 1080 100 2751 100 1043
____

495 98 305 98 430 99 201 99 265 95 99 93

10 .1 15

505 100 311 100 433 100 202 100 280 100 106 100

The following table shows the wells we drilled or participated in by operating division

2012 2011

Gross Net Gross Net

Wells Wells Wells Wells
________

363 183 1104 550

942 441 1076 342

578 264 371 149

718 384 428 241
________ _______

2601 1272 2979 1282
________ _______

net wells in drilling orcompleting status

Southern

Northern

Eastern

Western

Total

At December 31 2012 we had 1033 461

2010

Gross Net

Wells Wells

1023 495

1371 369

367 140

270 145

3031 1149



1.77

90.49

29.89

3.77

2.07

91.74

29.37

4.02

119

142

0.92

0.13

0.38

1.76

0.21

0.06

1004.1

17.0

14.7

1194.2

3.12

89.80

40.96

4.40

4.77

86.25

38.12

5.70

123

119

924.9

10.9

7.5

1035.2

3.43

75.29

34.38

4.10

5.57

82.10

34.38

6.09

127

32

Production Sales Prices and Expenses

The following table sets forth information regarding the production volumes natural gas oil and NGL sales

average sales prices received other operating income and expenses for the periods indicated

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

1128.8

31.3

17.6

1422.1

2004 3133 3169

328 1656 1982

331 669 425

2001 4120 5576

2829 1523 822

39 60 74

857 128 1033
3725 1335 137

526 603 257

42
35 49

552 569 208

6278 6024 5647

Net Production

Natural gas bcf

Oil mmbbl
NGL mmbbl

Natural gas equivalent bcfea

Natural Gas Oil and NGL Sales in millions

Natural gas sales

Natural gas derivatives realized gains losses

Natural gas derivatives unrealized gains losses

Total natural gas sales

Oil sales

Oil derivatives realized gains losses

Oil derivatives unrealized gains losses

Total oil sales

NGL sales

NGL derivatives realized gains losses

NGL derivatives unrealized gains losses

Total NGL sales

Total natural gas oil and NGL sales.

Average Sales Price excluding gains losses on derivatives

Natural gas per mcf

Oil
per bbl

NGL per bbl

Natural gas equivalent per mcfe

Average Sales Price excluding unrealized gains losses on derivatives

Natural gas per mcf

Oil per bbl

NGL per bbl

Natural gas equivalent per mcfe

Other Operating lncome in millions

Marketing gathering and compression net margin

Oilfield services net margin

Expenses per mcfe
Natural gas oil and NGL production

Production taxes

General and administrative expenses

Natural gas oil and NGL depreciation depletion and amortization

Depreciation and amortization of other assets

Interest expense

0.90 0.86

0.16 0.15

0.46 0.44

1.37 1.35

0.24 0.21

0.03 0.08



Natural gas equivalent is based on six mcf of natural gas to one barrel of oil or one barrel of NGL This ratio

reflects an energycontent equivalency and not price or revenue equivalency Given recent natural gas oil and

NGL prices the price for an mcfe of natural gas is significantly less than the price for an mcfe of oil or NGL

Includes revenue and operating costs and excludes depreciation and amortization of other assets See

Depreciation and Amortization of OtherAssets under Results of Operations in Item of this report for details of

the depreciation and amortization of other assets associated with our marketing gathering and compression and

oilfield services operating segments

Includes the effects of realized gains losses from interest rate derivatives but excludes the effects of unrealized

gains losses and is net of amounts capitalized

Natural Gas Oil and NGL Reserves

The tables below set forth information as of December 31 2012 with respect to our estimated proved reserves

the associated estimated future net revenue and present value discounted at an annual rate of 10% of estimated

future net revenue before and after future income taxes standardized measure at such date Neither the pre-tax

present value of estimated future net revenue nor the after-tax standardized measure is intended to represent the

current market value of the estimated natural gas oil and NGL reserves we own All of our estimated natural gas and

oil reserves are located within the U.S

December 31 2012

Natural Gas Oil NGL Total

bcf mmbbl mmbbl bcfe

Proved developed 7174 162.9 132.1 8944

Proved undeveloped 3759 332.6 165.2 6746

Total proved 10933 495.5 297.3 15690

Proved Proved Total

Developed Undeveloped Proved

in millions

Estimated future net revenue 20510 21779 42289

Present value of estimated future net revenue 10793 6980 17773

Standardized measure 14666

Natural Percent of

Natural Gas Proved Present

Operating Division Gas Oil NGL Equivalent Reserves Value

bcf mmbbl mmbbl bcfe millions

Southern 3532 11.7 23.4 3742 24% 1527

Northern 680 153 130 385 28% 834

Eastern 891 34 155 26% 901

Western 830 320.8 108.8 3408 22% 7511

Total 10933 495.5 297.3 15690 100% 17773

Natural gas equivalent based on six mcf of natural gas to one barrel of oil or NGL

Includes 91 bcf of natural gas mmbbl of oil and mmbbl of NGL reserves owned by the Chesapeake Granite

Wash Trust 45 bcf of natural gas mmbbl of oil and mmbbl of NGL of which are attributable to the noncontrolling

interest holders

Estimated future net revenue represents the estimated futuregross revenue to be generated from the production

of proved reserves net of estimated production and future development costs using prices and costs under

existing economic conditions as of December 31 2012 For the purpose of determining prices we used the

unweighted arithmetic average of the prices on the first day of each month within the 12-month period ended

December 31 2012 The prices used in our reserve reports were $2.76 per mcf of natural gas and $94.84 per

barrel of oil before price differential adjustments Including the effect of price differential adjustments the prices



used in our reserve reports were $1.75 per mcf of natural gas $91.78 per barrel of oil and $30.81 per barrel of

NGL These prices should not be interpreted as prediction of future prices nor do they reflect the value of our

commodity derivative instruments in place as of December31 2012 The amounts shown do not give effect to

non-property related expenses such as corporate general and administrative expenses and debt service or to

depreciation depletion and amortization The present value of estimated future net revenue differs from the

standardized measure only because th former does not include the effects of estimated future income tax

expenses $3 billion as of December31 2012

Management uses future net revenue which is calculated without deducting estimated future income tax

expenses and the present value thereof as one measure of the value of the Companys current proved reserves

and to compare relative values among peer companies We also understand that securities analysts and rating

agencies use this measure in similarways While future net revenue and present value are based on prices costs

and discount factors which are consistent from company to company the standardized measure of discounted
future net cash flows is dependent on the unique tax situation of each individual company

Additional information on the standardized measure is presented in Note 10 of the notes to our consolidated

financial statements included in Item of this report

As of December 31 2012 our reserve estimates included 6.746 tcfe of reserves classified as proved undeveloped

PUD compared to 8.683tcfe as of December 31 2011 Presented belowis summary of changes in our proved

undeveloped reserves for 2012

Total

bcfe
Proved undeveloped reserves beginning of period 8683

Extensions discoveries and other additions 4161

Revisions of previous estimates 4778
Developed 961
Sale of reserves-in-place 363
Purchase of reserves-in-place

Proved undeveloped reserves end of period 6746

Included in this amount are 4009 bcfe of downward price-related revisions

As of December 31 2012 there were no PUDs that had remained undeveloped for five years or more In 2012
we invested approximately $1 .035 billion net of drilling and completion cost carries of $86 million to convert 961 bcfe

of PUDs to proved developed reserves In 2013 we estimate that we will invest approximately $2 billion net of drilling

and completion cost carries of $95 million for PUD conversion

The future net revenue attributable to our estimated proved undeveloped reserves of $21 .779 billion as of

December 31 2012 and the $6.980 billion present value thereof has been calculated assuming that we will expend

approximately $12.0 billion to develop these reserves $2.4 billion in 2013 $2.2 billion in 2014 $2.6 billion in 2015
$2.6 billion in 2016 and $2.2 billion in 2017 although the amount and timing of these expenditures will depend on

number of factors including actual drilling results service costs commodity prices and the availability of capital

Chesapeake developmental drilling schedules are subject to revision and reprioritization throughout the year resulting

from unknowable factors such as the relative success in an individual developmental drilling prospect leading to an

additional drilling opportunity rig availability title issues or delays and the effect that acquisitions or dispositions may
have on prioritizing developmental drilling plans

The SECs rules for reporting reserves allow the booking of proved undeveloped reserves at locations greater

distances from producing wells than immediate offsets All proved reserves are required to meet reasonable certainty

standards thus locations more than direct offsets to producing wells must be shown to be underlain by the productive

formation Reasonable certainty also requires that the formation is continuous between the producing wells and the

PUD locations and that the PUDs are economically viable



Our proved reservesas of December 31 2012 included PUDs more than directly offsetting producing wells in

two resource plays the Marcellus Shale and the EagleFord Shale In all other areas we restricted PUD locations to

immediate offsets to producing wells Within the Marcellus and Eagle Ford Shale plays we used both public and

proprietary geologicdata to establish continuity of the formation and its producing properties This included seismic

data and interpretations 2-D 3-D and micro seismic open hole log information collected both vertically and

horizontally and petrophysical analysis of the log data mud logs gas sample analysis drill cutting samples

measurements of total organic content thermal maturity sidewall cores whole cores and data measured in our internal

core analysis facility After the geologic area was shown to be continuous statistical analysis of existing producing

wells wasconducted to generate an area of reasonable certainty at distances from established production Undrilled

locations within this proved area could be booked as PUDs However due to other factors and requirements of SEC

reserves reporting rules numerous locations within the proved area of these two statistically evaluated plays have not

yet been booked as PUDs

Our annual net decline rate on producing properties is projected to be 33% from 2013 to 2014 22% from 2014

to 2015 17% from 2015 to 2016 14% from 2016 to 2017 and 12% from 2017 to 2018 Of our 8.9 tcfe of proved

developed reserves as of December31 2012 1.2 tcfe were non-producing

Chesapeakes ownership interest used in calculating proved reserves and the associated estimated future net

revenue was determined after giving effect to the assumed maximum participation by other parties to our farm-out and

participation agreements The prices used in calculating the estimated future net revenue attributable to proved reserves

do not reflect market prices for natural gas and oil production sold subsequent to December 31 2012 The estimated

proved reserves may not be produced and sold at the assumed prices

The Companys estimated proved reserves and the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows

of the proved reserves as of December31 2012 2011 and 2010 and the changes in quantities and standardized

measure of such reserves for each of the three years then ended are shown in Note 10 of the notes to the consolidated

financial statements included in Item of this report No estimates of proved reserves comparable to those included

herein have been included in reports to any federal agency other than the SEC

There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating quantities of proved reserves and in projecting future

rates of production and timing of development expenditures including many factors beyond ourcontrol The reserve

data represent only estimates Reserve engineering is subjective process of estimating underground accumulations

of natural gas and oil that cannot be measured exactly and the accuracy of any reserve estimate is function of the

quality of available data and of engineering and geological interpretation and judgment As result estimates made

by different engineers often vary In addition results of drilling testing and production subsequent to the date of an

estimate may justify revision of such estimates and such revisions may be material Accordingly reserve estimates

often differ from the actual quantities of natural gas oil and NGL that are ultimately recovered Furthermore the

estimated future net revenue from proved reserves and the associated present value are based upon certain

assumptions including prices future production levels and costs that may not prove correct Future prices and costs

may be materially higher or lower than the prices and costs as of the date of any estimate

Chesapeakes management uses forward-looking market-based data in developing its drilling plans assessing

its capital expenditure needs and projecting future cash flows We believe that using the 10-year average future NYMEX

strip prices yields better indication of the likely economic producibility of proved reserves than the trailing average

12-month price required by the SECs reserves reporting rules Reserve volumes represent estimated production to

be sold in the future Futures prices such as the 10-year average NYMEX strip prices represent an unbiased consensus

estimate by market participants about the likely prices to be received for future production We hedge substantial

amounts of future production based on futures prices While historical data such as the trailing 12-month average

price required by the SEC reporting rule facilitate comparisons of proved reserves from company to company and

may be helpful in discerning trends such as price-related effects on end-user demand the price at which we can sell

our production in the future is by far the major determinant of the likely economic producibility of our reserves 12-

month average price adjusts slowly to falling or rising prices further detracting from its usefulness as predictor of

the prices at which future production will actually be sold



The table below compares our estimated proved reserves and associated present value discounted at an annual

rate of 10% of estimated future revenue before income tax using the 2012 12-month average prices of $2.76 per mcf

and $94.84 per bbl before price differential adjustments reflected in our reported reserve estimates and the 10-year

averagefuture NYMEX strip prices as of December 31 2012which were $4.85 per mcf and $87.90 per bbl before

price differential adjustments Our cost and other assumptions are the same under the two pricing scenarios

December31 2012

Natural Gas Oil NGL Total Present Value

bcf mmbbl mmbbl bcfe in millions

2012 12-month average prices SEC .. 10933 495.5 297.3 15690 17773

10-year average future NYMEX strip

prices as of December 31 2012b 14742 497.2 304.2 19550 27927

Volumes represent proved reserves as defined in Rule 4-1 0a22 of Regulation S-X

Volumes do not represent proved reserves as defined in Rule 4-10a22 of Regulation S-X

Reserves Estimation

Chesapeake Reservoir Engineering Department prepared approximately 11% of the proved reserves estimates

by volume disclosed in this report Those estimates were based upon the best available production engineering and

geologic data

Chesapeake Vice President of Corporate Reserves is the technical person primarily responsible for overseeing

the preparation of the Company reserve estimates His qualifications include the following

37 years of practical experience in petroleum engineering including 34 years of this experience in the

estimation and evaluation of reserves

registered professional engineer in the state of Oklahoma

Bachelor of Science degree in Petroleum Engineering and

member in good standing of the Society of Petroleum Engineers

We ensure that the key members of the Department have appropriate technical qualifications to oversee the

preparation of reserves estimates including with respect to our engineers minimum of an undergraduate degree

in petroleum mechanical or chemical engineering or other applicable technical discipline With respect to our

engineering technicians minimum of four-year degree in mathematics economics finance or other technical

business/science field is required We maintain continuous education program for our engineers and technicians on

new technologies and industry advancements as well as refresher training on basic skills and analytical techniques

We maintain internal controls such as the following to ensure the reliability of reserves estimations

We follow comprehensive SEC compliant internal policies to determine and report proved reserves

Reserves estimates are made by experienced reservoir engineers or under their direct supervision

The Reservoir Engineering Department reviews all of the Companys reported proved reserves at the close

of each quarter

Each quarter Reservoir Engineering Department managers the Vice President of Corporate Reserves the

Executive Vice President of Production and the Chief Operating Officer review all significant reserves

changes and all new proved undeveloped reserves additions

The Reservoir Engineering Department reports independently of any of our operating divisions
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We engaged three third-party engineering firms to prepare portions of our reserves estimates comprising

approximately 89% of oUr estimated proved reserves by volume at year-end 2012 The portion of our estimated

proved reserves prepared by each of our third-party engineering firms as of December 31 2012 is presented below

Prepared

by Volume Operating Division

Ryder Scott Company L.P 44% Northern Western

PetroTechnical Services Division of

Schlumberger Technology Corporation
24% Eastern

Netherland Sewell Associates Inc 21% Southern

Copies of the reports issued by the engineering firms are filed with this report as Exhibits 99.1 through 99.3 The

qualifications of the technical person at each of these firms primarily responsible for overseeing his firms preparation

of the Companys reserve estimates are set forth below

Ryder Scott Company L.P

over 30 years of practical experience in the estimation and evaluation of reserves

registered professional engineer in the state of Texas

Bachelor of Science degree in Electrical Engineering

member in good standing of the Society of Petroleum Engineers and the Society of Petroleum Evaluation

Engineers

PetroTechnical Services Division of Schlumberger Technology Corporation

over 20 years of practical experience in petroleum geology and in the estimation and evaluation of reserves

registered professional geologist license in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania

certified petroleum geologist of the American Association of Petroleum Geologists

Bachelor of Science degree in Petroleum and Natural Gas Engineering

Netherland Sewell Associates Inc

over 30 years of practical experience in petroleum engineering and in the estimation and evaluation of

reserves

registered professional engineer in the state of Texas

Bachelor of Science degree in Petroleum Engineering
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Years Ended December 31
2012 2011 2010

in millions

Acquisition of Properties

Proved properties 332

Unproved properties 2981

Exploratory costs 2353

Development costs
___________

Costs incurred 12399
___________

Exploratory and development costs are net of joint venture drilling and completion cost carries of $784 million

$2570 billion and $1151 billion in 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

Includes capitalized interest and asset retirement cost as follows

Capitalized interest 976 727 711

Asset retirement obigations 32

As of December31 2012 there were no PUDs that had remained undeveloped for five years or more In 2012
we invested approximately $1 .035 billion net of drilling and completion cost carries of $86 million to convert 961 bcfe

of PUDs to proved developed reserves

Asummary of our exploration and development acquisition and divestitureactivities in 2012 by operating division

is as follows

Includes capitalized internal costs of $410 million and related capitalized interest of $976 million

Costs Incurred in Natural Gas and Oil Property Acquisition Exploration and Development

The following table sets forth historical costs incurred in natural gas and oil property acquisitions exploration and

development activities during the periods indicated

48 243

4736 6953

2261 872

5497 4741

12542 12809

Southern.

Northern..

Eastern

Western

Total...

Gross Net Exploration Acquisition Acquisition
Wells Wells and of Unproved of Proved
Drilled Drilled Development Properties Properties

in millions

363 183 1060 181 12

942 441 3055 559 14

578 264 1785 1727

718 384 3186 514 306

2601 1272 9086 2981 332

Sales of Sales of

Unproved Proved

Properties Properties

50

838

731

1800

3419

Total

1203

1692

2774

850

6519

1098

1356

2461
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The following table sets forth as of December31 2012 the gross and net developed and undeveloped natural

gas and oil leasehold and fee mineral acreage Gross acres are the total number of acres in which we own working

interest Net acres refer to gross acres multiplied by our fractional working interest Acreage numbers do not include

our unexercised options to acquire additional acreage

Developed Undeveloped
Leasehold Leasehold Fee Minerals Total

Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net

Acres Acres Acres Acres Acres Acres Acres Acres

in thousands

Southern 1018 653 327 189 141 65 1486 907

Northern 4606 2458 4242 2863 1056 178 9904 5499

Eastern 1972 1497 5913 3413 706 508r 8591 5418

Western 625 355 4941 2822 350 31 5916 3208

Total 8221 4963 15423 9287 2253 782 25897 15032

We actively acquire new leases most of which have three to five-year term Managing lease expirations to

ensure that we do not experience unintended material expirations is an important part of our business Ourleasehold

management efforts include scheduling our drilling to establish production in paying quantities in order to hold leases

by production timely exercising our contractual rights to pay delay rentals to extend the terms of leases we value

planning leasehold asset sales and joint venture transactions to high-grade our lease inventory or to raise capita for

additional development and letting some leases expire that are no longer part of our development plans

The following table sets forth as of December 31 2012 the expiration periods of gross and net undeveloped

leasehold acres unless production from the leasehold acreage is established prior to the expiration date or we take

action to extend the lease term

Years Ending December 31

2013

2014

Acres Expiring

Gross Net

Acres Acres

in thousands

2684

3442

2015 2243

After2OlS and other 7054

Total 15 423

Includes held-by production acreage that will remain in force as our production continues on the subject leases

and other leasehold acreage where management anticipates the lease to remain in effect past the primary term

of the agreement due to our contractual option to extend the lease term

Marketing Gathering and Compression

Market ing

Chesapeake Energy Marketing Inc CEMI one of our wholly owned subsidiaries provides natural gas oil and

NGL marketing services including commodity price structuring contract administration and nomination services for

Chesapeake its joint working interest owners and other producers We attempt to enhance the value of our natural

gas and oil production by aggregating volumes to be sold to various intermediary markets end markets and pipelines

This aggregation allows us to attract larger more creditworthy customers that in turn assist in maximizing the prices

received for our production

Our oil and NGL production is generally sold under market sensitive short-term or spot price contracts Our natural

gas production is sold to purchasers under percentage-of-proceeds contracts percentage-of-index contracts or spot

13
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price contracts By the terms of the percentage-of-proceeds contracts we receive percentage of the resale price

received by the purchaser after transportation and processing of our natural gas Under percentage-of-index contracts

the price per mmbtu we receive for our natural gas is tied to indices published in Inside FERC or Gas Daily Although

exact percentages vary daily as of February 2013 approximately 80% of our natural gas production was primarily

sold under short-term contracts at market-sensitive prices Sales to Plains Marketing represented 11% of our

total revenues before the effects of hedging for the year ended December 31 2012 There were no sales to individual

customers constituting 10% or more of total revenues before the effects of hedging for the years ended December 31
2011 and 2010

Midstream Gathering Operations

Historically Chesapeake invested directly and through affiliates in gathering systems and processing facilities

to complement our natural gas operations in regions where we had significant production and additional infrastructure

was required By doing so we were better able to manage the value received for and the costs of gathering treating
and processing natural gas These systems were designed primarily to gather the Companys production for delivery

into major intrastate or interstate pipelines In addition our midstream business provided services to joint working
interest owners and other third-party customers Chesapeake generated revenues from its gathering treating and

compression actwities through various gathering rate structures The Company also processed portion of its natural

gas atvarious third-party plants

In December 2012 we sold the majority of our midstream business for proceeds of $2.1 60 billion subject to post-

closing adjustments to Access Midstream Partners LP NYSE ACMP ACMP formerly Chesapeake Midstream

Partners L.P was an affiliate of ours from 2010 until we sold our investment in it during June 2012 for proceeds of

$2.0 billion See Note 11 and Note 12 of the notes to the consolidated finanºial statements included in Item of this

report for further discussion of these transactions

Compression Operations

Since 2003 Chesapeake has built its compression business through its wholly owned subsidiary MidCon

Compression L.L.C MidCon MidCon operates wellhead and system compressors with over 1.0 million horsepower

of compression to facilitate the transportation of natural gas primarily produced from Chesapeake-operated wells In

series of transactions since 2007 MidCon sold 2322 compressors net of 231 repurchased units significant

portion of its compressor fleet and entered into master lease agreement These transactions were recorded as sales

and operating leasebacks

Our marketing activities along with our midstream gathering and compression operations constitute.a reportable

segment under accounting guidance for disclosure about segments of an enterprise and related information See Nate

17 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in Item of this report

Oilfield Services

We formed Chesapeake Oilfield Services L.L.C now COS Holdings L.L.C COS in 2011 to own and operate

our oilfield services assets COS is diversified oilfield services company that provides wide range of well site

services primarily to Chesapeake and its working interest partners COS focuses on providing services that are strategic

to our operations represent historical bottlenecks to our operations or that provide relatively high margins to the service

provider These services include contract drilling hydraulic fracturing oifield rentals rig relocation fluid transportation

and disposal and manufacturing of natural gas compressor packages These services are fundamental to establishing

and maintaining the flow of natural gas and oil throughout the productive life of well source of liquidity for COSs

business is the $500 million oilfield services revolving bank credit facility described under Liquidity and Capital

Resources in Item of this report Additionally in October 2011 Chesapeake Oilfield Operating L.L.C COO wholly

owned subsidiary of COS issued $650 million principal amount of 6.625% Senior Notes due 2019 in private pladement

Proceeds from this placement were used to make cash distribution to its direct parent COS to enable it to reduce

indebtedness under an intercompany note with Chesapeake See Note of the notes to the consolidated financial

statements included in Item of the report for further discussion of the revolving bank credit facility and senior notes

Our oilfield services operations constitute reportable segment under accounting guidance for disclosure about

segments of an enterprise and related information See Note 17 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements

included in Item of this report COS conducts operations through five lines of business as described below
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Contract Drilling

Securing available rigs is an integral part of the exploration process and therefore owning our own drilling

company Nomac Drilling L.L.C is strategic advantage for us As of December 31 2012 we had invested

approximately $1 billion to build or acquire 119 drilling rigs which are utilized primarily to drill Chesapeake-operated

wells In series of transactions since 2006 our drilling subsidiaries have sold 68 drilling rigs net of 26 repurchased

rigs and related equipment and subsequently leased back the rigs through 2018 These transactions were recorded

as sales and operating leasebacks The drilling rigs have depth ratings between 000 and 25 000 feet and range in

drilling horsepower from 500 to 000 These drilling rigs are currently operating in Louisiana Montana North Dakota

Ohio Oklahoma Pennsylvania Texas West Virginia and Wyoming As of December31 2012 we had fleet of 119

land drilling rigs and are the fifth largest land driller operating in the

Hydraulic Fracturing

In 2010 we began the process of building hydraulic fracturing business under the name of Performance

Technologies L.L.C PTL As part of that effort we purchased two hydraulic fracturing fleets with an aggregate of

60000 horsepower As of December31 2012 we owned seven hydraulic fracturing fleets with an aggregate of 270000

horsepower that provide hydraulic fracturing and other well stimulation services

Ollfield Rentals

Our oilfield rentals business provides premium rental tools for land-based natural gas and oil drilling completion

and workover activities under the nameGreat Plains Oilfield Rental L.L.C We offer full line of rental tools including

drill pipe drill collars tubing blowout preventers frac tanks and mud tanks and mud systems We also provide air

drilling and flowback services and services associated with the transfer of fresh water to the wellsite

Ollfield Trucking

In 2006 we expanded our oilfield services by acquiring two privately owned oilfield trucking service companies

We now own one of the largest oilfield and heavy haul transportation companies in the industry under the names of

Hodges Trucking Company L.LC and Oilfield Trucking Solutions L.L.C Our trucks move drilling rigs produced water

crude oil other fluids and construction materials to and from the wellsite As of December 31 2012 we owned fleet

of 278 rig relocation trucks 66 cranes and forklifts and 250 fluid service trucks

Other Operations

Our other operations consist primarily of our natural gas compressor manufacturing business that operates under

the name of Compass Manufacturing L.L.C in which we design engineer fabricate install and sell natural gas

compression units accessories and equipment used in the production treatment and processing of natural gas and

oil Once the compressors are complete substantially all of the completed compressors are sold to MidCon

Competition

We compete with both major integrated and other independent natural gas and oil companies in all aspects of

our business to explore develop and operate our properties and market our production Some of our competitors may

have larger financial and other resources than ours Competitive conditions may be affected by future legislation and

regulations as the U.S develops new energy and climate-related policies In addition some of our larger competitors

may have competitive advantage when responding to factors that affect demand for natural gas and oil production

such as changing prices domestic and foreign political conditions weather conditions the price and availability of

alternative fuels the proximity and capacity of natural gas pipelines and other transportation facilities and overall

economic conditions We believe that our technological expertise our exploration land drilling and production

capabilities and the experience of our management generally enable us to compete effectively

Hedging Activities

We utilize derivative strategies to manage the price of portion of our future natural gas and oil production and

to manage interest rate exposure See Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
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Regulation

General

All of our operations are conducted onshore in the The natural gas and oil industry is regulated at the

federal state and local levels and some of the laws rules and regulations that govern our operations carry substantial

administrative civil and criminal penalties for non compliance Although we believe we are in substantial compliance

with all applicable laws and regulations and that remaining in substantial compliance with existing requirements will

not have material adverse effect on ourfinancial position cash flows or results of operations such laws and regulations

could be and frequently are amended or reinterpreted Additionally currently unforeseen environmental incidents

may occur or past non-compliance with environmental laws or regulations may be discovered Therefore we are

unable to predict the future costs or impacts of compliance or non-compliance Additional proposals and proceedings

that affect the natural gas and oil industry are regularly considered by Congress the states the local governments

the courts and federal agencies such as the U.S Environmental Protection Agency EPA the Federal Energy

Regulatory Commission the Department of Transportation the Department of Interior and the Department of Energy

We actively monitor regulatory developments regarding our industry in order to anticipate and design required

compliance activities and systems

Exploration and Production Operations

The laws and regulations applicable to our exploration and production operations include requirements for permits

to drill and to conduct other operations and for provision of financial assurancessuch as bonds covering drilling and

well operations Other activities subject to such laws and regulations include but are not limited to

the location of wells

the method of drilling and completing wells

the surface use and restoration of properties upon which wells are drilled

water withdrawal

the plugging and abandoning of wells

the recycling or disposal of fluids used or other substances handled in connection with operations

the marketing transportation and reporting of production and

the valuation and payment of royalties

Our operations may require us to obtain permits for among other things

air emissions

construction activities including in sensitive areas such as wetlands coastal regions or areas that contain

endangered or threatened species or their habitats

the construction and operation of underground injection wells to dispose of produced water and other non-

hazardous oilfield wastes and

the construction and operation of surface pits to contain drilling muds and other non hazardous fluids

associated with drilling operations

Delays in obtaining permits or an inability to obtain new permits or permit renewals could inhibit our ability to

execute our drilling and production plans Failure to comply with provisions of our permits could result in revocation

of such permits and the imposition of fines and penalties

Our exploration and production activities are also subject to various conservation regulations These include the

regulation of the size of drilling and spacing units regarding the density of wells that may be drilled in particular area
and the unitization or pooling of natural gas and oil properties In this regard some states such as Oklahoma allow

the forced pooling or integration of tracts to facilitate exploration while other states such as Texas Ohio West Virginia

and Pennsylvania rely on voluntary pooling of lands and leases In areas where pooling is voluntary it may be more

difficult to form units and therefore more difficult to fully develop project if the operator owns or controls less than

100% of the leasehold In addition state conservation laws establish maximum rates of production from natural gas

and oil wells generally limit the venting or flaring of natural gas and impose certain requirements regarding the ratability
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of production The effect of these regulations is to limit the amount of natural gas and oil we can produce and to limit

the number of wells and the locations at which we can drill

Midstream Operations

Historically Chesapeake invested directly and through an affiliate in gathering systems and processing facilities

to complement our natural gas operations in regions where we had significant production and additional infrastructure

was required In December 2012 howeverwØ sold substantially all of our midstream business and we plan to sell

most of our remaining midstream business in 2013 As result the impact on our business of compliance with the

laws and regulations described below has decreased since the beginning of 2012 and will continue to diminish as we

complete additional midstreamsales

In addition to the environmental health and safety laws and regulations discussed below under Environmental

Health and Safety Matters our midstream facilities are subject to regulation by the Pipeline and Hazardous Materials

Safety Administration PHMSA of the U.S Department of Transportation DOT pursuŁnt to the Natural Gas Pipeline

Safety Act of 1968 NGPSA and the Pipeline Safety Improvement Act of 2002 PSIA which was reauthorized and

amended by the Pipeline Inspection Protection Enforcement and Safety Act of 2006 The NGPSA regulates safety

requirements in the design construction operation and maintenance of gas pipeline facilities The PSIA establishes

mandatory inspections for all US oil and natural gas transportation pipelines and some gathering lines in high-

consequence areas The PHMSA has developed regulations implementing the PSIAthat require transportation pipeline

operators to implement integrity management programs including more frequent inspections and other measures to

ensure pipeline safety in high consequence areas such as high population areas areas unusually sensitive to

environmental damage and commercially navigable waterways

We or the entities in which we own an interest inspect our pipelines regularly using equipment rented from third-

party suppliers Third parties also assist us in interpreting the results of the inspections

States are largely preempted by federal law from regulating pipeline safety for interstate lines but most are certified

by the DOT to assume responsibility for enforcing federal intrastate pipeline regulations and inspection of intrastate

pipelines In practice because states can adopt stricter standards for intrastate pipelines than those imposed by the

federal government for interstate lines states vary considerably in their authority and capacity to address pipeline

safety We do not anticipate that complying with applicable state laws and regulations will have material adverse

effect on our financial position cash flows or results of operations Our natural gas pipelines have inspection and

compliance programs designed to keep the facilities in compliance with pipeline safety and pollution control

requirements

Natural gas gathering and intrastate transportation facilities are exempt from the jurisdiction of the Federal Energy

Regulatory Commission FERCunderthe Natural Gas Act Although the FERC has not made anyformal determinations

with regard to any of our facilities we believe that our natural gas pipelines and related facilities are engaged in exempt

gathering and intrastate transportation and therefore are not subject to the FERCs jurisdiction

FERC regulation affects our gathering and compression business generally The FERC provides policies and

practices across range of natural gas regulatory activities including for example its policies on open access

transportation market manipulation ratemaking capacity release and market transparency and market center

promotion which indirectly affect our gathering business In addition the distinction between FERC-regulated

transmission facilities and federally unregulated gathering and intrastate transportation facilities is fact-based

determination made by the FERC on case-by case basis this distinction has also been the subject of regular litigation

and change The classification and regulation of our gathering and intrastate transportation facilities are subject to

change based on future determinations by the FERC the courts or Congress

Our natural gas gathering operations are subject to ratable take and common purchaser statutes in most of the

states in which we operate These statutes generally require our gathering pipelines to take natural gas without undue

discrimination as to source of supply or producer These statutes are designed to prohibit discrimination in favor of

one producer over another producer or one source of supply over another source of supply The regulations under

these statutes can have the effect of imposing restrictions on our ability as an owner of gathering facilities to decide

with whom we contract to gather natural gas The states in which we operate typically have adopted complaint-based

regulation of natural gas gathering activities which allows natural gas producers and shippers to file complaints with

state regulators in an effort to resolve grievances relating to gathering access and rate discrimination
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Oilfield Services Operations

Our oilfield services business operates under the jurisdiction of number of regulatory bodies that regulate worker

safety standards the handling of hazardous materials the transportation of explosives the protection of the

environment and driving standards of operation Regulations concerning equipment certification create an ongoing

need for regular maintenance that is incorporated into our daily operating procedures

In providing trucking services we operate as motor carrier and therefore are subject to regulation by the DOT

and various state agencies These regulatory authorities exercise broad powers governing activities such as the

authorization to engage in motor carrier operations and regulatory safety financial reporting and certain mergers

consolidations and acquisitions Interstate motor carrier operations are subject to safety requirements prescribed by

the DOT and to large degree intrastate motor carrier operations are subject to safety regulations that mirror federal

regulations Such matters as weight and dimension of equipment are also subject to federal and state regulations and

DOT regulations mandate drug testing of drivers There are additional regulations specifically relating to the trucking

industry including testing and specification of equipment and product handling requirements

The trucking industry is subject to possible regulatory and legislative changes that may affect the economics of

the industry by requiring changes in operating practices or by changing the demand for common or contract carrier

services or the cost of providing truckload services Some of these possible changes include increasingly stringent

environmental regulations changes in the hours of service HOS regulations that govern the amount of time driver

may drive in any specific period onboard black box recorder devices or limits on vehicle weight and size From time

to time various legislative proposals are introduced such as proposals to increase federal state or local taxes

including taxes on motor fuels which may increase our costs or adversely impact the recruitment of drivers We cannot

predict whether or in what form any increase in such taxes applicable to us will be enacted

Environmental Health and Safety Matters

Our operations are subject to stringent and complex federal state and local laws and regulations relating to the

protection of human health and safety the environment and natural resources These laws and regulations can restrict

or impact our business activities in many ways such as

requiring the installation of pollution-control equipment or otherwise restricting the way we can handle or

dispose of wastes and other substances connected with operations

limiting or prohibiting construction activities in sensitive areas such as wetlands coastal regions or areas

that contain endangered or threatened species or their habitats

requiring investigatory and remedial actions to address pollution conditions caused by our operations or

attributable to former operations

requiring noise mitigation setbacks landscaping fencing and other measures and

prohibiting the operations of facilities deemed to be in non-compliance with permits issued pursuant to such

environmental laws and regulations

Failure to comply with these laws and regulations may trigger variety of administrative civil and criminal

enforcement measures including the assessment of monetary penalties the imposition of remedial or restoration

obligations and the issuance of orders enjoining future operations or imposing additional compliance requirements

Certain environmental statutes impose strict joint and several liability for costs required to clean up and restore sites

where hazardous substances hydrocarbons or wastes have been disposed or otherwise released Moreover it is not

uncommon for neighboring landowners and other third parties to file claims for personal injury and property damage

allegedly caused by the release of hazardous substances hydrocarbons or other waste products into the environment

The trend in environmental regulation is to place more restrictions and limitations on activities that may affect the

environment We monitor developments at the federal and state levels to anticipate future regulatory requirements that

might be imposed to reduce the costs of compliance with any such requirements We also actively participate in industry

groups that help formulate recommendations for addressing existing or future regulations and that share best practices

and lessons learned in relation to pollution prevention and incident investigations

Below is discussion of the material environmental health and safety laws and regulations that relate to our

business We believe that we are in substantial compliance with these laws and regulations We do not believe that

compliance with existing environmental health and safety laws or regulations will have material adverse effect on

our financial condition results of operations or cash flow At this point however we cannot reasonably predict what
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applicable laws regulations or guidance may eventually be adopted with respect to our operations or the ultimate cost

to comply with such requirements

Hazardous Substances and Waste

Federal and state laws in particular the Federal Resource Conservation and Recovery Act or RCRA regulate

hazardous and non-hazardous solid wastes In the course of our operations we generate petroleum hydrocarbon

wastes such as produced water and ordinary industrial wastes Under longstanding legal framework certain of these

wastes are not subject to federal regulations governing hazardous wastes although they are regulated under other

federal and state waste laws

Federal state and local laws may also require us to remove or remediate previously disposed wastes or hazardous

substances otherwise released into the environment including wastes or hazardous substances disposed of or released

by us or prior owners or operators in accordance with current laws or otherwise to suspend or cease operations at

contaminated areas or to perform remedial well plugging operations or response actions to reduce the risk of future

contamination Federal laws including the Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act

or CERCLA and analogous state laws impose joint and several liability withoutregard to fault or legality of the original

conduct on classes of persons who are considered responsible for releases of hazardous substance into the

environment These persons include the owner or operator of the site wherethe release occurred and persons that

disposed of or arranged for the disposal of hazardous substances at the site CERCLA and analogous state laws also

authorize the EPA state environmental agencies and in some cases third parties to take action to prevent or respond

to threats to human health or the environment and to seek to recover from responsible classes of persons the costs

of such actions

Air Emissions

Our operations are subject to the federal Clean Air Act CAA and comparable state laws and regulations These

laws and regulations regulate emissions of air pollutants from various industrial sources including our compressor

stations and impose various monitoring and reporting requirements Permits and related compliance obligations under

the CAA each states development and promulgation of regulatory programs to comport with Federal requirements

as well as changes to state implementation plans for controlling air emissions in regional non-attainment or near-non-

attainment areas may require natural gas and oil exploration and production operators to incur future capital

expenditures in connection with the addition or modification of existing air emission control equipment and strategies

In 2012 the EPA published final New Source Performance Standards NSPS and National Emissions Standards

for Hazardous Air Pollutants NESHAP that amended the existing NSPS and NESHAP standards for oil and gas

facilities and created new NSPS standards for oil and gas production transmission and distribution facilities While

these rules remain in effect the Agency has announced that it will reexamine and reissue the rules over the next three

years In 2010 the EPA published rules that require monitoring and reporting of greenhouse gas emissions from

petroleum and natural gas systems We along with other industry groups filed suit challenging certain provisions of

the rules and are engaged in settlement negotiations to amend and correct the rules The EPA is also conducting

review of the National Ambient Air Quality Standards NAAQS for ozone that is expected to be completed in 2013

Water Discharges

The Federal Water Pollution Control Act or the Clean Water Act CWA and analogous state laws impose

restrictions and strict controls regarding the discharge of pollutants into state waters as well as waters of the U.S The

placement of material into jurisdictional water or wetlands of the is prohibited except in accordance with the terms

of permit issued by the United States Army Corps of Engineers The discharge of pollutants into regulated waters is

prohibited except in accordance with the terms of permit issued by the EPA or state agency delegated with EPAs

authority Further Chesapeakes corporate policy prohibits discharge of produced water to surface waters See Item

Legal Proceedings for description of penalties paid byus recently in connection with CWA misdemeanor violations

at road construction site in West Virginia as well as pending EPA orders for compliance under the CWA related to

well pad and pond sites in West Virginia Spill prevention control and countermeasure requirements of federal laws

require appropriate containment berms and similar structures to help prevent the contamination of regulated waters

in the event of hydrocarbon tank spill rupture or leak In addition the CWAand analogous state laws require individual

permits or coverage under general permits for discharges of storm water runoff from certain types of facilities
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The Oil Pollution Act of 1990 OPA establishes strict liability for owners and operators of facilities that are the

site of release of oil into waters of the U.S The OPA and its associated regulations impose variety of requirements

on responsible parties related to the prevention of oil spills and liability for damages resulting from such spills

responsible party under the OPA includes owners and operators of certain onshore facilities from which release

may affect waters of the US

Hydraulic Fracturing

Vast quantities of natural gas natural gas liquids and oil deposits exist in deep shale and other unconventional

formations It is customary in our industry to recover these resources from these deep formations through the use of

hydraulic fracturing combined with horizontal drilling Hydraulic fracturing is the process of creating or expanding

cracks orfractures in deep underground formations using water sand and other additives pumped under high pressure

into the formation As with the rest of the industry we use hydrauliÆ fracturing as means to increase the productivity

of almost every well that we drill and complete These formations are generally geologically separated and isolated

from fresh ground water supplies by thousands of feet of impermeable rock layers

We follow applicable legal requirements for groundwater protection in our operations that are subject to supervision

by state and federal regulators including the Bureau of Land Management on federal acreage Furthermore our well

construction practices include installation of multiple layers of protective steel casing surrounded by cement that are

specifically designed and installed to protect freshwater aquifers by preventing the migration of fracturing fluids into

aquifers

Injection rates and pressures are monitored in real time at the surface during our hydraulic fracturing operations

Pressure is monitored on both the injection string and the immediate annulus to the injection string Hydraulic fracturing

operations are shut down if an abrupt change occurs to the injection pressure or annular pressure These aspects of

hydraulic fracturing operations are designed to eliminate pathway for the fracturing fluid to contact any aquifers during

the hydraulic fracturing operations

Hydraulic fracture stimulation requires the use of water We use fresh water or recycled produced water in our

fracturing treatments in accordance with applicable water management plans and laws We strive to find alternative

sources of water and reduce our reliance on fresh waterresources We have technical staff dedicated to the development

of water recycling and re-use systems and our Aqua Renew program uses state-of-the-art technology in an effort to

recycle produced water in our operations

Produced water is by-product of natural gasand liquids extraction regardless of whether hydraulic fracturing

technology is used Except for produced water we recycle and reuse Chesapeake disposes of produced water in

Class II underground injection control wells which are designed and permitted to place the water into deep geologic

formations isolated from fresh water sources These Class II wells are overseen bythe EPA in its Underground Injection

Control UIC Program For some of our operations EPA has delegated its UIC Program authority to state

environmental agency

Some states have adopted and other states are considering adopting regulations that impose disclosure

requirements on hydraulic fracturing operations Since early 2011 we have voluntarily participated in FracFocus

national publicly accessible web-based registry developed by the Ground Water Protection Council and the Interstate

Oil and Gas Compact Commission with support of the U.S Department of Energy to report on well-by-well basis

the additives and chemicals and amount of water used in the hydraulic fracturing process for each Of the wells we

operate The website www.fracfocus.org also includes information about how hydraulic fracturing works the chemicals

used in hydraulicfracturing and howfresh water aquifers are protected Some states such as Texas Colorado Montana
Louisiana and North Dakota which mandate disclosure of chemical additives used in hydraulic fracturing require

operators to use the FracFocus website for reporting

Legislative regulatory and enforcement efforts as well as guidance from regulatory agencies at the federal level

and in some states have been initiated to require or make more stringent the permitting and compliance requirements

for hydraulic fracturingMperations Hydraulic fracturing is typically regulated by state oil and gas commissions However
the EPA has asserted federal regulatory authorityover hydraulic fracturing involving diesel fuels under the Safe Drinking

Water Acts UIC Program and has released draft guidance documents regarding the process for obtaining permit for

hydraulic fracturing involvingdiesel fuel While we believe that the draft guidance if adopted as final guidance would

not materially affect our operations because we do not use diesel fuel in connection with our hydraulic fracturing we
cannot predict the scope of the final guidance The EPA also has commenced study of the potential impacts of

hydraulic fracturing activities on drinking water resources with progress report released in late 2012 and final draft
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report expected to be released for public comment and peer review in late 2014 In addition the Bureau of Land

Management BLM has announced its intention to publish in the first quarter of 2013 revised draft of proposed

rules that would impose new requirements on hydraulic fratturing operations conducted on federal lands including

the disclosure of chemical additives used The results of EPAs guidance including its definition of diesel fuel EPAs

study BLMs proposed rules and other analyses by federal and state agencies to assess the impacts of hydraulic

fracturing could each spur further action toward federal and/or state legislation and regulation of hydraulic fracturing

activities

Restrictions on hydraulic fracturing could make it prohibitive to conduct our operations and also reduce the amount
of oil natural gas liquids and natural gas that we are ultimately able to produce in commercial quantities from our

properties For further discussion see Item IA Risk Factors Federal and state legislative and regulatory initiatives

relating to hydraulic fracturing could result in increased costs and additional operating restrictions or delays

Endangered Species

The Endangered Species Act ESA restricts activities that may affect areas that contain endangered or threatened

species or their habitats While some of our assets and lease acreage may be located in areas that are designated as

habitats for endangered or threatened species we believe that we are in substantial compliance with the ESA However

the designation of previously unidentified endangered or threatened species in areas where we intend to conduct

construction activity could materially limit or delay our plans For example as result of settlement reached in 2011
the Fish and Wildlife Service has published work plarm for listing more than 450 species over the next several

years Some of these species are included in the list of over 100 species that are currently proposed for listing as

endangeredorthreatened species In addition the imposition of seasonal restrictionson ourconstruction oroperational

activities could materially limit or delay our plans

Global Warming and Climate Change

Various state governments and regional organizations are considering enacting new legislation and promulgating

new regulations governing or restricting the emission of greenhouse gases from stationary sources such as our

equipment and operations At the federal level the EPA has already made findings and issued regulations that require

us to establish and report an inventory of greenhouse gas emissions Legislative And regulatory proposals for restricting

greenhouse gas emissions or otherwise addressing climate change could require us to incur additional operating costs

and could adversely affect demand for the natural gas and oil that we sell The potential increase in our operating costs

could include new or increased costs to obtain permits operate and maintain our equipment and facilities install new

emission controls on our equipment and facilities acquire allowances to authorize our greenhouse gas emissions pay

taxes related to our greenhouse gas emissions and administer and manage greenhouse gas emissions program

Title to Properties

Our title to properties is subject to royalty overriding royalty carried net profits working and other similar interests

and contractual arrangements customary in the natural gas and oil industry to liens for cUrrent taxes not yet due and

to otherencumbrances As is customary in the industry in thecase of undeveloped properties only cursory investigation

of record title is made at the time of acquisition Drilling title opinions are usually prepared before commencement of

drilling operations We believe we have satisfactory title to substantially all of our active properties in accordance with

standards generally accepted in the natural gas and oil industry Nevertheless we are involved in title disputes from

time to time which result in litigation

Operating Hazards and Insurance

The natural gas and oil business involves variety of operating risks including the risk of fire explosions blow-

outs pipe failure abnormally pressured formations and environmental hazards such as oil spills natural gas leaks

ruptures or discharges of toxic gases If any of these should occur Chesapeake could incur legal defense costs and

could suffer substantial losses due to injury or loss of life severe damage to or destruction of property natural resources

and equipment pollution or other environmental damage clean-up responsibilities regulatory investigation and

penalties and suspension of operations Our horizontal and deep drillingactivities involve greater risk of mechanical

problems than vertical and shallow drilling operations

Chesapeake maintains $75 million control of well policy that insures against certain sudden and accidental risks

associated with drilling completing and operating our wells This insurance may not be adequate to cover all losses

or exposure to liability Chesapeake also carries $425 million comprehensive general liability umbrella policy and

$150 million pollution liability policy We provide workers compensation insurance coverage to employees in all states
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in which we operate While we believe these policies are customary in the industry they do not provide complete

coverage against all operating risks In addition our insurance does not cover penalties or fines that may be assessed

by governmental authority loss not fully covered by insurance could have material adverse effect on our financial

position results of operations and cash flows The insurance coverage that we maintain may not be sufficient to cover

every claim made against us or may not be commercially available for purchase in the future

Facilities

Chesapeake owns an office complex in Oklahoma City and owns or leases various field or administrative offices

in approximately 110 cities or towns in the areas where we conduct our operations

Executive Officers

Aubrey McClendon President and Chief Executive Officer

Aubrey McClendon 53 has served as Chief Executive Officer since co-founding the Company in 1989 and

President since June 2012 Mr McClendon previously served as Chairman of the Board from 1989 to June 2012

Mr McClendon served as director of the general partner ofAccess Midstream Partners NYSE ACMP formerly

Chesapeake Midstream Partners from January 2010 to June 2012 On January29 2013 Mr McClendon agreed

to retire from the Company effective no later than April 2013

Domenic DeIrOsso Jr Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Dornenic Nick DeIIOsso Jr 36 has served as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since

November 2010 Mr DellOsso has also served as director of the general partner of ACMP since June 2011

Mr DellOsso served as Vice President Finance of the Company and Chief Financial Officer of Chesapeakes wholly

owned midstream subsidiary Chesapeake Midstream Development L.P from August 2008 to November2010

Steven Dixon Executive Vice President Operations and Geosciences and Chief Operating Officer

Steven Dixon 54 has served as Executive Vice President Operations and Geosciences and Chief Operating

Officer since February 2010 Mr Dixon served as Executive Vice President-Operations and Chief Operating Officer

from 2006 to February 2010 and as Senior Vice President Production from 1995 to 2006 He also served as Vice

President-Exploration from 1991 to 1995

Jeffrey Fisher Executive Vice President Production

JeffreyA Fisher 53 has served as Executive Vice President Production since December 2012 He served as

Senior Vice President Production from 2006 to December 2012 Mr Fisher served as Vice President Operations

for the Companys Southern Division from 2005 to 2006 and served as Operations Manager from 2003 to 2005

Douglas Jacobson Executive Vice President Acquisitions and Divestitures

Douglas Jacobson 59 has served as Executive Vice President Acquisitions and Divestitures since 2006 He

served as Senior Vice President Acquisitions and Divestitures from 1999 to 2006

Martha Burger Senior Vice President Human and Corporate Resources

Martha Burger 60 has served as Senior Vice President Human and Corporate Resources since 2007 She

served as Treasurer from 1995 to 2007 and as Senior Vice President Human Resources since 2000 She was the

Companys Vice President Human Resources from 1998 until 2000 Human Resources Manager from 1996 to 1998

and Corporate Secretary from 1999 to 2000 From 1994 to 1995 she served in various accounting positions with the

Company including Assistant Controller Operations

Jennifer Grigsby Senior Vice President Treasurer and Corporate Secretary

JenniferM Grigsby 44 has served as Senior Vice President and Treasurer since 2007 and as Corporate Secretary

since 2000 She served as Vice President from 2006 to 2007 and as Assistant Treasurer from 1998 to 2007 From

1995 to 1998 Ms Grigsby served in various accounting positions with the Company
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Michael Johnson Senior Vice President Accounting Controller and Chief Accounting Officer

MichaelA Johnson 47 has served as Senior Vice President-Accounting Controller and Chief Accounting Officer

since 2000 He served as Vice President of Accounting and Financial Reporting from 1998 to 2000 and as Assistant

Controller from 1993 to 1998

James Webb Senior Vice President Legal and General Counsel

James Webb 45 has served as Senior Vice President Legal and General Counsel since October 2012 Prior

to joining the Company Mr Webb was an attorney with the law firm of McAfee Taft from February 1995 to October

2012

Other Senior Officers

Henry Hood Senior Vice President Land

Henry Hood 52 has served as Senior Vice President Land since June 2012 He served as Senior Vice

President Land and Legal from 1997 to 2012 and as Vice President Land and Legal from 1995 to 1997 He also

served as General Counsel from April 2006 to June 2012

James Johnson Senior Vice President -Marketing

JamesC Johnson 55 hasservedasPresidentofChesapeakeEnergyMarketing Inc awholly ownedsubsidiary

of the Company and as Senior Vice President Marketing of the Company since 2000 He served as Vice President

Contract Administration for the Company from 1997 to 2000 and as Manager Contract Administration from 1996 to

1997

John Kapchinske Senior Vice President Geoscience

John Kapchinske 62 has been Senior Vice President Geoscience since June 2011 He served as Vice

President Geoscience from 2005 to May 2011 and Geoscience Manager from 2001 to 2004

Stephen Miller Senior Vice President Drilling

Stephen Miller 56 has served as Senior Vice President Drilling since 2001 He served as Vice President

Drilling from 1996 to 2001 and as District Manager College Station District from 1994 to 1996

Jeffrey Mobley Senior Vice President Investor Relations and Research

Jeffrey Mobley 44 has served as Senior Vice President Investor Relations and Research since 2006 and

was Vice President Investor Relations and Research from 2005 to 2006

Thomas Price Jr Senior Vice President Corporate Development and Government Relations

Thomas Price Jr 61 has served as Senior Vice President Corporate Development and Government Relations

since March 2009 He served as Senior Vice President Corporate Development from 2005 to March 2009 and as

Senior Vice President Investor and Government Relations from 2003 to 2005 Senior Vice President Corporate

Development from 2000 to 2003 Vice President Corporate Development from 1992 to 2000

Cathlyn Tompkins Senior Vice President Information Technology and Chief Information Officer

Cathlyn Tompkins 52 has served as Senior Vice President-Information Technology and Chief Information

Officer since 2006 Ms Tompkins served as Vice President Information Technology from 2005 to 2006

Jerry Winchester Senior Vice President Oilfield Services and Chief Executive Officer of Chesapeake Oilfield

Services

JerryL Winchester 54 has served as Chief Executive Officer of Chesapeake Oilfield Services L.L.C our oilfield

services subsidiary since September 2011 and as Senior Vice President Oilfield Services of the Company since

November 2011 From November 2010 to September 2011 Mr Winchester served as the Vice President Boots

Coots of Halliburton From July 2002 to September 2010 Mr Winchester served as the President and Chief Executive

Officer of Boots Coots International Well Control Inc Boots Coots an NYSE-listed oilfield services company

specializing in providing integrated pressure control and related services
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Employees

Chesapeake had approximately 12 000 employees as of December31 2012 This number does not include

approximately 1250 midstream employees that became ACMP employees effective January 2013 as result of

the sale of substantially all of our midstream business See Note 11 of our consolidated financial statements included

in Item of this report for further discussion of our midstream business divestitures

Glossary of Natural Gas and Oil Terms

The terms defined in this section are used throughout this report

Bbl One stock tank barrel or 42 U.S gallons liquid volume used herein in reference to crude oil or other liquid

hydrocarbons

Bcf Billion cubic feet

Bcfe Billion cubic feet of natural gas equivalent

Btu British thermal unit which is the heat required to raise the temperature of one-pound mass of water from

58.5 to 59.5 degrees Fahrenheit

Commercial Well Commercially Productive Well well which produces natural gas NGL and/or oil in sufficient

quantities such that proceeds from the sale of such production exceed production expenses and taxes

Completion The process of treating drilled well followed by the installation of permanent equipment for the

production of natural gas oil or NGL or in the case of dry well the reporting to the appropriate authority that the

well has been abandoned

Developed Acreage The number of acres which are allocated or assignable to producing wells or wells capable

of production

Development Well Awell drilled within the proved area of an oil or natural gas reservoirto the depth of stratigraphic

horizon known to be productive

Drilling Carry Obligation An obligation of one party to pay certain well costs attributable to another party

Dry Hole Dry Well well found to be incapable of producing either oil or natural gas in sufficient quantities to

justify completion as natural gas or oil well

Exploratory Well well drilled to find new field or to find new reservoir in field previously found to be

productive of natural gas or oil in another reservoir

Formation succession of sedimentary beds that were deposited under the same general geologic conditions

Full Cost Pool The full cost pool consists of all costs associated with property acquisition exploration and

development activities for company using the full cost method of accounting Additionally any internal costs that can

be directly identified with acquisition exploration and development activities are included Any costs related to

production general corporate overhead or similar activities are not included

Gross Acres or Gross Wells The total acres or wells as the case may be in which working interest is owned

Horizontal Wells Wells drilled at angles greater than 70 degrees from vertical

Mcf One thousand cubic feet

Mcfe One thousand cubic feet of natural gas equivalent

Mmbbl One million barrels of crude oil or other liquid hydrocarbons

Mmbtu One million btus

Mmcf One million cubic feet

Mmcfe One million cubic feet of natural gas equivalent
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Natural Gas Liquids NGL Those hydrocarbons in natural gas that are separated from the gas as liquids through

the process of absorption condensation adsorption or othermethods in gas processing or cycling plants Naturalgas

liquids primarily include ethane propane butane isobutene pentane hexane and natural gasoline

Net Acres or Net Wells The sum of the fractional working interests owned in gross acres or gross wells

NYMEX New York Mercantile Exchange

Play term applied toa portion of the exploration and production cycle following the identification by geologists

and geophysicists of areas with potential natural gas oil and NGL reserves

Present Value orPV-1O When used with respect to natural gas oil and NGL reserves present value or PV-10

means the estimated future gross revenue to be generated from the production of proved reserves net of estimated

production and future development costs using prices calculated as the average natural gas and oil price during the

preceding 12-month period prior to the end of the current reporting period determined as the unweighted arithmetic

average of prices on the first day of each month within the 12-month period and costs in effect at the determination

date without giving effect to non-property related expenses such as general and administrative expenses debt service

and future income tax expense or to depreciation depletion and amortization discounted using an annual discount

rate of 10%

Price Differential The difference in the price of natural gas oil or NGL received at the sales point and the New

York Mercantile Exchange NYMEX

Productive Well well that is not dry well Productive wells include producing wells and wells that are

mechanically capable of production

Proved Developed Reserves Proved reserves that can be expected to be recovered through existing wells with

existing equipment and operating methods or in which the cost of the required equipment is relatively minor compared

to the cost of new well

Proved Properties Properties with proved reserves

Proved Reserves Proved natural gas and oil reserves are those quantities of natural gas and oil which by

analysis of geoscience and engineering data can be estimated with reasonable certainty to be economically producible

from given date forward from known reservoirs and under existing economic conditions operating methods and

government regulations prior to the time at which contracts providing the right to operateexpire unless evidence

indicates that renewal is reasonably certain regardless of whether deterministic or probabilistic methods are used for

the estimation The project to extract the hydrocarbons must have commenced or the operator must be reasonably

certain that it will commence the project within reasonable time The area of reservoir considered as proved includes

the area identified by drilling and limited by fluid contacts if any and ii adjacent undrilled portions of the reservoir

that can with reasonable certainty be judged to be continuous with it and to contain economically producible natural

gas or oil on the basis of available geoscience and engineering data In the absence of information on fluid contacts

proved quantities in reservoir are limited by the lowest known hydrocarbons LKH as seen in well penetration

unless geoscience engineering or performance data and reliable technology establishes lower contact with

reasonable certainty Where direct observation from well penetrations has defined highest known oil HKO elevation

and the potential exists for an associated gas cap proved oil reserves may be assigned in the structurally higher

portions of the reservoir only if geoscience engineering Or performance data and reliable technology establish the

higher contact with reasonable certainty Reserves that can be produced economically through application of improved

recovery techniques including but not limited to fluid injection are included in the proved classification when

successful testing by pilot project in an area of the reservoir with properties nomore favorable than in the reservoir

as whole the Operation of an installed program in the reservoir or an analogous reservoir or other evidence using

reliable technology establishes the reasonable certainty of the engineering analysis on which the project or program

was based and ii the project has been approved for development by all necessary parties and entities including

governmental entities Existing economic conditions include prices and costs at which economic producibility from

reservoir is to be determined The price is the average price during the 12-month period prior to the ending date of the

period covered by the report determined as an unweighted arithmetic average of the first-day-of-the-month price for

each month within such period unless prices are defined by contractual arrangements excluding escalations based

upon future conditions

Proved Undeveloped Location site on which development well can be drilled consistent with spacing rules

for purposes of recovering proved undeveloped reserves
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Proved Undeveloped Resenies Proved reserves that are expected to be recovered from new wells on undrilled

acreage or from existingwellswhere relatively major expenditure is required for recompletion Reserves on undrilled

acreage are limited to those directly offsetting development spacing areas that are reasonably certain of production

when drilled unless evidence using reliable technology exists that establishes reasonable certainty of economic

producibility at greater distances Undrilled locations can be classified as having proved undeveloped reserves only

if development plan has been adopted indicating that they are scheduled to be drilled within five years unless the

specific circumstances justify longer time Estimates for proved undeveloped reserves are not attributed to any

acreage for which an application of fluid injection or other improved recovery technique is contemplated unless such

techniques have been proved effective by actual projects in the same reservoiror an analogous reservoir or by other

evidence using reliable technology establishing reasonable certainty

Reserve Replacement Calculated by dividing the sum of reserve additions from all sources revisions extensions

discoveries and other additions and acquisitions by the actual production for the corresponding period The values

for these reserve additions are derived directly from the proved reserves table located in Note 10 of thenotes to our

consolidated financial statements included in Item of this report Management uses the reserve replacement ratio

as an indicator of the Companys ability to replenish annual production volumes and grow its reserves thereby providing

some information on the sources of future production It should be noted that the reserve replacement ratio is statistical

indicator that has limitations As an annual measure the ratio is limited because it typically varies widely based on the

extent and timing of new discoveries and property acquisitions Its predictive and comparative value is also limited for

the same reasons In addition since the ratio does not imbed the cost or timing of future production of new reserves

it cannot be used as measure of value creation

Reservoir porous and permeable underground formation containing natural accumulation of producible oil

and/or natural gas that is confined by impermeable rock or water barriers and is individual and separate from other

reservoirs

Royalty Interest An interest in natural gas and oil property entitling the owner to share of natural gas oil or

NGL production free of costs of production

Seismic An exploration method of sending energy waves or sound waves into the earth and recording the wave

reflections to indicate the type size shape and depth of subsurface rock formation 3-D seismic provides three-

dimensional pictures

Shale Fine-grained sedimentary rock composed mostly of consolidated clay or mud Shale is the most frequently

occurring sedimentary rock

Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash Flows The discounted future net cash flows relating to

proved reserves based on the prices used in estimating the proved reserves year-end costs and statutory tax rates

adjusted for permanent differences and.a 10% annual discount rate

Tbtu One trillion British thermal units

Tcf One trillion cubic feet

Tcfe One trillion cubic feet of natural gas equivalent

Unconventional Plays found within regional pervasive formations with low matrix permeability and close

association with hydrocarbon source rocks

Undeveloped Acreage Acreage on which wells have not been drilled or completed to point that would permit

the production of economic quantities of natural gas and oil regardless of whether such acreage contains proved

reserves

Unproved Properties Properties with no proved reserves

VPP As we use the term volumetric production payment represents limited-term overriding royalty interest

in natural gas and oil reserves that entitles the purchaser to receive scheduled production volumes over period

of time from specific lease interests ii isfree and clear of all associated future production costs and capital

expenditures iii is nonrecourse to the seller i.e the purchasers only recourse is to the reserves acquired iv

transfers title of the reserves to the purchaser and allows the seller to retain the remaining reserves if any after

the scheduled production volumes have beendelivered
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Working Interest The operating interest which gives the owner the right to drill produce and conduct operating

activities on the property and share of production

ITEM IA Risk Factors

Natural gas oil and NGL prices fluctuate widely and lower prices for an extended period of tIme are likely

to have material adverse effect on our business

Our revenues operating results profitability and ability to grow depend primarily upon the prices we receive for

the natural gas oil and NGL we sell We require substantial expenditures to replace reserves sustain production and

fund our business plans Lower natural gas oil and NGL prices can negatively affect the amount of cash available for

capital expenditures and our ability to borrow money or raise additional capital and as result could have material

adverse effect on our financial condition results of operations and reserves In addition lower prices may result in

ceiling test write-downs of our natural gas and oil properties We urge you to read the risk factors below for more
detailed description of each of these risks

Historically the markets for natural gas oil and NGL have been volatile and they are likely to continue to be

volatile Wide fluctuations in natural gas oil and NGL prices may result from relatively minor changes in the supply of

and demand for natural gas and oil market uncertainty and other factors that are beyond our control including

domestic and worldwide supplies of natural gas oil and NGL including U.S inventories of natural gas and

oil reserves

weather conditions

changes in the level of consumer and industrial demand

the price and availability of alternative fuels

the effectiveness of worldwide conservation measures

the availability proximity and capacity of pipelines other transportation facilities and processing facilities

the level and effect of trading in commodity futures markets including by commodity price speculators and

others

the price and level of foreign imports

the nature and extent of domestic and foreign governmental regulations and taxes

the ability of the members of the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries to agree to and maintain

oil price and production controls

political instability or armed conflict in oil and gas producing regions and

overall domestic and global economic conditions

These factors and the volatility of the energy markets make it extremely difficult to predict future natural gas oil

and NGL price movements with any certainty In the U.S record-high supplies of natural gas and weak demand during

2012 resulted in natural gas prices at 10-year lows in early 2012 and while prices have risen from their lows they

remain depressed

Further the prices of natural gas oil and NGL have not moved in tandem in recent years creating value gap
that has caused us to shift our focus from dry gas plays to liquids-rich plays In 2012 oil and NGL production accounted

for only 20% of our total production but 59% of our revenue including the effects of realized hedging and we anticipate

that approximately 60% of our 2013 revenue will come from our oil and NGL production based on current NYMX
strip prices and our current hedging positions Nevertheless natural gas prices can significantly affect our future results

as approximately 70% of our estimated proved reserves at December 31 2012 were natural gas substantial or

extended decline in natural gas oil or NGL prices could negatively affect future revenue and the quantities of natural

gas oil and NGL reserves that may be economically produced Even with natural gas and oil derivatives currently in

place for our future production 85% of our forecasted 2013 oil production through swaps and written call options and

50% of our forecasted 2013 natural gas production through swaps and three-way collars our revenue and results of

operations will be partially exposed tochanges in future commodity prices
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Our level of indebtedness may limit our financial flexibility

As of December 31 2012 we had long-term indebtedness of approximately $1 2.620 billion and unrestricted cash

of $287 million and our net indebtedness represented 41% of our total book capitalization
which we define as the

sum of total equity and total current and long-term debt less unrestricted cash We had $418 million of outstanding

borrowings drawn under our oilfield services revolving bank credit facility and no outstanding borrowings under our

corporate revolving bank credit facility as of December 31 2012

Our level of indebtedness affects our operations in several ways including the following

portion of our cash flows from operating activities must be used to service our indebtedness and is not

available for other purposes

we may be at competitive disadvantage as compared to similar companies that have less debt

the covenants contained in the agreements governing our outstanding indebtedness and future indebtedness

may limit our ability to borrow additional funds pay dividends and make certain investments and may also

affect our flexibility in planning for and reacting to changes in the economy and in our industry

the oilfield services revolving bank credit facility and the indenture governing the COO 6.625% Senior Notes

due 2019 restrict the payment of dividends or distributions to Chesapeake

additional financing in the future for working capital capital expenditures acquisitions general corporate or

other purposes may have higher costs and more restrictive covenants and

lowering of the credit ratings of our debt may negatively affect the cost terms conditions and availability

of future financing and lower ratings will increase the interest rate we pay on our corporate revolving bank

credit facility

The borrowing base of our corporate revolving bank credit facility is subject to periodic redetermination and is

based in part on natural gas and oil prices lowering of our borrowing base because of lower natural gas and oil

prices or for other reasons could require us to repay indebtedness in excess of the borrowing base or we might need

to further secure the lenders with additional collateral We may incur additional debt including secured indebtedness

in order to develop our properties and make future acquisitions higher level of indebtedness increases the risk that

we may default on our obligations Our ability to meet our debt obligations and to reduce our level of indebtedness

depends on our future performance General economic conditions natural gas oil and NGL prices and financial

business and other factors affect our operations and our future performance and many of these factors are beyond

our control Factors that will affect our ability to raise cash through an offering of our capital stock or refinancing of

our debt include financial market conditions the value of our assets and our performance at the time we need capital

In addition our failure to comply with the financial and other restrictive covenants relating to our indebtedness could

result in default under that indebtedness We would have been unable to meet the leverage ratio maintenance

covenant of our corporate revolving bank credit agreement at September 30 2012 and had to obtain an amendment

of that covenant to remain in compliance Our lenders may not agree to an amendment or waiver of any other potential

future covenant default default under the corporate revolving bank credit facility could result in acceleration of such

indebtedness and lead to cross defaults under our other indebtedness In this circumstance our ability to refinance

indebtedness may be limited

We anticipate completing asset sales in 2013 and intend to apply portion of the proceeds from such sales to

reduce our overall level of indebtedness If we are unable to consummate such sales or if they do not generate the

proceeds we are anticipating we would be required to reduce our capital spending or seek toidentify pursue and

obtain funds from other sales transactions or other sources in order to meet our operating capital spending and debt

reduction plans

Declines in the prices of natural gas and oil could result in write-down of our asset carrying values

We utilize the full cost method of accounting for costs related to our natural gas and oil properties Under this

method all such costs for both productive and nonproductive properties are capitalized and amortized on an aggregate

basis over the estimated lives of the properties using the unit-of production method However these capitalized costs

are subject to ceiling test which limits such pooled costs to the aggregate of the present value of future net revenues

attributable to proved natural gas oil and NGL reserves discounted at 10% plus the lower of cost or market value of

unproved properties The full cost ceiling is evaluated at the end of each quarter using the unweighted arithmetic

average of the prices on the first day of each month within the 12-month period ending in the quarter adjusted for the
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impact of derivatives accounted for as cash flow hedges We are required to write down the carrying value of our

natural gas and oil assets if capitalized costs exceed the ceiling limit and such Writedowns can be material

The risk that we will be required to write down the carrying value of our natural gas and oil properties increases

when natural gas and oil prices are low Natural gas prices declined significantly in late 2011 and 2012 to the lowest

level in recent years and while prices have risen from their lows they remain depressed As result our financial

statements forthe year ended December S12012.reflect an impairment of approximately $3.315 billion recorded in

the 2012third quarter with respect to our natural gas and oil properties Sustained low natural gas prices and other

factors could cause us to be required to write down our natural gas and oil properties or other assets in the future and

incur non-cash charge against future earnings

Significant capital expendItures are required to replace our reserves and conduct our business

Our exploration development and acquisition activities and our oilfield services businesses require substantial

capital expenditures and we plan to make capital expenditures in 2013 that exceed our estimated 2013 cash flows

from operations Thus we intend to fund our capital expenditures through combination of cash flows from operations

and borrowings under our corporate and oilfield services revolving bank credit facilities and tothe.extent those sources

are not sufficientfrom debt and equity issuances other financings and asset sales Our ability to generate operating

cash flow is subject to many of the risks and uncertainties that exist in our industry some of which we maynot be able

to anticipate at this time Future cash floWs from operations are subject to number of risks and variables such as

the level of production from existing wells prices of natural gas and oil our success in developing and producing new

reserves and the other risk factors discussed herein Our ability to obtain capital from other sources such as the capital

markets other financings and asset sales is dependent upon many of those same factors as well as the orderly

functioning of credit and capital markets If such proceeds are inadequate to fund our planned spending we would be

required to reduce our capital spending seek to sell different or additional assets or pursue
other funding alternatives

and we could have reduced ability to replace our reserves and increase liquids production

If we are not able to replace reserves we may not be able to sustain production

Our future success depends largely upon our ability to find develop or acquire additional natural gas and oil

reserves that are economically recoverable Unless we replace the reserves we produce through successful

development exploration or acquisition activities our proved reserves and production will decline overtime In addition

approximately 43% of our total estimated proved reserves by volume as of December 31 2012 were undeveloped

Recovery of such reserves will require significant capital expenditures and successful drilling operations Our reserve

estimates at December 31 2012 reflected decline in the production rate on producing properties of approximately

33% in 2013 and 22% in 2014 Thus our future natural gas and oil reserves and production and therefore our cash

flow and income are highly dependent On our success in efficiently develOping and exploiting our current reserves and

economically finding or acquiring additional recoverable reserves

The actual quantities and present value Of our proved reserves may bedifferent than we have estimated

This report contains estimates of our proved reserves and the estimated future net revenues from our proved

reserves These estimates re based upon various assumptions including assumptions required by the SEC relating

to natural gas oil and NGL prices drilling and operating expenses capital expenditures taxes and availability of funds

The process of estimating natural gas oil and NGL reserves is complex and involves significant decisions and

assumptions associated with geological geophysical engineering and economic data for each well Therefore these

estimates are subject to future revisions.

Actual future production natural gas oil and NGL prices revenues taxes development expenditures operating

expenses and quantities of recoverable natural gas oil and NGL reserves most likely will vary from these estimates

Such variations may be significant and could materially affect the estimated quantities and present value of our proved

reserves In addition we may adjust estimates of proved reserves to reflect production history results of exploration

and development drilling prevailing natural gas and oil prices and other factors many of which are beypnd our control

At December 31 2012 approximately 43% of our estimated proved reserves by volume were undeveloped

These reserve estimates reflect our plans to make significant capital expenditures to convert our proved undeveloped

reserves PUDs into proved developed reserves including approximately $12.0 billion during the five years ending

in 2017 You should be aware that the estimated development costs may not be accurate development may not occur

as scheduled and results may not be as estimated If we choose not to develop PUDs or if we are not otherwise able

to successfully develop them we will be required to remove theassociated volumes from our reported proved reserves
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In addition under the SECs reserve reporting rules because PUDs generally may be booked only if they relate to

wells scheduled to be drilled within five years of the date of booking we may be required to write off any PUDs that

are not developed within this five-year time frame

You should not assume that the present values included in this report represent the current market value of our

estimated reserves In accordance with SEC requirements theestimates of our present values are based on prices

and costs as of the date of the estimates The price on the date of estimate is calculated as the average natural gas

and oil price during the 12 months ending in the current reporting period determined as the unweighted arithmetic

average of prices on the first day of each month within the 12-month period TheDecember 31 2012 present value

is based on $2.76 per mcf of natural gas and $94.84 per barrel of oil before price differential adjustments Actual future

prices and costs may be materially higher or lower than the prices and costs as of the date of an estimate

Any changes in consumption by natural gas oil and NGL purchasers or in governmental regulations or taxation

will also affect the actual future net cash flows from our production

The timing of both the production and the expenses from the development and production of natural gas and oil

properties will affect-both the timing of actual future net cash flows from our proved reserves and their present-value

In addition the 10% discount factor which is required by the SEC to be used in calculating discounted future net cash

flows for reporting purposes is not necessarily the most accurate discount factor The effective interest rate at various

times and the risks associated with our business or the natural gas anctbil industry in general-will affect the accuracy

of the 10% discount factor

Our development and exploratory drilling efforts and our.weII operations.may not be profitable or achieve

our targeted returns

We have acquired significant amounts of unproved property in order to further oiir dØvØlopment efforts

Development and exploratory drilling and production activities are subject to many risks including the risk that no

commercially productive reservoirs will be discovered We have acquired unproved properties and leased-undeveloped

acreage that we believe will enhance our growth potential and increase our earnings over time However we cannot

assure you that all prospects will be economically viable or that we will not abandon our initial investments Additionally

there can be no assurance that unproved property acquired by us or undeveloped acreage leased by us will be profitably

developed that new wells drilled by us in prospects that we pursue will be productive or that we will recover all or any

portion of our investment in such unproved property or wells

Drilling for natural gas-and oil may involve unprofitable efforts not only from dry wells but also from wells that-are

productive but do not produce sufficient commercial-quantities to cover the drilling operating and other costs The cost

of drilling completing and operating well is often uncertain and many factors can adversely affect the economics of

well or property Drilling operations may be curtailed delayed or canceled as result of unexpected drillingconditions

equipment failures or accidents shortages of equipment or personnel environmental issues state or local bans or

moratoriums on hydraulic fracturing and -for other reasons In addition wells that are profitable may not meet our

internal return targets which are dependent upon the current and future market prices for natural gas and oil costs

associated with producing natural gas oil and NGL and our ability to add reserves at an acceptable cost We rely to

significant extent on seismic data and other-advanced technologies ih identifying unproved property prospects and

in conducting our exploration activities The seismic- data and other technologies we use do not allow us to know

conclusively prior to acquisition of unproved property leasing of undeveloped acreage or drilling well whether natural

gas or oil is present or may be produced economically The use oiseismlc dataand other tebhnologies also requires

greater pre-drilling expenditures than traditional drilling strategies Drilling results in our newer natural gas and liquids-

rich unconventional plays may be more uncertain than in unconventional plays that are more developed and have

longer established production histories meanwhile drilling and completion techniques that have proven to be successful

in other unconventional formations to maximize recoveries may be UnsucØssful when used in new unconventional

formations

Certain of our undeveloped leasehold assØtsaresubject to leases that will expire over the next several

years unless production is established on units containing the acreage

Leases on natural gas and oil properties typically have term of three tcfive years after which they expire unless

prior to expiration well is drilled and prOduction of hydrocarbons -ih paying quantities is established If our leases

expire and we are unable to renew the leases wewill lose our right-to develop the related properties While we seek

to actively manage our leasehold inventOry using our drilflng rig fleet and oilfield services to drill sufficient wells to hold

the leasehold that we believe is material to our operatiors oUr drilling plaris for the areas are subject to change
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based upon various factors including drilling results natural gas and oil prices the availability and cost of capital

drilling and production costs availability of drilling services and equipment gatheringsystem and pipeline transportation

constraints and regulatory approvals

Our hedging activities may reduce the realized prices we receive for our natural gas oil and NGL sales

require us to provide collateral for hedging liabilities and involve risk that our coünterparties may be unable

to satisfy their obligations to us

In order to manage our exposure to price volatility in marketing our production we enter into natural gas and oil

price risk management arrangements fora portion of ourexpected production Commodity price derivatives may limit

the prices we actually realize and therefore reduce natural gas oil and NGLrevenuesin the future Our commodity

hedging activities will impact our earnings in various ways including recognition of certain mark-to-market gains and

losses on derivative instruments The fairvalue of our natural gas and oil derivative instruments can fluctuate significantly

between periods In addition our mmodity price risk managE menttrdnsactions may expose us to the risk of financial

loss in certain circumstances including instances in which ourproduction is less than expected

Derivative transactions involve the risk that counterparties which are generally financial institutions may be

unable to satisfy their obligations to us Although the counterparties to our multi-counterparty secured hedging facility

are required to secure their hedging obligations to us under certain scenarios if any of our counterparties were to

default on its obligations to us underthe hedging contracts or seek bankruptcy protection it could have an adverse

effect on our ability to fund our planned activities and could result in larger percentage of our future production being

subject to commodity price changes The risk of counterparty default is heightened in poor economic environment

Most of our naturalgas and oil derivative contracts are with the 7counterparties to our multi-counterparty-hedging

facility Our obligations under the facility are secured by natural gas and oil proved reserves the value of which must

cover the fairvalue of the transactions outstanding under the facility by at least 1.65 times.Under certain circumstances

such as spike in volatility measures withouta corresponding change in commodity prices thecollateral value could

fall below the coverage designated and we would be required to post additional reserve collateral to our hedging

facility If we did not have sufficient unencumbered natural gas and oil properties available to cover the shortfall we

would be required to post cash or letters of credit with thecounterparties Future óóllateral requirements are dependent

to great extent on natural gas and oil prices

Natural gas and oil drilling and producing operations can be hazardous and may expose us to liabilities

including environmental liabilities

Natural gas and oil operations are subject to many risks including well blowouts cratering and explosions pipe

failures fires formations with abnormal pressures uncontrollable flows of natural gas oil brine or well fluids and other

environmental hazards and risks Some of these risks or hazards could materially and adversely affect our revenues

and expenses by reducing or shutting in production from wells loss of equipment or otherwise negatively impacting

the projected economic performance of our prospects If any of these risks occurs we could sustain substantial losses

as result of

injury or loss of life

severe damage to or destruction of property natural resources or equipment

pollution or other environmental damage

clean-up responsibilities

regulatory investigations and administrative civil and criminal penalties and

injunctions resulting in limitation or suspension of operations

There is inherent risk of incurring significant environmental costs and liabilities in our operations due to our use

generation handling and disposal of materials including wastes petroleum hydrocarbons and other chemicals We

may incur joint and several strict liability under applicable U.S federal and state environmental laws in connection

with releases of petroleum hydrocarbons and other hazardous substances at on under or from our leased or owned

properties resulting from current or historical operations Insome cases our properties have been used for natural gas

and oil exploration and production activities for number of years often by third parties not under our control We also

could incur material fines penalties and government or third-party claims as result of violations of or liabilities under

applicable environmental laws and regulations For our non-operated properties we are dependent on the operator

for operational and regulatory compliance While we may maintain insurance against some but not all of the risks
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described above our insurance may not be adequate to cover casualty losses or liabilities and our insurance does

not cover penalties or fines that may be assessed by governmental authority Also in the future we may not be able

to obtain insurance at premium levels that justify its purchase

Federal and state- legislative and regulatory initiatives relating to hydraulic fracturing could result in

increased costs and additional operating restrictions or delays

It is customary in our industry to recover natural gas and oil from deep shale and other formations through the

use of horizontal drilling combined with hydraulic fracturing Hydraulic fracturing is the process of creating or expanding

cracks or fractures in deep formations using water sand and other additives pumped under high pressure into the

formation We use hydraulic fracturing as means to increase the productivity of almost every-well that we drill and

complete

The hydraulic fracturing process is typically regulated by state oil and natural gas commissions Several states

including Pennsylvania Texas Colorado Montana Ohio New Mexico and Wyoming have adopted and otherstates

are considering adopting regulations that could impose more stringent permitting public disclosure and/or well

construction requirements on hydraulic fracturing operations NewYork has placed permit moratorium on high volume

fracturing activities combined with horizontal drilling pending the results of study regarding the safety of hydraulic

fracturing In addition to state laws some local municipalities have adopted or are considering adopting land use

restrictions such as city ordinances that may restrict or prohibit the performance of well drilling in general and/or

hydraulic fracturing in particular

Additionally the EPA has asserted federal regulatory authority over hydraulic fracturing activities involving diesel

fuel specifically when diesel fuel is utifized in the stimulation fluid under the Safe Drinking Water Act and is drafting

guidance documents related to this newly asserted regulatory authority There are also certain governmental reviews

either underway or being proposed that focus on deep shale and other formation completion and production practices

including hydraulic fracturing Depending on the outcome of these studies federal and state legislatures and agencies

may seek to further regulate such activities

Certain environmental and other groups have suggested that additional federal state and local laws and

regulations may be needed to more closely regulate the hydraulic fracturing process We cannot predict whether

additional federal state or local laws or regulations will be enacted in the future and if so what actions any such laws

or regulations would require or prohibit If additional levels of regulation or permitting requirements were imposed

through the adoption of new laws and regulations our business and operations could be subject to delays increased

operating and compliance costs and process prohibitions

Federal regulatory initiatives relating to -air emissions could result in increased costs and additional

operating restrictions or delays

The EPA has published New Source Performance Standards NSPS and National Emissions Standards for

Hazardous Air Pollutants NESHAP that amended existing NSPS and NESHAP standards for oil and gas facilities

and created new NSPS standards for oil and gas production transmission and distribution facilities The Agency has

indicated that it will reexamine and reissue these rules over the next three years but the outcome of this process

remains uncertain In addition the EPAhas issued rules requiring monitoring and reporting of greenhouse gas emissions

from petroleum and natural gas systems We along with other industry groups filed suit challenging certain provisions

of these rules but the outcome of the challenge is uncertain and may impact our reporting obligations The EPA is

also conducting review of the National Ambient Air Quality Standards NAAQS for ozone-which is expected to be

completed in 2013 and could result in more stringent air emissions standards applicable to our operations

Federal regulatory initiatives relating to the protection of threatened or endangered species could result

in increased costs and additional operating restrictions or delays

The designation of previously unidentified endangered or-threatened species pursuant to the ESA in areas where

we intend to conduct construction activity could materially limit or delay our plans For example as result of

settlement reached in 2011 the U.S Fish and Wildlife Service is required to make determination on the listing of

more than 250 species as endangered orthreatened over--the next several years Some of these species are included

in the list of over 100 species that are currently proposed for listing as endangered or threatened species In addition

the imposition of seasonal restrictions on our construction Or operational activities could materially limit or delay our

plans
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Potential legislative and regulatory actions could increaseoUr costs reduce our revenue and cash flow

from natural gas and oil sales reduce our liquidity or otherwise alter the way we conduct our business

The activities of exploration and production companies operating in the are subject to extensive regulation

at the federal state and local levels Changes to existing laws and regulations or new laws and regulations such as

those described below could if adopted have an adverse effect on our business

Federal Taxation of Independent Producers

Recent federal budget proposals would potentially increase and accelerate the payment of federal income taxes

of independent producers of natural gas and oil Proposals that would significantly affect us would repeal the expensing
of intangible drilling costs repeal the percentage depletion allowance and increase the amortization period of geological

and geophysical expenses These changes if enacted will make it more costly for us to explore for and develop our

natural gas and oil resources

TC Derivatives Regulation

In July 2010 the Congress enacted the Dodd Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act the

Dodd-FrankAct which contains measures aimed at migrating over-the-counter OTC derivative markets to exchange-

traded and cleared markets Certain companies that use swaps to hedge commercial risk referred to as end-users

are permitted to continue to use OTC derivatives under newly adopted regulations We maintain an active price and

basis protection hedging program related to the natural gas and oil we produce to manage the risk of low commodity

prices and to predict with greater certainty the cash flow from our hedged production We have used the OTC market

exclusively for our natural gas and oil derivative contracts The Dodd-Frank Act and the rules and regulations

promulgated thereunder should permit usasan end user to continue to utilize OTC derivatives but could cause

increased costs and reduce liquidity in such markets Such changes could maerialIy educe ourhedgingopportunities

and negatively affect our revenues and cash flow during periods of low commodity prices

Climate Change

Various state governments and regional organizations are considering enacting new legislation and promulgating

new regulations governing or restricting the emission of greenhouse gases from stationary sources such as our

equipment and operations At the federal level the EPA has already made findings and issued regulations that require

us to establish and report an inventory of greenhouse gas emissions Legislative and regulatory proposals for restricting

greenhouse gas emissions or otherwise addressing climate change could require us to incur additional operating costs

and could adversely affect demand for the natural gas and oil that we sell The potential increase in our operating

costs could include new or increased costs to obtain permits operate and maintain our equipment and facilities install

new emission controls on our equipment and facilities acquire allowances to authorize our greenhouse gas emissions

pay taxes related to our greenhouse gas emissions and administer and manage greenhouse gas emissions program
Even without federal legislation or regulation of greenhouse gas emissions states may pursue the issue either directly

or indirectly Restrictions on emissions of methane or carbon dioxide that may be imposed in various states could

adversely affectthe oil arid gas industry Moreover incentives to conserve energy or use alternative energy sources

could reduce demand for natural gas and oil

The current worldwide economic uncertainty may have material adverse effect on our results of

operations liquidity and financial condition

The recovery from the global economic crisis of 2008 and resulting recession has been slow and uneven

Continuing concerns regarding the worldwide economic outlook and sovereign debt crisis in europe have contributed

to increased economic uncertainty and diminished expectations for the global economy slowdown in the current

economic recovery or return to recession would negatively impact demand for petroleum products and prices for

natural gas oil and NGL These circumstances could adversely impact our results of operations liquidityand financial

condition
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Our cash flow from operations our revolving bank credit facilities and cash on hand historically have not been

sufficient to fund all of our expenditures and we have relied on the capital markets and asset sales to provide us with

additional capital Poor economic conditions may negatively affect

our ability to access the capital markets at time when we would like or need to raise capital

the number of participants in our proposed asset sales transactions or the values we are able to realize in

those transactions making them uneconomic or harder or impossible to consummate

the collectability of our trade receivables if our counterparties are unable to perform their obligations or seek

bankruptcy protection or

the ability of our joint venture partner tO meet their obligations to fund portion of our drilling costs under

our joint venture agreements

Our operations may be adversely affected by ollfield services shortages pipeline and gathering system

capacity constraints and various transportation interruptions

From time to time we experience delays in driVing and completing our natural gas and oil wells In developing

plays the demand for equipment such as pipe and compressors can exceed the supply and it is challenging to attract

and retain qualified oilfield workers Delays in developing our natural gas and oil assets for these and other reasons

could negatively affect our revenues and cash flow

In certain natural gas and liquids-rich shale plays thecapacity of gathering systems and transportation pipelines

is insufficient to accommodate potential production frOm existing and new wells We rely heavily on third parties to

meet our natural gas oil and NGL gathering demand following the sale of substantially all of our midstream business

in 2012 Capital constraints could limit theconstruction of new pipelinesand gathering systems by third parties and

we may experience delays in building intrastate gathering systems necessary to transport our natural gas to interstate

pipelines Until this new capacity is available we may experience delays in producing and selling our natural gas oil

and NGL In such event we might have to shut in our wells awaiting pipeline connection or capacity and/or sell

natural gas oil or NGL production at significantly lower prices than those quoted on NYMEX or than we currently

project which would adversely affect our results of operations

portion of our natural gas oil and NGL production in any region may be interrupted or shut in from time to time

for numerous reasons including as result of weather conditions accidents loss of pipeline or gathering system

access field labor issues or strikes or we might voluntarily curtail production in response to market conditions an

action we took in 2012 If substantial amount of our production is interrupted at the same time it could temporarily

adversely affect our cash flow

There are significant costs associated with pending legal and governmental proceedings and the ultimate

outcome of these malters is uncertain

The Company and current nd former directors and officers are the subject of number of shareholder lawsuits

and there are ongoing governmental and regulatory investigations and inquiries The Company oannot predict the

outcome or impact of these pending matters but the lawsuits could result in judgments against the Company and

directors and officers named as defendants and there could be one or more enforcement actions in respect of the

governmental investigations For example we could be exposed to enforcement or other actions with respect to the

continuing SEC investigation into certain disclosure accounting and financial reporting matters Our legal expenses

increased in 2012 compared to 2011 due primarily to defending the shareholder lawsuits responding to governmental

investigations and inquiries and conducting the Boards review of certain matters involving our Chief Executive Officer

and such expenses in the future may be significant In additioh attention to these matters by members of our senior

management has been required reducing the time they have available to devote to managing the Companys business

Cyber attacks targeting systems and infrastructure used by the oil and gas industry may adversely impact

our operations

Our business has become increasingly dependent on digital technologies to conduct certain exploration

development and production activities We depend on digital technology to estimate quantities of natural gas oil and

NGL reserves process and record financial and operating data analyze seismic and drilling information and

communicate with our employees and third party partners We have been the subject of cyber attacks on our internal

systems and through those of third parties but these incidents did not have material adverse impact on our results

of operations Nevertheless unauthorized access to our seismic data reserves information or other proprietary or

commercially sensitive information could lead to data corruption communication interruption or other disruptions in
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our exploration or production operations or planned business transactions any of which could have material adverse

impact on our results of operation Further as cyber attacks continue to evolve wemay be required to expend significant

additional resources to continue to modify or enhance our protective measures or to investigate and remediate any

vulnerabilities to cyber attacks

We are currently involved in search for new CEO and if this search is delayed or if we were to lose

the services of other key personnel our business could be negatively impacted

On January29 2013 Aubrey McClendon our President Chief Executive Officer CEO and director agreed

with the Board of Directors to retire from the Company Mr McClendon will continue to serve as CEO President and

director until the earlier of April 2013 or the time at which his successor is appointed To the extent there is delay

in choosing new CEO the Companys business could be negalively impacted In addition ourfuture success depends

in part upon the continued service of key members of our senior management team Our senior management team is

critical to the overall management of the Company and they also play key role in maintaining our culture and setting

our strategic direction All of our executive officers and key employees are at-will employees The loss of key personnel

could seriously harm our business

We rely on highly skilled personnel and if we are unable to retain or motivate key personnel hire qualified

personnel or maintain our corporate culture our operations may be negatively impacted

Our performance largely depends on the talents and efforts of highly skilled individuals Our future success

depends on our continuing ability to identify hire develop motivate and retain highly skilled personnel for all areas

of our organization. Competition in our industry for qualified employees is intense and certain of our competitors have

directly targeted our employees In addition our compensation arrangements may not always be successful in attracting

new employees and retaining and motivating our existing employees Our continued ability to compete effectively

depends on our ability to attract new employees and to retain and motivate our existing employees In addition we

believe that our corporateculture fosters innovation creativity and teamwork We believe that our ability to maintain

our corporate culture is an important component of our future success

ITEM Unresolved Staff Comments

None

ITEM Properties

Information regarding our properties is included in Item and in Note 10 of the notes to ourconsolidated financial

statements included in Item of this report

ITEM Legal Proceedings

Litigation and Regulatoty Proceedings

The Company is involved in number of litigation and regulatory proceedings including those described below

Many of these proceedings are in early stages and many of them seek an indeterminate amount of damages We
estimate and provide for potential losses that may arise out of litigation and regulatory proceedings to the extent that

such losses are probable and can be reasonably estimated Significant judgment is required in making these estimates

and our final liabilities may ultimately be materially different Our total estimated liability in respect of litigation and

regulatory proceedings is determined on case-by-case basis and represents an estimate of probable losses after

considering among other factors the progress of each case or proceeding our experience and the experience of

others in similar cases or proceedings and the opinions and views of legal counsel We account for legal defense

costs in the period the costs are incurred

July 2008 Common Stock Offering On February 25 2009 putative class action was filed in the District

Court for the Southern District of New York against the Company and certain of its officers and directors along with

certain underwriters of the Company July 2008 common stock offering Following the appointment of lead plaintiff

and counsel the plaintiff filed an amended complaint on September 11 2009 alleging that the registration statement

for the offering contained material misstatements and omissions and seeking damages under Sections 11 12 and 15

of the Securities Act of 1933 of an unspecified amount and rescission The action was transferred to the District

Court for the Western District of Oklahoma on October13 2009 On September 2010 the court denied the

defendants motion to dismiss and the court certified the class on March 30 2012 Defendants moved for summary

judgment on grounds of loss causation and materiality on December 16 2011 and the motion was fully briefed as of
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August 21 2012 Discovery in the case is proceeding We are currently unable to assessthe probability of loss or

estimate range of potential lossassociated with the case

derivative action was also filed in the District Court of Oklahoma County Oklahoma on March 10 2009 against

certain current and former directors and officers of the Company asserting breaches of fiduciary duties relating to

alleged material omissions in the registration statement for the July 2008 offering On October 22 2012 the court

issued an order staying the derivative action until resolution of the federal class -action second derivative action

relating to the July 2008 offering was filed against certain current and former directors and officers of the Company in

the District Court for the Western District of Oklahoma on September 2011 This action also asserts breaches

of fiduciary duties with respect to alleged material omissions in the offering registration statement On November 30

2011 the Company filed motion to dismiss the action whichwas denied on September 28 2012 Pursuant to court

order nominal defendant Chesapeake filed an answer-on October 1-2 2012 By stipulation between the parties the

individual defendants are not required to answer the ôdbiplaint unless and until the plaintiff establishes standing to

pursue claims derivatively

2008 CEO Compensation and Related Party Transaction Three derivative actions were filed in the District Court

of Oklahoma County Oklahoma on April 28 May and May 20 2009 against the Companys directors alleging among
other things breaches of fiduciary duties relating to the 2008 compensation of the GDmpanys CEO Aubrey

McClendon and seeking unspecified damages equitable relief and disgorgement These three-derivative actions were

consolidated and Consolidated Derivative Shareholder Petition naming Chesapeake as nominal defendant was

filed on June 23 2009 Chesapeaks motion to dismisswas granted on February 26 2010 and the Oklahoma Court

of Civil Appeals affirmed the dismissal on August 2.6 2011 The plaintiffs filed petition for writ of certiorari with the

Oklahoma Supreme Court on September 132011 The appeal is currently stayed pending resolution ofthe settlement

referenced-in the following paragraph

On January 30 2012 the District Court of Oklahoma County Oklahoma approved settlement between the

parties in the consolidated derivative action as well as case on appeal at the Oklahoma Court of Civil Appeals

requesting inspection of Company books and records relating to the December 2008 employment agreement with

Mr McClendon The principal terms of the settlement include the rescission of the sale of an antique map collection

that occurred in December 2008 between Mr McClendon and the Company whereby Mr McClendon will pay the

Company approximately $12 million plus interest and the Company will reconvey the map collection to Mr McClendon

and the adoption and/or implementation of variety of corporate governance measures The court awarded attorney

fees and expenses to plaintiffs counsel in the amount of $3.75 million Pursuant to the settlement the consolidated

derivative action and books and records action were dismissed with prejudice against all defendants On February 29

2012 certain shareholders filed petition in error with the Oklahoma Supreme Court-opposing the terms of the

settlement Their appeal was fully briefed as of October 24 2012

On September and 2011 in separate derivative actions filed in the U.S District Court for the Western District

of Oklahoma against certain of the Companys current and former directors two shareholders alleged that the

Chesapeake Board wrongfully refused their demands to investigate purported breaches of fiduciary duties relating to

Mr McClendons 2008 compensation and as result each of these shareholders asserts he is entitled to seek-relief

on behalf of the Company These federal derivative actions were consolidated on December 23 2011 and on March 14

2012 were stayed until 30 days after the Supreme Court of Oklahoma resolves the appeal of the settlement of the

consolidated derivative action and books and records action

FWPP Conflict of Interest and Other Matters From April 19 to June 29 2012 13 substantially similarshareholder

derivative actions were filed in the District Court for the Western District of Oklahoma against the Company and

its directors alleging among other things violations of Section 14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule

14a-9 promulgated thereunder for purported material misstatements in the Companys 2009 and subsequent proxy

statements related to Mr McClendons participation in the Founder Wel Participation Program FWPP and breaches

of fiduciary duties corporate waste and unjust enrichment against the Board for failing to make proper disclosures in

the proxy statements and failing to properly monitor Mr McClendon personal use of assets acquired pursuant to the

FWPP As described in Note in conjunction with Mr McClendon employment agreement with the Company the

FWPP provides Mr McClendon contractual right through June 2014 to participate and invest as working interest

owner with up to 25% working interest in new wells drilled on the Companys leasehold On July 13 2012 these

13 shareholder actions were consolidated into single case On April 27 2012 shareholder derivative action was

filed in the District Court of Oklahoma County Oklahoma setting forth substantially similar claims to those alleged in

the federal shareholder actions Plaintiffs in both the federal consolidated derivative action and the state court derivative

action stipulated to stay their cases pendin ruling on the motion to dismiss filed in the federal securities class action

36



described in the following paragraph On February 2013 another shareholder derivative suit was filed in the District

Court of Oklahoma County Oklahoma asserting claims substantially similar to those of the stayed derivative cases

and seeking temporary restraining order barring the Company from providing Mr McClendon severance

compensation and benefits The hearing for the restraining order is set for March 29 2013

putative cFass action was filed in the U.S District Court for the Western District of Oklahoma on April 26 2012

against the Company and Mr McClendon alleging violations of Sections 10b and Rule Ob-5 promulgated thereunder

and 20a of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 On July20 2012 the court appointed lead plaintiff which filed

an amended complaint on October 19 2012 against the Company Mr McClendon and certain other officers The

amended complaint asserts claims under Sections 10b and Rule Ob-5 and 20a of the Securities Exchange Act

of 1934 based on alleged misrepresentations regarding the Companys asset monetization strategy including liabilities

associated with its volumetric production payment VPP transactions as well as Mr McClendons personal loans and

the Companys internal controls The action seeks class certification damages of an unspecified amount and attorneys

fees and other costs The Company and other defendants filed motion to dismiss the action on December 62012
and the plaintiff filed its response on January 23 2013 We are currently unable to assess the probability of loss or

estimate range of potential loss associated with the case

On June 19 July 17and July 20 2012 putative class actions were filed in the U.S District Court for the Western

District of Oklahoma against the Company Chesapeake Energy Savings and Incentive Stock Bonus Plar the Plan

and certain of the Companys officers and directors alleging breaches of fiduciary duties underthe Employee Retirement

Income Security Act ERISA The actions are brought on behalf of participants and beneficiaries of the Plan and

allege that as fiduciaries of the Plan defendants owed fiduciary duties which they purportedly breached by among

other things failing to manage and administer the Plans assets withappropriate skill and care failing to disclose

material information concerning such matters as Mr McClendons participation in the FWPP and his related financing

arrangements and the Companys VPP transactions engaging in activities that were in conflict with the best interest

of the Plan and permitting the Plan to over-concentrate in Chesapeake stock The plaintiffs seek class certification

damages of an unspecified amount equitable relief and attorneys fees and other costs The three cases have been

consolidatedand consolidated amended complaint was filed on February 21 2013 Defendants have 60 days from

that date in which to respond We are currently unable to assess the probability of loss or estimate range of potential

loss associated with this matter

On May 2012 Chesapeake and Mr McClendon received notice from the U.S Securities and Exchange

Commission that its Fort Worth Regional Office had commenced an informal inquiry into among other things certain

of the matters alleged in the foregoing lawsuits On December21 2012 the SECs Fort Worth Regional Office advised

Chesapeake that its inquiry is continuing as an investigation and ithas issued subpoenas for information and testimony

The Company including Mr McClendon is providing information to the SEC in connection with this matter The

Company is also responding to related inquiries from other governmental and regulatory agencies and self-regulatory

organizations

Director and Officer Use of CompanyAircraft On May 2012 aderivative action was fded in the District Court

of Oklahoma County Oklahoma against the Companys directors alleging among other things breaches of fiduciary

duties and corporate waste related to the Companys officers and directors use of the Companys fractionally owned

corporate jets Chesapeake was named nominal defendant in the derivative aätion On August 21 2012 the District

Court granted the Companys motion to dismiss the case On December 2012 the plaintiff filed an amended petition

in error with the Oklahoma Supreme Court and on December 26 2012 nominal defendant/apellee Chesapeake filed

its response The appeal is currently before the Oklahoma Court of Appeals by appointment of the Supreme Court

Antitrust Investigations On June 29 2012 Chesapeake received subpoena duces tecum from the Antitrust

Division Midwest Field Office of the U.S Department of Justice The subpoena requires the Company to produce

certain documents before grand jury in the Western District of Michigan which is conducting an investigation into

possible violations of antitrust laws in connection with the purchase and lease of oil and gas rights The Company has

also received demands for documents and information from certain state governmental agencies in connection with

other investigations relating to the Companys purchase and lease of oil and gas rights Chesapeake has been providing

information in response to these investigations Chesapeakes Board of Directors commenced its own investigation

of these allegations in June 2012 and has recently announced the results See Recent Developments in Item of this

report for further discussion

Business Operations Chesapeake is involved in various other lawsuits and disputes incidental to its business

operations including commercial disputes personal injury claims claims for underpayment of royalties property

damage claims and contract actions With regard to contract actions various mineral or leasehold owners have filed
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lawsuits against us seeking specific performance to require us to acquire their natural gas and oil interests and pay

acreage bonus payments damages based on breach of contract and/or in certain cases punitive damages based

on alleged fraud The Company has successfully defended number of these cases in various courts has settled

others and believes that it has substantial defenses to the claims made in those pending at the trial court and on

appeal As of December31 2012 we have increased natural gas and oil properties by $127 million for three specific

performance cases which would require us to acquire natural gas and oil interests Of this amount $104 million relates

to judgment entered in July 2012 agairst us in an action for specific performance of 2008 contracts to purchase

natural gas and oil properties We are also recording interet on the judgment The Original trial courts holding that

the contracts were nOt enforceable was reversed on appeal TheCompany has posted supersedeas bond to stay

enforcement of the judgment and has filed motion for new trial and/or to alter or amend ihe judgment Based on

managements current assessment we are of the opinion that no pending orthreatened lawsuit or dispute relating to

the Companys business operations is likely to have material adverse effect on its consolidated financial position

results of operations or cash flows The final resolution of such matters could exceed amounts accrued however and

actual results could differ materially from managements estimates

Environmental Risk

The nature of the natural gas and oil business carries with it certain environmental risks for Chesapeake and its

subsidiaries Chesapeake has implemented various policies procedures training and auditing to reduce and mitigate

such environmental risks Chesapeake conducts periodic reviews on company-wide basis to assess changes in

our environmental risk profile. Environmentalreserves are set for potential environmental liabilities that are probable

and reasonably estimable We manage our exposure to environmental liabilities in acquisitions and divestitures by

using an evaluation process that seeks to identify pre-existing contamination or compliance concerns and addressing

the potential liability Depending on the extent of an identified environmental concern Chesapeake may among other

things exclude property from the transaction require the seller to remediate the property to our satisfaction in an

acquisition or agree to assume liability for the remediation of the property

There are presently pending against our subsidiary Chesapeake Appalachia CALLC orders for

compliance first initiated in the 2010 fourth quarter by the US Environmental Protection Agency EPA related to our

compliance with Clean Water Act CWA permitting requirements in West Virginia We have responded to all pending

orders and are actively working with the EPA to resolve these matters For one site subject to an EPA order for

compliance CALLC pled guilty in the U.S District Court for the Northern District of West Virginia on October 2012
to three misdemeanor counts of unauthorized discharge of dredge or fill materials into water of the U.S On December

32012 CALLC was sentenced to two-year probation term and fine of $200000 for each misdemeanor for total

fine of $600000 We have paid the fine in full and believe that we are in material compliance with the terms of probation

The CWA provides authority for significant civil penalties for the placement of fill in jurisdictional stream or

wetland without permit from the Army Corps of Engineers CWA civil penalties can be as high as $375Q0 per day

perviolation The CWAsets forth subjective criteria including degree of fault and history of prior violations that influence

CWA penalty assessments and the EPA may also seek to recover the economic benefit derived from non-compliance

While we expect that resolution of the EPAs orders for compliance will include monetary sanctions exceeding $100000

we believe the liability with respect to these matters will not have material effect on the consolidated financial position

results of operations or cash flow of the Company

ITEM Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable
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PART II OTHER IN FORMATION

ITEM Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of

Equity Securities

Price Range of Common Stock and Dividends

Our common stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol CHK The following table sets

forth for the periods indicated the high and low sates prices per share of our common stock as reported by the New

York Stock Exchange and the amount of cash dividends declared per share

Common Stock Dividend

High Low Declared

Year Ended December 31 2012

Fourth Quarter 21.66 16.23 0.0875

Third Quarter 2064 1662 00875

Second Quarter 23.69 13.32 0.0875

First Quarter 26.09 20.41 0.0875

Year Ended December 31 2011

Fourth Quarter 2987 22.00 0.0875

Third Quarter 35.75 25.54 0.0875

Second Quarter 34.70 27.28 0.0875

First Quarter 35.95 25.93 0.0750

At February 12 2013 there were approximately 2250 holders of record of our common stock and approximately

375500 beneficial owners

While we expect to continue to pay dividends on our common stock the payment of future cash dividends is

subject to the discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend upon among other things our financial condition

our funds from operations the level of our capital and development expenditures our future business prospects

contractual restrictions and other factors considered relevant by the Board of Directors

In addition our corporate revolving bank credit facility contains restriction on our ability to declare and pay cash

dividends on our common or preferred stock if an event of default has occurred The.certificates of designation for our

preferred stock prohibit payment of cash dividends on our common stock unless we have declared and paid or set

apart for payment full accumulated dividends on the preferred stock
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Total

Number
of Shares

Purchased

Total Number
of Shares

Purchased

as Part of

Publicly

Announced
Plans

or Programs

Maximum
Number

of Shares

That May Yet

Be Purchased
Under the

Plans

or Programs

Reflects the surrender to the Company of shares of common stock to pay withholding taxes in connection with

the vesting of employee restricted stock

We make matching contributions to our 401k plan and deferred compensation plan using Chesapeake common

stock that is held in treasury or is purchased by the respective plan trustees in the open market The plans contain

no limitation on the number of shares that may be purchased for purposes of Company contributions

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

The following table presents information about repurchases of otir common stock during the quarter ended

December 31 2012

Period

Average
Price

Paid

Per

Share

October 2012 through October31 2012 57465 19.86

November 2012 through November 30 2012 14416 17.34

December 2012 through December31 2012 409053 16.66

Total 480934
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REVENUES

Natural gas oil and NGL

Marketing gathering and compression

Oilfield services

Total Revenues

OPERATING EXPENSES

Natural gas oil and NGL production

Production taxes

Marketing gathering and compression

Oilfield services

General and administrative

Natural gas oil and NGL depreciation depletion and

amortization

Depreciation and amortization of other assets

Impairment of natural gas and oil properties

Net gains losses on sales of fixed assets

Impairments of fixed assets and other

Employee retirement and other termination benefits

Total Operating Expenses

INCOME LOSS FROM OPERATIONS

OTHER INCOME EXPENSE
Interest expense

Earnings losses on investments

Gains on sales of investments

Losses on purchases or exchanges of debt

Impairments of investments

Other income expense

Total Other Income Expense

INCOME LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAXES

INCOME TAX EXPENSE BENEFIT

Current income taxes

Deferred income taxes

Total Income Tax Expense Benefit

NETINCOMELOSS

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests

NET INCOME LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO CHESAPEAKE..

Preferred stock dividends

Loss on conversion/exchange of preferred stock

NET INCOME LOSS AVAILABLE TO

COMMON STOCKHOLDERS

ITEM Selected Financial Data

The following table sets forth selected consolidated financial data of Chesapeake for the years ended December

31 2012 2011 2010 2009 and 2008 The data are derived from our audited consolidated financial statements revised

to reflect the reclassification of certain items The table should be read in conjunction with Managements Discussion

and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and our consolidated financial statements including

the notes appearing in Items and respectively of this report

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

in millions except per share data

6278 6024

5431 5090

607 521

5647 5049 7858

12316

1304

188

5312

465

535

2507

304

3315

267

340

11635

1073

192

4967

402

548

1632

291

437

46

3479

240

9366

893

157

3352

208

453

1394

220

137

21

6561

2805

2463 3598

190 173

7702 11629

876 889

107 284

2316 3505

182 143

349 377

1371 1970

244 174

11000 2800

38

130 30

34

16647 10172

8945 1457

14010 8714

1694 2921

77 44 19 113 271

103 156 227 39 38

1092

200 176 129 40
16 162 180

23 16 11 27

720 41 79 343 466

974 2880 2884 9288 991

47 13

427 1110 1110

380 1123 1110

594 1757 1774

175 15

769 1742 1774

171 172 111

423

3487 36

3483 387

5805 604

25

5830 604

23 33

67

940 1570 1663 5853 504
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STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA continued

EARNINGS LOSS PER COMMON SHARE

Basic

Diluted

CASH DIVIDEND DECLARED PER COMMON SHARE

CASH FLOW DATA

Cash provided by operating activities

Cash used in investing activities

Cash provided by used in financing activities

BALANCE SHEET DATA AT END OF PERIOD

Total assets

Long-term debt net of current maturities

Total equity

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010 2Q09 2008

in millions except per share data

1.46 2.47 2.63 9.57 0.94

1.46 2.32 2.51 9.57 0.93

0.35 0.3375 0.30 0.30 0.2925

2837 5903 5117 4356

4984 5812 8503 5462
2083 158 .3181 336

41611

12157

17896

5357

9965

6356

37179 29914 38593

12640 12295 13175

15264 12341 17017

41835

10626

.17961
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ITEM Managements Discussion andAnalysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Financial Data

The following table sets forth certain information regarding the production volumes natural gas oil and natural

gas liquids NGL sales average sales prices received other operating income and expenses for the periods indicated

Net Production

Natural gas bcf

Oil mmbbl
NGL mmbbl
Natural gas equivalent bcfe

Natural Gas Oil and NGL Sales in millions

Natural gas sales

Natural gas derivatives realized gains losses

Natural gas derivatives unrealized gains losses ___________

Total natural gas sales
___________ ___________ ___________

Oil sales

Oil derivatives realized gains losses

Oil derivatives unrealized gains losses ___________ ___________ ___________

Total oil sales
___________ ___________ ___________

NGL sales

NGL derivatives realized gains losses

NGL derivatives unrealized gains losses ___________

Total NGL sales __________ __________
Total natural gas oil and NGL sales

___________ ___________ ___________

Average Sales Price excluding gains loses oj derivatives

Natural gas per mcf

Oil per bbl

NGL per bbl

Natural gas equivalent per mcfe

Average Sales Price excluding unrealized gains losses on

derivatives

Natural gas per mcf

Oil per bbl

NGL per bbl

Natural gas equivaleht per mcfe ..

Other Operating lncome in millions

Marketing gathering and compression net margin

Oilfield services net margin

Other Operating lncome per mcfe

Marketing gathering and compression net margin

Oilfield services net margin

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

1128.8 1004.1 924.9

31.3 17.0 10.9

17.6 14.7 7.5

1422.1 1194.2 1035.2

2004 3133 3169

328 1656 1982

331 669 425

2001 4120 5576

2829 1523 822

39 60 74

857 128 1033
3725 1335 137

526 603 257

42
35 49

569 208

6278 6024 5647

1.77 3.12 3.43

90.49 89.80 75.29

29.89 40.96 34.38

3.77 4.40 4.10

2.07 4.77 5.57

91.74 86.25 82.10

2937 38.12 34.38

4.02 5.70 6.09

119 123 127

142 119 32

0.08

0.10

0.10

0.10_

0.12

0.03
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Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Expenses per mcfe
Natural gas oil and NGL production 92 90 86

Production taxes 0.13 0.16 0.15

General and administrative expenses 0.38 0.46 0.44

Natural gas oil and NGL depreciation depletion and amortization 1.76 1.37 1.35

Depreciation and amortization of other assets 0.21 0.24 0.21

Interest expense 0.06 0.03 0.08

Interest Expense in millions

Interest expense 84 30 99

Interest rate derivatives realized gains losses 14
Interest rate derivatives unrealized gains losses 66

Total interest expense 77 44 19

Natural gas equivalent is based on six mcf of natural gas to one barrel of dil or one barrel of NGL This ratio

reflects an energy content equivalency and not price or revenue equivalency Given recent natural gas oil and

NGL prices the price for an mcfe of natural gas is significantly less than the price for an mcfe of oil or NGL

Includes revenue and operating costs and excludes depreciation and amortization of other assets See

Depreciation and Amortization of Other Assets under Results of Operations for details of the depreciation and

amortization of other assets associated with our marketing gathering and compression and oilfield services

operating segments

Includes the effects of realized gains losses from interest rate derivatives but excludes the effectsof unrealized

gains losses and is net of amounts capitalized

We are the second-largest producer of natural gas top 11 producer of liquids and the most active driller of wells

in the U.S We own interests in aproximateIy 45400 producing natural gas and oil wells that are currently producing

approximately 3.9 bcfe per day net to our interest The Company has built large resource base of onshore U.S

unconventional natural gas and liquids assets Our core natural gas resource plays are the Haynesville/Bossier Shales

in northwestern Louisiana and East Texas the Marcellus Shale in the northern Appalachian Basin of West Virginia and

Pennsylvania and the Barnett Shale in the Fort Worth Basin of north-central Texas In addition we have builtleading

positions in the liquids-rich resource plays of the Eagle Ford Shale in South Texas the Utica Shale in Ohio and

Pennsylvania the Granite Wash Cleveland Tonkawa and Mississippi Lime plays in the AnadarkO Basin in northwestern

Oklahoma the Texas Panhandle and southern Kansas and the Niobrara Shale ih the Powder River Basin in Wyorring

We have also vertically integrated many of our operations and own substantial marketing compression and oilfield

services businesses

Proved Reserves The Companys December 31 2012 estimated proved reserves were 15.690 tcfe decrease

of 3.099 tcfe or 17% from 18.789 tcfe at year-end 2011 The decrease was primarily price related as natural gas

prices in 2012 declined to the lowest levels in ten years The 2012 proved reserve movement included 391 tcfe of

extensions downward revisions of 5.4 14 tcfe resulting from lower natural gas prices and 1.349 tcfe resulting from

changes to previous estimates In 2012 we produced .422tcfeacquired 42 bcfe and divested .347tcfe of estimated

proved reserves including the disposition of 1.013 tcfe associated with the sale of our Permian Basin assets in

September and October 2012

Downward price revisions of 5.414 tcfe were the result of decrease in natural gas prices used in estimating

proved reserves as of December 31 2012 by $1.36 or 33% to $2.76 per mcf from $4.12 per mcf as of December 31
2011 using the trailing 12-month average prices required by the SEC The reserve reductions included the loss of

significant proved undeveloped reserves primarily in the Barnett Shale and the Haynesville Shale plays for which

future development is uneconomic at the natural gas prices used in the reserves estimates As result of lower estimated

reserves as of September 30 2012 we were required to impair the carrying value of our natural gas and oil properties

and if the trailing 12-month average natural gas oil and NGL prices are lower in future periods we could have additional

impairments An impairment of this type is non-cash charge that does not impact our liquidity or our ability to comply

with financial covenants Future impairments of the carrying value of our natural gas and oil properties if any will be

dependent on many factors including natural gas oil and NGL prices production rates levels of reserves the evaluation
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of costs excluded from amortization the timing and impact of asset sales future development costs and service costs

We refer you to the risk factor Declines in the prices of natural gas and oil could result in write-down of our asset

cariying values included in Item lAof this report and the discussion below of the full cost method of accounting under

Application of CriticalAccounting Policies Natural Gas and Oil Properties in this Item In addition see Natural Gas

and Oil Properties in Note of the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in Item of this report The

1.349 tcfe downward revisions to previous estimates were primarily the result of altering our development plans as we

made changes in rig allocations to shift rigs from natural gas to liquids-rich plays and to focus drilling on the core areas

of our plays See Note 10 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in Item bf this report for

further discussion

Production Our 2012 production of 1.422 tcfe consisted of 1.129 tcf of natural gas 80% on natural gas equivalent

basis 31.3 mmbbls of oil 13% on natural gas equivalent basis and 17.6 mmbbls of NGL 7% on natural gas

equivalent basis Daily production for 2012 averaged 3.886 bcfe an increase of 614 mmcfe or 19% over the 3.272

bcfe produced per day in 2011 During 2012 Chesapeake curtailed approximately 70 bcf of net natural gas production

or an average of approximately 190 mmcf perday Of natural gas spred across the year We undertook these

curtaitments primarily in thefirst half of 2012 in response to continued low natural gas prices The curtailed volumes

were located primarily in the Haynesville and Barnett shale plays

In recognition of the valuegap between liquids and natural gas prices Chesapeake directed significant portion

of its technological and leasehold acquisition expertise during the past four years to identify secure and commercialize

new unconventional liquids-rich plays This planned transition will result in more balanced and we believe more

profitable portfolio between natural gas and liquids In 2012 our production of liquids averaged approximately 133550

bbls per day 54% increase over the 2011 average as result of the increased development of our unconventional

liquids-rich plays We expect to increase our liquids production through our drilling activities by approximately 27% in

2013 compared to 2012

Other Operating Segments In addition to our exploration and production operating segment we also have

marketinggathering and compression.operating segment and an oilfield services operating segment.that we utilize

as financial and operational hedge against inflation and to help assure that we have access to quality services In

October 2011 we formally segregated our oilfield services businesses under our wholly owned subsidiary COS and

its wholly owned subsidiary COO COOs subsidiaries include leading U.S drilling contractor oilfield trucking company

oilfield rental provider and hydraulic fracturing business Our oilfield services operating segment is separately

capitalized has its own revolving bank credit facility and COO issued senior notes in 2011 In September 2009 we

formally segregated our midstream gathering services under wholly owned subsidiary Chesapeake Midstream

Development L.L.C CMD During 2012 we sold the majority of our midstream business including our investment

in Access Midstream Partners L.P.1t4YSEACMP as described under Recent Sales Midstream Sales below We

have retained minor portion of our midstream gathering business and still own significant marketing and compression

operations businesses

Sales Our business strategy is to create value for investors by building developing and now harvesting what we

believe is the largest onshore natural gas and liquids-rich resource base in the U.S After years of building our resource

base we are focused on developing the 10 plays where we have or ownership position and selling assets

outright or through joint venture transactions that are non-core or do not fit our long-term plans During 2012 we

completed sales of non-core natural gas and oil properties our midstream business and preferred equity interests in

subsidiary for proceeds of approximately $11.6 billion We have annOunced our intention to ØIInatural gas and oil

properties midstream and other assets for expected total roceeds of $4 $7 bilfionin 2013 Our sales program

together with our forecasted operating cash flow and borroWihgs under our corporate revolving bank credit facility are

anticipated to fully fund the Companys 2013 capital expenditure program and further reduce the Companys long-term

debt We refer you to risks associated with our sales plans as described in Planned Sales below

Recent Developments

On January 29 2013 Aubrey McClendon our President Chief Executive Officer CEO and director agreed

to retire from the Company Mr McClendon will continue to serve as CEO President and director until the earlier of

April 2013 or the time at which his successor is appointed Mr McClendons departure from the Company will be

treated as termination without cause under his employment agreement

Also on January 29 2013 the Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors approved retention awards

for 14 of the Companys senior management team in the form of time-vested stock options to purchase an aggregate

of 2.56 million shares of common stock These awards ranging from 150000 to 360000 stock options have an
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exerciseprice equal to the closing price of the Companys common stock on the grant date and vest one-third on each

of the third fourth and fifth anniversaries of the grant date The options are subject to accelerated vesting lithe executive

is terminated otherthan forcause during the vesting period however no accelerated vesting will occur if the executive

retires or voluntarily resigns prior tO vesting

On February 20 2013 we announced that our Board of Directors had received the results of its previously

announced review of the financing airangements between Mr McClendon and the entities through which he participates

in the Founder Well Participation Program FWPP and third parties identified as having financial relationship with

us as well as other matters The review which was led by the Audit Committee of the Board with the assistance of

independent counsel retained bythe independent members of the Board in April2012 has been substantially completed

In connection with the review millions of pages of documents were collected and reviewed and more than 50 interviews

of Chesapeake and third-party personnel were conducted

Among the transactions reviewed were the 200-2012 financing arrangements between EIG Global Energy

Partners EIG and affiUates of Mr McClendon regarding financing of his participation in the .FWPP as well as the

preferred stock investments by EIG in CHK Utica L.L.C and CHK Cleveland Tonkawa L.L.C See Noncontrolling

Interests in Note of the notes to our consolidated financial statements incltided in Item of this report for further

discussion of the preferred stock investment transactions The review of the financing arrangements did not reveal

any improper benefit to Mr McClendon or increased cost to the Company as result of the.overlap in the financial

relationships

The review also covered

other relationships in which both Mr McClehdon and the Company conducted business with the same
financial institutions

the trading activities of the Heritage Hedge Fund co-founded by Mr McClendon through 2007 when the

Heritage Hedge Fund ceased operations and

other matters including issues regarding administration of the FWPP anda 1998 loan to Mr McClendon

by then Board member Frederick Whitternore

Based on the documents reviewed and interviews conducted no intentional misconduct by Mr McClendon or

any of the Companys management was found by the Board concerning these relationships and/or these transactions

and issues

We also announced on February 20 2013 that our Board of Directors had concluded that the Company did not

violate antitrust laws jn connection with the acquisition of Michigan oil and gas rights in 2010 As described in Item

and in Note of the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in Item of this report inJune 2012 we

received subpoena duces tecum from the Antitrust Division Midwest Field Office of the United States Department

of Justice and demands for documents and information from state governmental agencies investigating possible

antitrust violations arising from 2010 leasing activities The Board commenced its own investigation of these allegations

in June 2012 and based its conclusion on thorough review conducted independently by outside counsel and

cooperation with the Department of Justice

On February 25201 we announced we had entered into an agreement whereby Sinopec International Petroleum

Exploration and Production Corporation Sinopec will purchase 50% undivided interest in 850000 of our net oil and

natwal gas leasehold acres in the Mississippi Lime play in northern Oklahoma 425000 acres net to Sinopec The

total consideration for the transaction will be $1.02 billion in cash of which approximately 93% will be received upon

closing Payment of the remaining.proceeds will be subject to certain customary title oontingencies Production from

these assets including Mississippi Lime and other formations net to our interest and prior to Sinopecs purchase

averaged approximately 34 thousand barrels of oil equivalent per day in the 2012 fourth quarter and as of December

31 2012 there was approximately 140 million barrels of oil equivalent of net proved reserves associated with the

assets All future exploration and development costs in the joint venture will be shared proportionately between the

parties with no drilling carries involved.As the operator of the project we will conduct all leasing drilling completion

operations and marketing for the joint venture The transaction is anticipated to be completed in the 2013 second

quarter
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Recent Sales

An essential part of our business strategy in 2012 and 2013 is using the proceeds from salesto fund the capital

expenditures needed to transition from natural gas-focused drilling program to liquids-focused drilling program and

to reduce our indebtedness Below we describe transactions completed in 2012 and thecontinuing benefits of our joint

ventures which were completed prior to 2012

Permian Basin In September and October 201 we sold the vast majority of our Permian Basin assets

representing approximately 6% of our total proved reserves as of June 30 2012 and 6% of our 2012 second quarter

net production in three separate transactions fortotal net cashproceeds of approximately $3.091 billion Approximately

$466 million of additional consideration was withheld subject to certain title environmental and other standard

contingencies Following the closing we received approximately $84.millio of such consideration including $45 million

received subsequent to December31 2012 and we expect to receive the majority of the remaining contingent amount

in 2013 Of the total proceeds we allocated approximately $42 million to our Permian Basin midstream and other fixed

assets The remaining proceeds were allocated to our Permlan Besin natur gas arid oil properties

In September 2012 to facilitate our Permian Basin divestiture process we purchased the remaining reserves

from our Permian Basin volumetric production payment VPP originally entered into in June 2010 for $313 million

The reserves purchased totaled 28 bcfe and Were subsequently sold to the buyers of our Permian Basin assets

described above

Chit wood Knox In December 201 we sold approximately 40000 net acres of non-core leasehold in the Chitwood

Knox play in Oklahoma for approximately $540 million in cash The properties included approximately rnmdfe per

day of current net production

Non-Core Utica Shale In August 2012 we sold approximately 72000 net acres of non-core leasehold in the Utica

shale play in Ohio to affiliates of EnerVest Ltd for approximately $358 million in cash

Texoma Woodford In April 2012 we sold approximately 60000 net acres of leasehold in the Texoma Woodford

play in Oklahoma to XTO Energy Inc subsidiary of Exxon Mobil Corporation NYSEXOM forapproximately $572

million in cash The properties included approximately 25 mmcfe per day of current net production

Under full cost accounting rules we account for the sale of natural gasand oil properties as an adjustment to

capitalized costs with no recognition of gain or loss In conjunction with certaintransactions affiliates of Mr McClendon

sold interests in the same propertiesand on the same terms as those that applied to the interests sold by the Company

and proceeds were paid to the sellers based on their respective ownership These interests were acquired through

the FWPP which provides Mr McClendon contractual right to participate and invest as working interest owner with

up to 2.5% working interest in new wells drilled on the Companys leasehold through June 2014

Midstream Sales In June 2012 we sold all of our common and subordinated units representing limited partner

interests in Chesapeake Midstream Partners L.P now named Access Midstream Partners L.P NYSEACMP and

all of our limited liability company interests in the sole member of its general partner to funds affiliated with Global

Infrastructure Partners GIP for cash proceeds of $2.0 billion We mcorded $1032 billion pre-tax gain associated

with the transaction

In December2012 our wholly owned midstream subsidiary CMD sold its wholly owned subsidiary Chesapeake

Midstream Operating L.L.C CMO which held substantial majority of our midstream business to ACMP for cash

proceeds of $2.16 billion subject to post-closing adjustments These midstream assets are located primarily in our

Marcellus Utica Eagle Ford Haynesville and Niobrara shale plays The transaction with ACMP included new gathering

and processing agreements covering acreage dedication areas in these plays We recorded $289 million pre-tax

gain associated with this transaction See Note 11 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in

Item of this report for further discussion of this transaction

In November 2012 we sold our oil gathering business in the Eagle Ford Shale to Plains Pipeline LP for cash

consideration of approximately $115 million Payment of an additional $10 million was subject to aclosing contingency

and we received the additional proceeds subsequent to December 31 2012 We recorded a$7 million pre-tax loss

associated with this transaction in 2012 that will adjust to $3 million pre-tax gain with the receipt of the $10 million

contingency payment in 2013 In connection with the sale we entered into new gathering and transportation agreements

covering acreage dedication areas
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Cleveland Tonkawa Financial Transaction We formed CHK Cleveland Tonkawa L.L.C CHK C-T in March 2012

to continue development of portion of our natural gas and oil assets in our Cleveland and Tonkawa plays CHK C-T

is an unrestricted subsidiary under our corporate credit facility agreement and is not guarantor of or otherwise liable

for any of our indebtedness or other liabilities including under our indentures In exchange for all of the common
shares of CHK C-T we contributed to CHK C-T approximately 245 000 net acres of leasehold and existing wells within

an area of mutual interest in the Cleveland and Tonkawa plays covering Ellis and Roger Mills counties in western

Oklahoma In March 2012 in private placement third-party investorsàontributed $1.25 billibn in cash to CHK C-T

in exchange for 1.25 million preferred shares and ii- ourobiigatipn to deliver 3.75% overriding royaltyinterest

ORRI in the existing wells and up to 1000 new net wells to be drilled on certain of our CleveJand and Tonkawa play

leasehold For further discussion see Noncontrolling Interests in Note of the notes to our consolidated financial

statements included in Item of this report

Volumetric Production Payment VPP In March 2012 we monetized certain of our producing assets in the

Anadarko Basin Granite Wash through ten-year VPP for proceeds of approximately $744 million The transaction

included approximately 160 bcfe of proved reserves and approximately 125 mmcfe per day of net production at the

time of the transaction Chesapeake has retained drilling rights on the properties below currently producing intervals

and outside of existing producing wellbores and we also retain all production beyond the-specified volumes sold in the

transaction This transaction was our tenth VPP The cash proceeds from this transaction.were reflected as reduction

of natural gas and oil propertieswith no gain or loss recognized Other VPPs we completed in 20072011 are detailed

in Note 11 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in Item of this report

Joint Ventures As of December31 2012 we had entered into seven significant joint ventures with other leading

energy companies pursuant to which we sold-a portion of our leasehold producing properties and other assets located

in seven different resource plays and received cash of $7.1 billion and commitments for future drilling and completion

cost carries of $9.0 billion In each of these joint ventures Chesapeake serves as the operator and conducts all leasing

drilling completion operations and marketing activities for the project The carry obligations paid by joint venture

partner are for specified percentage of our drilling and completion costobligations In addition joint venture partner

is responsible for its proportionate share of drilling and completion costs as working interest owner We bill our joint

venture partners for their drilling carry obligations at the same time we bill them and other joint working interest owners

for their share of drilling costs as they are incurred The transactions are detailed below

Cash Total Cash
Joint Joint P-roceeds Total -and Drilling Drilling

-Primary Venture- Venture Interest Received Drilling carry Carries

Play Partner. Date Sold- at Closing Carries Proceeds Remaining

in millions

Utica TO-T December2011 -25.0% 610 1422 2032 1153

Niobrara CNOOC February 2011 -- 33.3% 570 697 1267 463

Eagle Ford CNOOC November2010 33.3% 1120 1080 2200

Barnett TOT January 2010 25.0% 800 1404 2204

Marcellus STO November2008 32-.5% 1250 2125 3375

Fayetteville BP September2008 25.0% 1100 800 -- 1900-

Haynesville

Bossier PXP July 2008 20.0% 1650 1508 3158

100 036 16 136 616

Joint venture partners include Total S.A TOT--CNOOC Limited CNOOC SttoiI STO BP Ameriôa BP and

Plains Exploration Production Company PXP
AsofDecember3l 2012

The Utica drilling carries cover 60% of our drilling and completion costs for Utica wells drilled and must be used

by December 2018 We expect to fully utilize these drilling carry commitments prior to expiration See Drilling

Commitments in Note of the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in Item of this report for

further discussion of the Utica drilling carries

The Niobrara drilling carries cover 67% of our drilling and completion costs for Niobrara wells drilled and must be

used by December 2014 We expect to fully utilize these drilling carry commitments prior to expiration --
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In conjunction with an agreement requiring us to maintain our operated rig count at no less than 12 rigs in the

Barhett Shale through December 312012 TOT accelerated the payment of its remaining joint venture drilling

carry in exchange for an approximate 9% reduction in the total amount of drilling carry obligation owed to us at

that time As result in October 2011 we received $471 million in cash from TOT which included $46 milliôh of

drilling carry obligation billed and $425 million for the remaining drilling carry obligation In January 2012

Chesapeake and TOT agreed to reduce the minimum rig count from 12 to six rigs In May 2012 Chesapeake
and TOT agreed to further reduce the minimum rig count from six to two rigs

In September 2009 PXP accelerated the payment of its remaining drilling carry in exchange for an approximate
12% reduction to the remaining drilling carry obligation owed to us at that time

The drilling and completion carries in our joint venture agreements allow us to reduce our finding costs During

2012 and 2011 our drilling and completion costs included the benefit of approximately $784 million and $2.570 billion

respectively of drilling and completion carries paid by our joint venture partners Our drilling and completion costs in

2013 and 2014 will continue to be partially offset by the use of drilling and completion carries associated with our joint

venture agreements Once the remaining carries have been used we anticipate our net drilling and completion costs

will increase in the respective plays

During 2012 we sold interests in additional leasehold we acquired in the Marcellus BarnØtt and Utica shale plays

to our joint venture partners TOT and STO for approximately $272 million pursuant to our joint venture agreements

The cash proceeds from these transactions are reflected as reduction of natural gas arid oil properties withno gain

or loss recognized

Planned Sales

We anticipate completing the sale of nearly all of our remaining midstream business including our Mid-Continent

gathering systems and other assets in the 2013 first half

In addition to the Mississippi Lime joint venture discussed under Recent Developments we have other natural

gas and oil assets currently for sale including our northern Eagle Ford assets and various portions of our Marcellus

and Utica leasehold in Pennsylvania and Ohio that we consider non-core

We do not have binding agreements for all of our planned asset sales and our ability to consummate each of

these transactions is subject to changes in market conditions and other factors beyond our control

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity Overview

Our business is capital intensive Historically we have made capital expenditures that exceeded our cash flow

from operations We project that our capital expenditures will continue to exceed our operating cash flow in 2013
although by significantly smaller amount as we continue our transition to an asset base morebalanced between

natural gas and oil from one primarily focused on natural gas and we shift to harvesting assets after approximately

decade of asset accumulation We also expect to benefit from operating efficiencies associated with our strategy of

developing the core of the core of our substantial leasehold position During 2012 the combination of high capital

expenditures and reduced cash flow as result of low natural gas prices led to spending gap that we filled with

borrowings and proceeds from sales of assets that we determined were non-core or did not fit our long-term plans

We increased our debt net of unrestricted cash by approximately $2.058 billion to $12.333 billion in 2012

As of December31 2012 we had approximately $4.338 billion in cash availability defined as unrestricted cash

on hand plus borrowing capacity under our revolving bank creditfacilities compared to $3 134 billion as of December 31
2011 As of December 31 2012 we had negative working capital of approximately $3.31 billion compared to negative

working capital of approximately $3.905 billion as of December 31 2011 Working capital deficits have existed largely

because our capital spending generally has exceeded our cash flow from operations

For 2013 we plan to fund capital expenditures with operating cash flow borrowings under our revolving bank

credit facilities and proceeds from asset sales Our 2013 capital expenditure budget is approximately 50% less than

our 2012 capital expenditures and as operator of substantial portion of our natural gas and oil properties under

development we have significant control and flexibility over the development plan and the associated timing enabling

us to expeditiously reduce at least portion of our capital spending if needed To mitigate our downside exposure to

lower commodity prices we have hedged approximately 72% ofourforecasted 2013 natural gas oil and NGL production

revenue including downside hedge protection on approximately 50% of our 2013 estimated natural gas production at
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an average price of $3.62 per mcf most of these hedges were established subsequent to December 31 2012 and

85% of our 2013 estimated oil production at an average price of $95.45 per bbl Hedging äUows us to reduce the effect

of price volatility on our cash flows and earnings before interest taxes depreciation depletion and amortization

EBITDA Based on our forecasted operating cash flow for 2013 which takes into account our current hedges and

considering our 2013 forecasted capital expenditures we are expecting funding gap of approximately $4 billion We

believe we will have ample liquidity to fill the funding gap with borrowing capacity under our corporate revolving bank

credit facility However we plan to offset the need to borrow under our corporate revolving bank credit facility with sales

of certain of our natural gas and oil properties midstream and other assets and expect those totalproceeds to be $4

$7 billion in 2013 Through February 2013 we have closed or have binding agreements on approximately $1 billion

of asset sales Asset sales are uncertain and subject to changes in market conditions and other factors beyond our

control Any remaining cash available after applying these proceeds to the deficit between capital expenditures and

operating cash flow will be available to reduce our long-term debt

As part of our sales planning and capital expenditure budgeting process we closely monitor the resulting effects

on the amounts and timing of our sources and uses of funds particularly as they affect our ability to maintain compliance

with the financial covenants of our corporate revolving bank credit facility While asset sales enhance our ability to

reduce debt sales of producing natural gas and oil properties may adversely affect the amount of cash flow and EBITDA

we generate and reduce the amount and value of collateral available to secureour obligations both of which can be

exacerbated by low prices for our production In September 2012 we obtained an amendmentto our revolving bank

credit facility agreement that relaxed the required indebtedness to EBITDA ratio for the quarter ended September 30

2012 and the four subsequent quarters See Bank Credit Facilities Corporate Credit Facility below for discussion of

the terms of the amendment We would have been unable to meet the required ratio as of September 30 2012 without

this amendment primarily because the closing of certain asset sales transactions occurred in the fourth quarter and

not in September as we had anticipated As result without the amendment we would have been unable to reduce

our indebtedness sufficiently as of September 30 2012 to maintain our covenant compliance As of December 31

2012 we were in compliance with the current covenants and would have also been in compliance with the more

restrictive covenants that existed prior to the amendment Failure to maintain compliance with the covenants of our

revolving bank credit facility agreement could result in the acceleration of outstanding indebtedness under the facility

and lead to cross defaults under our senior note and contingent convertible senior note indentures hedge facility

equipment master lease agreements and term loan

We expect to have adequate liquidity to repay $464 million of senior note indebtedness that matures in 2013

Further we expect to meet in the ordinary course of business other contractual cash commitments to third parties

pursuant to various arrangements agreements and investments described in Contractual Obligations and Off-Balance

Sheet Arrangements below and in Note of the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in Item of

this report recognizing that we may be required to meet such commitments even if our business plan assumptions

were to change due to circumstances beyond our control

Based upon our capital expenditure budget expected commodity prices including the prices for our currently

hedgedproduction our forecasted drilling and production projected levels of indebtedness and binding purchase and

sale agreements for certain future asset sales weare projecting that we will be in compliance with the financial

maintenance covenants of our corporate revolving bank credit facility and we will have adequate liquidity through

2013 We believe the assumptions underlying our budget for this period are reasonable and that we have adequate

flexibility including the ability tO adjust discretionary capital expenditures and Other spending to adapt to potential

negative developments if needed
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Sources of Funds

Cash provided by operating activities

Sales of natural gas and oil assets

Permian Basin

Texoma

Chitwood Knox

Fayetteville Shale

TOT Utica joint venture

CN000 Niobrara joint venture

CNOOC Eagle Ford joint venture

TOT Barnett joint ventureb

Joint venture leasehold

Volumetric production payments

Other natural gas and oil properties

Total sale of natural gas oil and other assets

Sales of other assets

Sale of CMO
Sale of AMS

Sale of Springridge gathering system

Proceeds from sales of otherassets

Total proceeds from sales of other assets

Other sources of cash and cash equivalents

Sale of investment in ACMP

Sale of preferred interest.and ORRI in CHK C-T

Sale of preferred interest and ORRI in CHK Utica

Sale ofnoncontrolling interest in Chesapeake Granite Wash Trust

Proceeds from investments

Proceeds from long-term debt

Proceeds from credit facility borrowings net

Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock

Cash received from financing derivatives

Other

Total other sources of cash and cash equivalents

Total sources of cash and cash equivalents

2012 2011 2010

in millions

2837 5903 5117

4270

610

553

425

511

849

_________
433

_________
7651

1250

410

101

1614

1043

341

4759

19625

Includes cash settlements of derivative instruments classified as operating cash flows Also includes cash

distributions of $56 million $85 million and $88 million in 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively from ACMP and its

predecessor and $28 million and $58 million in 2011 and 2010 respectively from our equity investee FTS

International Inc and its predecessor

2011 includes the $425 million acceleration of the payment of TOTs remaining drilling carry in exchange for

reduction in the obligation See Note 11 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in Item

of this report for further discussion

Reflects derivatives deemed to contain for accounting purposes significant financing element at contract

inception

The following table presents the sources of ourcash and cash equivalents for 20122011 and 2010 See Recent

Sales above and Notes 11 and 12 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in Item of this

report for further discussion of the sales of natural gas and oil assets sales of other assets and sales of preferred

interests and noncontrolling interests in subsidiaries

3130

572

540

272

744

626

5884

2160

332

2492

2000

1250

6985

84

10319

21532

879

433

1312

1085

853

440

1622

292

4292

500

383

883

1967

1814

2562

621

20

6984

17276
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Cash flow from operations is source of liquidity we use to fund capital expenditures pay dividends and repay

debt Cash provided by operating activities was $2.837 billion in 2012 compared to $5903 billion in 2011 and $5117

billion in 2010 The decline in cash flow from operations from 2011 to 2012 is primarily the result of decrease in the

realized natural gas price excluding the effect of-unrealized gains or losses on derivatives from $4.77 per mcf in 2011

to $2.07 per mcf in 20121he increase in cashfIow from operations from 2010 to 2011 is primarily the result of an

increase in production of 159 bcfe Changes in cash flow from operations are largely due to the same factors that affect

our net income excluding various non-cash items such as depreciation depletion and amortization impairments of

natural gas and oil properties and other assets deferred income taxes and mark-to-market changes in our derivative

instruments See the discussion below under Results of Operations

The following table reflects the proceeds received from issuances of corporate securities in 2012 2011 and 2010

See Note of the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in Item of this report for further discussion

2012 2011 2010

Total Net Total Net Total Net

Proceeds Proceeds Proceeds Proceeds Proceeds Proceeds

in millions

Seniornotes 1300 1263 1650 1614 2000 1967

Term loans 6000 5722

Convertible preferred stock 2600 2562

Total 7300 6985 1650 1614 4600 4529

Includes principal amounts of $4 billion and $2 billion for our May 2012 term loans and November 2012 term

loan respectively The entire principal amount of the May 2012 term loans was repaid in October and November

2012 without penalty

Our $4.0 billion corporate revolving bank credit facility our $500 million ollfield services revolving bank credit

facility and cash and cash equivalents are other sources of liquidity We use these revolving bank credit facilities and

cash on hand to fund datly operating activities and capital expenditures as needed We borrowed $20 318 billion and

repaid $21 650 billion in 2012 borrowed $15 509 billion and repaid $17 466 billion in 2011 and borrowed $15 117

billion and repaid $1 3.303 billion in 2010 under our revolving bank credit facilities Our corporate facility is secured by

natural gas and oil proved reserves significant portion of our natural gas and oil reserves are currently unencumbered

and therefore available to be pledged as additional collateral if needed to respond to borrowing base and collateral

redeterminations our lenders might make in the future We believe our borrowing capacity under thisfacility will not be

reduced as result of any such future redeterminations Our oilfield services facility is secured by substantially all of

our wholly owned oilfield services assets and is not subject to periodic borrowing base redeterminations From

September2009 until June 2012 we also had $600 million midstream revolving bank credit facilitywhich we terminated

in June 2012 Our revolving bank credit facilities are described below under Bank Credit Facilities
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Uses of Funds

The following table presents the uses of our cash and cash equivalents for 2012 2011 and 2010

2012 2011 2010

in millions

Natural gas and oil expenditures

Drilling and completion costs 8707 7257 5061
Acquisitions of proved properties 342 48 243

Acquisitions of unproved properties 2043 4296 6015
Geological and geophysical costs 193 210 181
Interest capitalized on unproved properties 806 630 687

Total natural gas and oil expenditures 12091 12441 12187
Other uses of cash and cash equivalents

Additions to other property and equipment 2651 2009 1326
Acquisition of drilling company 339

Payments of credit facility borrowings net 1332 1957
Cash paid to purchase debt 4000 2015 3434
Dividends paid 398 379 281
Distributions to noncontrolling interest owners 218
Cash paid for financing derivatives 37
Additions to investments 395 134
Other 474 227 119

Total uses of cash and cash equivalents 21596 19376 $17481

Net of $784 million $2.570 billion and $1151 billion in drilling and completion carries received from our joint

venture partners during 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

Includes related capitalized interest

Reflects derivatives deemed to contain for accounting purposes significant financing element at contract

inception

Our primary use of funds is for capital expenditures related to exploration development and acquisition of natural

gas and oil properties Drilling and completion costs during 2012 reflected the impact of our deliberate transition to

liquids-focused drilling and reduced natural gas drilling and reduction in the amount of drilling and completion carries

received from our joint venture partners During the 2012 first quarter our rig count was as high as 165 rigs as we
were quickly ramping up our liquids-focused drilling while at the same time we were gradually ramping down drilling

of natural gas wells As of February 28 2013 our rig count had been reduced to 83operated rigs Our natural gas

drilling activities were sharply reduced in 2012 from 50 rigs at the beginning of the year to an average of rigs in the

fourth quarter The 2012 drilling and completion expenditures also reflected significant well completion costs for natural

gas wells that had been drilled but not completed in prior periods These completions which represented more than

60% of all natural gas wells we completed during 2012 enabled us to hold by production the related leasehold according

to the terms of our leases Approximately 75% of our unproved.property leasehold acquisition costs of $2043 billion

during 2012 were focused on adding to our acreage in the Utica Marcellus and Mid-Continent plays Capital

expenditures related to our midstream oilfield services and other fixed assets of $2.651 billion during 2012 were

primarily related to the expansion of our gathering systems and the growth of our oilfield services businesses in

particular the hydraulic fracturing line of business We sold substantially all of cur midstream business in December

2012

In October and November 2012 we fully repaid the $4.0 billion May 2012 term loans for $4.0 billion with cash

proceeds from asset sales and proceeds from the issuance of our November 2012 term loan We recorded loss of

approximately $200 million with this repayment

In 2011 we completed and settled tender offers to purchase $2.044 billion in principal amount of our senior notes

and contingent convertible senior notes for$2 186 billion in cash including approximately $171 million in cash premiums

primarily funded with portion of the net proceeds we received from the sale of our Fayetteville Shale assets

53



In 2010 we completed and settled tender offers to purchase $3.434 billion in principal amount of our senior notes

for $3.434 billion in cash

We paid dividends on our common stock of $227 million $207 million and $189 million in 2012 2011 and 2010

respectively We paid dividends on our preferred stock of $171 million $172 million and $92 million in 2012 2011 and

2010 respectively The increase in 2011 was due to the issuance of 2.6 million shares of preferred stock in 2010

During 2012 we had net additions to investments of $395 million including $109 million of additionl investment

in FTS International Inc $50 million of additional investment in Clean Energy Fuels Corp $80 million of additional

investment in Suhdrop Fuels Inc and $220 million for three midstream investments that were soldin December2012

as part of the sale of substantially all of our midstream business toACMP See Note 12 of the notesto our consolidated

financial statemehts includedih Item of this report for further discussion of these investments

Bank Credit Facilities

During 2012 we used three revolving bank credit facilities as sources of liquidity In June 2012 we paid off and

terminated our midstream credit facility Our two remaining revolving bank credit facilities are described below

Borrower is Chesapeake Oilfield Operating L.L.C

Our credit facilities do not contain material adverse change or adequate assurance côvŁnants Although the

applicable interest rates under our corporate credit facility fluctuate slightly based on our long-term senior unsecured

credit ratings our credit facilities do not contain provisions which would trigger an acceleration of amounts due under

the respective facilities or requirement to post additional collateral in the event of downgrade of our credit ratings

Corporate Credit Facility Our $4.0 billion syndicated revolving bank credit facility is used for general corporate

purposes Borrowings under the facility are secured by proved reserves and bear interest at variable rate WeWere

in compliance with all covenants under the amØndØd agreement as of December 31 2012 For fiftther discussion On

the terms of our corporate credit facility see Note of the notes toour consolidated financial statements included in

Itehi8ofthisrepbrt

Asdescribed above in Liquidity Overview in September 2012 we entered into an amendment to the credit facility

agreement effective September 30 2Q1 The amendment among other things adjusts our required indebtedness

to EBITDA ratio covenant through the earlier of December31 2013 and the date on which we elect to reinstate

the indebtednessto EBITDA ratio ineffectpriorto the amendment in either case the Amendmeflt Effective Period

The amendment increased the maximum indebtedness to EBITDA ratio as of September 30 2012 from 4.00 to 1.00

to 6.00 to 1.00 and revised the required ratio for the next four quarters as shown below The ratio returns to 400 to

1.00 as of December31 2013 and thereafter

Effective Date

December 312012

March 31 2013

June 30 2013

September 30 2013

Indebtedness to EBITDA Ratio

500 to 1.00

75 to 00

4.50 to 1.00

4.25 to 1.00

Corporate Olifield Services

Credit Facility Credit FaciIity

$in millions

Senior secured Senior secured

Facility structure revolving revolving

Maturity date December 2015 November 2016

Borrowing capacity 4000 500

Amount outstanding as of December31 2012 418

Letters of credit outstanding as of December31 2012 31

Co-borrowers are Chesapeake Exploration L.L.C Chesapeake Appalachia L.L.C and Chesapeake Louisiana
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Our actual indebtedness to EBITDA ratio as of December31 2012 was approximately 3.91 to 1.00 The ratio

compares consolidated indebtedness to consolidated EBITDA both non-GAAP financial measures that are defined in

the credit facility agreement for the 12-month period ending on the measurement date Consolidated indebtedness

consists of outstanding indebtedness less the cash and cash equivalents of Chesapeake and certain of dursubsidiaries

Consolidated EBITDA consists of the net income of Chesapeake and certain of our subsidiaries excluding income

from investments and non-cash income plus interest expense taxes depreciation amortization expense and other

non-cash expenses and is calculated on pro forma basis to give effect to any acquisitions divestitures or other

changes

The credit facility amendment increases the applicable margin by 0.25% for borrowings under the corporate credit

facility on each day during the Amendment Effective Period when borrowings exceed 50% of the borrowing capacity

and requires us to pay fee to each lender in an amount equal to 0.05% of its revolving commitment if the Amendment
Effective Period is in effect on June 30 2013 Based on current commitment levels this would result in an additional

payment of $2 million In addition the amendment does not allow our collateral value securing the borrowings to be

more than $75 million below the collateral value that was in effect as of September 30 2012 during the Amendment
Effective Period

Oilfield Services Credit Facility Our $500 million syndicated oilfield services revolving bank credit facility is used

to fund capital expenditures and for general corporate purposes associated with our oilfield services operations The
facility may be expanded from $500 million to $900 million at COOs option subject to additional bank participation

Borrowings under the credit facility are secured by all of the equity interests and assets of COO and its wholly owned
subsidiaries the restricted subsidiaries for this facility but they are unrestricted subsidiaries under Chesapeakes senior

notes contingent convertible senior notes term loan and corporate revolving bank credit facility and bear interest at

variable interest rate For further discussion of the terms of our oilfield services credit facility see Note of the notes

to our consolidated financial statements included in Item of this
report

Midstream Credit Facility Prior to June 15 2012 we utilized $600 million midstream syndicated senior secured

revolving bank credit facility to fund capital expenditures to build natural gas gathering and other systems in support
of our drilling program and for general corporate purposes associated with our midstream operations With the

anticipated sale of the substantial majority of our midstream business in the second half of 2012 on June 15 2012
we paid off and terminated our midstream credit facility

Hedging Facility

We have multi-counterparty secured hedging facility with 17 counterparties that have committed to provide

approximately 6.4 tcfe of hedging capacity for natural gas.oil and NGL price derivatives and 6.4 tcfe for basis derivatives

with an aggregate mark-to-market capacity of $17.0 billion under the terms of the facility For further discussibn of the

terms of our hedging facility see Note of the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in Item of this

report

Term Loans

May2012 Term Loans In May 2012 we entered into $40 billiOn of unsecured term loans under credit agreement
that provided for term loans in an aggregate principal amount of $4.0 billion The net proceeds of the term loans of

approximately $3.789 billion after discojnt customary fees and syndication costs were used to repay borrowings under

our corporate revolving credit facility and for general corporate purposes The term loans were issued at discount of

3% or $120 million and the customary fees and syndication costs incurred were approximately $91 million In October

and November 2012 we used proceeds from asset sales and our new term loan the November 2012 term loan

described below to fully repay the May 2012 term loans We recorded $200 million of associated losses with the

repayment including $86 million of deferred charges and $114 million of debt discount

November 2012 Term Loan In November 2012 we established an unsecured five-year term loan credit facility

in an aggregate principal amount of $2.0 billion for net proceeds of $1 .935 billion November 2012 term loan Our

obligations under the facility rank equally with our outstanding senior notes and contingentconvertible senior notes

and are unconditionally guaranteed on joint and several basis by our direct and indirect wholly owned subsidiaries

that are subsidiary uarantors under the indentures for such notes Amounts borrowed under the new facility which

priced at 98% of par bear interest at LIBOR plus 4.5% The LIBOR rate is subject to floor of 1.25% per annum The
new facility is non-callable in the first year but may be voluntarily repaid without penalty in the second and third years
at par plus specified call premium and may be voluntarily repaid at any time thereafter at par We used the net

proceeds of the new term loan to fully repay the remaining outstanding borrowings under our May 2012 term loans
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and to repay outstanding borrowings under the Companys corporate revolving bank credit facility See Note of the

notes to our consolidated financial statementsincluded in Item of this report for further discussion

Senior Note Obligations

In addition to outstanding borrowings under our revolving bank credit facilities and the November 2012 term loan

discussed above our long-term debt consistedof the following as of December 31 2012

December 31
2012

in millions

7.625% senior notes due 2013 464

9.5% senior notes due 2015 1265

6.25% euro-denominated senior notes due 2017 454

6.5% senior notes due 2017 660

6.875% senior notes due 2018 474

7.25% senior notes due 2018 669

6.625% senior notes due 2019 650

6.775% senior notes due 2019 1300

6.625% senior notes due 2020 1300

6.875% senior notes due 2020
500

6.125% senior notes due 2021 1000

2.75% contingent convertible senior notes due 2035 396

2.5% contingent convertible senior notes due 2037 1168

2.25% contingent convertible senior notes due 2038 347

Discount on senior notes 425

Interest rate derivatives
20

Total senior notes net
10242

Less current maturities of long-term debta 463

Total long-term senior notes net 9779

These senior notes are due July 2013 There is $1 million of discount associated with these notes

The principal amount shown is based on the exchange rate of $1 .3193 to 1.00 as of December31 2012 See

Note of the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in Item of this report for information on

our related foreign currency derivatives

Issuers are COO an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and Chesapeake Oilfield Finance Inc

COF wholly owned subsidiary of COO formed solely to facilitate the offering of the 6.625% Senior Notes due

2019 COF is nominally capitalized and has no operations or revenues Chesapeake Energy Corporation is the

issuer of all other senior notes and the contingent convertible senior notes

The holders of our contingent convertible senior notes may require us to repurchase in cash all or portion of

their notes at 100% of the principal amount of the notes on any of four dates that are five ten fifteen and twenty

years before the maturity date The notes are convertible at the holders option prior to maturity under certain

circumstances into cash and if applicable shares of our common stock using net share settlement process

Included in this discount is $376 million at December 31 2012 associated with the equity component of our

contingent convertible senior notes This discount is amortized based on an effective yield method

See Note of the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in Item of this report for discussion

related to these instruments

For further discussion and details regarding our senior notes contingent convertible senior notes and COO senior

notes see Note of the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in Item of this report

56



Credit Risk

Derivative instruments that enable us to manage our exposure to natural gas oil and NGL prices and interest

rate volatility expose us to credit risk from our counterparties To mitigate this risk we enter into derivative contracts

only with counterparties that are rated investmentgrade and deemed by management to be competent and competitive

market makers and we attempt to limit our exposure to non-performance by any single counterparty During the more
than 15 years we have engaged in hedging activities we have experienced counterparty default only once Lehman
Brothers in September 2008 and the total loss recorded in that instance was immaterial On December 312012 our

natural gas oil and interest rate derivative instruments were spread among 12 counterparties Additionally the

counterparties under our multi-counterparty secured hedging facility are required to secure their obligations inexcess

of defined thresholds We use this facility for the majority of our natural gas oil and NGL derivative

Our accounts receivable are primarily from purchasers of natural gas oil and NGL $1457 billion at December 31

2012 nd exploration and production companies that own interests in properties we operate $592 million at

December31 2012 This industry concentration has the potential to impact our overall exposure to credit risk either

positively or negatively in that our customers and joint working interest owners may be similarly affected by changes

in economic industry or other conditions We generally require letters of credit or parent guarantees for receivables

from parties which are judged to have sub-standard credit unless the credit risk can otherwise be mitigated During

2012 2011 and 2010 we recognized nominal amounts of bad debt expense related to potentially uncollectible

receivables

Conversions and Exchanges of Contingent Convertible Senior Notes and Preferred Stock

In 2010 holders of certain of our contingent convertible senior notes exchanged their notesfor shares of common
stock in privately negotiated exchanges as summarized below

Contingent

Convertible

Preferred Stock

Contingent
Convertible Principal

Year Senior Notes Amount

in millions

2010 225% due 2038 11

Number of

Common
Shares

in thousands

299

In 2011 and 2010 shares of our cumulative convertible preferred stock were converted into shares of common
stock as summarized below

Year of Conversion

Number of

Preferred

Shares

2010

in thousands
2011 5.75% .3 111

Number of

Common
Shares

5.0% series 2005 21
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Contractual Obligations and Off-balance Sheet Arrangements

4700

1204

From time to time we enter into arrangements and transactionsthatcan give rise to off-balance sheet obligations

As of December 31 2012 these arrangements and transactions included operating leaseagreements iiVPP

obligations to physically deliver and purchase volumes and pay related production expenses and taxes in the future

iii open purchase commitments iv open delivery commitments vopen drilkng commitments vi undrawn letters

of credit vii open gathering and transportation commitments andviiivarious other commitments we enter into in

the ordinary course of businessthat could result in future cash obligation

The table below summarizes our contractual cash obligations for both recorded obligations and certain off-balance

sheet arrangements and commitments as of December31 2012

Payments Due By Period

Less Than More Than

Total Year 1-3Years 3-5Years 5Years

Long-term debt

Principal 13065 464 1661 6240

Interest 058 767 392 695

Financing lease obligations

and other 710

Operating lease obIigations 768 181 320 229 38

Asset retirement obligations 375 36 35 297

Purchase obligations 18 811 781 869 817 344

Equity investment obligations

Unrecognized tax benefits 214

Standby lettersof credit 31

Other 111

Total contractual cash obligations 39342

798 17 37 34

106

214

22 30

3376 7350

17 42

10250 18366

See Note of the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in Item of this report for description

of our other long-term liabilities

See NotØ4 of the notesto our consolidated financial statements included in Item of this report for description

of our operating lease obligations

Asset retirernentobligations represent estimated discounted costs for future dismantlement and abandonment

costs These obligations are recorded as liabilities on our December31 2012 balance sheet See Note 16 of the

notes to our consolidated financial statements included in Item of this report for more information on our asset

retirement obligations

See Note of the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in Item of this report for description

of transportation and drilling contract commitments

See Note of the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in Item of this report for description

of unrecognized tax benefits

Does not include our costs to produce reserves attributable to non-expense-bearing royalty and other interests

in our properties including VPP5 which are discussed below

As the operator of the properties from which VPP volumes have been sold we have the responsibility to bear

the cost of producing the reserves attributable to such interests which we include as component of production

expenses and production taxes in our consolidated statements of operations in the periods such costs are incurred

As with all non-expense-bearing royalty interests volumes conveyed in VPP transaction are excluded from our

estimated proved reserves however the estimated production expenses and taxes associated with VPP volumes

expected to be delivered in future periods are included as reduction of the future net cash flows attributable to our

proved reserves for purposes of determining the cost center ceiling for impairment purposes and in determining our

standardized measure The amount of these production expenses and taxes based on cost levels as of December
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312012 pursuant to SEC reporting requirements was estimated to be approximately $954 millionin total and $182

million for the next twelve months on an undiscounted basis and approximately $760 million and $173 million

respectively on discounted basisUsing an annual discount rateof 10%.Ourcomrnitment.to bearthecosts on any

future production of VPP volumes is not reflected as liability on our balance sheet The costs that will apply in the

future will depend on the actual production volumes as well as the production costs and taxes in effect during the

periods in which such production actually occurs which could differ materially from ourcurrØnt and historical costs

and production may not occur at the times or in the quantities projected or at all We have committed to purchase

natural gas and liquids associated with our VPP transactions Production purchased under these arrangements is

based on market prices at the time of production and the purchased natural gas and liquids are resbld at market prices

See Notes 11 and 13 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in Item of this report for

further discussion of commitments VPPs and VIEs respectively

Hedging Activities

Natural Gas Oil and NGL Derivatives

Our results of operations and cash flows are impacted by changes in market prices for naturalgas oil and NGL
To mitigate portion of the exposure to adverse market changes we have entered into various derivative instruments

Executive management is involved in all risk management activities and the Board of Directors reviews the Company

hedging program at its quarterly board meetings We believe we have sufficient internal controls to prevent unauthorized

hedging As of December 312012 our natural gas and oil derivative instruments consisted of swaps options swaptions

and basis protection swaps Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk contains description

of each of these instruments and realized and unrealized gains and losses on natyral gas oil and NGL derivatives

during 2012 2011 and 2010 Although derivatives often fail to achieve 100% effectiveness for accounting purposes

we believe our derivative instruments continue to be highly effective in achieving our risk management objectives

Hedging allows us to predict with greater certainty the effective prices we willeceivŁ1for-our hedged productiOn

We closely monitor the fair value of our derivative contracts and may elect to settle contract prior to its schedUled

maturity date in order to lock ina gain or mihimize loss Commodity markets are volatile and Chesapeakes hedging

activities are dynamic

Mark-to-market positions under commodity deriyative contracts fluctuate with commodity prices As described

under Hedging Facility in Item 7A our secured multi-counterparty hedging facility allows us to minimize the potential

liquidity impact of significant mark-to-market fluctuations in the value of such derivatives by pledging our proved

reserves

The estimated fair values of our natural gas oil and NGL derivative contracts as orDecember 31 2012 and 2011

are provided bØIow See Item 7A Quantitative and QuälitativeDisclosuresAbbutMarkØtRiskforadditional information

concerning the fair value of our natural gas oil and NGL derivative instruments

December 31
2012 2011

in millions

Derivative assets liabilities

Fixed price natural gas swaps 24

Natural gas call options 240 284
Natural gas basis protection swaps 15 42
fixed-price oilswaps 115

Oil call options 748 1282
Oil call swaptions 13 53
Fixed-price oil knockout swaps

EstimatØdfair value ... 1639

Changes in the fair value of natural gas and oil derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges to the

extent effective in offsetting cash flows attributable to the hedged commodities and locked-in gains and losses of

settled designated derivative contraôts are recorded in accumulatedother comprehensive income and are transferred

to earnings in the month of related prOduction These unrealized gains Iosses net of related taxeffects totaled $179
million $162 million and $156 million as of December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively Based upon the market
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prices at December 31 2012 we expect to transfer to earnings approximately $20 million of net loss included in

accumulated other comprehensive income during the next 12 months detailed explanation of accounting for natural

gas oil and NGL derivatives appears under Application of CriticalAccounting Policies Hedging elsewhere in this Item

Interest Rate Derivatives

To mitigate our exposure to volatilityin interest ates related to our senior notes and credit facilities we enter into

interest rate derivatives

For interest rate derivative contracts designated as fair value hedges changes in fair values of the derivatives

are recorded on the consolidated balance sheets as assetsor liabilities with corresponding offsetting adjustments

to the debts carrying value Changes in the fair value Of derivatives not designated as fair value hedges which occur

prior to their maturity i.e temporary fluctuations in mark-to-market values are reported currently in the consolidated

statements of operations as interest expense and characterized as unrealized gains losses

Gains or losses from interest rate derivative contracts are reflected as adjustments to interest expense on the

consolidated statements of operations The components of interest expense for the years ended December 31 2012

2011 and 2010 are presented in Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk and detailed

explanation ofaccounting for interest rate derivatives appears underApplication of CriticalAccounting Policies Hedging

elsewhere in this Item

Foreign Currency Derivatives

On December 2006 we issued 600 million of 6.25% EurO-denominated Senior Notes due 2017 Concurrent

with the issuance of the euro-denorriinated senior notes we entered into cross currency swaps to mitigate our exposure

to fluctuations in the euro relative to the dollar over the term of the notes In May 2011 we purchased and subsequently

retired 256 million in aggregate principal amount of these senior notes following tender offer and we simultaneously

unwound the cross currency swaps for the same principal amount detailed explanation of accounting for foreign

currency derivative appears under Application of CriticalAccounting Policies Hedging elsewhere in this Item

Results of Operations

General Fortheyearended December 312012 Chesapeake had netlossof $594 million or$1.46 perdiluted

common share on total revenues of $12.316 billion This compares to net income of $1 .757 billion.or$2.32 perdiluted

common share on total revenues of $11635 billion during the year ended December 31 2011 and net income of

$1 .774 billion or $2.51 per diluted common share on total revenues of $9.366 billion during the year nded

December 31 2010 The decrease in net income from 2011 to 2012 is primarily driven by $2.022 billion after-tax

impairment of natural gas and oil properties recorded in the 2012 third quarter See Impairment of Natural Ga and

Oil Properties below

Natural Gas Oil and NGL Sales During 2012 natural gas oil and NGL sales were $6.278 billion compared to

$6.024 billiOn in 2011 and $5.647 billion in 2010 In 2012 Chesapeake produced and sold 1.422 tcfe at weighted

average price of $4.02 per mcfe compared to 1.194 tcfe produced and sold in 2011 at weighted average price of

$5.70 per mcfe and 1.035 tcfe in 2010 at weighted average price of $6.09 per mcfe weighted average prices exclude

the effect of unrealized gains on derivatives of $561 million unrealized losses on derivatives of $789 million and

unrealized losses of $657 million in 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively The decrease in price received per mcfe in

2012 compared to 2011 resulted in decrease in revenues of $2.397 billion and increased production resulted in

$1 .300 billion increase in revenues for total decrease in revenues of $1 .097 billion excluding unrealized gains or

losses on natural gas oil and NGL derivatives The increase in production from period to period was primarily generated

through the drillbit

For 2012 we realized an average price per mcf of natural gas of $2.07 compared to $4.77 in 2011 and $5.57 in

2010 weighted average prices exclude the effect of unrealized gains or losses on derivatives Oil prices realized per

barrel excluding unrealized gains or losses on derivatives were $91.74 $86.25 and $82.10 in 2012 2011 and 2010

respectively NGL prices realized per barrel excluding unrealized gains or losses on derivatives were $29.37 $38.12

and $34.38 in 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively Realized gains from ournaturaF gas oil and NGL derivatives resulted

in net increase in natural gas oil and NGL revenues of $358 million or $0.25 per rncfe in 2012 net increase of

$1.554 billion or$1.30 permcfe in 2011 and net increase of $2.056billion or$t99perrncfe in 2010 See Item 7A

for complete listing of all of our derivative instruments as of December 31 2012
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change in natural gas oil and NGL prices has significant impact on our revenues and cash flows Assuming

the 2012 production levels an increase or decrease of $0.10 per mcf of natural gas sold would result in an increase

or decrease in 2012 revenues and cash flows of approximately $113 million and $110 million respectively and an

increase or decrease of $1.00 per barrel of liquids sold would result in an increase or decrease in 2012 revenues and

cash flows of approximately $49 million and $47 million respectively without considering the effect of hedging activities

The following tables show our production and average sales prices received by operating division for 2012 2011

arid 2010

2012

Natural Gas Oil NGL Total

bcf $Imcf mmbbl $bbla mmbbl $bbla bcfe $Imcfe

Southern 611.2 1.65 1.8 95.45 1.5 28.35 631.1 44 1.94

Northern 205.1 2.16 14.6 88.74 10.8 28.40 357.7 25 5.72

Eastern 260.1 1.94 0.5 78.67 1.7 39.19 273.1 20 2.23

western 52.4 0.92 14.4 91.92 3.6 30.60 160.2 11 9.24

Total 1128.8 1.77 31.3 90.45 17.6 29.89 1422.1 100% 3.77

2011

Natural Gas Oil NGL Total

bcf $Imcf mmbbl $mbIa mmbbl $Ibbl bcfe $Imcfe

Southern 554.7 2.83 0.1 108.15 1.1 36.63 561.8 47 2.89

Northern 258.2 3.55 10.2 90.03 10.6 40.26 383.0 32 5.90

Eastern 135.8 3.27 0.3 79.90 1.2 5544 144.8 12 3.69

Westernd 55.4 3.58 6.4 8968 1.8 37.46 104.6 8.05

Total 1004.1 3.12 17.0 89.90 14.7 40.96 1194.2 100% 4.40

2010

Natural Gas Oil NGL Total

bcf $Imcf mmbbl $bbla mmbbl $Ibbl bcfe $Imcfe

Southern 418.6 2.97 0.1 82.79 0.7 27.82 423.5 42 2.99

Northern 368.8 3.71 7.4 75.11 6.3 34.84 451.3 43 4.76

Eastern 74.1 3.91 0.2 66.41 0.3 35.17 76.7 4.07

Western 63.4 1.25 3.2 76.07 0.1 32.04 83.7 6.23

Total 924.9 3.43 10.9 75.29 7.4 34.38 1035.2 100% 4.10

The averagesales price excludes gains losses on derivatives

Our Barnett Shale production is concentrated in urban areas where the cost to develop the necessary infrastructure

to gather and deliver the natural gas to intrastate pipelines significantly exceeds the cOst of similar infrastructure

in non-urban areas Additionally the rapid development of the Barnett Shale required the construction of new

pipelines to provide an adequate market for these new gas reserves In order to suppOrt the timely construction

of these new pipelines we entered into firm transportation contracts that have resulted in lower natural gas price

realizations in the Barnett Shale than in our other major natural gas plays

Our Eastern division primarily includes the Marcellus Shale which held approximately 23% of our estimated

proved reserves by volume as of December 31 2012 Production for the Marcellus Shale for the years ended

2012 2011 and 2010 was 243.3 bcfe 121.1 bcfe and 52.9 bcfe respectively
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Our Western division primarily includes the Eagle Ford Shale which held approximately 21% of our estimated

proved reserves by volume as of December 312012 Production for the Eagle Ford Shale for the years ended

2012 2011 and 2010 was 84.3 bcfe 21.3 bcfe and 2.3 bcfe respectively

As the Eagle Ford Shale continues to be developing play where additional infrastructure is being added to meet

the growing production we experienced lower natural gas price realizations in 2012 as result of higher

transportation costs compared to more developed plays

2012 2011 and 2010 production reflects various asset sales See Note 11 of the notes to our consolidated financial

statements included in Item of this report for information on our natural gas and oil property divestitures

Our average daily production of 3.886 bcfe for 2012 consisted of 3.084 bcf of natural gas 80% on natural gas

equivalent basis and approximately 3350 bbls of liquids consisting of approximately 85420 bbls of oil 13% on

natural gas equivalent basis and approximately 48130 bbls of NGL 7% on natural gas equivalent basis Our year-

over-year growth rate of natural gas production was 12% our year-over-year growth rate of oil production was 84%
and our year-over-year growth rate of NGL production was 19% Because of the value gap between natural gas and

liquids prices as liquids production has increased as percentage of our total production the percentage of revenue

generated through the sale of liquids production has increased substantially Our percentage of unhedged revenues

from natural gas oil and NGL is shown in the following table

2012 2011 2010

Natural gas 37% 60% 75%

Oil 53% 29% 19%

NGL 10% 11% 6%

Total 100% 100% 100%

Marketing Gathering and Compression Sales and Expenses Marketing gathering and compression sales and

expenses consist of third-party revenue and expenses related to our marketing gathering and compression operations

Marketing gathering and compression activities are performed by Chesapeake primarily for owners in Chesapeake-

operated wells Chesapeake recognized $5.431 billion in marketing gathering and compression sales in 2012 with

corresponding expenses of $5.312 billion for net margin before depreciation of $119 million See Depreciation and

Amortization of Other Assets below for the depreciation and amortization recorded on our marketing gathering and

compression assets This compares to sales of $5.090 billion and $3479 billion expenses of $4.967 billion and $3.352

billion and margins before depreciation of $123 million and $127 million in 2011 and 2010 respectively In 2012 and

2011 Chesapeake realized an increase in marketing gathering and compression sales and expenses primarily due

to an increase in third-party marketing volumes These increases were offset by lower margins per mcfe as result of

certain marketing arrangements whereby we resold natural gas and NGL at marginally lower market prices as compared

to the contract price purchases of the natural gas and NGL We sold substantially all of our gathering business in the

2012 fourth quarter which will have future impact on our marketing gathering and compression sales and expenses
Our gathering business provided approximately $51 million $44 million and $52 million of the total rketing gathering

and compression net margin or43%36% and 41% in 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

Ollfield Services Revenues and Expenses Oilfield services consist of third-party revenue and expenses related

to our oilfield services operations Chesapeake recognized $607 million in oilfield services revenues in 2012 with

corresponding expenses of $465 million for net margin before depreciation of $142 million See Depreciation and

Amortization of OtherAssets below for the depreciation and amortization recorded on our oilfield services assets This

compares to revenue of $521 million and $240 million expenses of $402 million and $208 million and net margin

before depreciation of $119 million and $32 million in 2011 and 2010 respectively Oilfield services revenues expenses

and margins have increased as our oilfield services business has grown in addition to an increase in service rates

throughout 2011 and 2012 These increases were offset by losses recognized in 2012 related to certain consolidated

investments Our oilfield services segment was negatively impacted by impairments and early lease termination

payments in 2012 See Note 14 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in Item of this report

for further discussion

Natural Gas Oil andNGL Production Expenses Production expenses which include lifting costs and ad valorem

taxes were $1 .304 billion in 2012 compared to $1 .073 billion and $893 million in 2011 and 2010 respectively On

unit-of-production basis production expenses were $0.92 per mcfe in 2012 compared to $0.90 and $0.86 per mcfe in

2011 and 2010 respectively The per unit expense increase in 2012 was primarily the result of new fee retroactively

imposed in Pennsylvania on spud wells which had $15 million or $0.01 per mcfe effect in addition to an overall
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increase in field rates and the lifting costs associated with VPP production for VPP 10 and completed in March

2012 and May 2011 respectively The per unit increase in 2011 was primarily the result of the sale of our Fayetteville

Shale producing wells which were high volume wells with lower per unit costs Production expenses in 2012 2011

and 2010 included approximately $220 million $234 million and $139 million or $0.15 $0.20 and $0.13 per mcfe

respectively associated with VPP production volumes

The following table shows our production expenses by operating division and our ad valorem tax expenses for

20122Olland2OlO

2012 2011 2010

Production Production Production

Expenses $Imcfe Expenses $/mcfe Expenses $/mcfe

in millions except per unit

Southern 375 59 334 59 262 62

Northern 492 1.38 384 1.01 349 0.77

Eastern 137 0.50 134 0.93 117 1.52

Western 226 1.41 159 1.52 100 1.22

1230 0.87 1011 0.85 828 0.80

Ad valorem tax 74 0.05 62 0.05 65 0.06

Total 1304 0.92 1073 0.90 893 0.86

Production Taxes Production taxes were $188 million in 2012 compared to $192 million in 2011 and $157 million

in 2010 On unit-of-production basis production taxes were $0.13 per mcfe in 2012 compared to $0.16 per mcfe in

2011 and $0.15 in 2010 In general production taxes are calculated using value-based formulas that produce higher

per unit costs when natural gas oil and NGL prices are higher The $4 million decrease in production taxes in 2012

was primarily due to the decrease from 2011 to 2012 of the unhedged price of our production from $4.40 to $3.77 per

mcfe offset by an increase in production of 228 bcfe The $35 million increase in production taxes in 2011 was primarily

due to an increase in production of 159 bcfe and an increase in the unhedged price of àur production from $4.10 to

$4.40 per mcfe Production taxes in 2012 2011 and 2010 included approximately $20 million $34 million and $26

million or $0.01 $0.03 and $0.02 per mcfe respectively associated with VPP production volumes

General and Administrative Expenses General and administrative expenses including stock-based

compensation but excluding internal costs capitalized to our natural gas and oil properties and other property plant

and equipment see Note 10 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in Item of this report

were $535 million in 2012 $548 million in 2011 and $453 million in 2010 General and administrative expenses were

$0.38 $0.46 and $0.44 per mcfe for 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively The per unit expense decrease in 2012 was

primarily due to an increase in production of 228 bcfe The actual and per unit expense increase in 2011 was primarily

due to the Companys continued growth resulting in higher payroll and associated costs Included in general and

administrative expenses is stock-based compensation of $71 million in 2012 $92 million in 2011 and $84 million in

2010 Restricted stock expense is based on the price of our common stock on the grant date of the award

Our stock based compensation for employees and non-employee directors during 2012 2011 and 2010 was in

the form of restricted stock Equity compensation helps offset the fact that we do not have pension plan Employee

restricted stock awards generally vest over period of four years Our annual non-employee director awards vest over

period of three years The discussion of stock-based compensation in Note and Note of the notes to our consolidated

financial statements included in Item of this report provides additional detail on the accounting for and reporting of

our stock-based compensation

Chesapeake follows the full cost method of accounting under which all costs associated with natural gas and oil

property acquisition divestiture drilling and completion activities are capitalized We capitalize internal costs that can

be directly identified with our acquisition divestiture drilling and completion activities and do not include any costs

related to production general corporate overhead or similar activities In addition we capitalize internal costs that can

be identified with the construction of certain of our property plant and equipment We capitalized $434 million $432

million and $378 million of internal costs in 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively directly relatedto our natural gas and

oil property acquisition divestiture drilling and completion efforts and the construction of our property plant and

equipment
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Natural Gas Olland NGL Depreciation Depletion and Amortization Depreciation depletion and amortization

DDA of natural gas oil and NGL properties was $2507 billion $1 .632 billion and $1 .394 billion during 2012 2011

and 2010 respectively The $875 million and $238 million increases in 2012 and 2011 are primarily the result of 19%

and 15% increase in production in 2012 and 2011 respectively the 2012 decrease in Barnett Shale and Haynesville

Shale proved undeveloped reserves primarily as result of downward price revisions and the higher costs of liquids-

rich plays compared to natural gas plays as we shift to more liquids-focused strategy The average DDA rate per

mcfe which is funôtion of capitalized costs future development coŒts and the related underlying reserves in the

periods presented was $1.76 $1.37 and $1.35 in 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

Depreciation and Amortization of Other Assets Depreciation and amortization of other assets was $304 million

in 2012 compared to $291 million in 2011 and $220 million in 2010 Depreciation and amortization of other assets was

$0 21 $0 24 and 21 per mcfe in 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively The per unit decrease in 2012 is primarily due

to an increase in production in 2012 and the result of classifying approximately $1.8 billion of midstream assets as

held for sale from June 30 2012 until they were sold in December 2012 Assets classified as held for sale are not

subject to depreciation See Note of the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in Item of this

report for information regarding our assets held for sale

Property and equipment costs are depreciated on straight-line basis and are depreciated over the estimated

useful lives of the assets To the extent company-owned drilling rigs and equipment are used to drill our wells

substantial portion of the depreciation iscapitalized in natural gas and oil properties as drilling and completion costs

The following table shows the estimated useful life of our assets and depreciation expense by asset class for 2012

2011 and 2010

December 31 Useful

2012 2011 2010 Life

in millions in years

Oilfield services equipment 61 52 14 15

Natural gas gathering systems and treating plants 46 58 55 20

Buildings and improvements 42 34 28 10 39

Natural gas compressorsb 26 18 13 20

Computers and office equipment 45 40 43

Vehicles 52 46 31 0-5

Other 32 43 36 2-20

Total depreciation and amortization of other assets 304 291 220

Included in our oilfield services operating segment

Included in our marketing gathering and compression operating segment

Impairment of Natural Gas and Oil Properties In the third quarter of 2012 we reported non cash impairment

charge on our natural gas and oil properties of $3 315 billion primarily resulting from 10% decrease in trailing 12

month average first day-of-the-month natural gas prices as of September30 2012 compared to June 30 2012 and

the impairment of certain undeveloped leasehold primarily in the Williston and DJBasins We account for our natural

gas and oil properties using the full cost method of accounting which limits the amount of costs we can capitalize and

requires us to write off these costs if the carrying value of natural gas and oil assets in the evaluated portion of our full

cost pool exceeds the sum of the present value of expected future net cash flows of proved reserves using 10% pre
tax discount rate based on pricing and cost assumptions prescribed by the SEC and the present value of certain natural

gas and oil derivative instruments See Note and Note 10 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements

included in Item of this report for further discussion of our impairment of natural gas and oil properties

Gains on Sales of FixedAssets In 2012 net gains on sales of fixed assets were $267 million compared to net

gains of $437 million in 2011 and net gains of $137 million in 2010 The sale of our midstream subsidiary CMO in

2012 generated $289 million gain the sale of our midstream subsidiary AMS in 2011 generated $439 million gain

and the sale of our Springridge gas gathering system in 2010 generated $157 million gain See Note 14 of the notes

to our consolidated financial statements included in Item of this report for discussion of our gains and losses on

sales and impairments of fixed assets and other
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Impairments of FixedAssets and Other In 2012 impairments of fixed assets and otherwere $340 million compared

to $46 million in 2011 and $21 million in 2010 In 2012 and 2011 we recognized $248 millionand $3 million of impairment

losses respectively primarily associated with an office building and surface land located in our Barnett Shale operating

area Also in 2012 we negotiated the purchase from various lessors of 25 rigs previously sold in our sale leaseback

transactions for an aggregate purchase price of $61 million ofwhich $25 million was deemed to be early lease

termination costs and recognized as an impairment In addition in 2012 we recognized $35 million of impairment

losses on certain of our owned drilling rigs and related equipment due to the expectation that these particular drilling

rigs would have insufficient cash flow to recover their carrying value We had additional impairments of $32 million

$42 million and $21 million in 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively on midstream and other assets See Note 14 of the

notes to our consolidated financial statements included in Item of this report for discussion of our gains and losses

on sales and impairments of fixed assets and other

Employee Retirement and Other Termination Benefits We recorded $7 million of employee retirement and other

termination benefits in 2012 primarily related to reducing our Barnett Shale operations the sale of our Permian Basin

assets and charges related to our voluntary separation plan See Note 21 of the notes to our consolidated financial

statements included in Item of this report for discussion of our voluntary separation plan

Interest Expense Interest expense was $77 million in 2012 compared to $44 milliOn in 2011 and $19 million in

2010 as follows

Interest expense excluding unrealized gains or losses on interest rate derivatives and net of amounts capitalized

was $0.06 per mcfe in 2012 compared to $0.03 per mcfe in2011 and$0.08 in 2010

Earnings Losses on Investments Losses on investments were $103 million in 2012 compared to earnings on

investments of $156 million in 2011 and earnings on investments of $227 million in 2010 The 2012 loss related to our

equity in the net losses of certain investments primarily FTS International Inc FTS The 2011 earnings related to

our equity in the net income of certain investments primarily ACMP and FTS The 2010 earnings consisted of $106

million related to our equity in the net income of certain investments and $121 million related to the initial public offering

by ACMP and private offering of common stock by Chaparral Energy Inc which represented our proportionate share

of the excess of offering proceeds over our carrying value

Gains on Sales of Investments In 2012 we sold all of our common and subordinated units representing limited

partner interests in Chesapeake Midstream Partners L.P now named Access Midstream Partners L.P NYSEACMP
and all of our limited liability company interests in the sole member of its general partner to funds affiliated with Global

Infrastructure Partners for cash proceeds of $2.0 billion We recorded $1 .032 billion gain associated with the

transaction Also in 2012 we sold our investment in Glass Mountain Pipeline LLC for cash proceeds of $99 million

We recorded $62 million gain associated with the transaction

Losses on Purchases or Exchanges of Debt In October and November 2012 we used $4.0 billion in proceeds

from asset sales and our November 2012 term loan discussed above to fully repay the May 2012 term loans We
recorded $200 million of associated losses with the repayment including $86 million of deferred charges and $114

million of debt discount

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

in millions

Interest expense on senior notes 732 653 718

Interest expense on credit facilities 70 70 61

Interest expense on term loans 173

Realized gains losses on interest rate derivatives 14
Unrealized gains losses on interest rate derivatives 66
Amortization of loan discount issuance costs and other 89 39 36

Capitalized interest 980 732 716

Total interest expense 77 44 19

Average senior notes borrowings 10487

Average term loans borrowings 096

373 10345
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During 2011 we completed tender offers to purchase $1 .373 billion in aggregate principal amount of certain of

our senior notes and $531 million in aggregate principal amoUnt of certain of our contingent conVertible senior notes

Associated with the tender offers we recorded losses of approximately $166 million related to the senior notes and

$8 million related to the contingent convertible senior notes Also during 2011 we purchased $140 million in aggregate

principal amountof our2.25% ContingentTConvertibleSenior Notes due 2038 for approximately $128 million Associated

with these purchases we recognized loss of $2 million in 2011

During 2010 we redeemed in whole for an aggregate redemption price of approximately $1 366 billion

approximately $364 million in principal amount of our outstanding 7.50% Senior Notes due 2013 $300 million in

principal amount of our 7.50% Senior Notes due 2014 and approximately $670 million in principal amount of our 6.875%

Senior Notes due 2016 Associated with the redemptions we recognized loss of $69 million in 2010 Also during

2010 we redeemed in whole for redemption price of approximately $619 million plus accrued interest all $600

million in principal amount of our 6.375% Senior Notes due 2015 We recognized loss of $19 million in 2010 associated

with the redemptions

Additionally during 2010 we completed tender offers to purchase for cash $245 million of 00% Senior Notes

due 2014 $567 million of 6.625% Senior Notes due 2016 and $582 million of 6.25% Senior Notes due 2018 Following

the completion of these tender offers we redeemed the remaining $55 million of 7.00% Senior Notes due 2014 $33

million of 6.625% Senior Notes due 2016 and $18 million of 6.25% Senior Notes due 2018 based on the redemption

provisions in the indentures Associated with these tender offers and redemptions we recognized loss of $40 million

in 2010

Finally in 2010 we privately exchanged approximately $11 million in aggregate principal amount of our 2.25%

Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2038 for an aggregate of 298500 shares of our common stock valued at

approximately $9 million Through these transactions we were able to retire this debt for common stock valued at

approximately 80% of the face value of the notes Of the $11 million principal amount of convertible notes exchanged

in 2010 $7 million was allocated to the debt component of the notes and the remaining $4 million was allocated to the

equity conversion feature of the notes and was recorded as an adjustment to paid-in-capital The difference between

the debt component and value of the common stock exchanged in these transactions resulted in $2 million loss

including nominal amount of deferred charges associated with the exchanges

Impairment of Investments We recorded $16 million of impairments of certain investments in 2010 Each of our

investees was impacted by the dramatic slowing of the worldwide economy and the credit markets in 2009 and 2010

The economic weakness resulted in significantly reduced natural gas and oil prices which led to meaningful decline

in the overall level of activity in the markets served by our investees Associated with the weakness in performance of

certain of the investees as well as an evaluation of their financial condition and near-term prospects we recognized

that an other than temporary impairment had occurred on certain investments

Other Income Other income was $8 million $23 million and $16 million in 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

The 2012 income consisted of $1 million of interest income and $7 million of miscellaneous income The 2011 income

consisted of $3 million of interest income and $20 million of miscellaneous income The 2010 income consisted of $8

million of interest income and $8 million of miscellaneous income

Income Tax Expense Benefit Chesapeake recorded an income tax benefit of $380 million in 2012 compared

to income tax expense of $1 .123 billion in 2011 and income tax expense of $1 .110 billion in 2010 Our effective income

tax ratewas 39% in both 2012 and 2011 and 38.5% in 2010 Our effective tax rate can fluctuate as result of the

impact of state income taxes and permanent differences

Net Income Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests In 2012 Chesapeake recorded $175 million of net income

attributable to noncontrolling interests related to third party ownership in CHK Utica CHK C-T the Chesapeake Granite

Wash Trust and our consolidated investments in Wireless Seismic Inc and BigStar Crude Company L.L.C CHK

Utica and the Chesapeake Granite Wash Trust were formed in the fourth quarter of 2011 and CHK C-T was formed in

the first quarter of 2012 We began consolidating our investment in Wireless Seismic Inc and Big Star Crude Company
L.L.C in the fourth quarterof 2012 In 2011 Chesapeake recorded $15 million of net income attributable to noncontrolling

interests related to third-party ownership in CHK Utica and the Chesapeake Granite Wash Trust

66



Application of Critical Accounting Policies

Readers of this report and users of the information contained in it should be aware that certain events may impact

our financial results based on the accounting policies in place The four policies we consider to be the most significant

are discussed below The Companys management has discussed each critical accounting policy with the Audit

Committee of the Companys Board of Directors

The selection and application of accounting policies are an important process that changes as our business

changes and as accounting rules are developed Accounting rules generally do not involve selection among

alternatives but involve an implementation and interpretation of existing rules and the use of judgment to the specific

set of circumstances existing in our business

Natural Gas and Oil Properties The accounting for our business is subject to special accounting rules that are

unique to the natural gasnd oil industry There are two allowable methods of accounting for natural gas and oil

business activities the successful efforts method and the full cost method Chesapeake follows the full cost method

of accounting under which all costs associated with property acquisition exploration and development activities are

capitalized We also capitalize internal costs that can be directly identified with our acquisition exploration and

development activities and do not include any costs related to production general corporate overhead or similar

activities

Under the successful efforts method geological and geophysical costs and costs of carrying and retaining

undeveloped properties are charged to expense as incurred Costs of drilling exploratory wells that do not result in

proved reserves are charged to expense Depreciation depletion amortization and impairment of natural gas and oil

properties are generally calculated on well by well or lease or field basis versus the aggregated full cost pool basis

Additionally gain or loss is generally recognized on all sales of natural gas and oil properties under the successful

efforts method As result our financial statements will differ from those of companies that apply the successful efforts

method since we will generally reflect higher level of capitalized costs as well as higher natural gas and oil

depreciation depletion and amortization rate and we will not have exploration expenses that successful efforts

companies frequently have

Under the full cost method capitalized costs are amortized on composite unit-of-production method based on

proved natural gas and oil reserves If we maintain the same level of production year over year the depreciation

depletion and amortization expense may be significantly different if our estimate of remaining reserves or future

development costs changes significantly Proceeds from the sale of properties are accounted for as reductions of

capitalized costs unless such sales involve significant change in proved reserves and significantly alterthe relationship

between costs and proved reserves in which case gain or loss is recognized The costs of unproved properties are

excluded from amortization until the properties are evaluated We review all of our unevaluated properties quarterly

to determine whether or not and to what extent proved reserves have been assigned to the properties and otherwise

if impairment has occurred Unevaluated properties are grouped by major producing area where individual property

costs are not significant and are assessed individually when individual costs are significant

We review the carrying value of our natural gas and oil properties under the SECs full cost accounting rules on

quarterly basis This quarterly review is referred to as ceiling test Under the ceiling test capitalized costs less

accumulated amortization and related deferred income taxes may not exceed an amount equal to the sum of the

present value of estimated future net revenues adjusted for natural gas and oil cash flow hedges less estimated future

expenditures to be incurred in developing and producing the proved reserves less any related income tax effects In

calculating estimated future net revenues current prices are calculated as the unweighted arithmetic average of natural

gas and oil prices on the first day of each month within the 12-month period prior to the ending date of the quarterly

period Costs used are those as of the end of the appropriate quarterly period Such prices are utilized except where

different prices are fixed and determinable from applicable contracts for the remaining term of those contracts including

the effects of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges

Two primary factors impacting this test are reserve levels and natural gas and oil prices and their associated

impact on the present value of estimated future net revenues Revisions to estimates of natural gas and oil reserves

and/or an increase or decrease in prices can have material impact on the present value of estimated future net

revenues Any excess of the net book value less deferred income taxes is generally written off as an expense See

Natural Gas and Oil Properties in Note of the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in Item of

this report for further information on the full cost method of accounting
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Derivatives Chesapeake uses commodity price and financial risk management instruments to mitigate portion

of our exposure to price fluctuations in natural gas and oil prices changes in interest rates and foreign exchange rates

Recognized gains and losses on derivative contracts are reported as component of the related transaction Results

of commodity derivative contracts are reflected in natural gas oil and NGL sales and results of interest rate and foreign

exchange rate hedging contracts are reflected in interest expense The changes in the fair value of derivative instruments

not qualifying or not elected for designation as either cash flow or fair value hedges that occur prior to maturity are

reported currently in the consolidated statement of operations as unrealized gains losses within natural gas oil and

NGL sales or interest expense Cash settlements of our derivative arrangements are generally classified as operating

cash flows unless the derivative is deemed to contain for accounting purposes significant financing element at

contract inception in which case these cash settlements are classified as financing cash flows in the accompanying

consolidated statements of cash flows

Accounting guidance for derivative instruments and hedging activities establishes accounting and reporting

standards requiring that derivative instruments including certain derivative instruments embedded in qther contracts

be recorded at fair value and included in the consolidated balance sheets.as assets or liabilities The accounting for

changes in the fair value of derivative instrument dpends on the intended use of the derivative and the resulting

designation which is established at the inception of derivative For derivative instruments designated as naturaL gas
oil and NGL cash flow hedges changes in fair value to the extent the hedge is effective are recognized in other

comprehensive income until the hedged item is recognized in earnings as natural gas oil and NGL sales Any change

in the fair value resulting from ineffectiveness is recognized immediately in natural gas oil and NGL sales For interest

rate derivative instruments designated as fair value hedges changes in fair value as well as the offsetting changes

in the estimated fair value of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk are recognized currently in earnings as

interest expense Differences between the changes in the fair values of the hedged item andthe derivative instrument

if any represent gains or losses on ineffectiveness and are reflectedcurrently in interest expense Hedge effectiveness

is measured at least quarterly based on the relative changes in fair value between the derivative contract and the

hedged item overtime Changes in fair value of contracts that do not qualify as hedges or are not designated as hedges

are also recognized currently in earnings See Hedging Activities above and Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative

Disclosures About Market Risk for additional information regarding our hedging activities

One of the primary factors that can have an impact on our results of operations is the method used to value our

derivatives We have established the fair value of our derivative instruments.utilizing established index prices volatility

curves and discount factors These estimates are compared to our counterparty values for reasonableness Derivative

transactions are also subject to the risk that counterparties will be unable to meettheir obligations Such non-

performance risk is considered in thevaluation of our derivative instruments but to date has not had material impact

on the values of our derivatives The values we report in our financial statements are as of point in time and

subsequently change as these estimates are revised to reflect actual results changes in market conditions and other

factors Additionally in accordance with accounting guidance for derivatives and hedging to the extent that legal

right of set-off exists Chesapeake nets the value of its derivative instruments with the same counterparty in the

accompanying consolidated balance sheets

Another factor that can impact our results of operations each period is our ability to estimate the level of correlation

between future changes in the fair value of the derivative instruments and the transactions being hedged both at

inception and on an ongoing basis This correlation is complicated since energy commodity prices the primary risk

we hedge have quality and location differences that can be difficult to hedge effectively The factors underlying our

estimates of fair value and our assessment of correlation of our derivative instruments are impacted by actual results

and changes in conditions that affect these factors many of which are beyond our control

Due to the volatility of natural gas oil and NGL prices and to lesser extent interest rates and foreign exchange

rates the Companys financial condition and results of operations can be significantly impacted by changes in the

market value of our derivative instruments As of December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 the fair value of our derivatives

were liabilities of $979 million $1 .719 billion and $761 million respectively

Variable Interest Entities An entity is referred to as VIE pursuant to accounting guidance for consolidation if it

possesses one of the following criteria it is thinly capitalized ii the residual equity holders do not control the entity

iii the equity holders are shielded from the economic losses iv the equity holders do not participate fully in the

entitys residual economics or the entity was established with non-substantive voting interests We consolidate

VIE when we have both the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the activities of the VIE and the

right to receive benefits or the obligation to absorb losses of the entity that could be potentially significant to the VIE

Along with the VIEs that are consolidated in accordance with these guidelines we also hold variable interests in other
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VIEs that are not consolidated because we are not the primary beneficiary We continually monitor both consolidated

and unconsolidated VIEs to determine if any events have occurred that could cause the primary beneficiary to change

See Note 13 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in Item of this report for further discussion

of VIEs

Income Taxes As part of the process of preparing the consolidated financial statements we are required to

estimate the federal and state income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which Chesapeake operates This process

involves estimating the actual current tax exposure together with assessing temporary differences resulting from

differing treatment of items such as derivative instruments depreciatipn depletion and amortization and certain

accrued liabilities for tax and accounting purposes These differences and our net operating loss carryforwards result

in deferred tax assetsand liabilities which are included in our consolidated balance sheets We must then assess

using all available positive and negative evidence the likelihood that the deferred tax assetswill be recovered from

future taxable income If we believe that recovery is not likely we mustestablish valuation allowance Generally to

the extent Chesapeake establishes valuation allowance or increases or decreases this allowance in period we

must include an expense or reduction of expense within the tax provision in the consolidated statement of operations

Under accounting guidance for income taxes an enterprise must use judgment in considering the relative impact

of negative and positive evidence The weight given to the potential effect of negative and positive evidence should

be commensurate with the extent to which it can be objectively verified The more negative evidence that exists the

more positive evidence is necessary and ii the more difficult it is to support conclusion that valuation allowance

is not needed for some portion or all of the deferred tax asset Among the mor significant types of evidence that we

consider are

taxable income projections in future years

whether the carryforward period is so brief that it would limit raIization of the tax benefit

future sales and operating cost projections that will produce more than enough taxable income to realize the

deferred tax asset based on existing sales prices and cost struÆtures and

our earnings history exclusive of the loss that created the future deductible amount coupled with evidence

indicating that the loss is an aberration rather than continuing condition

If natural gas and oil prices were to decrease significantly below present levels and if such decreases were

considered other than temporary ii exploration drilling and operating costs were to increase significantly beyond

current levels or iii we were confronted with any other significantly negative evidence pertaining to our ability to

realize our NOL carryforwards prior to their expiration we may be required to provide valuation allowance against

our deferred tax assets As of December31 2012 we had deferred tax assets of $1 .566 billion

Accounting guidance for recognizing and measuring uncertain tax positions prescribes threshold condition that

tax position must meet for any of the benefit of the uncertain tax position to be recognized in the financial statements

Guidance is also provided regarding de-recognition classification and disclosure of these uncertain tax positions

Based on this guidance we regularly analyze tax positions taken or expected to be taken in atax return based on the

threshold condition prescribed Tax positions that do not meet or exceed this threshold condition are considered

uncertain tax positions We accrue interest related to these uncertain tax positions which is recognized in interest

expense Penalties if any related to uncertain tax positions would be recorded in other expenses Additional information

about uncertain tax positions appears in Note of the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in Item

of this report

Disclosures About Effects of Transactions with Related Parties

Chief Executive Officer

As of December31 2012 and 2011 we had accrued accounts receivable from our Chief Executive Officer Aubrey

McClendon of $23 million and $45 million respectively representing joint interest billings from December 2012 and

2011 related to Mr McClendons participation in Company wells pursuant to the FWPP These amounts were invoiced

and timely paid in the following month Since Chesapeake was founded in 1989 Mr McClendon has acquired working

interests in virtually all of our natural gas and oil properties by participating in our drilling activities under the terms of

his employment agreement and the FWPP and predecessor participation arrangements provided for in Mr McClendons

employment agreements On April 30 2012 the Companys Board of Directors and Mr McClendon agreed to the early

termination of the FWPP on June 30 2014 18 months before the end of the 10-year term approved by our shareholders

in June 2005 Under the FWPP Mr McClendon may elect to participate in all or none of the wells drilled by or on behalf
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of Chesapeake during calendar year but he is not allowed to participate only in selected wells participation election

is required to be received by the Compensation Committee of Chesapeakes Board of Directors not less than 30 days

prior tothe start of each calendar year His participation is permitted only under the terms outlined in the FWPP which

among other things limits his individual participation to maximum working interest of 2.5% in well and prohibits

participation in situations where Chesapeakes working interest would be reduced below 12.5% as result of his

participation In addition the Company is reimbursed for costs associated with leasehold acquired by Mr McClendon

as result of his well participation In conjunction with certain sales of natural gas and oil properties by the Company

affiliates of Mr McClendon have sold interests in the same properties and on the same terms as those thatapplied to

the interests sold by the Company and proceeds were paid to the sellers based on their respective ownership

On December31 2008 we entered into newfive-year employment agreement with Mr McClendon that contained

one-time well cost incentive award to him The total cost of the award to Chesapeake was $75 million plus employment

taxes in the amount of approximately $1 million The incentive award was subject to clawback equal to any unvested

portion of the award if during the initial five-year term of the employment agreement Mr McClendon resigned from

the Company or was terminated for cause by the Company We are recognizing the incentive award as general and

administrative expense over the five-year vesting period for the clawback resulting in an expense of approximately

$15 million per year beginning in 2009 The net incentive award after deduction of applicable withholding and

employment taxes of approximately $44 million was fully applied against costs attributable to interests in Company
wells acquired by Mr McClendon or his affiliates under the FWPP On January 29 2013 the Company announced

that Mr McClendon had agreed to retire from the Company on the earliŁrto occur of April 2013 or the time at which

his successor is appointed Mr McClendons participation rights under the FWPP are expected to continue through

the expiration of the FWPP on June 30 2014 and the incentive award clawback applicable to 2013 will not apply See

Note 21 for additional information on the terms of his separation from the Company

In 2011 Chesapeake entered into license and naming rights agreement with The Professional Basketball Club
LLC PBC for the arena in downtown Oklahoma City PBC is the owner of the Oklahoma City Thunder basketball

team National Basketball Association franchise and the arenas primary tenant Mr McClendon has 19.2% equity

interest in PBC Under the terms of the agreement Chesapeake has committed to pay fees ranging from $3 million to

$4 million per year through 2023 for the arena naming rights and other associated benefits In addition since 2008

Chesapeake has been founding sponsor of the Oklahoma City Thunder initially under successive one-year contracts

In 2011 it entered into 12-year sponsorship agreement committing to pay an average annual fee of $3 million for

advertising use of an arena suite and other benefits Chesapeake also has committed to purchase tickets to all

2012-2013 home games In 2012 and 2011 the Company paid PBC approximately $7 million and $6 million respectively

for naming rights fees sponsorship fees and game tickets and for 2013 the amount payable for such 2012-2013

season fees and tickets is approximately $3 million not including any amounts for playoff tickets

Pursuant to court-approved litigation settlement with certain plaintiff shareholders described under Litigation

and Regulatory Proceedings in Item of this report the sale of an antique map collection that occurred in December

2008 between Mr McClendon and the Company will be rescinded Mr McClendon will pay the Company approximately

$12 million plus interest and the Company will reconvey the map collection to Mr McClendon The transaction is

scheduled to be completed not later than 30 days after entry of final non-appealable judgment

70



Other Related Parties

During 2012 and 2011 our formerly 46%-owned affiliate ACMP provided natural gas gathering and treating

services to us in the ordinary course of business We are party to various agreements pursuant to which we support

ACMP and for which we are reimbursed During 2012 and 2011 our transactions with ACMP included the following

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011

in millions

Amounts paid to ACMP

Gas gathering fees 624 469

Amounts received from ACMP

Compressor rentals 80 60

Inventory purchases 91 93

Other seMces provided
88 91

Total amounts received from ACMP 259 244

The average sales price excludes gains losses on derivatives

As of December31 2012 and 2011 we had net receivables from ACMP of $5 million and $2 million respectively

In addition in 2012 and 2011 we sold natural gas gathering systems and related equipment to ACMP See Note 11 of

the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in Item of this report for further discussion

During 2012 2011 and 2010 our 30%-owned affiliate FTS provided us hydraulic fracturing and other services

in the ordinary course of business During 2012 2011 and 2010 we paid FTS $-48Omillion $369 million and $89

million respectively for these services As well operators we are reimbursed by other working interest owners through

the joint interest billing process for their proportionate share of these costs In addition during 2012 we purchased $73

million of equipment from FTS As of December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 we owed $42 million $115 million and $30

million respectively to FTS for services provided and not yet paid

Recently Issued and Proposed Accounting Standards

The Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB recently issued the following standards which we reviewed

to determine the potential impact on our financial statements upon adoption

In February 2013 the FASB issued guidance on disclosure of information about changes in accumulated other

comprehensive income balances by component and significant items reclassified out of accumulated other

comprehensive income The new requirements include disclosing significant amounts reclassified out of accumulated

other comprehensive income by the respective line items of net income if required to be reclassified to net income in

their entirety Other items will be cross-referenced to other required disclosures that provide additional information

about those amounts The guidance is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15 2012

This guidance will not have an impact on our financial position or results of operations

In December 2011 the FASB issued guidance on disclosure of information about offsetting and related

arrangements to enable users of companys financial statements to understand the effect of thoSe arrangements on

its financial position In January 2013 the FASB issued additional guidance to clarify the scope of disclosures about

offsetting and related arrangements noting this guidance only applies to derivatives repurchase agreements and

reverse repurchase agreements and securities borrowing and securities lending transactions that are either offset in

accordance with specific criteria contained in other guidance or subject to master netting arrangement or similar

agreement Both standards are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after Jnuary 2013 This

guidance will not have an impact on our financial position or results of operations
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Forward-Looking Statements

This report includes forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933

and Section 21 ofthe.Securities ExchangeActof 1934 as amendedthe ExchangeAct Forward-looking statements

give our current expectations or forecasts of future events They include estimates of natural gas and oil reserves

expected natural gas Oil and NGL production and future expenses estimated operating costs assumptions regarding

future natural gas oil and NGL prices planned drilling activity and drilling and completion capital expenditures including

the use of joint venture drilling carries and anticipated sales as well as statements concerning anticipated cash flow

and liquidity covenant compliance debt reduction business strategy and other plans and objectives for future

operations Pending sales transactions are subject to closing conditions and may not be completed in the time frame

anticipated We do not have binding agreements for all of our planned asset sales Our ability to consummate eaäh of

these transactions is subject to changes in market conditions and other factors If one or more Of the transactions is

not completed in the anticipated time frame or at all or for less proceeds than anticipated our ability to fund budgeted

capital expenditures and reduce our indebtedness as planned could be adversely affected For sales transactions that

have closed we may not be able to satisfy all the requirements necessary to receive proceeds subject to titleandother

contingencies Disclosures concerning the fair values of derivative contracts and their estimated contribution to our

future results of operations are based upon market information as of specific date These market prices are subject

to significant volatility

Although we believe the expectations and forecasts reflected in our forward-looking statements are reasonable

we can give no assurance they will prove to have been correct They can be affected by inaccurate assumptions or

by known or unknown risks and uncertainties Factors that could cause actual results to differmaterially from expected

results are described under Risk Factors in Item IA of this report and include

the volatility of natural gas oil and NGL prices

the limitations our level of indebtedness may have or our financial flexibility

declines in the values of our natural gas and oil properties resulting in ceiling test write-downs

the availability of capital on an economic basis including planned sales to fund reserve replacement costs

our ability to replace reserves and sustain production

uncertainties inherent in estimating quantities of natural gas and oil reserves and projecting future rates of

production and the amount and timing of development expenditures

inability to generate profits or achieve targeted results in our development and exploratory drilling and well

operations

leasehold terms expiring before production can be established

hedging activities resulting in lower prices realized on natural gas oil and NGL sales and the need to secure

hedgingliabilities

drilling and operating risks including potential exposure to environmental liabilities

changes in legislation and regulation adversely affecting our industry and our business

general economic conditions negatively impacting us and our business counterparties

oilfield services shortages pipeline and gathering system capacity constraints and transportation

interruptions that could adversely affect our cash flow

losses possible from pending or future litigation and governmental proceedings and

cyber attacks targeting our systems and infrastructure adversely impacting our operations

We caution yu notto place undue reliance on the forward-looking statements contained in thisreport which

speak only as of the filing date and we undertake no obligation to update this information We urge you to carefully

review and consider the disclosures made in this report and our other filings with the SEC that attempt to advise

interested parties of the risks and factors that may affect our business
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ITEM 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Natural Gas Oil and NGL Derivatives

Our results of operations and cash flows are impacted by changes in market prices for natural gas oil and NGL
To mitigate portion of the exposure to adverse market changes we have entered into various derivative instruments

These instruments allow us to predict with greater certainty the effective prices to be received for our production We
believe our derivative instruments continue to be highly effective in achieving our risk management objectives

Our general strategy for attempting to mitigate exposure to adverse natural gas oil and NGL price changes is

to hedge into strengthening natural gas and oil futures markets when prices reach levels that management believes

are either unsustainable for the long term have material downside risk in the short term or provide reasonable rates

of return on our invested capital Information we consider in forming an opinion about future prices includes general

economic conditions industrial output levels and expectations producer breakeven cost structures liquefied natural

gas trends natural gas and oil storage inventory levels industry decline rates for base production and weather trends

We use wide range of derivative instruments to achieve our risk management objectives including swaps

options and swaptions All of these are described in more detail below We typically use swaps for large portion of

the natural gas and oil volume we hedge Swaps are used when the price level is acceptable We also sell calls taking

advantage of market volatility for portion of our projected production volumes We do this when we would be satisfied

to sell our production at the price being capped by the call strike price or believe it would be more likely than not that

the future natural gas or oil price will stay below the call strike price plus the premium we will receive In the second

half of 2011 and in 2012 we bought natural gas and oil calls to in effect lock in sold call positions Due to lower natural

gas oil and NGL prices we were able to achieve this at low cost to us We deferred the payment of the premium

on these trades to the related month of production being hedged At times we have taken advantage of attractive strip

prices in out-years and sold natural gas and oil call options to our counterparties in exchange for near-term natural

gas swaps with fixed prices above the then current market price This effectively allowed us to sell out-year volatility

through call options at terms acceptable to us in exchange for natural gas swaps with fixed prices in excess of the

market price for natural gas at that time In the fourth quarter of 2011 we entered into oil swaps that can be extended

at the option of the counterparty This allows us to receive higher fixed price on these swaps than what the market

would have offered without such an option Some of our derivatives are deemed to contain for accounting purposes

significant financing element at contract inception and the cash settlements associated with these instruments are

classified as financing cash flows in the accompanying consolidated statement of cash flows

We determine the volume we may potentially hedge by reviewing our estimated future production levels which

are derived from extensive examination of existing producing reserve estimates and estimates of likely production

risked from new drilling Production forecasts are updated at least monthly and adjusted if necessary to actual results

and activity levels We do not hedge more volumes than we expect to produce and if production estimates are lowered

for future periods and derivative instruments are already executed for some volume above the new production forecasts

the positions are reversed The actual fixed price on our derivative instruments is derived from bidding and the reference

NYMEX price as reflected in current NYMEX trading The pricing dates of our derivative contracts follow NYMEX
futures All of our derivative instruments are net settled based on the difference between the fixed price as stated in

the contract and the floating-price payment resulting in net amount due to or from the counterparty

We adjust our derivative positions in response to changes in prices and market conditions as part of an ongoing

dynamic process We review our derivative positions continuously and if future market conditions change and prices

are at levels we believe could jeopardize the effectiveness of position we will mitigate such risk by either doing

cash settlement with our counterparty restructuring the position or by entering into new trade that effectively reverses

the current position The factors we consider in closing or restructuring position before the settlement date are

identical to those we reviewed when deciding to enter into the original derivative position Gains or losses related to

closed positions will be realized in the month of related production based on the terms specified in the original contract

We have determined the fair value of our derivative instruments utilizing established index prices volatility curves

and discount factors These estimates are compared to our counterparty values for reasonableness Derivative

transactions are also subject to the risk that counterparties will be unable to meet their obligations Such non

performance risk is considered in the valuation of our derivative instruments but to date has not had material impact

on the values of our derivatives Future risk related to counterparties not being able to meet their obligations has been

partially mitigated under our secured hedging facility which requires counterparties to post collateral if their obligations

to Chesapeake are in excess of defined thresholds The values we report in our financial statements are as of point
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in time and subsequently change as these estimates are revised to reflect actual results changes in market conditions

and other factors See Note 12 of the notes to our consolidated iinanciaFstatements included in Item of this report

for further discussion of the fair value measurements associated with our derivatives
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As of December 31 2012 our natural gas and oil derivative instruments consisted of the following

Swaps Chesapeake receives fixed price and pays floating market price to the counterparty.kr the

hedged commodity

Options Chesapeake seilsandoccasionally buys call options in exchange for premium.At the time of

settlement if the market price exceeds the Jixed price of the call option Chesapeake pays the counterparty

such excess on sold call options and Chesapeake receives such excess on bought call options If the market

price settles below the fixed price of the call options no payment is due from either party

Swaptions Chesapeake sells call swaptions to counterparties thatallowthernon specific date to extend

an existing fixed-price swap for certain period of time

Basis protection Swaps These instruments are arrangements that guarantee price differential to NYMEX
from specified delivery point Our natural gas basis protection swaps typically have negative differentials

to NYMEX Chesapeake receives payment from the counterparty if the price differential is greater than

the stated terms of the contract and pays the counterparty if the price differential is less than the stated terms

of the contract Our oil basis protection swaps typically have positive differentials to NYMEX Chesapeake

receives payment from the counterparty if the price differential is less than the stated terms of the contract

and pays the counterparty if the price differential is greater than the stated terms of the contract



As of December 31 2012 we had the following open naturai gas and oil derivative instruments

__________
Weighted Average Price Designated

Volume Fixed Call Differential Hedge

tbtu per mmbtu

Fair

Value

in millions

13

11

Natural Gas

Swaps

QI 2013 24 3.90 No

Q22013 25 3.90 No

Call Options sold

Qi 2013 44 6.39 No

Q22013 67 6.39 No

Q32013 68 6.39 No

Q4 2013 --68 6.39 No

2014 330 6.43 No 17
2015 226 6.31 No 29
2016 279 6.72 No 63
20172020 114 10.92 No 14

Call Options bought
Qi 2013 44 6.39 No

Q2 2013 67 6.39 No

Q32013 68 6.39 No

Q4 2013 68 6.39 No

2014 330 6.43 No 23
2015 226 6.31 No 53
2016 200 6.02 No 30

Basis Protection Swaps

2013 44 0.21 No

2014 28 0.32 No

2015 31 0.34 No

20162022 1.02 No

Total Natural Gas 231
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Weighted Average Price Designated Fair

Volume Fixed Call Differential Hedge Value

mmbbl per bbl in millions

Oil

Swaps

Qi 2013 5.9 95.79 No 20

Q2 2013 6.9 95.95 No 17

03 2013 7.0 95.88 No 15

04 2013 6.9 95.83 No 18

20142015 1.4 90.11 No

Call Options sold

Qi 2013 4.8 94.74 No 17
Q2 2013 4.8 94.74 No 30
Q3 2013 4.9 94.74 No 39
Q4 2013 4.9 94.74 No 44
2014 16.9 96.92 No 152
2015 24.7 100.45 No 225
2016 18.9 104.71 No 158
2017 5.3 83.50 No 86

Call Options bought
QI 2013 2.3 90.80 No

Q2 2013 2.3 90.80 No

03 2013 2.3 90.80 No

04 2013 2.3 90.80 No

2014 2.2 94.91 No

Basis Protection Swaps

2013 5.5 13.20 No

Call Swaptions

2014 2.9 106.69 No

2015 2.4 106.61 No

Total Oil 693
Total Natural Gas and Oil 924

Included in the fair value are deferred premiums of $11 million $41 million $82 million and $84 million which we

will realize in 2013 2014 2015 and 2016 respectively

Included in the fair value are deferred premiums of $81 million and $19 million which we will realize in 2013 and

2014 respectively
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In addition to the open derivative positions disclosed above at December31 2012 we had $171 million of net

hedging gains related to settled trades for future production periods that will be recorded within natural gas oil and

NGL sales as realized gains losses as they are transferred from either accumulated other comprehensive income

or unrealized gains losses in the month of related production based on the terms specified in the original contract as

noted below

December 31
2012

in millions

Qi 2013
16

Q22013

Q32013
31

Q42013
22

2014
165

2015
216

20162022
16

Total
171

The table below reconciles the changes in fair value of our natural gas oil and NGL derivatives during the years

ended December 31 20122011 and 2010 Of the $924 million fair value liability as of December31 2012 $48 million

related to contracts maturing in the next 12 months and $876 milJion related to contracts maturing after 12 months All

open derivative instruments as of December31 2012 are expected to mature by December 31 2022

2012 2011 2010

in millions

Fair value of contracts outstanding as of January 1639 649 21

Change in fair value of contracts
657 664 995

Fair value of new contracts when entered into 174 347 581

Contracts realized or otherwise settled 72 478 1691

Fair value of contracts when closed 44 829 607

Fair value of contracts outstanding as of December 31 924 639 649

The change in natural gas oil and NGL prices during the year ended December31 2012 decreased the liability

of our derivative instruments by $657 million This gain is recorded in natural gas oil and NGL sales We entered into

new contracts which were in an asset position of $174 million We settled contracts that were in an asset position for

$72 million and we closed out contracts that were in an asset position for $44 million The realized gain is recorded in

natural gas oil and NGL sales in the month of related production

Pursuant to abcounting guidance for derivatives and hedging certain derivatives qualify for designation as cash

flow hedges Following these provisions changes in the fair value of derivative instruments designated as cash flow

hedges to the extent they are effective in offsetting cash flows attributable to the hedged risk are recorded in

accumulated other comprehensive income until the hedged item is recognized in earnings as the physical transactions

being hedged Occur Any changein fair value resulting from ineffectiveness is recognized in natural gas oil and NGL

sales as unrealized gains losses Realized gains losses consist of settled contracts related to the production periods

being reported Unrealized gains losses consist of both temporary fluctuations in the mark-to-market values and

settled values related to future production periods of derivatives not designated as cash flow hedges As of

December31 2012 we did not have any natural gas or oil derivatives that were designated as cash flow hedges
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Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

in millions

5359 5259

358 1554

561 782

Interest Rate Risk

The table below presents principal cash flows and related weighted average interest rates by expected maturity
dates

Years of Maturity

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Thereafter Total

in millions

1661 2282 6240 $10647

7.89% 4.40% 6.44% 6.28%

This amount does not include the discount included in debt of $425 million and interest rate derivatives of$20
million

This amount does not include the discount included in debt of $40 million

Changes in interest rates affect the amount of interest we earnon our cash cash equivalents and short-term

investments and the interest rate we pay on borrowings under our revolving bank credit facilities All of our other

indebtedness is fixed rate and therefore does not expose us to the risk of fluctuations in earnings or cash flow due
to changes in market interest rates However changes in interest rates do affect the fair value of our fixed-rate debt

Interest Rate Derivatives

To mitigate portion of our exposure to volatility in interest rates related to our senior notes and credit facilities

we enter into interest rate derivatives As of December 31 2012 our interest rate derivative instruments consisted of

one type of instrument

Swaps Chesapeake enters into fixed-to-floating interest rate swaps we receive fixed interest rate and

pay floating market rate to mitigate our exposure to changes in the fair value of our senior notes We enter

into floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps we receive floating market rate and pay fixed interest rate to

manage our interest rate exposure related to our bank creditfacility borrowings

The components of natural gas oil and NGL sales for 2012 2011 and 2010 are presented below

Natural gas oil and NGL sales

Realized gains losses on natural gas oil and NGL derivatives

Unrealized gains losses on natural gas oil and NGL derivatives

Unrealized gains losses on ineffectiveness of cash flow hedges

Total natural gas oil and NGL sales 6278

4248

2056

634

6024

23
5647

Liabilities

Debt fixed ratea

Average interest rate

464

7.63%

Debt variable rate

Average interest rate

418

2.95%

2000

5.75%

2418

5.27%
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As of December 31 2012 the following interest rate derivatives were outstanding

Notional Fair Value Net

Amount Fixed FIoating Hedge Premiums Fair Value

in millions
in millions

Month LIBOR has been abbreviated mL and basis points has been abbreviated bp

In addition to the open derivative positions disclosed above at December 31 2012 we had $75 million of net

gains related to settled derivative contracts that will be recorded within interest expense as realized gains losses as

they are transferred from either our senior note liability or unrealized interest expense gains losses over the next

nine-year term of the related senior notes

Gains or losses from interest rate derivative transactions are reflected as adjustments to interest expense on the

consolidated statements of operations The components of interest expense forthe years ended December 31 2012

2011 and 2010 are presented below

Interest expense on senior notes

Interest expense on credit facilities

Interest expense on term loans

Realized gains losses on interest rate derivatives

Unrealized gains losses on interest rate derivatives

Amortization of loan discount issuance costs and other

Capitalized interest

Total interest expense ___________

Foreign Currency Derivatives

In December 2006 we issued 600 million of 6.25% Euro-denominated Senior Notes due 2017 Concurrent with

the issuance of the euro-denominated senior notes we entered into cross currency swaps to mitigate our exposure

to fluctuations in the euro relative to the dollar over the term of the notes In May 2011 we purchased and subsequently

retired 256 million in aggregate principal amount of these senior notes following tender offer and we simultaneously

unwound cross currency swaps for the same principal
amount As result we reclassified loss of $38 million from

accumulated other comprehensive income to the consolidated statement of operations $20 million of which related

to the unwound notional amount and was included in losses on purchases or exchanges of debt and $18 million of

which related to future interest associated with the unwound principal and was included in interest expense Under

the terms of the remaining cross currency swaps on each semi-annual interest payment date the counterparties pay

Chesapeake 11 million and Chesapeake pays the counterparties $17 million which yields an annual dollar-equivalent

interest rate of 7.491% Upon maturity of the notes the counterparties will pay Chesapeake 344 million and

Chesapeake will pay the counterparties $459 million The terms of the cross currency swaps were based on the dollar

euro exchange rate on the issuance date of $1 .3325 to 1.00 Through the cross currency swaps we have eliminated

any potential variability in Chesapeakes expected cash flows related to changes in foreign exchange rates and therefore

the swaps are designated as cash flow hedges The fair values of the cross currency swaps are recorded on the

consolidated balance sheet as liability of $20 million at December 31 2012 The euro-denominated debt in long-

term debt has been adjusted to $454 million at December31 2012 using an exchange rate of $1 .3193 to 1.00

Weighted

Ave rige Rate

Floating to Fixed

Swaps

Mature2Ol420l5 1050 2.13% 16mL No 35
35

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

in millions

.732 .653 718

70 70 61

173

89 39

980 732
77 44

14
66

36

716
19

79



ITEM Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION

Page
Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 81

Consolidated Financial Statements

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
82

Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31 2012 and 2011 83

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended
December 31 2012 2011 and 2010

84

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the Years Ended
December3l2012 2011 and2OlO

85

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended
December 3120122011 and 2010

86

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders Equity for the Years Ended
December3l2012 2011 and2O1O

88

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
90

Financial Statement Schedule

Schedule II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
173

80



MANAGEMENTS REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

It is the responsibility of the management of Chesapeake Energy Corporation to establish and maintain adequate

internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rule 3a-1 5f under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Management utilized the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission Internal Control-

Integrated Framework COSO framework in conducting the required assessment of effectiveness of the Company

internal control over financial reporting

Management has performed an assessment of the effectiveness of the Companys internal control over financial

reporting and has determined the Companys internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December31

2012

The effectiveness of the Companys internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2012 has been

audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers -LLP an independent registered public accounting firm as stated in -its report

which appears herein

Is AUBREY MCCLEN DON

Aubrey McClendon

President and Chief Executive Officer

Is DOMENIC DELLOSSO JR

Domenic DellOsso Jr

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of ChesapeakeEnergy Corporation

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying index present fairly in all material

respects the financial position of Chesapeake Energy Corporation and its subsidiaries at December 31 2012 and

2011 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December
31 2012 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America In addition in

our opinion the financial statement schedule listed in the accompanying index presents fairly in all material respects
the information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements Also in

our opinion the Company maintained in all material respects effective internal control over financial reporting as of

December31 2012 based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee

of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO The Companys management is responsible for

these financial statements and financial statement schedule for maintaining effective internal control over financial

reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in

Managements Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting Our responsibility is to express opinions on these
financial statements on the financial statement schedule and on the Companys internal control overfinancial reporting
based on our integrated audits We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain

reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective

internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our audits of the financial statements

included examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements

assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management and evaluating the overall

financial statement presentation Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an

understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that material weakness exists and testing
and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk Our audits also

included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We believe that our

audits provide reasonable basis for our opinions

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles Acompanys internal control overfinancial reporting includes

those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and

fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company ii provide reasonable assurance that

transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance

with authorizations of management and directors of the company and iii provide reasonable assurance regarding

prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the companys assets that could have

material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control overfinancial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements

Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate

1sf PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Tulsa Oklahoma

March 12013
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CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December31

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents $1 and $1 attributable to our VIEs

Restricted cash

Accounts receivable

Short-term derivative assets

Deferred income tax asset ..

Other current assets

Current assets held for sale ______________

Total Current Assets ______________

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Natural gas and oil properties at cost based on full cost accounting

Evaluated natural gas and oil properties $488 and $498 attributable to our VIEs

Unevaluated properties

Natural gas gathering systems and treating plants

Oilfield services equipment

Other property and equipment _____________

Total Property and Equipment at Cost ____________

Less accumulated depreciation depletion and amortization $58 and $6 attributable to

our VIEs

Property and equipment held for sale net

Total Property and Equipment Net ____________

LONG-TERM ASSETS
Investments

Long-term derivative assets

Other long-term assets _____________

TOTAL ASSETS __________
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable

Short-term derivative liabilities $4 and $9 attributable to our VIEs

Accrued interest

Current maturities of long-term debt net

Other current liabilities $21 and $23 attributable to our VIEs

Current liabilities held for sale ______________

Total Current Liabilities _____________

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Long-term debt net

Deferred income tax liabilities

Long-term derivative liabilities $3 and $10 attributable to our VIEs

Asset retirement obligations

Other long-term liabilities
______________

Total Long Term Liabilities _____________

CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS Note

EQUITY

Chesapeake Stockholders Equity

Preferred stock $0.01 par value 20000000 shares authorized

7251515 shares outstanding

Common stock $0.01 par value 1000000000 shares authorized

666467664 and 660888159 shares issued

Paidin capital

Retained earnings

Accumulated other comprehensive income loss

Less treasury stock at cost 2147724 and 1552533 common shares _____________

Total Chesapeake Stockholders Equity ____________

Noncontrolling interests _____________

Total Equity _____________

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

2012 2011

in millions

287

111

2245
58

90

153

2948

351

44

2505
13

139

125

3177

50172 41723

14755 16685

1455

2130 1632

3778 3555

70835 65050

34302 28290

634

37167 36760

728

766

41611

1531

367

41835

1710 .$ 3311

105 191

226 183

463

3741 3397
21

6266 7082

12157 10626

2807 3484
934 1541

375 323

1176 818

17449 16792

3062 3062

12293 12146

437 1608

182 166

48 33
15569 16624

2327 1337

17896 17961

41611 41835

The accompanying notes are anintegral part of these consolidated financial statements
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CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

in millions except per share data

REVENUES

Natural gas oil and NGL 6278

Marketing gathering and compression 5431

Oilfield services 607
__________

Total Revenues 12316
________ ________

OPERATING EXPENSES

Natural gas oil and NGL production 1304

Production taxes 188

Marketing gathering and compression 5312

Oilfield services 465

General and administrative 535

Natural gas oil and NGL depreciation depletion and amortization 2507

Depreciation and amortization of other assets 304

Impairment of natural gas and oil properties 3315

Net gains on sales of fixed assets 267
Impairments of fixed assets and other 340

Employee retirement and other termination benefits

Total Operating Expenses 14010
_________ _________

INCOME LOSS FROM OPERATIONS 1694 ________ ________
OTHER INCOME EXPENSE

Interest expense

Earnings losses on investments

Gains on sales of investments

Losses on purchases or exchanges of debt

Impairments of investments

Other income

Total Other Income Expense

INCOME LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAXES

INCOME TAX EXPENSE BENEFIT
Current income taxes 47

Deferred income taxes 427
__________ __________

Total Income Tax Expense Benefit 380
__________ __________

NET INCOME LOSS 594
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 175 _________ _________

NET INCOME LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO CHESAPEAKE 769
Preferred stock dividends 171 _________ _________

NET INCOME LOSS AVAILABLE TO COMMON STOCKHOLDERS 940
________ ________

EARNINGS LOSS PER COMMON SHARE

Basic 1.46
Diluted 1.46

CASH DIVIDEND DECLARED PER COMMON SHARE 0.35

WEIGHTED AVERAGE COMMON AND COMMON EQUIVALENT
SHARES OUTSTANDING in millions

Basic

Diluted

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

in millions

NET INCOME LOSS 594 1757 1774

Other comprehensive income loss net of income tax

Unrealized gain loss on derivative instruments net of income

taxes of $4 million $137 million and $129 million

Reclassification of gain on settled derivative instruments net of

income taxes of $10 million $139 million and $298 million

Ineffective portion of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges
net of income taxes of $0 $3 million and $9 million

Unrealized gain loss on investments net of income taxes of $4
million $1 million and $3 million

Other comprehensive income loss

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME LOSS
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO

NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO

CHESAPEAKE

224 212

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASHFLOWS

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

NET INCOME LOSS
ADJUSTMENTS TO RECONCILE NET INCOME LOSS TO CASHPROVIDED BY

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Depreciation depletion and amortization

Deferred income tax expense benefit

Unrealized gains losses on derivatives

Stock-based compensation

Gains on sales of fixed assets

Impairments of fixed assets and other

Impairment of natural gas and oil properties

Gains losses on investments 164

Gains on sales of investments

Impairment of investments

Losses on purchases or exchanges of debt

Other

Increase in accounts receivable and other assets

Increase decrease in accounts payable accrued liabilities and other

Cash provided by operating activities
__________

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Drilling and completion costs

Acquisitions of proved and unproved properties

Proceeds from divestitures of proved and unproved properties

Additions to other property and equipment

Proceeds from sales of other assets

Proceeds from additions to investments

Proceeds from sale of midstream investment

Acquisition of drilling company

Increase in restricted cash

Other
_________

Cash used in investing activities
__________

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from credit facilities borrowings

Payments on credit facilities borrowings

Proceeds from issuance of term loans net of discount and offering costs

Proceeds from issuance of senior notes net of discount and offering costs

Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock net of offering costs

Cash paid to purchase debt

Cash paid for common stock dividends

Cash paid for preferred stock dividends

Cash paid received on financing derivatives

Proceeds from sales of noncontrolling interests

Proceeds from other financings

Distributions to noncontrolling interest owners

Net increase decrease in outstanding payments in excess of cash balance

Other
_________ _________

Cash provided by financing activities
__________ __________

Net increase decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of period
__________ __________

Cash and cash equivalents end of period
__________ __________

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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2012 2011 2010
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CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS Continued

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

in millions

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION OF NET CASH
PAYMENTS REFUNDS FOR

Interest net of capitalized interest 11

Income taxes net of refunds received 44 25 291

SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE OF SIGNIFICANT NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Dividends payable on our common and preferred stock were $101 million $99 million and $90 million as of

December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

In 2012 2011 and 2010 natural gas and oil properties decreased by $75 million and increased by $176 million

and $161 million respectively as result of an increase or decrease in accrued acquisition drilling and completion

costs

In 2012 2011 and 2010 other property and equipment decreased by $25 million increased by $64 million and

decreased by$1 million respectively as result of an increase or decrease in accrued costs

As of December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 we recorded $242 million $81 million and $371 million respectively

of various liabilities related to the purchase of proved and unproved properties and other assets

In 2011 we sold wholly owned midstream subsidiary to our former 46% owned affiliate Chesapeake Midstream

Partners L.P now named Access Midstream Partners L.P NYSEACMP for total consideration of $879 million

including cash of $600 million and 9791605 common units of ACMP that had value at tosing of $279 million See

Note 11 for further discussion of this transaction

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OFSTOCKHOLDERS EQUITY
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

in millions

PREFERRED STOCK

Balance beginning of period 3062 3065 466

Issuance of and 1500000 shares of 5.75% preferred stock 1500

Issuance of and 1100000 shares of 5.75% preferred stock Series 1100

Conversion of 3000 and 5000 shares of preferred stock for common
stock

Balance end of period 3062 3062 3065

COMMON STOCK

Balance beginning of period

Stock-based compensation

Balance end of period

PAID-IN CAPITAL

123

12
30 26

48
15

Balance beginning of period

Stock-based compensation

Exchange of convertible notes for and 298500 shares of bommon
stock

Conversion of preferred stock for 111111 and 20774 shares of common
stock

Purchase of contingent convertible notes

Offering/transaction expenses

Reduction in tax benefit from stock-based compensation

Dividends on common stock

Dividends on preferred stock

Exercise of stock options

Balance end of period

RETAINED EARNINGS

Balance beginning of period

Net income loss attributable to Chesapeake

Cumulative effect of accounting change net of income taxes of $0 $0 and

$89 million

Dividends on common stock

Dividends on preferred stock

Balance end of period

ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME LOSS
Balance beginning of period

Hedging activity

Investment activity

Balance end of period

168 102

265

168
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CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

in millions

TREASURY STOCK COMMON

Balance beginning of period 33 24 15

Purchase of 652 443 425 140 and 351 163 shares for company benefit

plans
16 11

Release of 57252 93906 and 7069 shares from company benefit plans

Balance end of period 48 33 24

TOTAL CHESAPEAKE STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY 15569 16624 15264

NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS

Balance beginning of period
337 897

Sales of noncontrolling interests 077 340

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 175 15

Distributionsto noncontrolling interest owners 218 18

Deconsolidation of investments net 44 897

Balance end of period
327 337

TOTAL EQUITY 17896 17961 15264

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTESTO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Unaudited

Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Description of Company

Chesapeake Energy Corporation Chesapeake or the Company is natural gas and oil exploration and

production company engaged in the exploration development and acquisition of properties for the production of natural

gas oil and natural gas liquids NGL from underground reservoirs We also provide substantial marketing drilling and

other olifield services Our operations are located ônshorØ and in the continental United States

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Chesapeake include the accounts of ourdirect and indirect

wholly owned subsidiaries and entities in which Chesapeake holds controlling interest Chesapeake consolidates

subsidiaries in which it holds directly or indirectly more than 50% of the voting rights and variable interest entities

VIEs in which Chesapeake is the primary beneficiary We use the equity method of accounting to record our net

interests where Chesapeake holds 20% to 50% of the voting rights and/or has the ability to exercise significant influence

Under the equity method our share of net income loss is included in our consolidated statements of operations

according to our equity ownership or according to the terms of the applicable governing instrument Investments in

securities not accounted for under the equity method have been designated as available-for-sale and as such are

carried atfair value whenever this value is readily determinable Otherwise the investment is carried at cost.See Note

12 for further discussion of investments All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated

Undivided interests in natural gas and oil exploration and production joint ventures are consolidated on proportionate

basis

Variable Interest Entities

An entity is referred to as VIE pursuant to accounting guidance for consolidation if it possesses one of the

following criteria it is thinly capitalized ii the residual equity holders do not control the entity iiithe equity holders

are shielded from the economic losses iv the equity holders do not participate fully in the entitys residual economics
or the entity was established with non-substantive voting interests We consolidate VIE when we have both the

power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the activities of the VIE and the right to receive benefits or

the obligation to absorb losses of the entity that could be potentially significant to the VIE Along with the VIEs that are

consolidated in accordance with these guidelines we also hold variable interests in other VI Es that are not consolidated

because we are not the primary beneficiary We continually monitor both consolidated and unconsolidated VIEs to

determine if any events have occurred that could cause the primary beneficiary to change See Note 13 for further

discussion of VIEs

Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires

management to make estimates and assumptions that affectthe reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure

of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and

expenses during the reporting periods Actual results could differ from those estimates

Estimates of natural gas and oil reserves and their values future production rates and future costs and expenses
are the most significant of our estimates The accuracy of any reserve estimate is function of the quality of data

available and of engineering and geological interpretation and judgment In addition estimates of reserves may be

revised based on actual production results of subsequent exploration and development activities recent commodity

prices operating costs and other factors These revisions may be material and could materially affect our financial

statements The volatility of commodity prices results in increased uncertainty inherent in such estimates and

assumptions further decline in natural gas or NGL prices or significant decline in oil prices could result in actual

results differing significantly from our estimates
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Cortinued

Risks and Uncertainties

Our business strategy is to continue growing our reserves and production and transitioning from an asset base

primarily focused on natural gas to an asset base more balapced between natural gas and liquids production This is

capital-intensive strategy and we made capital expenditures in 2012 that exceeded our cash flow from operations

filling
the gap with borrowings and proceeds from sales of assets that we determined were non-core or did not fit our

long-term plans See Note 11 for description of our 2012 asset sales We project that our capital expenditures will

continue to exceed our operating cash flow in 2013 although by significantly smaller amount Our 2013 capital

expenditure budget is approximately 50% less than our 2012 capital expenditures and as operator of substantial

portion of our natural gas and oil properties under development we have significant control and flexibility over the

development plan and the associated timing enabling us to expeditiously reduce at least portion of our capital

spending if needed To add certainty to future estimated cash flows by mitigating our downside exposure to lower

commodity prices we currently have downside hedge protection on approximately 50% of our 2013 estimated natural

gas production at price of $3.62 per mcf and 85% of our 2013estimated oil production at price of $95.45 per bbl

allowing us to reduce the effectof price volatility on our cash flows and earnings before interest taxes depreciation

depletion and amortization EBITDA ased on these and other factors we believe we have adequate borrowing

capacity through our current credit arrangements together with anticipated proceeds from transactions subject to

binding agrŁemeæts to sell non-coreassets to make up the difference between our budgeted capital expenditures and

cash flow from operations in 2013

As part of our asset sales planning and capital expenditure budgeting process we closely monitor the resulting

effects on the amounts and timing of our sources and uses of funds particularly as they affect our ability to maintain

compliance with the financial covenants of our corporate revolving bank credit facility While asset sales enhance our

ability to reduce debt sales of producing natural gas and oil properties may adversely affect the amount of cash flow

and EBITDA we generate and reduce the amount and value of collateral available to secure our obligations both of

which can be exacerbated by low prices received for our production In September 2012 we obtained an amendment

to our revolving bank credit facility agreement that relaxed the required indebtedness to EBITDA ratio for the quarter

ended September 30 2012 and the four subsequent quarters We would have been Unable to meet the required ratio

as of September 30 2012 without this amendment primarily because the closing of certain asset sales transactions

occurred in the fourth quarter and not in September as we had anticipated As result without the amendment we

would have been unable to reduce our indebtedness sufficiently as ofSeptember 30 2012 to maintain our covenant

compliance Failure to maintain compliance with the covenants of our revolvingbank credit facility could result in the

acceleration of outstanding indebtedness under the facility and lead to cross defaults under our senior note and

contingent convertible senior note indentures hedge facility equipment master lease arrangemehts and term loan

See Note for further discussion of our debt instruments including the terms of the credit facility amendment Based

on reductions in our budgeted capital expenditures expected commodity prices including the prices for our currently

hedgedproduction our forecasted drilling and production projected levels of indebtedness and binding purchase and

sale agreements for certain future asset sales we expect we will be in compliance with the financial maintenance

covenants of our corporate revolving bank credit facilitythrough 2013 We believe the assumptions underlying our

budget for this period are reasonable and that we have adequate flexibility including the ability to adjust discretionary

capital expenditures to adapt to potential negative developments if needed to maintain covenant compliance

Natural gas prices reached 10-year lows in 2012 and although our strategic focus on increasing liquids production

is progressing and we have hedges in place covering approximately 50% of our projected 2013 natural gas productiOn

we continue to have significant exposure to natural gas prices Approximately 70% and 83% of our estimated proved

reserves volumes as of December 31 2012 and December 31 2011 respectively were natural gas and natural gas

represented approximately 80% and 84% of our natural gas oil and NGL sales volumes for 2012 and 2011 respectively

In 2012 we reduced our estimate of proved reserves by 3.1 tcfe or 17% primarily due to the impact of downward

natural gas price revisions Natural gas prices used in estimating proved reserves at December 31 2012 and 2011

decreased by 33% from $4.12 per mcf to $2.76 per mcf causing the loss of significant proved undeveloped reserves

for which future development is uneconomic As result of lower estimated reserves in the 2012 third quarter we

were required to impairthe carrying value of our natural gas and oil properties and we could have additional impairments

in the future See Natural Gas and Oil Properties below for further discussion of our impairment of the carrying value

of our natural gas and oil properties in 2012
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

We believe we have taken appropriate measures to mitigate the risks and uncertainties facing us in 2013

Nevertheless our ability to generate operating cash flow and close asset sales in order to manage debt is subject to

all the risks and uncertainties that exist in our industry some of which we may not be able to änticipateat this time

We do not have binding agreements for all of our planned asset sales and our ability to consummate each of these

transactions is subject to changes in market conditions- and other factors beyond our control If one or more of the

transactions is not completed in the anticipated time frame or at all or for less proceeds than anticipated our ability

to fund budgeted capital expenditures and reduce our indebtedness could be adversely affected Future impairments

of the carrying value of our natural gas and oil properties if any will be dependent on many factors including natural

gas oil and NGL prices production rates levels of reserves the evaluation of costs excluded from amortization the

timing and impact of asset sales future development costs and service costs

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

For purposes of the consolidated financial statements Chesapeake considers investments in all highly liquid

instruments with original maturities of three months or less at date of- purchase to be cash equivalents Restricted cash

consists of balances required to be maintained by the terms of the respective agreements governing the activities of

CHK Utica L.L.C CHK Utica and CHK Cleveland Tonkawa L.L.C CI-IK C-T For CHK Utica we must retain

minimum cash balance equal to two quarterly dividend payments In addition cash proceeds received fron CHK Utica

asset sales must be used to fund CHK Uticas capital expenditures or to redeem its preferred shares For CHK C-T
we must retain an amount of cash remeasured quarterly equal to the next two quarters of preferred dividend

payments plus ii the- projected operating funding shortfall for the next six months See -Note for further discussion

of these transactions --

Accounts Receivable

Our accounts receivable are primarily from purchasers of natural gas and oil and exploration and production

companies which own interests in properties we operate This industry concentration has the potential to impact our

overall exposure to credit risk either positively or negatively in that our customers and joint working interest owners

may be similarly affected by changes in economic industry or other conditions We monitor the creditworthiness of all

our counterparties and we generally require letters of credit or parent guarantees for receivables from parties which

are judged to have sub-standard credit unless the credit risk can otherwise be mitigated We utilize an allowance

method in accounting for bad debt based on historical trends in addition to specifically identifying receivables we believe

will be uncollectible During 2012 2011 and 2010 we recognized nominal amounts of bad debt expense related to

potentially uncollectible receivables Accounts receivable as of December31 2012 and 2011 are detailed below

December 31

2012 2011

--

in millions

Natural gas oil and NGL sales 457 089

Joint interest 592 1171

Oilfield services 24 43

Related parties 23 45

Other 168 176

Allowance for doubtful accounts 19 19
Total accounts receivable 2245 2505

See Note for discussion of related party transactions
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

Natural Gas and Oil Properties

Chesapeake follows the full cost method of accounting under which all costs associated with natural gas and oil

property acquisition exploration and development activities are capitalized We capitahze internal costs that can be

directly identified with our acquisition exploration and development activities and do not include any costs related to

production general corporate overhead or similar activities see Note 10 Capitalized costs are amortized on

composite unit-of-production method based onproved natural gas and oil reserves Estimates of our proved reserves

as of December 31 2012 were prepared by both third-party engineering firms and Chesapeakes internal staff

Approximately 89% of these proved reserves estimates by volume as of December 31 2012 were prepared by

independent engineering firms In addition our internal engineers review and update our reserves on quarterly basis

The average composite rates used for depreciation depletion and amortization of natural gas and oil properties were

$1.76 per mcfe in 2012 $1.37 per mcfe in 2011 and $1.35 per mcfe in 2010

Proceeds from the sale of natural gas and oil properties are accounted for as reductions of capitalized costs

unless such sales involve significant change in proved reserves and significantly alter the relationship between costs

and proved reserves in which case gain or loss is recognized

The costs of unproved properties are excluded from amortization until the properties are evaluated We review

all of our unevaluated properties quarterly to determine whether or not and to what extentproved reserves have been

assigned to the properties and otherwise if impairment has occurred Unevaluated properties are grouped by major

prospect area where individual property costs are not significant In addition we analyze our unevaluated leasehold

and transfer to evaluated properties leasehold that can be associated with reserves leasehold that expired in the

quarter or leasehold that is not part of our development strategy and will be abandoned As our strategic focus is

shifting from natural gas asset base to more balanced natural gas and liquids asset base and asour budgeted

capital expenditures were being reduced in 2012 we identified undeveloped leasehold having cost of $1 .684billion

that would not be part of our development strategy going forward Theacreage was primarily located in the Williston

and DJ Basins as well as other non-core leasehold located throughout our operating areas

The table below sets forth the cost of unproved properties excluded from the amortization base as of December 31
2012 and notes the year in which the associated costs were incurred

Year of Acquisition

2012 2011 2010 Prior Total

in millions

Leasehold acquisition cost 1826 2732 3519 3325 11402

Exploration cost 213 176 42 431

Capitalized interest 810 424 312 376 1922

Total 3849 3332 3873 3701 14755

We also review on quarterly basis the carrying value of our natural gas and oil properties under the full cost

accounting rules of the SEC This quarterly review is referred to as ceiling test Under the ceiling test capitalized

costs less accumulated amortization and related deferred income taxes may not exceed an amount equal to the sum
of the present value of estimated future net revenues adjusted for natural gas and oil cash flow hedges less estimated

future expenditures to be incurred in developing and producing the proved reserves less any related income tax effects

In 2012 capitalized costs of natural gas and oil properties exceeded the estimated present value calculation of future

net revenues from our proved reserves net of related income tax considerations resulting in an impairment in the

carrying value of natural gas and oil properties in the201 third quarterof $331 billion For the ceiling test calculation

costs used are those as of the end of the appropriate quarterlyperiod In calculating estimated future net revenues

currentprices are calculatedas the unweighted arithmetic average of natural gas and oil prices on the first day of each

month within the 2-month period prior to the ending date of the quarterly period Such prices are utilized except where

different prices are fixed and determinable from applicable contracts for the remaining term of those contracts including

the effects of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges Cash flow hedges locked in prior to September 30 2012

relating to future production periods increased the 2012 third quarter ceiling test impairment by $279 million As of

December 31 2012 none of our open derivative instruments were designated as cash flow hedges Our natural gas
and oil hedging activities are discussed in Note of these consolidated financial statements See Risks and Uncertainties

above for discussion of the reduction in our estimated proved reserves in 2012 and factors that could impact future

ceiling test impairment
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Two primary factors impacting the ceiling test are reserves levels and natural gas oil and NGL prices and their

associated impact on the present value of estimated future net revenues Revisions to estimates of natural gas and

oil reserves and/or an extended increase or decrease in prices can have material impact On the present value of

estimated future net revenues Any excess of the net book value less deferred income taxes is written off as an

expense

We account for seismic costs in accordance with Rule 4-10 of Regulation S-X Specifically Rule 4-10 requires

that all companies thatuse the full cost method capitalize exploration costs as part of their natural gas and oil properties

i.e full cost pool Exploration costs may be incurred both before acquiring the related property and after acquiring

the property Further exploration costs include among other things geological and geophysicaistudjes and salaries

and other expenses of geologists geophysical crews and others conducting those studies Such costs are capitalized

as incurred The Company reviews its unproved properties and associated seismic costs quarterly in order to ascertain

whether impairment has occurred To the extent that seismic costs cannot be directly associated with specific

unevaluated properties they are included in the amortization base as incurred

Other Property and Equipment

Other property and equipment consists primarily of oilfield services equipment including drilling rigs rental tools

hydraulic fracturing and mining equipment natural gas compressors land buildings and improvements vehicles office

equipment natural gas gathering systems and treating plants The majority of.our natural gas gathering systems and

treating plants were sold in 2012 as discussed in Note 11 to these consolidated financial statements Major renewals

and betterments are capitalized while the costs of repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as incurred The

costs of assets retired or otherwise disposed of and the applicable accumulated depreciation are removed from the

accounts and the resulting gain or loss is reflected in operating costs See Note 14 forfurther discussion of our gains

and losses on the sales of other property and equipment Other property and equipment costs excluding land are

depreciated on straight-line basis summary of our other property and equipment held for sale as of December31

2012 is summarized in Held for Sale Assets and Liabilities below summary of other property and equipment held

for use and the useful lives is as follows

December 31 Useful

2012 2011 Life

in millions in years

Oilfield services equipment 2130 1632 3-15

Natural gas gathering systems and treating plants 1455 20

Buildings and improvements 1580 1202 10 39

Natural gas compressors
505 303 20

Land 515 926

Other 1178 1124 2-20

Total other property and equipment at cost 5908 6642

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 1293 1082

Total other property and equipment net 4615 5560

Realization of the carrying value of other property and equipment is reviewed for possible impairment whenever

events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable Assets are determined

to be impaired if forecast of undiscounted estimated future net operating cash flows directly related to the asset

including disposal value if any is less than the carrying amount of the asset If any asset is determined to be impaired

the loss is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value An estimate of

fair value is based on the best information available including prices for similarassets and discounted cash flow We

determined that certain of our property plantS and equipment were being carried at values that were not recoverable

and in excess of fair value As result we iecognized impairments of $340 million $46 million and $21 million in 2012

2011 and 2010 respectively See Note 14for further discussion of these impairments

Noncontrolling Interests

Noncontrolling.interests represent third-party equity ownership in certain of our consolidated subsidiaries VIEs

or our investments and are presented as component of equity See Note for further discussion of noncontroiling

interests
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Capitalized Interest

During 2012 2011 and 2010 interest of approximately $976 million $727 million and $711.million respectively

was capitalized on significant investments in unproved properties that were not being currently depreciated depleted

or amortized and on which exploration activities were in progress The increase in 2012 compared to 2011 was primarily

the result of capitaizing additional interest on senior notes and term loans issued in 2012 Additional interest of $4

million $6 million and $5 million was capitalized in 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively on midstream and oilfield services

assets which were under construction Interest is capitalized using weighted average interest rate based on our

outstanding borrowings

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price of business combination over the fair value of the net

assets acquired and is tested for impairment at least annually Such test includes an assessment of qualitative and

quantitative factors The impairment test requires allocating goodwill and all other assets and liabilities to assigned

reporting units The fair value of each reporting unit is estimated and compared to the net book value of the reporting

unit If the estimated fair value of the reporting unit is less than the net book value including goodwill then the goodwill

is written down to the implied fair value of the goodwill through charge to expense

Chesapeakes $43 million of goodwill as of December 31 2012 consists of the excess consideration over the fair

value of assets acquired of $28 million in the Bronco Drilling Company acquisition and $15 million in the Horizon Drilling

Services acquisition Quoted market prices are not available for these reporting units and their fair values are based

upon several valuation analyses including discounted cash flows

We performed annual impairment tests of goodwill in the fourth quarters of 2012 and 2011 Based on these

assessments no impairment of goodwill was required Our goodwill is included in our oilfield services segment

Accounts Payable and Other current Liabilities

Included in accounts payable as of December31 2012 and 2011 are liabilities of approximately $432 million and

$604 million respectively representing the amount by which checks issued but not yet presented to our banks for

collection exceeded balances in applicable bank accounts Other current liabilities as of December 31 2012 and 2011

are detailed below

December 31

2012 2011

in millions

Revenues and royalties due others 1337 1090

Accrued natural gas oil and NGL drilling and production costs 525 .590

Accrued acquisition costs 242 81

Joint interest prepayments received 749 865

Accrued payroll and benefits 224 199

Accrued dividends 101 99

Other 563 473

Total other current liabilities 3741 3397
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Other Long-Term Liabilities

Other long-term liabilities as of December 31 2012 and 2011 are detailed below

December 31

2012 2011

in millions

CHK Utica ORRI conveyanceobligation 275 290

CHK C-T ORRI conveyance obligation 164

Financing lease obligations 143 143

Mortgages payable 56 56

Other 538 329

Total other long-term liabilities 1176 818

$18 million and $10 million of the total $293 million and $300 million obligations are recorded in other current

liabilities as of December 31 2012 and December 31 2011 respectively See Note for further discussion of the

transaction

$14 million ofthetotal $178 million obligation is recorded in othercurrentliabilitiesasofDecember3l 2012 See

Note for further discussion of the transaction

In 2009 we financed 113 real estate surface assets in the Barnett Shale area for approximately $145 million and

entered into 40-year master lease agreement under which we agreed to lease the sites for approximately $15

million to $27 million annually This lease transaction was recorded as financing lease and the cash received

was recorded with an offsetting long-term liability on the consolidated balance sheet Chesapeake exercised its

option to repurchase two of the assets in 2010 and one of the assets in 2011 We anticipate making lease payments

related to these assets of approximately $15 million in 2013 $16 million in 2014 $17 million in 2015 $17 million

in 2016 $17 million in 2017 and $709 million in 2018 and beyond

In 2009 we financed our regional Barnett Shale headquarters building in Fort Worth Texas for net proceeds of

approximately $54 million with five-year promissory note which has floating rate of prime plus 275 basis points

At our option after June 2012 we could prepay the promissory note in full without penalty As of December 31

2012 our Barnett Shale headquarters building was classified as property and equipment held for sale on our

consolidated balance sheet Subsequent to December 31 2012 we prepaid in full the promissory note

Debt Issuance and Hedging Facility Costs

Included in other long-term assets are costs associated with the issuance of our senior notes and costs primarily

associated with our term loans revolving bank credit facilities and hedging facility The remaining unamortized issuance

costs at December31 2012 and 2011 totaled $182 million and $163 million respectively and are being amortized

over the life of the senior notes term loan revolving bank credit facilities or hedging facility using the effective interest

method

Asset Retirement Obligations

We recognize liabillties for retirement obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets that

result from the acquisition construction and development of the assets We recognize the fair value of liability for

retirement obligation in the period in which the liability is incurred For natural gas and oil properties this is the period

in which natural gas or oil well is acquired or drilled The liability is then accreted each period until the liability is

settled or the well is sold at which time the liability is removed The related asset retirement cost is capitalized as part

of the carrying amount of our natural gas and oil properties See Note 16 for further discussion of asset retirement

obligations
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Revenue Recognition

Natural Gas Oil and NGL Sales Revenue from the sale of natural gasoil and NGL is recognized when title

passes net of royalties due to third parties and gathering and transportation charges

Natural Gas Imbalances We follow the sales method of accoynting for our natural gas revenue whereby we

recognize sales revenue on all natural gas sold to our purchasers regardless of whether the sales are proportionate

to our ownership in the property An asset or liability is recognized to the extent that we have an imbalance in excess

of the remaining natural gas reserves on the underlying properties The natural gas imbalance liability net position as

of December 31 2012 and 2011 was $9 million and $8 million respectively

Marketing Gathering and Compression Sales Chesapeake takes title to the natural gas it purchases from other

working interest owners in operated wells at the terminus of gathering systems where applicable and delivers the

natural gas to third parties at which time revenues are recorded Chesapeakes results of operations related to its

natural gas and oil marketing activities are presented on gross basis because we act as principal rather than an

agent Gathering and compression revenues consist of fees billed to other interest owners in operated wells or third-

party producers for the gathering treating and compression of natural gas Revenues are recognized when the service

is performed and are based upon non-regulated rates and the related gathering treating and compression volumes

All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated

Oilfield Services Revenue Our oilfield services operating segment is responsible for contract drilling hydraulic

fracturing oilfield rentals oilfield trucking and other oilfield services operations for both Chesapeake-operated wells

and wells operated by third parties

Drilling We earn revenues by drilling oil and natural gas wells for our customers under daywork contracts We

recognize revenue on daywork contracts for the days cornçeted based on the dayrate specified in each

contract Payments received and costs incurred for mobilization services are recognized over the days of

actual mobilization

Hydraulic Fracturing We recognize revenue upon the completion of each fracturing stage We typically

complete one or more fracturing stages per day per active crew during the course of job stage is considered

complete when the customer requests or the job design dictates that pumping discontinue for that stage

Invoices typically include lUmp sum equipment charge determined by the rate per stage specified in each

contract and product charges for sand chemicals and other products actually consumed during the course of

providing our services

Oilfield Rentals We rent many types of oilfield equipment including drill pipe drill collars tubing blowout

preventers and frac and mud tanks and also provide air drilling services and services associated with the

transfer of fresh water to the wellsite We price our rentals and services by the day or hour based on the type

of equipment being rented and the service job performed and recognize revenue ratably over the term of the

rental

Oilfield Trucking Oilfield trucking provides rig relocation and logistics services as well as fluid handling services

Our trucks move drilling rigs crude oil other fluids and construction materials to and from the wellsites and

also transport produced water from the wellsites We price these services by the hour and recognize revenue

as services are performed

Other Operations We design engineer and fabricate natural gas compressor packages that we primarily sell

to Chesapeake We price our compression units based on certain specifications such as horsepower stages

and additional options We recognize revenue upon completion and transfer of ownership of the natural gas

compression unit

All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated

Derivatives

Chesapeake uses commodity price and financial risk management instruments to mitigate portion ofourexposure

to price fluctuations in natural gas oil and NGL prices and changes in interest rates and foreign exchange rates Results

of commodity derivative transactions are reflected in natural gas oil and NGL sales and results of interest rate and

foreign exchange rate derivative transactions are reflected in interest expense
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We have established the fair value of our derivative instruments utilizing established index prices volatility curves

and discount factors These estimates are compared to our counterparty values for reasonableness Derivative

transactions are subject to the risk that counterparties will be unable to meet their obligations Such non-performance

risk is considered in the valuation of our derivativeinstruments but to date has not had material impact on the values

of our derivatives The values we report in our financial statements are as of point in time and subsequently change

as these estimates are revised to reflect actual results changes in market conditions and other factors

Accounting guidance for derivative instruments and hedging activities establishes accounting and reporting

standards requiring that derivative instruments including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts

be recorded at fair value and included inthe consolidated balance sheet as assets or liabilities The accounting for

changes in the fair vatue of derivative instrument depends on the intended use of the derivative nd the resulting

designation which is established at the inception of derivative For derivative instruments designated as natural gas

and oil cash flow hedges changes in fair value to the extent the hedge is elTective are recognized in other

comprehensive income until the hedged item is recognized in earnings as natural gas and oil sales Any change in the

fair value resulting from ineffectiveness is recognized immediately in natural gas oil and NGL sales For interest rate

derivative instruments designated as fair value hedges changes in fair value are recorded on the consolidated balance

sheets as assets or liabilities and the debts
carrying valie amount is adjusted by the change in the fair value of the

debt subsequent to the initiation of the derivative Differences between the changes in the fair values of the hedged

item and the derivative instrument if any represent gains or losses on ineffectiveness and are reflected currently in

interest expense Hedge effectiveness is measured at least quarterly based on the relative changes in fair value

between the derivative contract and the hedged item over time Changes in fair value of contracts that do not qualify

as hedges or are not designated as hedges are recognized currently in earnings Cash settlements of our derivative

arrangements are generally classified as operating cash flows unless the derivative is deemed to contain for accounting

purposes significant financing element at contract inception in which case these cash settlements are classified as

financing cash flows in the accompanying consolidated statement of cash flows

Stock-Based Compensation

Chesapeake stock-based compensation program during 2012 2011 and 2010 consisted of restricted stock

issued to employees and non-employee directors Prior to 2006 we also issued stock options We recognize in our

financial statements the cost of employee services received in exchange for awards of equity instruments based on

the fair value of the equity instruments at the date of the grant This value is amortized over the vesting period which

is generally four years from the date of grant for employees and three years for non employee directors We utilized

the Black-Scholes option pricing model to measure the fair value of stock options To the extent compensation cost

relates to employees directly involved in natural gas and oil aoquisition divestiture exploration and development

activities such amounts are capitalized to natural gas and oil properties Amounts not capitalized to natural gas and

oil properties are recognized as general and administrative expenses natural gas oil and NGL production expenses

marketing gathering and compression expenses or oilfield services expenses

For the years ended December 3120122011 and 2010 we recorded the following stock-based compensation

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

in millions

Natural gas and oil properties 71 112 120

General and administrative expenses 71 92 84

Natural gas oil and NGL productionexpehses 24 33 35

Marketing gathering and compression expenses 15 17 18

Oilfield services expense 10 11

Total 191 265 266

Cash inflows resulting from tax deductions in excess of compensation expense recognized for stock options and

restricted stock are classified as financing cash inflows while reductions in benefits are classified as operating cash

outflows in our consolidated statements of cash flows For the years ended December31 2012 2011 and 2010 we

recognized reductions in tax benefits related to stock-based compensation of $30 million $26 million and $13 million

respectively
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Held for Sale Assets and Liabilities

We are currently pursuing the sale of our remaining midstream business and we expect to complete these sales

in the next 12 months The midstream business qualifiedas held for sale as of December 31 2012 and is reported

under our marketing gathering and compression operating segment In additionwØ are pursuing the sale within the

next 12 months of various other property and equipment including certain drilling rigs and land and buildings primarily

in the Fort Worth Texas area The drilling rigs are reported under our oilfield services operating segment and the land

and buildings are reported under our other operating segment Natural gas and oil properties that we intend to sell are

not presented as held for sale pursuant to the rules governing full cost accountiflg for oil and gas properties Asümmary

of the assets and liabilities held for sale on our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31 2012 is detailed below

December 31
2012

in millions

Accounts receivable

Current assets held for sale

Natural gas gathering systems and treating plants net of accumulated depreciation 352

Oilfield services equipment net of accumulated depreciation 27

Other property and equipmentnet of accumulated depreciation and amortization 255

Property and equipment held for sale net 634

Accounts payable

Accrued liabilities 17

Current liabilities held for sale 21

Subsequent to December31 2012 we sold eight rigs classified as held for sale assets as of December 31 2012

for proceeds of approximately $27 million

Rec/assifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to the consolidated financial statements for 2011 and 2010 to conform

to the presentation used for the 2012 consolidated financial statements
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Net Income Per Share

Accounting guidance for earnings per share EPS requires presentation of basic and diluted earnings per

share on the face of the statements of operations for all entities with complex capital structures as well as reconciliation

of the numerator and denominator of the basic and diluted EPS computations

For the year ended December31 2012 the following shares of unvested restricted stock and cumulative

convertible preferred stock and associated adjustments to net income consisting of dividends on such shares were

not included in the calculation of diluted EPS as the effect was antidilutive

Net Income

Adjustments Shares

in millions in millions

Year Ended December 31 2012

Common stock equivalent of our preferred stock outstanding

5.75% cumulative convertible preferred stock 86 56

5.75% cumulative convertible preferred stock series 63 39

5.00% cumulative convertible preferred stock series 2005B 10

4.50% cumulative convertible preferred stock 12

Unvested restricted stock

As result of the net loss to common stockholders for the year ended December 31 2012 basic weighted

average shares outstanding which is used in computing basic EPS and diluted weighted average shares outstanding

which is used in computing diluted EPS were 643 million shares The basic and diluted loss per common share was

$1.46
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For the years ended December31 2011 and 2010 all outstanding securities that were convertible into common

stock were included in the calculation of diluted EPS reconciliation of basic EPS and diluted EPS for 2011 and 2010

is as follows

For the Year Ended December 31 2011

Basic EPS

Effect of Dilutive Securities

Assumed conversion as of the beginning of the period

of preferred shares outstanding during the period

Common shares assumed issued for 5.75% cumulative

convertible preferred stock

Common shares assumed issued for 5.75% cumulative

convertible preferred stock series

Common shares assumed issued for 5.00% cumulative

convertible preferred stock series 2005B

Common shares assumed issued for 4.50% cumulative

convertible preferred stock

Unvested restricted stock

Outstanding stock options

Diluted EPS

Weighted
Average Per

Income Shares Share

Numerator Denominator Amount

in millions except per share data

1570 637 2.47

86 55

3963

11

12

1742 752 2.32

For the Year Ended December 31 2010

Basic EPS

Effect of Dilutive Securities

Assumed conversion as of the beginning of the period of

preferred shares outstanding during the period

Common shares assumed issued for 5.75% cumulative

convertible preferred stock

Common shares assumed issued for 5.75% cumulative

convertible preferred stock series

Common shares assumed issued for 5.00% cumulative

convertible preferred stock series 2005B

Common shares assumed issued for 4.50% cumulative

convertible preferred stock

Unvested restricted stock

Outstanding stock options

Diluted EPS

1663 631 2.63

49

39

11

12

32

25

1774 706 2.51
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Debt

Our long-term debt consisted of the following as of December 31 2012 and 2011

December 31

2012 2011

in millions

Termloaildue20l7 2000

625% senior notes due 2013a 464 464

9.5%seniornotesdue2Ol5 1265 1265

25% euro-denominated senior notes due 2017b 454 446

6.5% senior notes due 2017 660 660

6.875% senior notes due 2018 474 474

25% senior notes due 2018 669 669

625% senior notes due 2019 650 650

6.775%seniornotesdue20l9 1300

6.625% senior notes due 2020 1300 1300

6.875% senior notes due 2020 500 500

125% senior notes due 2021 000 000

75% contingent convertible senior notes due 2035d 396 396

5% contingent convertible senior notes due 2037 1168 1168

2.25% contingent convertible senior notes due 2O38 347 347

Corporate revolving bank credit facility 1719

Midstream revolving bank credit facility

Oilfield services revolving bank credit facility 418 29

Discount on senior notes and term loans 465 490

Interest rate derivatives 20 28

Total debt net 12620 10626

Less current maturities of long-term debt neta 463

Total long-termdebt net 12157 10626

These senior notes are due in July 2013 There is $1 million of discount associated with these notes

The principal amount shown is based on the exchange rate of $1 3193 to 00 and $1 2973 to 00 as of

December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively See Note for information on our related foreign currency derivatives

Issuers are Chesapeake Oilfield Operating L.L.C COO an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
and Chesapeake Oilfield Finance Inc COF wholly owned subsidiary of COO formed solely to facilitate the

offering of the 625% Senior Notes due 2019 COF is nominally capitalized and has no operations or revenues

Chesapeake Energy Corporation is the issuer of all other senior notes and the contingent convertible senior notes

The holders of our contingent convertible senior notes may require us to repurchase in cash all or portion of

their notes at 100% of the principal amount of the notes on any of four dates that are five ten fifteen and twenty

years before the maturity date The notes are convertible at the holders option prior to maturity under certain

circumstances into cash and if applicable shares of our common stock using net share settlement process

One such triggering circumstance is when the price of our common stock exceeds threshold amount during

specified period in fiscal quarter Convertibility based on common stock price is measured quarterly In the fourth

quarter of 2012 the price of our common stock was below the threshold level for each series of the contingent

convertible senior notes during the specified period and as result the holders do not have the option to convert

their notes into cash and common stock in the first quarter of 2013 under this provision The notes are also

convertible at the holders option during specified five-day periods if the trading price of the notes is below certain

levels determined by reference to the trading price of our common stock During 2012 the notes were not

102



CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATIONAND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

convertible under this provision In general upon conversion of contingent convertible senior note the holder

will receive cash equal tothe principal amount of thenote and common stock forthe notes conversion value in

excess of such principal amount We will pay contingent interestôn the convertible senior notes after they have

been outstanding at least ten years under certain conditions We may redeem the convertible senior notes once

they have been outstanding for ten years at redemption price of 100% of the principal amount of the notes

payable in cash The optional repurchase dates the common stock price conversion threshold amounts and the

ending date of the first six-month period in which contingent interest may be payable for the contingent convertible

senior notes are as follows

Contmgent Common Stock Contingent Interest

Convertible Price Conversion First Payable
Senior Notes Thresholds

if applicable

48.31 Mayl42016

63.93 November 14 2017

107.01 Junel42019

Discount as of December 31 2012 and December 31 2011 included $376 million and $444 million respectively

associated with the equity component of our contingent convertible senior notes This discount is based on an

effective yield method Also includes $40 million associated with our November 2012 term loan

See Note for further discussion related to these instruments

Total principal amount of debt maturities using earliest conversion date for the five years ended December 31

2012 are as follows

Principal Amount
of Debt Maturities

in millions

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018 and thereafter
_________________

Total

Term Loans

November2012 Term Loan In November2012 we established an unsecured five-year.term loan creditfacility

in an aggregate principal amount of $2.0 billion for net proceeds of $1 .935 billion November 2012 term loan Our

obligations under the new facility rank equally with our outstanding senior notes and contingent convertible senior

notes and are unconditionally guaranteed on joint and several basis by our direct and indirect wholly owned

subsidiaries that are subsidiary guarantors under the indentures for such notes Amounts borrowed under the new

facility which priced at 98% of par bear interestat our bption at either the Eurodollar rate which is based on the

London Interbank Offered Rate LIBOR plus margin of 4.50% or base rate equal to the greater of the Bank

of America prime rate ii the federal funds effective rate plus 50% per annum and iii the Eurodollar rate that

would be applicable to Eurodollar loan with an interest period of one month plus 1% per annum in each case plus

margin of 50% The Eurodollar rate is subject to floor of 25% per annum and the base rate is subject to floor

of 2.25% per annum Interest is payable quarteHy or if the Eurodollar rate applies itmay be payable at more frequent

intervals We used the net proceeds of the new term loan to fully repay the remaining outstanding borrowings under

our existing term loans and th repay outstanding borrowings under the Companys corporate revolving bank credit

facility

due 2035

2.5% due 2037

2.25% due 2038

Repurchase Dates

November 15 2015 2020 2025 2030

May15 20.17 20222027 2032

December 15 2018 2023 20282033

464

1661

418

4282

6240

13065
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The November 2012 term loan matures on December 2017 and is non-callable in the first year but may be

voluntarily repaid without penalty in the second and third years at par plus specified call premium and may be

voluntarily repaid at any time thereafter at par The termloan may also be refinanced or amended to extend the maturity

date at our option subject to lender approvaL

The term loan credit agreement contains negative covenants substantially similar to those contained in the

Companys corporate revolving bank credit facility including covenants that limit our abilityto incur indebtedness grant

liens make investments loans and restricted payments and enter into certain business combination transactions

Other covenants include additional restrictions regarding the incurrence of certain unsecured indebtedness the

incurrence of secured indebtedhess the disposition of assets and the prepayment of certain indebtedness The term

loan credit agreement does not contain financial maintenance covenants

We were in compliance with all covenants under the term loan credit agreement at December31 2012 If we

should fail to perform our obligations under the agreement the term loan could be terminated and any outstanding

borrowings under the term loan credit agreement could be declared immediately due and payable The term loan credit

agreement also has cross default provisions that apply to other indebtedness of Chesapeake and its restricted

subsidiaries with an outstanding principal amount in excess of $125 million

May2012 Term Loans In May 2012 we entered into $4 billion of unsecured term loans under credit agreement

that provided for term loans in an aggregate principal amount of $4.0 billion May 2012 term loans The net proceeds

of the term loans of approximately $3.789 billion after discount customary fees and syndication costs were used to

repay borrowings under our corporate revolving credit facility and for general corporate purposes The term loans were

issued at discount of 3%or$120 million and the customary fees and syndication costs incurred were approximately

$91 million In October and November 2012 we used $4.0 billion in proceeds from asset sales and our November

2012 term loan discussed above to fully repay the May 2012 term loans We recorded $200 million of associated losses

with the repayment including $86 million of deferred charges and $114 million of debt discount

Chesapeake Senior Notes and Contingent Convertible Senior Notes

The Chesapeake senior notes and the contingent convertible senior notes are unsecured senior obligations of

Chesapeake and rank equally in right of payment with all of our other existing and future senior unsecured indebtedness

and rank senior in right of payment to all of our future subordinated indebtedness Chesapeake is holding company

and owns no operating assets and has no significant operations independent of its subsidiaries Chesapeakes

obligations under the senior notes and the contingent convertible senior notes are jointly and severally fully and

unconditionally guaranteed by certain of our wholly owned subsidiaries Certain of our oilfield services subsidiaries

subsidiaries with noncontrolling interests subsidiaries qualified as variable interest entities and certain de minimis

subsidiaries are not guarantors See Note 18 for condensed consolidating financial information regarding our guarantor

and non-guarantor subsidiaries

We may redeem the senior notes other than the contingent convertible senior notes at any time at specified

make-whole or redemption prices Our senior notes are governed by indentures containing covenants that may limit

our ability and our subsidiaries ability to incur certain secured indebtedness enter into sale/leaseback transactions

and consolidate merge or transfer assets The indentures governing the contingent convertible senior notes do not

have any financial or restricted payment covenants The senior notes and contingent convertible senior notes indentures

have cross default provisions that apply to other indebtedness the Company or any guarantor subsidiary may have

from time to time with an outstanding principal amount of $50 million or $75 million depending on the indenture

We are required to account for the liability and equity components of our convertible debt instruments separately

and to reflect interest expense at the interest rate of similar nonconvertible debt at the time of issuance These rates

for our 2.75% Contingent Convertible SeniorNotes due 2035 our 2.5% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2037

and our 25% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2038 are 86% 0% and 0% respectively

During 2012 we issued $1 billion of 775% Senior Notes due 2019 in registçred public offering We used

the net proceeds of $1 .263 billion from theoffering to repay indebtedness outstanding under our corporate revolving

bank credit facility At any time from and including November 15 2012 to and including March 15 2013 we may redeem

some or all of the notes at redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes plus accrued and

unpaid interest if any to the redemption date provided that upon any redemption of the notes in part and not in whole

pursuant to this redemption provision at least $250 million aggregate principal amount of the notes remains outstanding
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During 2011 we issued $1.0 billionof6.125% SeniorNotes due 2021 in registered public offering We used

the net proceeds of $977 million from the offering to repay indebtedness outstanding under our corporate revolving

bank creditfacility

During 2011 we completed and settled tender offers to purchase the following principal amounts of senior notes

and contingent convertible senior notes We funded the purchase of the notes with portion of the net proceeds we

received from the sale of our Fayetteville Shale assets See Note 11 for further discussion of our Fayetteville Shale

asset sale

Principal

Amount
Purchased

in millions

7.625% senior notes due 2013 36

9.5% senior notes due 2015 160

25% euro-denominated senior notes due 2017 380

5% senior notes due 2017 440

6.875% senior notes due 2018 126

7.25% senior notes due 2018 131

6.625% senior notes due 2020 100

Total senior notes 1373

75% contingent convertible senior notes due 2035 55

2.5% contingent convertible senior notes due 2037 210

2.25% contingent convertible senior notes due 2038 266

Total contingent convertible senior notes 531

Total 1904

We purchased 256 million in aggregate principal amount of our euro-denominated senior notes which had

value of $380 million based on the exchange rate of $1 .4821 to 1.00 SimultaneousJy with our purchase of the

euro-denominated senior notes we unwound cross currency swaps for the same principal amount See Note

for additional information

We paid $2.058 billion in cash for the tender offers described above and recorded associated losses of

approximately $174 million The losses included $154 million in cash premiums $20 million of deferred charges $160

million of note discounts and $2 million of interet rate hedging losses offset by $162 million of the equity component

of the contingent convertible notes

During 2011 we purchased $140 million in aggregate principal amount of our 2.25% Contingent Convertible

Senior Notes due 2038 for approximately$128 million Associated with these purchases we recognized loss of $2

million

In July 2013 the $464 million aggregate principal amount of our 625% senior notes will be due No other

scheduled principal payments are required on our senior notes until 2015

COO Senior Notes

In October 2011 our wholly owned subsidiaries Chesapeake Oilfield Operating COO and Chesapeake

Oilfield Finance Inc COF issued $650 million principal amount of 6625% Senior Notes due 2019 in private

placement COO used the net proceeds of approximately $637 million from the placement to make cash distribution

to its direct parent COS to enable it to reduce indebtedness under an intercompany note with Chesapeake

Chesapeake then used the cash distribution to reduce indebtedness under its corporate revolving bank credit facility

The COO senior notes are the unsecured senior obligations of COO and rank equally in right of payment with

all of COOs other existing and future senior unsecured indebtedness and rank senior in right of payment to all of its

future subordinated indebtedness The COO senior notes are jointly and severally fully and unconditionally guaranteed
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by all of COOs wholly owned subsidiaries other than de minimis subsidiaries The notes may be redeemed at any

time at specified make-whole or redemption prices and prior to November 15 2014 up to 35% of the aggregate

principal amount may be redeemed in connection with certain equity offerings Holders of the COO notes have the

right to require COO to repurchase their notes upon change of control on the terms set forth in the indenture and

COO must offer to repurchase the notes upon certain asset sales The COO senior notes are -subject to covenants

that may among other things limit the ability of COO and its subsidiaries to make restricted payments incur

indebtedness issue preferred stock create liens and consolidate merge or transfer assets The COO senior notes

have cross default provisions that apply to other indebtedness COO or any of its guarantor subsidiaries may have

from time to time with an outstanding principal amount of $50 million or more

Under registration rights agreement we agreed to file registration statement within 365 days after the closing

of the COO senior notes offering enabling holders of the COO senior notes to exchange the privately placed COO
senior notes for publicly registered notes with substantially the same terms We are required to use our commercially

reasonable best efforts to cause the registration statement to become effective as soon as practicable afterfiling and

to consummate the exchange offer on the earliest practicable date after such date but in no event later than 60 days

after the date the registration statement has become effective We also agreed to make additional interest payments

to holders up to maximum of 1% per annum of the COO senior notes if we do not comply with our obligations under

the registration rights agreement We did not file registration statement within 365 days after the closing of the COO
senior notes and in 2012 accrued approximately $1 million of additional expense we expect to incur related to this

delay

Bank Credit Facilities

During 2012 we used three revolving bank credit facilities as sources of liquidity In June 2012 we paid off and

terminated our midstream credit facility Our two remaining revolving bank credit facilities are described below

Corporate Oilfield Services

Credit FaciIity Credit Facility

in millions

Senior secured Senior secured

Facility structure revolving revolving

Maturity date December 2015 November 2016

Borrowing capacity 4000 500

Amount outstanding as of December31 2012 418

Letters of credit outstanding as of December31 2012 31

Co-borrowers are Chesapeake Exploration Chesapeake Appalachia and Chesapeake Louisiana

L.P

Borrower is COO

Our credit facilities do not contain material adverse change or adequate assurance covenants Although the

applicable interest rates under our corporate credit facility fluctuate slightly based on our long-term senior unsecured

credit ratings our credit facilities do not contain provisions which would trigger an acceleration of amounts due under

the respective facilities or requirement to post additional collateral in the event of downgrade of our credit ratings

Corporate Credit Facility Our $4.0 billion syndicated revolving bank credit facility is used for general corporate

purposes Borrowings under the facility are secured by proved reserves and bear interest at our option- at either the

greater of the reference rate of Union Bank N.A or the federal funds effective rate pIus 0.50% both of which are

subject to margin that varies from 50% to 25% per annum according to our senior unsecured long-term debt

ratings or ii the Eurodollar rate which is based on LIBOR plus margin that varies from 50% to 25% per annum

according to our senior unsecured long-term debt ratings These margins may be increased pursuant to the terms of

the recent credit facility amendment discussed below The collateral value and borrowing base are determined

periodically The unused portion of the facility is subject to commitment fee of 0.50% per annum Interest is payable

quarterly or if LIBOR applies it may be payable at more frequent intervals
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The credit facility agreement contains various covenants and restrictive provisions which limit our ability to incur

additional indebtedness make investments or loans and create liens and require us to maintain an indebtedness to

total capitalization ratio and an indebtedness to EBITDA ratio in each case as defined in the agreement In September

2012 we entered into an amendment to the credit facility agreement effective September 30 2012 See Risks and

Uncertainties in Note for further discussion The amendment among other things adjusts our required indebtedness

to EBITDA ratio as set forth below through the earlierof December 31 2013 and the date on which we elect to

reinstate the indebtedness to EBITDA ratio ineffect prior to the amendment in either case the Amendment Effective

Period The amendment increased the maximum indebtedness to EBITDA ratio as of September 30 2012 from 4.00

to 1.00 to 6.00 to 1.00 and revises the required ratio for the next four quarters as shown below The ratio returns to

00 to 00 as of December31 2013 and thereafter

Effective Date Indebtedness to EBITDA Ratio

December 31 2012 5.00 to 1.00

March 31 2013 4.75 to1 .00

June 30 2013 4.50 to 1.00

September 30 2013 4.25 to 1.00

The credit facility amendment increases the applicable margin by 0.25% for borrowings under the corporate credit

facility on each day during the Amendment Effective Period when borrowings exceed 50% of the borrowing capacity

and requires us to pay fee to each lenderin an amount equal to 0.05% of its revolving commitment in the event that

the Amendment Effective Period is in effect on June 30 2013 Based on current commitment levels this would result

in an additional payment of $2 million The amendment does not allow our collateral value securing the borrowings to

be more than $75 million below the collateral value that was in effect as of September 30 2012 duringthe Amendment

Effective Period We were in compliance with all covenants under the amended agreement as of September 30 2012

and December 31 2012

The facility is fully and unconditionally guaranteed on joint and several basis by Chesapeake and certain of

our wholly owned subsidiaries If we should fail to perform our obligations under the agreement the revolving credit

commitment could be terminated and any outstanding borrowings under the facility could be declared immediately

due and payable Such acceleration if involving principal amount of $50 million or more would constitute an event

of default under our senior note and contingent convertible senior note indentures which could in turn result in the

acceleration of significant portion of our senior note indebtedness The credit facility agreement also has cross default

provisions that apply to our hedge facility equipment master lease agreements term loan and other indebtedness of

Chesapeake and its restricted subsidiaries with an outstanding principal amount in excess of $125 million In addition

the facility contains restriction on our ability to declare and pay cash dividends on our common or preferred stock if

an event of default has occurred

Oilfield Services Credit Facility Our $500 million syndicated oilfield services revolving bank credit facility is used

to fund capital expenditures and for general corporate purposes associated with our oilfield services operations

Borrowings under the oilfield services credit facility are secured by all of the assets of the wholly owned subsidiaries

of COO itself an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Chesapeake The facility has initial commitments of $500 million

and may be expanded to $900 million at COOs option subjectto additional bank participation Borrowings under the

credit facility are secured by all of the equity interests and assets of COO and its wholly owned subsidiaries the

restricted subsidiaries forthis facility but they are unrestricted subsidiaries under Chesapeakes senior notes contingent

convertible senior notes term loan and corporate revolving bank credit facility and bear interest at our option at either

the greater of the reference rate of Bank of America .A the federal funds effective rate plus 0.50% or one-month

LIBOR plus 1.00% all of which are subject to margin that variesfrom 1.00% to 1.75% perannum or ii the Eurodollar

rate which is based on LIBOR plus margin that varies from 2.00% to 2.75% per annum The unused portion of the

credit facility is subject to commitmentfee that Varies from 0.375% to 0.50% perannum Both margins and commitment

fees are determined according to the most recent leverage ratio described below Interest is payable quarterly or if

LIBOR applies it may be payable at more frequent intervals

The oilfield services credit facility agreement contains various covenants and restrictive provisions which limit

the ability of COO and its restricted subsidiaries to incur additional indebtedness make investments or loans and

create liens The agreement requires maintenance of leverage ratio based on the ratio of lease adjusted indebtedness

to earnings before interest taxes depreciation amortization and rent EBITDAR senior secured leverage ratio

based on the ratio of secured indebtedness to EBITDA and fixed charge coverage ratio based on the ratio of EBITDAR
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to lease adjusted interest expense in each case as defined in the agreement COO was in compliance with all covenants

under the agreement at December 312012 If COO or its restricted subsidiaries should fail to perform their obligations

under the agreement the revolving credit commitment could be terminated and anyoutstanding borrowings under the

facility could be declared immediately due and payable Such acceleration if invoMng principal amount of $50 million

or more would constitute an event of default under our COO senior note indenture which could in turn result in the

acceleration of the COO senior note indebtedness The oilfield services credit facility agreement also has cross default

provisions that apply to other indebtedness COO and its restricted subsidiaries may have from time to time with an

outstanding principal amount in excess of $15 million

Midstream Credit Facility Prior to June 15 2012 we utilized $600 million midstream syndicated senior secured

revolving bank credit facility to fund capital expenditures to build natural gas gathering and other systems in support
of our drilling program and for general corporate purposes associated with our midstream operations With the

anticipated sale of our midstream business in the second half of 2012 on June15 2012 we paid off and terminated

our midstream credit facility

Contingencies and Commitments

Contingencies

Litigation and Regulatory Proceedings

The Company is involved in number of litigation and regulatory proceedings including those described below
Many of these proceedings are in early stages and many of them seek an indeterminate amount of damages We
estimate and provide for potential losses that may arise out of litigation and regulatory proceedings to the extent that

such losses are probable and can be reasonably estimated Significant judgment is required in makingthese estimates

and our final liabilities may ultimately be materially different Our total estimated liability in respect of litigation and

regulatory proceedings is determined on case-by-case basis and represents an estimate of probable losses after

considering among other factors the progress of each case or proceeding our experience and the experience of

others in similar cases or proceedings and the opinions and views of legal counsel We account for.legal defense

costs in the period the costs are incurred

July2008 Common Stock Offering On February 25 2009 putative class action was filed in the U.S listrict

Court for the Southern District of New York against the Company and certain of its officers and directors along with

certain underwriters of the Companys July 2008 common stock offering Following the appointment of lead plaintiff

and counsel the plaintiff filed an amended complaint on September 11 2009 alleging that the registration statement

for the offering contained material misstatements and omissions and seeking damages under Sections 11 12 and 15

of the Securities Act of 1933 of an unspecified amount and rescission The action was transferred to the U.S District

Court for the Western District of Oklahoma on October 13 2009 On September 2010 the court denied the

defendants motion to dismiss and the court certified the class on March 30 2012 Defendants moved for summary
judgment on grounds of loss causation and materiality on December 16 2011 and the motion was fully briefed as of

August 21 2012 Discovery in the case is proceeding We are currently unable to assess the probability of loss or

estimate range of potential loss associated with the case

derivative action was also filed in the District Court of Oklahoma County Oklahoma on March 10 2009 against

certain current and former directors and officers of the Company asserting breaches of fiduciary duties relating to

alleged material omissions in the registration statement for the July 2008 offering On October 22 2012 the court

issued an order staying the derivative action until resolution of the federal class action second derivative action

relating to the July 2008 offering was filed against certain current and former directors and officers of the Company in

the U.S District Court for the Western District of Oklahoma on September 2011 This action also asserts breaches

of fiduciary duties with respect toalleged material omissions in the offering registration statement On November 30
2011the Company filed motion to dismiss the action which was denied on September 28 2012 Pursuant to court

order nominal defendant Chesapeake filed an answeron October 12 2012 By stipulation between the parties the

individual defendants are not required to answer the complaint unless and until the plaintiff establishes standingto

pursue claims derivatively

2008 CEO Compensation and Related Party Transaction Three derivative actions were filed in the District Court

of Oklahoma County Oklahoma on April 28 May 7and May 20 2009 against the Companys directors alleging among
other things breaches of fiduciary duties relating to the 2008 compensation of the Companys CEO Aubrey

McClendon and seeking unspecified damages equitable relief and disgorgement These three derivative actions were
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consolidated and Consolidated Derivative Shareholder Petition naming Chesapeake as nominal defendant was

filed on June 23 2009 Chesapeakes motion to dismiss was granted on February 26 2010 and the Oklahoma Court

of Civil Appeals affirmed the dismissal on August 26 2011 The plaintiffs filed petition for writ of certiorari with the

Oklahoma Supreme Court on September 13 2011 The appeal is currently stayed pending resolution of the settlement

referenced in the following paragraph

On January 30 2012 the District Court of Oklahoma County Oklahoma approved settlement between the

parties in the consolidated derivative action as well as case on appeal at the Oklahoma Court of Civil Appeals

requesting inspection of Company books and records relating to the December 2008 employment agreement with

Mr McClendon The principal terms of the settlement include the rescission of the sale of an antique map collection

that occurred in December 2008 between Mr McClendon and the Company whereby Mr McClendon will pay the

Company approximately $12 million plus interest and the Company will reconvey the map collection to Mr McClendon

and the adoption and/or implementation of variety of corporate governance measures The court awarded attorney

fees and expenses to plaintiffs counsel in the amount of $3.75 million Pursuant to the settlement the consolidated

derivative action and books and records action were dismissed with prejudice against all defendants On February 29

2012 certain shareholders fUed petition in error with the Oklahoma Supreme Court opposing the terms of the

settlement Their appeal was fully briefed as of October 242012

On September and 2011 in separate derivative actions filed in the District Court for the Western District

of Oklahoma against certain of the Companys current and former directors two shareholders alleged that the

Chesapeake Board wrongfully refused their demands to investigate purported breaches of fiduciary duties relating to

Mr McClendons 2008 compensation and as result each of these shareholders asserts he is entitled to seek relief

on behalf of the Company These federal derivative actions were consolidated on December 232011 and on March 14

2012 were stayed until 30 days after the Supreme Court of Oklahoma resolves the appeal of the settlement of the

consolidated derivative action and books and records action

FWPP Conflict of Interest and Other Matters FromApril l9toJune 29 2012 l3substantiallysimilarshareholder

derivative actions were filed in the U.S District Court for the Western District of Oklahoma against the Company and

its directors alleging among other things violations of Section 14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule

14a-9 promulgated thereunder for purported material misstatements in the Companys 2009 and subsequent proxy

statements related to Mr McClendons participation in theFounder Well Participation Program FWPP and breaches

of fiduciary duties corporate waste and unjust enrichment against the Board for failing to make proper disclosures in

the proxy statements and failing to properly monitor Mr McClendons personal use of assets acquired pursuant to the

FWPP As described in Note in conjunction with Mr McClendons employment agreement with the Company the

FWPP provides Mr McClendon contractual right through June 2014 to participate and invest as aworking interest

owner with upto 2.5% working interest in new wells drilled on the Companys leasehold On July 13 2012 these

13 shareholder actions were consolidated into single case On April 27 2012 shareholder derivative action was

filed in the District Court of Oklahoma County Oklahoma setting forth substantially similar claims to those alleged in

the federal shareholder actions Plaintiffs in both the federal consolidated derivative action and the state court derivative

action stipulated to stay their cases pending ruling on the motion to dismiss filed in the federal securities class action

described in the following paragraph On February 2013 another shareholder derivative suit was filed in the District

Court of Oklahoma County Oklahoma asserting claims substantially similar to those of the stayed derivative cases

and seeking temporary restraining order barring the Company from providing Mr McClendon severance compensation

and benefits The hearing for the restraining order is set for March 29 2013

putative class action was filed in the U.S District Court for the Western District of Oklahoma on April 26 2012

against the Company and Mr McClendon alleging violations of Sections 10b and Rule Ob-5 promulgated thereunder

and 20a of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 On July 20 2012 the court appointed lead plaintiff which filed

an amended complaint on October 19 2012 against the Company Mr McClendon and certain other officers The

amended complaint asserts claims under Sections 10b and Rule Ob-5 and 20a of the Securities Exchange Act

of 1934 based on alleged misrepresentations regarding the Companys asset monetization strategy including liabilities

associated with its volumetric production payment VPP transactions as well as Mr McClendons personal loans and

the Companys internal controls The action seeks class certification damages of an unspecified amount and attorneys

fees and other costs The Company and other defendants filed motion to dismiss the action on December 2012

and the plaintiff filed its response on January 23 2013 We are currently unable to assess the probability of loss or

estimate range of potential loss associated with the case
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On June 19 July 17 and July 20 2012 putative class actions were filed in the U.S District Court for the Western

District of Oklahoma against the Company Chesapeake Energy Savings and Incentive Stock Bonus Plan the Plan
and certain of the Companys officers and directors alleging breachesof fiduciary duties underthe Employee Retirement

Income Security Act ERISA The actions are brought on behalf of participants and beneficiaries of the Plan and

allege that as fiduciaries of the Plan defendants owed fiduciary duties which they purportedly breached by among
other things failing to manage and administer the Plans assets with appropriate skill and care failing to disclose

material information concerning such matters as Mr McClendons participation in the FWPP and his related financing

arrangements and the Companys VPP trnsactions engaging in activities thatwere in conflict with the best interest

of the Plan and permitting the Plan to over-concentrate in Chesapeakestock The plaintiffs seek class certification

damages of an unspecified amount equitable relief and attorneys fees and other costs The three cases have been

consolidated and consolidated amended complaint was filed on February 21 2013 Defendants have 60 days from

that date in which to respond We are currently unable to assess the probability of loss or estimate range of potential

loss associated with this matter

On May 2012 Chesapeake and Mr McClendon received notice from the U.S Securities and Exchange
Commission that its Fort Worth Regional Office had commenced an informal inquiry into among other things certain

of the matters alleged in the foregoing lawsuits On December21 2012 the SECs Fort Worth Regional Office advised

Chesapeake that its inquiry is continuing as an investigation and it has issued subpoenas for information and testimony
The Company including Mr McClendon is providing information to the SEC in connection with this matter The

Company is also responding to related inquiries from other governmental and regulatory agencies and self-regulatory

organizations

Director and Officer Use of CompanyAircraft On May 2012 derivative action wasfiled in the District Court

of Oklahoma County Oklahoma against the Companys directors alleging among other things breaches of fiduciary

duties and corporate waste related to the Companys officers and directors use of the Companys fractionally owned

corporate jets Chesapeake was named nominal defendant in the derivative action On August 21 2012 the District

Court granted the Companys motion to dismiss the case On December 2012 the plaintiff filed an amended petition

in error with the Oklahoma Supreme Court and on December 26 2012 nominal defendant/appellee Chesapeake filed

its response The appeal is currently before the Oklahoma Court of Appeals by appointment of the Supreme Court

Antitrust Investigations On June 29 2012 Chesapeake received subpoena düces tecum from the Antitrust

Division Midwest Field Office of the U.S Department of Justice The subpoena requires the Company to produce

certain documents before grand jury in the Western District of Michigan which is conducting an investigation into

possible violations of antitrust laws in connection with the purchase and lease of oil and gas rights The Company has

also received demands for documents and information from certain state governmental agencies in connection with

other investigations relating to the Companys purchase and lease of oil and gas rights Chesapeake has been providing

information in response to these investigations Chesapeakes Board of Directors commenced its own investigation of

these allegations in June 2012 and recently concluded that the Company did not violate antitrust laws in connection

with the acquisition of Michigan oil and gas rights in 2010

Business Operations Chesapeake is involved in various other lawsuits and disputes incidental to its business

operations including commercial disputes personal injury claims claims for underpayment of royalties property

damage claims and contract actions With regard to contract actions various mineral or leasehold owners have filed

lawsuits against us seeking specific performance to require us to acquire their natural gas and oil interests and pay

acreage bonus payments damages based on breach of contract and/or in certain cases punitive damages based on

alleged fraud The Company has successfully defended number of these cases in various courts has settled others

and believes that it has substantial defenses to the claims made in those pending at the trial court and on appeal Based

on managements current assessment we are of the opinion that no pending or threatened lawsuit or dispute relating

to the Companys business operations is likely to have material adverse effect on its consolidated financial position

results of operations or cash flows The final resolution of such matters could exceed amounts accrued however and

actual results could differ materially from managements estimates
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Environmental Risk

The nature of the natural gas and oil business carries with it certain environmental risks for Chesapeake and its

subsidiaries Chesapeake has implemented various policies procedures training and auditing to reduce and mitigate

such environmental risks Chesapeake conducts periodic reviews on company-wide basis to assess changes in

our environmental risk profile Environmental reserves are set for potential environmental liabilities that are probable

and reasonably estimable We manage our exposure to environmental liabilities in acquisitions and divestitures by

using an evaluation process that seeks to identify pre-existing contamination or compliance concerns and addressing

the potential liability Depending on the extent of an identified environmental concern Chesapeake may among other

things exclude property from the transaction require the seller to remediate the property to our satisfaction in an

acquisition or agree to assume liability for the remediation of the property

There are presently pending against our subsidiary Chesapeake Appalachia L.L.C CALLC orders for

compliance first initiated in the 2010 fourth quarter by the U.S Environmental Protection Agency EPA related to our

compliance with Clean WaterActCWA permitting requirements in West Virginia We have responded to all pending

orders and are actively working with the EPAto resolve these matters

The CWA provides authority for significant civil penalties for the placement of fill in jurisdictional stream or

wetland without permit from the Army Corps of Engineers CWA civil penalties can be as high as $37500 per day

per violation The CWAsets forth subjective criteria including degree of fault and history of priorviolations that influence

CWA penalty assessments and the EPA may also seek to recover the economic benefit derived from non-compliance

While we expect that resolution of the EPAs orders for compliance will include monetary sanctions exceeding $100000

we believe the liability with respect to these matters will not have material effect on the consolidated financial position

results of operations or cash flow of the Company

Commitments

Rig Leases

In series of transactions beginning in 2006 our drilling subsidiaries have sold 68 drilling rigs net of 26

repurchased rigs and related equipment and entered into master lease agreements under which we agreed to lease

the rigs from the buyer for initial terms of five to ten years The lease commitments are guaranteed by Chesapeake

and certain of its subsidiaries These transactions were recorded as sales and operating leasebacks and any related

net gains are amortized to oilfield services expenses over the lease term Under the leases we can exercise an early

purchase option or we can purchase the rigs at the expiration of the lease for the fair market value at the time In

addition in most cases we have the option to renew lease for negotiated new terms at the expiration of the lease

During 2012 we repurchased 25 rigs from various lessors for an aggregate purchase price of $61 million Of the $61

million approximately $25 million was deemed to be early lease termination costs and was recognized as Impairments

of Fixed Assets and Other in the consolidated statement of operations See Note 14 for further discussion

Compressor Leases

Through various transactions beginning in 2007 our compression subsidiary has sold 2322 compressors net

of 231 repurchased compressors significant portion of its compressor fleet and entered into master lease

agreement The term of the agreement varies by buyer ranging from four to ten years The lease commitments are

guaranteed by Chesapeake and certain of its subsidiaries These transactions were recorded as sales and operating

leasebacks and any related net gains are amortized to marketing gathering and compression expenses over the lease

term Under the leases we can exercise an early purchase option or we can purchase the compressors at the expiration

of the lease for the fair market value at the time In addition in most cases we have the option to renew lease for

negotiated new terms at theexpiration of the lease During October and November 2012 we repurchased 220

compressor units for approximately $28 million from various lessors
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Future operating lease commitments related to rigs compressors and otherequipment or property are not recorded

in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets The aggregate undiscounted minimum future lease payments are

presented below

December31 2012

Rigs Compressors Other Total

in millions

2013 93 71 17 181

2014 82 125 13 220

2015 37 51 11 99

2016 68 105 182

2017 21 23 47

After 2017 30 39

Total 307 405 56 768

Rent expense including short-term rentals for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 was $185

million $184 million and $161 million respectively

Gathering Processing and Transportation Agreements

We have contractual commitments with midstream service companies and pipeline carriers for future gathering

processing and transportation of natural gas and liquids to move certain of our production to market Working interest

owners and royalty interest owners will be responsible for their proportionate share of these costs Commitments
related to gathering processing and transportation agreements are not recorded in the accompanying consolidated

balance sheets however they are reflected as adjustments to future natural gas oil and NGL sales prices used in our

proved reserves estimates

The aggregate undiscounted commitments under our gathering processing and transportation agreements

excluding any reimbursement from working interest and royalty interest owners are presented below

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018-2099

Total

Drilling Contracts

December 31
2012

in millions

1540

1988

1801

1895

1922

9344

18490

Chesapeake has contracts with various drilling contractors to utilize approximately 26 rigs with terms ranging

from one month to three years These commitments are not recorded in the accompanying consolidated balance

sheets As of December31 2012 the aggregate undiscounted minimum future payments under these drilling rig

commitments are presented below

2013

2014

2015

Total

68

11

202

December 31
2012

in millions

123
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Drilling Commitments

In December 2011 as part of our Utica joint venture development agreement with Total S.A Total see Note

11 we committed to spud no less than 90 cumulative Utica wells by December 31 2012 270 cumulative wells by

December 31 2013 and 540 cumulative wells by December 31 2014 Through December 31 2012 we had spud 143

cumulative Utica wells and met our 2012 commitment If we fail to meet the drilling commitment at any such year end

for any reason other than force majeure event the drilling carry percentage used to determine our promoted well

reimbursement will be reduced from 60% to 45% for number of wells drilled in the following calendar year equal to

the number of wells we were short the drilling commitment As such any reduction would only affect the timing of the

receipt of the drilling carry but not the total drilling carry to be received

We have also committed to drill wells in conjunction with our CHK Utica and CHK C-T financial transactions and

in conjunction with the formation of the Chesapeake Granite Wash Trust See Note for discussion of these transactions

and commitments

In conjunction with the acceleration in October 2011 of the remaining drilling and completion carry owed to us by

Total in our Barnett Shale joint venture we agreed to maintain our operated rig count at no less than 12 rigs in the

Barnett Shale through December 31 2012 In January 2012 Chesapeake and Total agreed to reduce the minimum

rig count from 12 to six rigs In May 2012 Chesapeake and Total agreed to further reduce the minimum rig count from

six to two rigs We met this operated rig count commitment through December31 2012

Property and Equipment Purchase Commitments

Much of the oilfield services equipment we purchase requires long production lead times As result we have

outstanding orders and commitments for such equipment As of December 31 2012 we had $118 million of purchase

obligations related to future capital expenditures for drilling rigs and related equipment and hydraulic fracturing

equipment in 2013

Natural Gas and Liquids Purchase Commitments

We regularly commit to purchase natural gas and liquids from other owners in the properties we operate including

owners associated with our VPP transactions Production purchased under these arrangements is based on market

prices at the time of production and the purchased natural gas and liquids are resold at market prices
See Note 11

for further discussion of our VPP transactions

Net Acreage Maintenance Commitments

Under the terms of our joint venture agreements with Statoil and Total see Note 11 we are required to extend

renew or replace certain expiring joint leasehold at our cost to ensure that the net acreage is maintained in certain

designated areas We did not meet the net acreage maintenance commitment with Total underthe terms of our Barnett

Shale joint venture agreement as of the December 31 2012 measurement date We had net acreage shortfall of

approximately 13000 net acres and will be required to make cash payment of approximately $26 million to Total in

the first half of 2013 The charge was recorded in impairments of fixed assets and other on the consolidated statement

of operations See Note 14 for further discussion of impairments

Affiliate Commitments

Under our corporate revolving bank credit facility certain of our subsidiaries including our oilfield services

companies are not guarantors of the credit facility debt Certain agreements between us and our subsidiaries as

described below could affect the individual credit facility covenant calculations but they would have no effect on the

consolidated financial statements because the subsidiaries are wholly owned and consolidated payment from us to

non-guarantor subsidiary could affect our guarantor EBITDA resulting in an impact to our corporate credit facility

covenant compliance calculation See Note for discussion of our covenant calculation

In October 2011 we entered into services agreement with our wholly owned subsidiary COO under which we

guarantee the utilization of portion of COO drilling rig and hydraulic fracturing fleets during the term of the agreement

Through October 2016 we are subject to monetary penalties if we do not operate specific number of COOs drilling

fleet or utilize specific number of their hydraulic fracturing fleets No payments were made pursuant to the services

agreement in 2012 or 2011 Any payments made in future periods will eliminate in consolidation
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Other Commitments

In April 2011 we entered into master frac-service agreement with our equity affiliate FTS International Inc

FTS which expires on December 31 2014 Pursuant to this agreement we are committed to enter into

predetermined number of backstop contracts providing at least 10% gross margin to FTS if utilization of FTS fleets

falls below certain level To date we have not entered into ahy backstop contracts and since we use fracing services

continuously we do not anticipate any material payments under this commitment

In July 2011 we agreed to invest $150 million in newly issued convertible promissory notes of Clean Energy

Fuels Corp NasdaqCLNE based in Seal Beach California The investment is being made in three equal $50 million

promissory notes the first two of which were issued in July 2011 and July 2012 with the remaining note scheduled to

be issued in June 2013 See Note 12 for further discussion of this investment

In July 2011 we agreed to invest $155 million in preferred equity securities of Sundrop Fuels Inc privately

held cellulosic biofuels company based in Longmont Colorado As of December 31 2012 we had funded $115 million

of our commitment The remaining tranches of preferred equity investment will be scheduled around certain funding

and operational milestones that are expected to be reached by July 2013 See Note 12 for further discussion of this

investment

In December 2011 we sold Appalachia Midstream Services wholly owned subsidiary of our wholly

owned subsidiary Chesapeake Midstream Development L.L.C CMD to Chesapeake Midstream Partners L.P now
named Access Midstream Partners L.P NYSEACMP for total consideration of $884 million In addition CMD has

committed to pay ACMP for any quarterly shortfall between the actual adjusted EBITDA from the assets sold and

specified quarterly targets which total $100 million in 2012 and $150 million in 2013 We recorded this guarantee at

an estimated fair value of $27 million atthe time of thesale No payment was required for 2012 and we recognized

$8 million of gain associated with the release of the liability related to the quarterly targets achieved in 2012 The

remaining $19 million fair value is included in other current liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet as of

December 31 2012 We will release this liability during 2013 To the extent CMD is required to make payments under

the guarantee we will record the differences between the liability and the associated payments in earnings

As part of our normal course of business we enter into various agreements providing or otherwise arranging

financial or performance assurances to third parties on behalf of our wholly owned guarantor subsidiaries These

agreements may include future payment obligations or commitments regarding operational performance that effectively

guarantee our subsidiaries future performance

In connection with divestitures our purchase and sale agreements generally provide indemnification to the

counterparty for liabiiities incurred as result of breach of representation or warranty by the indemnifying party or

in regards to perfecting title to property These indemnifications generally have discrete term and are intended to

protect the parties against risks that are difficult to predict or cannot be quantified at the time of the consummation of

particular transaction

Certain of our natural gas and oil properties are burdened by non-operating interests such as royalty and overriding

royalty interests including overriding royalty interests sold through our VPP transactions As the holder of the working

interest from which such interests have been created we have the responsibility to bear the cost of developing and

producing the reserves attributable to such interests See Note 11 for further discussion of our VPP transactions

Income Taxes

The components of the income tax provision benefit for each of the periods presented below are as follows

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

in millions

Current 47 13

Deferred 427 1110 1110

Total 380 1123 1110
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The effective income tax expense benefit differed from the computed expected federal income tax expense

on earnings before income taxes for the following reasons

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

in millions

Income tax expense benefit at the federal statutory rate 35% 341 1008 009

State income taxes net of federal income tax benefit 38 74 78

Other 41 23

Total 380 1123 1110

Deferred income taxes are provided to reflect temporary differences in the basis of net assets for income tax and

financial reporting purposes The tax-effected temporary differences and tax loss carryforwards which comprise deferred

taxes are as follows

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011

in millions

Deferred tax liabilities

Natural gas and oil properties

Other property and equipment

Investments

Volumetric production payments

Contingent convertible debt
_____________ _____________

Deferred tax liabilities _____________ _____________

414 1198

172 395

142 123

106

47 62

90 82

178 114

225 257

137 121

55 29
1566 2323

Net deferred tax asset liability 2717 3099

Other non-current tax liabilities 246

Total deferred tax liabilities 717 345

Reflected in accompanying balance sheets as

Current deferred income tax asset 90 139

Non-current deferred income tax liability 2807 3484

Total 2717 3345

As of December 31 2012 and 2011 we classified $90 million and $139 million of deferred tax assets as current

that were attributable to current temporary differences associated with accrued liabilities derivative liabilities and other

items As of December31 2012 and 2011 non-current deferred tax liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets

included net non-current deferred tax liabilities of $2.807 billion and $3.238 billion respectively
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Deferred tax assets relating to tax benefits of employee share-based compensation have been reduced for stock

options exercised and restricted stock that vested in periods in which Chesapeake was in net operating loss NOL
position Some exercises and vestings result in tax deductions in excess of previously recorded benefits based on the

stock option or restricted stock value at the time of grant windfalls Although these additional tax benefits or windfalls

are reflected in NOL carryforwards in the tax return the additional tax benefit associated with the windfalls is not

recognized until the deduction reduces taxes payable pursuant to accounting for stock compensation under GAAP
Accordingly since the tax benefit does not reduce Chesapeakes current taxes payable due to NOL carryforwards
these windfall tax benefits are not reflected in Chesapeakes NOLs in deferred tax assets Windfalls included in NOL

carryforwards but not reflected in deferred tax assets as of December31 2012 totaled $21 million Any shortfalls

resulting from tax deductions that were less than the previously recorded benefits were recorded as reductions to

additional paid-in capital

At December 31 2012 Chesapeake had federal income tax NOL carryforwards of approximately $1 .096 billion

which excludes the NOL carryforwards related to unrecognized tax benefits and stock compensation windfalls that

have not been recognized under GAAP Additionally we had $51 million of AMT NOL carryforwards net of unrecognized
tax benefits available as deduction against future AMT income The NOL carryforwards expire from 2025 through
2031 The value of these carryforwards depends on the ability of Chesapeake to generate taxable income

The ability of Chesapeake to utilize NOL carryforwards to reduce future federal taxable income and federal income

tax is subject to various limitations under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended the Code The utilization

of such carryforwards may be limited upon the occurrence of certain ownership changes including the issuance or

exercise of rights to acquire stock the purchase or sale of stock by 5% stockholders defined in the Treasury

regulations and the offering of stock by us during any three-year period resulting in an aggregate change of more than

50% in the beneficial ownership of Chesapeake

In the event of an ownership change as defined for income tax purposes Section 382 of the Codeimposes an

annual limitation on the amount of corporations taxable income that can be offset by these carryforwards The
limitation is generally equal to the product of the fair market value of the equity of the corporation multiplied by ii

percentage approximately equivalent to the yield on long-term tax exempt bonds during the month in which an

ownership change occurs In addition the limitation is increased if there are recognized built-in gains during any post-

change year but only to the extent of any net unrealized built-in gains as defined in the Code inherent in the assets

at the time of the ownership change Certain NOLs acquired through various acquisitions are also subject to limitations

The following table summarizes our NOLs as of December 31 2012 and any related limitations

Annual
Total Limited Limitation

in millions

Net operating loss 1096 64 15

AMT net operating loss 51 51 15

As of December31 2012 we do not believe that an ownership change has occurred Future equity transactions

by Chesapeake or by 5% stockholders including relatively small transactions and transactions beyond our control

could cause an ownership change and therefore limitation on the annual utilization of NOLs

Accounting guidance for recognizing and measuring uncertain tax positions prescribes threshold condition that

tax position must meet for any of the benefit of the uncertain tax position to be recognized in the financial statements

Guidance is also provided regarding de-recognition classification and disclosure of these uncertain tax positions As
of December31 2012 and 2011 the amount of unrecognized tax benefits related to NOL carryforwards associated

with uncertain tax positions and AMT associated with uncertain tax positions was $599 million and $369 million

respectively If these unrecognized tax benefits are disallowed and we are required to pay additional AMT liabilities

any payments can be utilized as credits against future regular tax liabilities If these unrecognized tax benefits are

disallowed and our NOL carryforwards are reduced the reduction will be offset by additional tax basis thatwill generate
future deductions The uncertain tax positions identified would not have material effect on the effective tax rate As
of December 31 2012 we had an accrued liability of $6 million for interest related to theseuncertain tax positions

Chesapeake recognizes interest related to uncertain tax positions in interest expense Penalties if any related to

uncertain tax positions would be recorded in other expenses
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reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows

2012 2011 2010

in millions

Unrecognized tax benefits at beginning of period 369 34 231

Additions based on tax positions related to the current year 134 135

Additions to tax positions of prior years 96 200 197

Settlements

Unrecognized tax benefits at end of period
599 369 34

Chesapeakes federal and state income tax returns are routinely audited by federal and stateHfiscal authorities

The Internal Revenue Service IRS is currently auditing our federal income tax returns for 2007 through 2011

Related Party Transactions

Chief Executive Officer

As of December31 2012 and 2011 we had accrued accounts reOeivable from our Chief Executive Officer

Aubrey McClendon of $23 million and $45 million respectively representing joint interest billings from December

2012 and 2011 related to Mr McClendons participation in Company wells pursuant to the Founder Well Participation

Program FWPP These amounts were invoiced and timely paid in the following month Since Chesapeake was

founded in 1989 Mr McClendon has acquired working interests in virtually all of our natural gas and oil properties

by participating in our drilling activities under the terms of his employmentagreement and the FWPP and predecessor

participation arrangements provided for in Mr McClendons employment agreements On April 30 2012 the

Companys Board of Directors and Mr McClendon agreed to the early termination of the FWPP on June 30 2014

18 months before the end of the 10-year term approved by our shareholders in June 2005 Under the FWPP Mr

McClendon may elect to participate in all or none of the wells drilled by or on behalf of Chesapeake during calendar

year but he is not allowed to participate only in selected wells participation election is required to be received by

the Compensation Committee of Chesapeakes Board of Directors not less than 30 days prior to the start of each

óalendar year His participation is permitted only under the terms outlined in the FWPP which among other things

limits his individual participation to maximum working interest of 2.5% in well and prohibits participation in situations

where Chesapeakes working interest would be reduced below 12.5% as result of his participation In addition the

Company is reimbursed for costs associated with leasehold acquired by Mr McClendon as result of his well

participation In conjunction with certain sales of natural gas and oil properties by the Company affiliates of Mr

McClendon have sold interests in the same properties and on the same terms as those that applied to the interests

sold by the Company and the proceeds were paid to the sellers based on their respective ownership

On December 31 2008 we entered into anew five-year employment agreement with Mr McClendon that

contained one-time well cost incentive award to him The total cost of the award to Chesapeake was $75 million

plus employment taxes in the amount of approximately $1 million The incentive award was subject to clawback

equal to any unvested portion of the award if during the initial five-year term of the employment agreement Mr

McClendon resigned from the Company or was terminated for cause by the Company We are recognizing the

incentive award as general and administrative expense over the five-year vesting period for the clawback resulting

in an expense of approximately $15 million per year beginning in 2009 The net incentive award after deduction of

applicable withholding and employment taxes of approximately $44 million was fully applied against costs attributable

to interests in Company wells acquired by Mr McClendon or his affiliates under the FWPP On January 29 2013

the Company announced that Mr McClendon had agreed to retire from the Company on the earlier to occur of April

2013 or the time at which his successor is appointed Mr McClendons participation rights under the FWPP will

continue through the expiration of the FWPP on June 30 2014 and the incentive award clawback applicable to 2013

will not apply See Note 21 for additional information on the terms of his separation from the Company

In 2011 Chesapeake entered into license and naming rights agreement with The Professional Basketball

Club LLC PBC forthe arena in downtown Oklahoma City PBC is the owner of the Oklahoma City Thunder basketball

team National Basketball Association franchise and the arenas primary tenant Mr McClendon has 19.2% equity

interest in PBC Under the terms of the agreement Chesapeake has committed to pay fees ranging from $3 million

to $4 million per year through 2023 for the arena naming rights and other associated benefits In addition since

2008 Chesapeake has been founding sponsor of the Oklahoma City Thunder initially under successive one-year

contracts In 2011 it entered into 12-year sponsorship agreement committing to pay an average annual fee of $3
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million for advertising use of an arena suite and other benefits Chesapeake also has committed to purchase tickets

to all 2012-2013 home games In 2012 and 2011 the Company paid PBC approximately $7 million and $6 million

respectively for naming rights fees sponsorship fees and game tickets and for 2013 the amount payable for such

2012-2013 season fees and tickets is approximately $3 million not including any amounts for playoff tickets

Pursuant to court-approved litigation settlement with certain plaintiff shareholders described in Note the

sale of an antique map collection that occurred in December 2008 between Mr McClendon and the Company will

be rescinded Mr McClendon will pay the Company approximately $12 million plus interest and the Company will

reconvey the map collection to Mr McClendon The transaction is scheduled to be completed not later than 30 days

after entry of final non-appealable judgment

Other Related Parties

During 2012 and 2011 our formerly 46%-owned affiliate Chesapeake Midstream Partners L.P now named
Access Midstream Partners L.P NYSEACMP provided us natural gas gathering and treating services in the

ordinary course of business In addition there are agreements in place whereby we support ACMP in functions for

which we are reimbursed See Note 12 for discussion of the sale of our interest in ACMP During 2012 and 2011
our transactions with ACMP included the following

Years Ended December 31
2012 2011

in millions

Amounts paid to ACMP
Gas gathering fees 624 469

Amounts received from ACMP
Compressor rentals 80 60

Inventory purchases 91 93

Other services provided 88 91

Total amounts received from ACMP 259 244

Other working interest and royalty owners are charged their proportionate share of the gas gathering fees

As of December31 2012 and 2011 we had net receivables payables from to ACMP of $5 million and $2

million respectively In addition in 2012 and 2011 we sold natural gas gathering systems and related equipment to

ACMP See Note 11 for further discussion

During 20122011 and 2010 our30%-owned affiliate FTS provided us hydraulicfracturing and otherservices

in the ordinary course of business During 2012 2011 and 2010 we paid FTS $480 million $369 million and $89

million respectively for these services As well operators we are reimbursed by other working interest owners

through the joint interest billing process for their proportionate share of these costs In addition during 2012 we

purchased $73 million of equipment from FTS As of December31 2012 2011 and 2010 we had $42 million $115

million and $30 million respectively due FTS for services provided and not yet paid
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Employee Benefit Plans

Our qualified 401k profit sharing plan 401k Plan is the Chesapeake Energy Corporation Savings and Incentive

Stock Bonus Plan which is open to employees of Chesapeake and all our subsidiaries except certain employees of

Chesapeake Appalachia L.L.C Eligible employees may elect to defercompensation through voluntary contributions

to their 401k Plan accounts subject to plan limits and those set by the IRS Chesapeake matches employee

contributions dollar for dollar subject to maximum contribution of 15% of an employees base salary and performance

bonus with Chesapeake common stock purchased in the open market The Company contributed $91 million $72

million and $54 million to the 401k Plan in 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

Chesapeake also maintains nonqualified deferred compensation plan the Chesapeake Energy Corporation

Amended and Restated Deferred Compensation Plan DC Plan To be eligibleto participate in the DC Plan an aÆtive

employee must h-ave base salary of at least $150000 have an employment agreement with Chesapeake have

hire date on or before the first business day in October immediately preceding the year in which the employee is able

to participate or be designated as eligible to participate Additionally the employee has to have made the maximum

contribution allowable under the 401k Plan Chesapeake matches 100% of employee contributions up to 15% of

base salary and performance bonus in the aggregate for the DC Plan with Chesapeake common stock and an employee

who is at least age 55 may elect for the matching contributions to be made in any one of the investment options The

maximum compensation that can be deferred by employees under all Company deferred compensation plans including

the Chesapeake 401k Plan is total of 75% of base salary and 100% of performance bonus We contributed $16

million $12 million and $9 million to the DC Plan during 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively to fund the match In

addition in 2012 the Board of Directors adopted Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors Director

DC Plan The Companys non-employee directors are able to defer up to 100% of director cash compensation into

the Director DC Plan and invest in Chesapeake common stock but the plan does not provide for Company matching

contributions

Any assets placed in trust by Chesapeake to fund future obligations of the Companys nonqualified deferred

compensation plans are subject to the claims of creditors in the event of insolvency or bankruptcy and participants

are general creditors of the Company as to their deferred compensation in the plans

Chesapeake maintains no post-employment benefit plans except those sponsored by itswholly owned subsidiary

Chesapeake Appalachia L.L.C Participation in these plans is limited to existing employees who are union members

and former employees who were union members The Chesapeake Appalachia L.L.C benefit plans provide health

care and life insurance benefits to eligible employees upon retirement We account for these benefits on an accrual

basis As of December 31 2012 the Company had accrued approximately $10 million in accumulated post-employment

benefit liability
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Stockholders Equity Restricted Stock Stock Options and Noncontrolling Interests

Common Stock

The following is summary of the changes in our common shares issued for 2012 2011 and 2010

Shares issued at January

Restricted stock issuances net of forfeitures

Stock option exercises

Preferred stock conversion

Convertible note exchanges

Shares issued at December 31

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

in thousands

660888 655251 648549

5038 4961 5924

542 565 458

299

666468 660888 655251

In 2010 we privately exchanged approximately $11 million in aggregate principal amount of our 25% Contingent

Convertible Senior Notes due 2038 for an aggregate of 298500 shares of our common stock valued at approximately

$9 million The difference between theallocated debt value of the notes that were exchanged and the fair value of the

common stock issued resulted in $2 million loss including nominal amount of deferred charges associated with

the exchanges

Preferred Stock

Following is summary of our preferred stock including the primary conversion terms as of December 31 2012

Preferred Stock

Series

5.75% cumulative

convertible

non-voting

5.75% series
cumulative

convertible

non-voting

4.50% cumulative

convertible

September
2005 100 Anytime 2.2861 43.7429

September 15
2010 56.8658

5.00% cumulative

convertible

series 2005B
November

2005 100 Anytime 2.5876 38.6454

November 15
2010 50.2390

Convertible at the Companys option if the trading price of the Companys common stock equals or exceeds the

trigger price for specified time period or after the conversion date indicated if there are less than 250000 shares

of 4.50% or 5.00% series 2005B preferred stock outstanding or 25000 shares of 5.75% or 5.75% series

preferred stock outstanding
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Liquidation

Preference

issue Date per Share

May and

June2010

Companys
Holders Companys Market

Conversion Conversion Conversion Conversion
Conversicn

Right Rate Price Right From Triggera

1000 Anytime 37.0892 26.9620 May 172015 35.0506

May
2010 1000 Anytime 35.8414 27.9007 May 172015 36.2709
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Shares outstanding at January 2012 and

December31 2012

Shares outstanding at January 2011

Conversion of preferred shares into

common stock

Shares outstanding at December 31 2011

Shares outstanding at January 2010 2559 2096

Preferred stock issuances 500 1100

Conversion of preferred shares into

common stock

Shares outstanding at December 31 2010 1500 1100 2559 2096

In 2011 and 2010 shares of our cumulative convertible preferred stock were converted into shares of common
stock as summarized below

Cumulative Convertible Number of Number of

Preferred Stock Preferred Shares Common Shares

5% series 005

There were no gains or losses associated with the conversions noted above

Dividends

Dividends declared on our common stock and preferred stock are reflected as adjustments to retained earnings
to the extent surplus of retained earnings will exist after giving effect to the dividends To the extent retained earnings
are insufficient to fund the distributions such payments constitute return of contributed capital rather than earnings
and are accounted for as reduction to paid-in capital

Dividends on our outstanding preferred stock are payable quarterly We may pay dividends on our 5.00%
Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock Series 2005B and our 4.50% Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock in

cash common stock or combination thereof at our option Dividends on both series of our 5.75% Cumulative

Convertible Non-Voting Preferred Stock are payable only in cash

Stock-Based Compensation Plans

Under Chesapeakes Long Term Incentive Plan restricted stock stock options stock appreciation rights

performance shares performance share units and other stock awards may be awarded to employees directors and

consultants of Chesapeake Subject to any adjustments as provided by the plan the aggregate number of shares of

common stock available for awards under the plan may not exceed 49500000 shares The maximum period for

exercise of an option or stock appreciation right may not be more than ten years from the date of grant and the exercise

price may not be less than the fair market value of the shares underlying the option or stock appreciation right on the

date of grant Awards granted under the plan become vested at specified dates or upon the satisfaction of certain

performance or other criteria determined by committee of the Board of Directors No awards may be granted under

the plan after September 30 2014 The plan has been approved by our shareholders There were 170151 68824
and 87500 shares of restricted stock issued to our non-employee directors from the plan in 2012 2011 and 2010
respectively Additionally there were 5.0 million 4.5 million and 5.8 million restricted shares issued net of forfeitures

to employees and consultants during 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively from the plan As of December 31 2012
there were 10.7 million shares remaining available for issuance under the plan
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The following reflects our preferred shares outstanding for 2012 2011 and 2010

575% 575%A 45%

in thousands

5.00%

2005B

1497 1100

1500 1100

1497 1100

5.00%

2005

2559 2096

2559 2096

2559 2096

Year of Conversion

2011

2010

5.75%

in thousands
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Under Chesapeakes 2003 Stock Incentive Plan restricted stock and incentive and nonqualified stock options to

purchase our common stock may be awarded to employees and consultants of Chesapeake Subject to any adjustments

as provided by the plan the aggregate number of shares available for awards under the plan may not exceed 10000000

shares The maximum period for exercise of an option may not be more than ten years from the date of grant and the

exercise price may not be less than the fair market value of the shares underlying the option on the date of grant

Restricted stock and options granted become vested at dates determined by committee of the Board ofDirectors

No awards may be granted under the plan after April 14 2013 The plan has been approved by our shareholders

There were nominal amount 0.4 million and 0.1 million restricted shares net of forfeitures issued during 20122011

and 2010 respectively from the plan As of December 31 2012 there were approximately 82500 shares remaining

available for issuance under the plan

Under Chesapeakes 2003 Stock Award Plan for Non-Employee Directors 10000 shares of Chesapeakes

common stock are awarded to each newly appointed non-employee director on his or her first day of service Subject

to any adjustments as provided by the plan the aggregate number of shares which may be issued may not exceed

100000 shares This plan has been approved by our shareholders In each of 2012 2011 and 2010 30000 10000

and 10000 shares of common stock were awarded to new directors from the plan respectively As of December 31

2012 there were no shares remaining available for issuance under the plan

In addition to the plans described above we have stock options outstanding to employees under number of

employee stock option plans which are described below All outstanding options under these plans were at-the-money

when granted with an exercise price equal to the closing price of our common stock on the date of grant and have

ten-year exercise period These plans were terminated in prior years and therefore no shares remain available for

stock option grants under the plans

Type Outstanding

Eligible of Shares Shareholder Options at

Name of Plan Participants Options Covered Approved December 31 2012

Employees

2002 and 2001 and Incentive and 3000000/

Stock Option Plans. consultants nonqualified 3200000 Yes 84584

2002 and 2001 Employees

Nonqualified
and 4000000/

Stock Option Plans. consultants Nonqualified 3000000 No 175466

2000 and 1999 Employees

Employee and 3000000

Stock Option Plans. consultants Nonqualified each Plan No 22163

Employees

1996 and 1994 and Incentive and 6000000/

Stock Option Plans consultants nonqualified 886 910 Yes 16 049
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Restricted Stock

Chesapeake began issuing shares ofrestricted common stock to employees in January2004 and to non-employee

directors in July 2005 The fair value of the awards issued is determined based on the fair market value of the shares

on the date of grant This value is amortized over the vesting period which is generally four years from the date of

grant for employees and three years for non-employee directors To the extent compensation cost relates to employees

directly involved in natural gas and oil acquisition exploration and development activities such amounts are capitalized

to natural gas and oil properties Amounts not capitalized to natural gas and oil properties are recognized as general

and administrative expense natural gas oil and NGL production expenses marketing gathering and compression

expenses or oilfield services expense Note details the accounting for our stock-based compensation expense in

2012 2011 and 2010

summary of the status of the unvested shares of restricted stock and changes during 2012 2011 and 2010 is

presented below

Number of Weighted Average
Unvested Grant-Date

Restricted Shares Fair Value

in thousands

Unvested shares as of January 12012 19544 26.97

Granted 9480 21.13

Vested 8620 28.08

Forfeited 1505 24.57

Unvested shares as of December 31 2012 18899 23.72

Unvested shares as of January 12011 21375 28.68

Granted 9541 28.38

Vested 10401 31.76

Forfeited 971 27.28

Unvested shares as of December31 2011 19544 26.97

Unvested shares as of January 2010 19225 3189

Granted 9061 24.19

Vested 5900 31.99

Forfeited 1011 30.05

Unvested shares as of December 31 2010 21375 28.68

The aggregate intrinsic value of restricted stock vested luring 2012 was approximately $174 million based on

the stock price at the time of vesting

As of December31 2012 there was $289 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested

restricted stock The cost is expected to be recognized over weighted average period of approximately 2.4 years

The vesting of certain restricted stock grants could result in state and federal income tax benefits related to the

difference between the market price of the common stock at the date of vesting and the date of grant During the years
ended December31 2012 2011 and 2010 we recognized reductions in tax benefits related to restricted stock of $32

million $23 million and $15 million respectively which were recorded as adjustments to additional paid-in capital and

deferred income taxes
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Stock Options

We granted stock options prior to 2006 under several stock compensation plans Outstanding options expire ten

years from the date of grant and vest over four-year period As of December 31 2012 all of our outstanding stock

options were fully vested and exercisable

The following table provides information related to stock option activity for 2012 2011 and 2010

Weighted Weighted
Number of Average Average

Shares Exercise Contract Aggregate

Underlying Price Life in Intrinsic

Options Per Share Years VaIue

in thousands in millions

Outstanding at January 2012 1051 9.84 1.41 13

Exercised 570 7.45

Outstanding and exercisable at December 31 2012 481 12.69 0.96

Outstanding at January 2011 1808 8.90 2.03 31

Exercised 757 7.59 15

Outstanding and exercisable at December 31 2011 1051 9.84 1.41 13

Outstanding at January 2010 2283 8.36 2.75 40

Exercised 475 6.29

Outstanding and exercisable at December 31 2010 1808 8.90 2.03 31

The intrinsic value of stock option is the amount by which the current market value or the market value upon

exercise of the underlying stock exceeds the exercise price of the option

As of December 31 2012 there was no remaining unrecognized compensation cost related to stock options

During each of the years ended December31 2012 and 2010 we recognized excess tax benefits related to stock

options of $2 million During the year ended December 31 2011 we recognized reduction in tax benefits related to

stock options of $3 million All amounts were recorded as adjustments to additional paid-in capital and deferred income

taxes

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding and exercisable at December 31

2012

Weighted-Avg
Remaining

Range of Number Contractual Life Weighted-Avg

Exercise Price of Options in Years Exercise Price

in thousands

7.80 9.57 43 0.04 7.83

10.08 10.08 195 0.47 10.08

10.10 12.83 58 O.79 11.79

1335 1335 23 125 1335

1337 1337 23 01 1337

13.58 13.58 1.00 13.58

15.06 15.06 25 1.50 15.06

15.47 15.47 38 2.01 15.47

16.08 16.08 25 1.75 16.08

22.49 22.49 50 2.25 22.49

7.80 22.49 481 0.96 12.69
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Performance Share Units

In January 2012 we granted performance share units PSUs to senior management under our Long Term
Incentive Plan that include both an internal performance measure and an external market condition and that vest over
one- two- and three-year performance periods The internal performance measure is considered performance
condition with fair value generally equal to the Companys stock price The external market condition is considered

market condition and generally requires Monte Carlo simulation to determine the fair value The latter calculation is

based on the absolute total shareholder return TSR of Chesapeake common stock and the relative TSR of Chesapeake
common stock compared to theTSR of certain peers

The payout for each PSU component can range from 0% to 125% and therefore the range of payout under
PSU award is between 0% and 250% Awards are payable in cash at the end of each performance period We account
for PSUs under FASBASC Topic 718 because they include market-based performance component They are classified
as liability in our consolidated financial statements and are required to be measured at fair value as of the grant date
with such value re-measured at the end of each reporting period Compensation expense is recognized over the vesting
period with corresponding adjustment to the liability Because our PSUs vest over three-year period we have
classified some of the liability as short-term and the rest as long-term on our consolidated balance sheet

As of the grant date the fair value of the 271 240 PSUs issued was $35 million As of December31 2012 the
fairvalue of the awards had decreased to $18 million We have recorded $2 million of this value as short-term liability
for vested PSUs and $12 million as long-term liability representing the portion of the award for which the requisite
service period has been completed The remaining $4 million relates to unvested PSUs for which the requisite service
period has not been completed

Noncontrolling Interests

Cleveland Tonkawa Financial Transaction We formed CHK Cleveland Tonkawa L.L.C CHK C-T in March 2012
to continue development of portion of our natural gas and oil assets in our Cleveland and Tonkawa plays CHK C-T
is an unrestricted subsidiary under our corporate credit facility agreement and is not guarantor of or otherwise liable

for any of our indebtedness or other liabilities including under our indentures In exchange for all of the common
shares of CHK we contributed to CHK approximately 245 000 net acres of leasehold and the existing wells
within an area of mutual interest in the Cleveland and Tonkawa plays covering Ellis and Roger Mills counties in western
Oklahoma In March 2012 in private placement third-party investors contributed $1 25 billion in cash to CHK C-T
in exchange for 1.25 million preferred shares and ii our obligation to deliver 3.75% overriding royalty interest
ORRI in the existing wells and up to 1000 new net wells to be drilled on certain of our Cleveland and Tonkawa playleasehold Subject to customary minority interest protections afforded the investors by the terms of the CHK C-I limited
liability company agreement the CHK C-I LLC Agreement as the holder of all the common shares and the sole
managing member of CHK C-I we maintain voting and managerial control of CHK C-T and therefore include it in our
consolidated financial statements Of the $1.25 billion of investment proceeds we allocated $225 million to the ORRI
obligation and $1 .025 billion to the preferred shares based on estimates of fair values The ORRI obligation is included
in other current and long-term liabilities and the preferred shares are included in

noncontrolling interests on our
consolidated balance sheet Pursuant to the CHK C-T LLC Agreement CHK C-T is currently required to retain anamount of cash measured quarterly equal to the next two quarters of preferred dividend payments plus ii its

projected operating funding shortfall for the next six months The amount so retained approximately $57 million as ofDecember 31 2012 is reflected as restricted cash on our consolidated balance sheet

Dividends on the preferred shares are payable on quarterly basis at rate of 6% per annum based on $1 000
per share This dividend rate is subject to increase in limited circumstances in the event that and only for so long as
any dividend amount is not paid in full for any quarter As the managing member of CHK C-T we may at our sole
discretion and election at any time after March 31 2014 distribute certain excess cash of CHK as determined in
accordance with the CHK LLC Agreement Any such optional distribution of excess cash is allocated 75% to the
preferred shares which is applied toward redemption of the preferred shares and 25% to the common shares unless
we have not met our drilling commitment at such time in which case an optional distribution would be allocated 100%
to the preferred shares and applied toward redemption thereof We may also at our sole discretion and election in
accordance with the CHK LLC Agreement cause CHK to redeem all or portion of the CHK preferred
shares for cash The preferred shares will be redeemed at valuation equal to the greater of 9% internal rate of
return or return on investment of 35x in each case inclusive of dividends paid through redemption at the rate of
6% per annum and optional distributions made through the applicable redemption date In the event that redemption
does not occur on or prior to March 31 2019 the optional redemption valuation will increase to provide 15% internal
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rate of return to the investors The preferred shares are redeemed on pro-rata basis in accordance with the then-

applicable redemption valuation formula As of December 31 2012 the redemption price and the liquidation preference

were each $1305 per preferred share

We have committed to drill for the benefit of CHK C-T in the area of mutual interest minimum of 37.5 net wells

per
six-month period through 2013 inclusive of wells drilled in 2012 and 25 net wells per six-month period in 2014

through 2016 up to minimum cumulative total of 300 net wells If we fail to meet the then-current cumulative drilling

commitment in any six-month period any optional cash distributions would be distributed 100% to the investors If we

fail to meet the then-current cumulative drilling commitment in two consecutive six-month periods the then-applicable

internal rate of return to investors at redemption would increase by 3% per annum In addition if we fail to meet the

then-current cumulative drilling commitment in four consecutive six-month periods the then-applicable internal rate of

return to investors at redemption would be increased by an additional 3% per annum Any such increase in the internal

rate of return would be effective only until the end of the first succeeding six-month period in which we have met our

then-current cumulative drilling commitment CHK C-T is responsible
for all capital and operating costs of the wells

drilled for the benefit of the entity

The CHK C-T investors right to receive proportionately
3.75% ORRI in up to 1000 new net wells and the

contributed wells on our Cleveland and Tonkawa leasehold is subject to an increase to 5% on net wells drilled in any

year following year in which we do not meet our commitment to drill the wells subject to the ORRI obligation which

runs from 2012 through the first quarter of 2025 However in no event would we deliver to investors more than total

ORRI of 3.75% in existing wells and 1000 new net wells If at any time we hold fewer net acres than would enable us

to drill all then-remaining net wells on 160-acre spacing the investors have the right to require us to repurchase their

right to receive ORRI5 in the remaining net wells at the then-current fair market value of such remaining net wells We

retain the right to repurchase the investors right to receive ORRls in the remaining net wells at the then-current fair

market value of such remaining net wells once we have drilled minimum of 867 net wells The obligation to deliver

future ORRls has been recorded as liability which will be settled through the conveyance of the underlying ORRls

to the investors on net-well basis at which time the associated liability will be reversed and the sale of the ORRI5

reflected asan adjustment to the capitalized cost of our natural gas and oil properties

As of December 31 2012 $1 .015 billion was recorded as noncontrolling interests on our consolidated balance

sheet representing
the third-party investments in CHK C-T For 2012 income of $57 million was attributable to the

noncontrolling interests of CHK C-T Under the development agreement approximately 85 qualified net wells were

added in 2012 Under the ORRI obligation we delivered an ORRI in approximately 76 new net wells For 2012 we

met all commitments associated with the CHK transaction

Utica Financial Transaction We formed CHK Utica L.L.C CHK Utica in October 2011 to develàp portion of

our Utiäa Shale natural gas and oil assets CHKUtica is an unrestricted subsidiary under our corporate credit facility

agreement and is not guarantor of or otherwise liable for any of our indebtedness or other liabilities including under

our indentures In exchange for all of the common shares of CHK Utica we contributed to CHK Utica approximately

700000 net acres of leasehold and the existing wells within an area of mutual interest in the Utica Shale play covering

13 counties located primarily in eastern Ohio During November and December 2011 in private placements third-

party
investors contributed $1.25 billion in cash to CHK Utica in exchange for 1.25 million preferred shares and

ii our obligation to deliver 3% ORRI in 1500 net wells to be drilled on certain of our Utica Shale leasehold Subject

to customary minority interest protections
afforded the investors by the terms of the CHK Utica limited liability company

agreement the CHK Utica LLC Agreement as the holder of all the common shares and the sole managing member

of CHK Utica we maintain voting and managerial control of CHK Utica and therefore include it in our consolidated

financial statements Of the $1 25 billion of investment proceeds we allocated $300 million to the ORRI obligation and

$950 million to the preferred shares based on estimates of fair values The ORRI obligation is included in other current

and long term liabilities and the preferred shares are included in noncontrolling interests on our consolidated balance

sheets Pursuant to the CHK Utica LLC Agreement CHK Utica is required to retain cash balance equal to the next

two quarters of preferred dividend payments The amount reserved for paying such dividends approximately $44

million is reflected as restricted cash on our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31 2012 In addition pursuant

to the CHK Utica LLC Agreement with respect to any sales proceeds as defined by the agreement CHK Utica is

required to separately account for and dedicate all of such sales proceeds to either capital expenditures made by

CHK Utica in connection with its assets or ii the redemption of CHK Utica preferred shares As result of the sale of

non-core Utica Shale assets in 2012 the amount reserved for paying capital expenditures approximately $155 million

is reflected as restricted cash in other long-term assets on our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31 2012

See Note 11 for further discussion of the sale of non-core Utica Shale assets
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Dividends on the preferred shares are payable on quarterly basis at rate of 7% per annum based on $1000

per share This dividend rate is subject to increase in limited circumstances in the event that and only for so long as

any dividend amount is not paid in full for any quarter If we fail to meet the then-current drilling commitment in any

year we must pay CHK Utica $5 million for each well we are short of such drilling commitment As the managing

member of CHK Utica we may at our sole discretion and election at any time after December 31 2013 distribute

certain excess cash of CHK Utica as determined in accordance with the CHK Utica LLC Agreement Any such optional

distribution of excess cash is allocated 70% to the preferred shares which is applied toward redemption of the preferred

shares and 30% to the common shares unless we have not met our drilling commitment during liquidated damages
period in which case an optional distribution would be allocated 100% to the preferred shares and applied toward

redemption thereof We may also at our sole discretion and eleôtion inaccordance with the CHK Utica LLCAgreement
cause CHK Utica to redeem the CHK Utica preferred shares for cash in whole or in part The preferred shares will be

redeemed at valuation equal to the greater of 10% internal rate of return or return on investment of .4x in each

case inclusive of dividends paid at the rate of 7% per annum and optional distributions made through the applicable

redemption date In the event that redemption does not occur on or prior to October 31 2018 the optional redemption

valuàtionwillincrease to the greater of 17.5% internal rate of return or return on investment of 2.Ox The preferred

shares are redeemed on pro-rata basis in accordance with the then-applicable redemption valuation formula As of

December 31 2012 the redemption price and the liquidation preference were each approximately $1322 per preferred

share

We have committed to drill for the benefit of CHK Utica in the area of mutual interest minimum of 50 net wells

per year from 2012 through 2016 upto minimum cumulative total of 250 net wells CHK Utica is responsible for all

capital and operating costs of the wells drilled for the benefit of the entity CHK Utica also receives its proportionate

share of the benefit of the drilling carry associated with our joint venture with Total in the Utica Shale See Note 11 for

further discussion of the joint venture

The CHK Utica investors right to receive proportionately 3% ORRIin the first 1500 net wells drilled on our

Utica Shale leasehold is subject to an increase to 4% on net wells drilled in any yearJollowing year in which we do

not meet our commitmentto drill the wells subject to the ORRI obligation which runs from 2012 through 2023 However
in no event would we deliver to investors more than total ORRI of 3% in 1500 net wells If at any time we hold fewer

net acres than would enable us to drill all then-remaining net wells on 150-acre spacing the investors have the right

to require us to repurchase their right to receive ORRIs in the remaining net wells at the then-current fair market value

of sUch remaining net wells We retain the right td repurchase the investors right to receive ORRIs in the remaining
net wells at the then-current fair market value of such remaining net wells once we have drilled minimum of 1300
net wells The obligation to deliver future ORRIs has been recorded as liability which will be settled through the future

conveyance of the underlying ORRIs to the investors on net well basis at which time the associated liability will be

reversed and the sale of the ORRIs reflected as an adjustment to the capitalized cost of our natural gas and oil

properties

As of December31 2012 and 2011 $950 million was recorded as noncontrolling interests on our consolidated

balance sheets representing the third-party investments in CHK Utica For 2012 and 2011 income of approximately

$88 million and $10 million was attributable to the noncontrolling interests of CHK Utica Under the development

agreement approximately 66 qualified net wells were added in 2q12 Under the ORRI obligation we delivered an

ORRI in approximately 34 new net wells For 2012 we met our drilling commitment associated with the CHK Utica

transaction but did not meet our ORRI commitment The ORRI will increase to 4% for wells drilled in 2013 and the

ultimate number of wells in which we must assign an interest will be reduced accordingly

Chesapeake Granite Wash Trust In November2011 ChesapeakeGraniteWashTrusttheTrustsold23 000 000

common units representing beneficial interests in the Trust at price of $19.00 per common unit in its initial public

offering The common units are listed on the New York Stock Exchange and trade under the symboL CHKR We own

12062500 common units and 11687500 subordinated units which in the aggregate represent an approximate 51%
beneficial interest in the Trust The Trust has total of 46750000 units outstanding

In connection with the initial public offering of the Trust we conveyed royalty interests to the Trust that entitle the

Trust to receive 90% of the proceeds after deducting certain post-production expenses and any applicable taxes
that we receive from the production of hydrocarbons from 69 producing wells and ii 50% of the proceeds after

deducting certain post production expenses and any applicable taxes in 118 development wells that have been or will

be drilled on approximately 45 400 gross acres 29 000 net acres in the Colony Granite Wash play in Washita County
in the Anadarko Basin of western Oklahoma Pursuant to the terms of development agreement with the Trust we
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are obligated to drill or cause to be drilledthe development wells at our own expense prior to June 30 2016 and the

Trust will not be responsible for any costs related to the drilling of the development wells or any other operating or

capital costs of the Trust properties In addition we granted to the Trust lien on our remaining interests in the

undeveloped properties that are subject tothe development agreement in order to secure our drilling obligation to the

Trust although the maximum amount that may be recovered by the Trust under such lien could not exceed $263 million

initially and is proportionately reduced as we fulfill our drilling obligation overtime As of December31 2012 we had

drilled or caused to be drilled 55 development wells ascalculated under the development agreement and the maximum

amount recoverable under the drilling support lien was approximately $140 million

The subordinated units we hold in the Trust are entitled to receive pro rata distributions from the Trust each quarter

if and to the extent there is sufficient cash to provide cash distribution on the common units that isnot less than the

applicable subordination threshold for such quarter If there is not sufficient cash to fund such distribution on all of

the Trust units the distribution to be made with respect to the subordinated units will be reduced or eliminated for such

quarter in order to make distribution to the extent possible of up to the subordination threshold amount on the

common units In exchange for agreeing to subordinate portion of our Tryst units and in order to provide additional

financial incentive to us to satisfy our drilling obligation and perform operations on the underlying properties in an

efficient and cost-effective manner Chesapeake is entitled to receive incentive distributions equal to 50% of the amount

by which the cash available for distribution on the Trust units in any quarter exceeds the applicable incentive threshold

for such quarter The remaining 50% of cash available for distribution in excess of the applicable incentive threshold

will be paid to Trust unitholders including Chesapeake on pro rata basis At the end of the fourth full calendar quarter

following our satisfaction of our drilling obligation with respect to the development wells the subordinated units will

automatically convert into common units on one-for-one basis and our right to receive incentive distributions will

terminate After such time the common units will no longer have the protection of the subordination threshold and all

Trust unitholders will share in the Trusts distributions on pro rata basis

On November 2012 the Trust declared cash distribution of $0.63 per common unit and $0.22 persubordinated

unit for the three-month period ended September 30 2012 and covering production for the period from June 2012

to August 31 2012 The distribution paid to third-party unitholders on November29 2012 was approximately $15

million

On August 10 2012 the Trust declared cash distrthution of $0 61 per common unit and $0 48 per subordinated

unit for the three-month period ended June 30 2012 and covering production for the period from March 2012 to

May 31 2012 The distribution paid to third-party unitholders on August 30 2012 was approximately $14 million

On May 10 2012 the Trust declared cash distribution of $0 66 per unit for the three-month period ended March

31 2012 and covering production for the period from December 2011 to February 29 2012 The distribution paid

to third-party unitholdØrs on May 31 2012 was approximately $15 million

On February 2012 the Trust declared cash distribution of $0.73 per
unit for the three-month period ended

December 31 2011 and covering production for the period from September 2011 to November 30 2011 The

distribution paid to third-party unitholders on March 2012 was approximately $17 million

We have determined that the Trust constitutes VIE and that Chesapeake is the primary beneficiary As result

the Trust is included in our consolidated financial statements As of December 31 2012 and 2011 $356 million and

$381 million respectively were recorded as noncontrolling interests on our consolidated balance sheets representing

the public unitholders investment in common units of the Trust For 2012 and 2011 approximately $35 million and $5

million of income was attributable to the Trusts noncontrolling interests in our consolidated statement of operations

See Note 13 for further discussion of VIEs

Cardinal Gas Services L.L.C Cardinal Gas Services L.L.C Cardinal an unrestricted non-guarantor

consolidated subsidiary was formed in December 2011 to acquire develop operate and own midstream assets in the

Utica Shale In exchange for the contribution of approximately $14 million in midstream assets to Cardinal we reÆeived

66% of the outstanding membership units of Cardinal In exchange for approximately $5 million Total EP USA Inc

Total received 25% of the outstanding membership units and in exchange for approximately $2 million CGAS

Properties CGAS an affiliate of EnerVest Ltd received 9% of the membership units Each member was

responsible for its proportionate share of capital costs We determined that Cardinal constituted VIE and that

Chesapeake was the primary beneficiary As result Cardinal was included in our consolidated financial statements

until December 2012 and the contributions from Total and CGAS were recorded as noncontrolling interests In

December 2012 we sold our interest in this consolidated entity in connection with the sale of CMO See Note 11 As
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of December 312012 and 2011 thenoncontrolling interest balances on the consolidated balance sheets associated

with the contributions from Total and CGAS were $0 and approximately $7 million respectively

Wireless Seismic Inc We have controlling 57% equity interest in Wireless Seismic Inc Wireless privately

owned company engaged in research development and eventual production of wireless seismic systems and any

related technology that deliver seismic information obtained from standard geophones in real time to laptop and desktop

computers As result of our control Wireless is included in our consolidated financial statements As of December 31

2012 $5 million was recorded as noncontrolling interests on our consolidated balance sheet representing third-party

investments in Wireless For 2012 $4 million of Wireless loss was attributable to noncontrolling interests of Wireless

in our consolidated statement of operations

Big Star Crude Co LLC Oilfield Trucking Solutions LLC wholly owned subsidiary of Chesapeake entered

into joint venture to form Big Star Crude Co LLC which engages in commercial trucking We have determined that

Big Star is VIE because our voting rights are disproportionate to our economic interests and the activities of the entity

involve and are conducted on our behalf We have also determined that Chesapeake is the primary beneficiary since

it has the power to direct the activities of this VIE has the obligation to absorb losses and has the right to receive

benefits from the VIE As result Big Star is included in our consolidated financial statements As of December 31

2012 $1 million was recorded as noncontrolling interests on our consolidated balance sheets representing our joint

venture partners equity investment in Big Star For 2Q12 nominal amount of Big Stars loss was attributable to

noncontrolfing interests of Big Star in our consolidated statement of operations

Derivative and Hedging Activities

Natural Gas Oil and NGL Derivatives

Our results of operations and cash flows are impacted by changes in market prices for natural gas oil and NGL

To mitigate portion of the exposure to adverse market changes we have entered into various derivative instruments

These instruments allow us to predict with greater certainty the effective prices to be received for our production We
believe our derivative instruments continue to be highly effective in achieving our risk management objectives As of

December 31 2012 and 2011 our natural gas oil and NGL derivative instruments consisted of the following types of

instruments

Swaps Chesapeake receives fixed price and pays floating market price to the counterparty for the hedged

commodity

Options Chesapeake sells and occasionally buys call options in exchange for premium At the time of

settlement if the market price exceeds the fixed price of the call option Chesapeake pays the counterparty

such excess on sold call options and Chesapeake receives such excess on bought call options If the market

price settles below the fixed price of the call option no payment is due from either party

Swaptions Chesapeake sells call swaptions to counterparties that allow them on specific date to extend

an existingfixed-price swap for certain period of time

Knockout Swaps Chesapeake receives fixed price and pays floating market price The fixed price received

by Chesapeake includes premium in exchange for the possibility to reduce the counterpartys exposure to

zero in any given month if the floating market price is lower than certain pre-determined knockout price

Basis Protection Swaps These instruments are arrangements that guarantee price differential to NYMEX
from specified delivery point Our natural gas basis protection swaps typically have negative differentials

to NYMEX Chesapeake receives payment from the counterparty if the price differential is gre8ter than the

stated terms of the contract and pays the counterparty if the price differential is less than the stated terms of

the cohtract Our oil basis protection swaps typically have positive differentials to NYMEX Chesapeake

receives payment from the counterparty if the price differential is less than the stated terms of the contract

and pays the counterparty if the price differential is greater than the stated terms of the contract

All of our derivative instruments are net settled based on the difference between the fixed-price payment and

the floating-price payment resulting in net amount due to or from the counterparty
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The estimated fair values of our natural gas oil and NGL derivative instruments as.of December 31 2012 and

2011 are provided below

December 31 2012 December 31 2011

Volume Fair Value Volume Fair Value

in millions in millions

Natural gas tbtu

Fixed-price swaps 49 24

Call options 193 240 1357 284
Basis protection swaps 111 15 106 42

Total natural gas 353 231 1463 326
Oil mmbbl

Fixed-price swaps 28.1 68 14.9 15

Call options 73.8 748 94.7 1282
Call swaptions 5.3 13 7.8 53
Basis protection swaps 5.5

Fixed-price knockout swaps 0.8

Total oil 112.7 693 118.2 1313
Total estimated fair value 924 1639

Pursuant to accounting guidance for derivatives and hedging certain derivatives qualify for designation as cash

flow hedges Following this guidance changes in the fair value of derivative instruments designated as cash flow

hedges to the extent they are effective in offsetting cash flows attributable to the hedged risk and locked-in gains and

losses of settled designated derivative contracts are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income until the

hedged item is recognized in earnings as the physical transactions being hedged occur Any change in fair value

resulting from ineffectiveness is recognized in natural gas oil and NGL sales Changes in the fair value of derivatives

not designated as cash flow hedges that occur prior to their maturity ie temporary fluctuations in value are reported

in the consolidated statements of operations within natural gas oil and NGL sales As of December31 2012 we did

not have any natural gas or oil derivatives that were designated as cash flow hedges Therefore changes in the fair

value of these derivatives are reported in the consolidated statement of operations See further discussion below under

Cash Flow Hedges

The components of natural gas oil and NGL sales for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 are

presented below

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

in millions

Natural gas oil and NGL sales 5359 5259 4248

Gains losses on natural gas oil and NGL derivatives 919 772 1422

Gains losses on ineffectiveness of cash flow hedges 23
Total natural gas oil and NGL sales 6278 6024 5647

Hedging Facility

We have multi-counterparty secured hedgingfacility with 17 counterparties that have committed to provide

approximately 6.4 tcfe of hedging capacity for natural gas oil and NGL price derivatives and 6.4 tcfe for basis derivatives

with an aggregate mark-to-market capacity of $17.0 billion under the terms of the facility As of December 31 2012

we had hedged underthe facility 0.9 tcfe ofourfuture production with price derivatives and 0.1 tcfe with basis derivatives

The multi-couriterparty facility allowsus to enter into cash-settled natural gas oil and NGL price and basis derivatives

with the counterparties Our obligations under the multi-counterparty facility are secured by proved reserves the value

of which must cover the fair value of the transactions outstanding under the facility by at least .65 times at semi

annual collateral dates and .30 times in between those dates and guarantees by certain subsidiaries that also

guarantee our corporate revolving bank creditfacility indentures and sale/leaseback arrangements The counterparties

obligations under the facility must be secured by cash or short-term U.S Treasury instruments to the extent that any
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mark-to-market amounts they owe to Chesapeake exceed defined thresholds The maximum volume-based trading

capacity under the facility is governed by the expected production of the pledged reserve collateral and volume-based

trading limits are applied separately to price and basis derivatives In addition there are volume-based sub-limits for

natural gas oil and NGL derivative instruments Chesapeake has significant flexibility with regard to releases and/or

substitutions of pledged reserves provided that certain requirements are met including maintaining specified collateral

coverage ratios as well as maintaining credit rtings with either of the designated rating agencies at or above current

levels The facility does not have -a maturity date Counterpaities to the agreement have the right to cease entering

into derivative instruments with the Company on prospective basis as long as obligations associated with any existing

transactions in the facility continue to be satisfied in accordance with the terms of the agreement

Interest Rate Derivatives

To mitigate portion of our exposure to volatility in interest rates related to our senior notes and bank credit

facilities we enter into interest rate derivatives As of December 31 2012 and 2011 our interest rate derivative

instruments consisted of the following types of instruments

Swaps Chesapeake enters into fixed-to-floating interest rate swaps we receive fixed interest rate and pay

floating market rate tomitigate our exposure to changes in the fair value of our seniOr notes We enter into

floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps we receive floating market rate and pay fixed interest rate to manage

our interest rate exposure related to our bank-credit facilities borrowings

Swaptions Occasionally we sell an option to counterparty for premium which allows the counterparty to

enter into pre-determined swap with us on specific date

The notional amount and the estimated fair value of our interest rate derivatives outstanding as of December 31

2012 and 2011 are provided below

December 31 2012 December 31 2011

Notional Fair Notional Fair

Amount Value Amount Value

in millions

Interest rate

Swaps 1050 35 1050 42

Swaptions 300

Totals 1050 35 1350 42

Gains or losses from interest rate derivative transactions are reflected as adjustments to interest expense in the

consolidated statements of operations The components of interest expense for the years ended 2012 2011 and 2010

are presented below

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

in millions

Interest expense on senior notes 732 653 718

Interest expense on credit facilities 70 70 61

Interest expense on term loans 173

Gains losses on interest rate derivatives 14 80
Amortization of loan discount issuance costs and other 89 39 36

Capitalized interest 980 732 716

Total interest expense 77 44 19

We have terminated certain fairvalue hedges related to senior notes Gains and losses related to these terminated

hedges will be amortized as an adjustment to interest expense over the remaining term of the related senior notes

Over the next eight years we will recognize $20 million in net gains related to such transactions
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Foreign Currency Derivatives

In December 2006 we issued 600 million of 6.25% Euro-denominated Senior Notes due 2017 Concurrent with

the issuance of the euro-denominated senior notes we entered into cross currency swaps to mitigate our exposure

to fluctuations in the euro relative to the dollar over the term of the notes In May 2011 we purchased and subsequently

retired 256 million in aggregate principal amount of these senior notes following tender offer and we simultaneously

unwound the cross currency swaps for the same principal amount As result we reclassified loss of $38 million

from accumulated other comprehensive income to the consolidated statement of operations $20 million of which

related to the unwound notional amount and was included in losses on purchases or exthanges of debt and $18

million of which related to future interest associated with the unwound principal and was included in interest expense
Under the terms of the remaining cross currency swaps on each semi-annual interest payment date the counterparties

pay Chesapeake 11 million and Chesapeake pays the counterparties $17 million which yields an annual dollar-

equivalent interest rate of 7.491% Upon maturity of the notes the counterparties will pay Chesapeake 344 million

and Chesapeake will pay the counterparties $459 million The terms of the cross currency swaps were based on the

dollar/euro exchange rate on the issuance date of $1 .3325 to 1.00 Through the cross currency swaps we have

eliminated any potential variability in Chesapeakes expected cash flows related to changes in foreign exchange rates

and therefore the swaps are designated as cash flow hedges The fair values of the cross currency swaps are recorded

on the consolidated balance sheet as liability of $20 million at December 31 2012 The euro-denominated debt in

long-term debt has been adjusted to $454 million at December 31 2012 using an exchange rate of $1 .3193 to 1.00
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In accordance with accounting guidance for derivatives and hedging to the extent that legal right of set-off

exists Chesapeake nets the value of its derivative arrangements with the same counterparty in the accompanying

consolidated balance sheets Derivativeinstruments reflected as current in the consolidated balance sheets represent

the estimated fair value of derivatives scheduled to settle over the next twelve months based on market prices/rates

as of the respective balance sheet dates The derivative settlement amounts are not due until the month in which the

related hedged transaction occurs Cash settlements of our derivative instruments are generally classified as operating

cash flows unless the derivative is deemed to contain for accounting purposes significant financing element at

contract inception in which case these cash settlements are classified as financing cash flows in the accompanying

consolidated statements of cash flows

The following table presents the fair value and location of each classification of derivative instrument disclosed

in the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31 2012 and 2011 on gross basis without regard to same

counterparty netting

Asset Derivatives

Not designated as hedging instruments

Commodity contracts Short-term derivative instruments

Commodity contracts Long-term derivative instruments

Total

Liability Derivatives

Designated as hedging instruments

Foreign currency contracts

Not designated as hedging instruments

Commodity contracts Short-term derivative instruments

Commodity contracts

Interest rate contracts

Long-term derivative instruments 882 1462

Long-term derivative instruments 35 42

Total
1074 1736

Total derivative instruments 979 1719

consolidated summary of the effect of derivative instruments on the consolidated statements of operations

for 2012 2011 and 2010 is provided below separating fair value cash flow and undesignated derivatives

Additional Disclosures Regarding Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

Balance Sheet Location

Fair Value

December 31

2012 2011

in millions

110 54

115 55

Total

Long-term derivative instruments 20
20

157

38
38

232
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Fair Value Hedges

For interest rate derivative instruments designated asfair value hedges the fair values of the hedges are recorded
onthe consolidated balance sheets as assets or liabilities with corresponding offsetting adjustments to the debts

carrying value We have elected not to designate any of our qualifying interest rate derivatives as fair value hedges
Therefore changes in the fair value of allof our interest rate derivatives that occur prior to their maturity i.e temporary
fluctuations in value are reported in the consolidated statements of operations within interest expense

The following table presents the gain loss recognized in the consolidated statements of operations for terminated
instruments designated as fair value derivatives

Years Ended December 31
Fair Value Derivatives Location of Gain Loss 2012 2011 2010

in millions
Interest rate contracts Interest expense 16 20

We include the expense on the hedged item i.e fixed-rate borrowings in the same line item interest expense
as the offsetting gain or loss on the related interest rate swap listed above For the years ended December31 2012

2011 and 2010 this expense was $0 $23 million and $19 million respectively

Cash Flow Hedges

reconciliation of the changes of accumulated other comprehensive income loss in the consolidated statements
of stockholders equity related to our cash flow hedges is presented below

Years Ended December 31
2012 2011 2010

Before After Before After Before After
Tax Tax Tax Tax Tax Tax

in millions

Balance beginning of period 287 178 291 181 134 84

Net change in fair value 10 368 228 364 226

Gains reclassified to income 27 17 364 225 789 491
Balance end of period 304 189 287 178 291 181

Approximately $179 million of the $189 million of accumulated other comprehensive loss as of December31
2012 represents the net deferred loss associated with commodity derivative contracts that were previously designated
as cash flow hedges Because the originally forecasted transactions are still expected to occur these amounts are

being recognized in earnings in the month the originally forecasted production occurs As of December 31 2012 we
expect to transfer approximately $20 million of net loss included in accumulated other comprehensive income to net
income loss during the next 12 months The remaining amount will be transferred by December31 2022 As of

December31 2012 none of our open commodity derivative instruments were designated as cash flow hedge
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Cash Flow Derivatives Location of Gain Loss

Gain Loss Recognized in AOCI

Effective Portion

Commodity contracts

Foreign currency contracts

392 386

10

10 24 22
368 364

The following table presents the gain loss recognized in the consolidated statements of operations for

instruments not designated as either cash flow or fair value hedges

Years Ended December 31

Derivative Contracts Location of Gain Loss 2012 2011 2010

in millions

Commodity contracts Natural gas oil and NGL sales 892 348 .629

Interest rate contracts Interest expense 12 60

Total
891 336 689

Credit Risk

Derivative instruments that enable us to manage our exposure to natural gas and oil prices and interest rate

volatility expose us to credit risk from our counterparties To mitigate this risk we enter into derivative contracts only

with counterparties that are rated investment-grade and deemed by management to be competent and competitive

market makers and we attempt to limit our exposure to non-performance by any single counterparty On December 31

2012 our natural gas oil and interest rate derivative instruments were spread among 12 counterparties Additionally

counterparties to our multi-counterparty secured hedging facility described previously are required to secure their

obligations in excess of defined thresholds We use this facilityforthe majority of our natural gas oil and NGLderivatives
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The following table presents the pre-tax gain loss recognized in and reclassified from accumulated other

comprehensive income AOCI related to instrumentsdesignated as cash flow derivatives

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 .2010

in millions

Gain Loss Reclassified from

AOCI Effective Portion

Commodity contracts

Foreign currency contracts

AOCI

AOCI

Natural gas oil and NGL sales

Interest expense

27 402 789

18
20

27$ 364 $789

23

Foreign currency contracts Loss on purchase of debt
___________

Gain Loss Recognized in

Income

Commodity contracts

Ineffective portion
Natural gas oil and NGL sales

Amount initially excluded

from effectiveness

testing
Natural gas oil and NGL sales 22

15 19

Undesignated Derivatives
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10 Supplemental Disclosures About Natural Gas Oil and NGL Producing Activities Unaudited

Net Capitalized Costs

Evaluated and unevaluated capitalized costs related to Chesapeakes natural gas oil and NGL producing activities

are summarized as follows

December 31

2012 2011

in millions

Natural gas and oil properties

Proved 50172 41723

Unproved 14755 16685

Total 64927 58408
Less accumulated depreciation depletion and amortization 33009 27208
Net capitalized costs 31918 31200

Unproved properties not subject to amortization at December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 consisted mainly of

leasehold acquired through direct purchases of significant natural gas and oil property interests We capitalized

approximately $976 million $727 million and $711 million of interest during 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively on

significant investments in unproved properties that were not yet included in the amortization base of the full cost pool
We will continue to evaluate our unproved properties and although the timing of the ultimate evaluation or disposition

of the properties cannot be determined we can expect the majority of our unproved properties not held by production

to be transferred into the amortization base over the next five years

Costs Incurred in Natural Gas and Oil Property Acquisition Exploration and Development

Costs incurred in natural gas and oil property acquisition exploration and development activities which have been

capitalized are summarized as follows

332 48 243

2981 4736 6953

2353 2261 872

6733 5497 4741

12399 12542 12809

Exploratory and development costs are net of joint venture drilling and completion cost carries of $784 million

$2.570 billion and $1.151 billion in 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

Includes capitalized interest and asset retirement cost as follows

Capitalized interest

Asset retirement obligations

976 727 711

32

In 2012 we invested approximately $1 .035 billion net of drilling and completion cost carries of $86 million to

convert 961 bcfe of PUDs to proved developed reserves

Acquisitions of properties

Proved properties

Unproved properties

Exploratory costs

Development costs

Costs incurred

Years Ended December 31
2012 2011 2010

in millions
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Results of Operations from Natural Gas Oil and NGL Producing Activities

Chesapeakes results of operations from natural gas oil and NGL producing activities are presented below for

2012 2011 and 2010 The following table includes revenues and expenses associated directly with our natural gas
oil and NGL producing activities It does not include any interest costs or general and administrative costs and therefore

is not necessarily indicative of the contribution to consolidated net operating results of our natural gas oil and NGL

operations

Years Ended Decetnber 31
2012 2011 2010

in millions

Natural gas oil and NGL sales 6278 6024 5647

Natural gas oil and NGL production expenses 1304 1073 893
Production taxes 188 192 157

Impairment of natural gas and oil properties 3315
Depletion and depreciation 2507 1632 1394
Imputed income tax provision 404 1220 1233
Results of operations from natural gas oil and NGL producing

activities 632 1907 1970

The imputed income tax provision is hypothetical at the effective income tax rate and determined without regard

to our deduction for general and administrative expenses interest costs and other income tax credits and

deductions nor whether the hypothetical tax provision benefit will be payable receivable

Natural Gas Oil and NGL Reserve Quantities

Chesapeakes petroleum engineers and independent petroleum engineering firms estimated all of our proved

reserves as of December31 20122011 and 2010 Independent petroleum engineering firms estimated an aggregate

of 89% 77% and 78% of our estimated proved reserves by volume as of December 31 2012 2011 and 2010

respectively as set forth below

December 31

2012 2011 2010

Ryder Scott Company L.P 44% 19% 6%

PetroTechnical Services Division of Schlumberger Technology Corporation 24% 7% 7%

Netherland Sewell Associates Inc 21% 42% 58%

Lee Keeling and Associates Inc 9% 7%

Proved natural gas oil and NGL reserves are those quantities of natural gas oil and NGL which by analysis of

geoscience and engineering data can be estimated with reasonable certainty to be economically producible from

given date forward from known reservoirs and under existing economic conditions operating methods and

government regulations prior to the time at which contracts providing the right to operate expire unless evidence

indicates that renewal is reasonably certain regardless of whether deterministic or probabilistic methods are used for

the estimation Existing economic conditions include prices and costs at which economic producibility from reservoir

is to be determined Based on reserve reporting rules the price is calculated using the average price during the 12-

month period prior to the ending date of the period covered by the report determined as an unweighted arithmetic

average of the first-day-of-the-month price for each month within such period unless prices are defined by contractual

arrangements excluding escalations based upon future conditions project to extract hydrocarbons must have

commenced or the operator must be reasonably certain that it will commence the project within reasonable time

The area of the reservoir considered as proved includes the area identified by drilling and limited by fluid contacts

if any and ii adjacent undrilled portions of the reservoir that can with reasonable certainty be judged to be continuous

with it and to contain economically producible natural gas or oil on the basis of available geoscience and engineering

data In the absence of data on fluid contacts proved quantities in reservoir are limited by the lowest known

hydrocarbons as seen in well penetration unless geoscience engineering or performance data and reliable technology

establish lower contact with reasonable certainty Where direct observation from well penetrations has defined
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highest known oil elevation and the potential exists for an associated natural gas cap proved oil reserves may be

assigned in the structurally higher portions of the reservoir only if geoscience engineering or performance data and

reliable technology establish the higher contact with reasonable certainty Reserves which can be produced

economically through application of improved recovery techniques including but not limited to fluid injection are

included in the proved classification when successful testing by pilot project in an area of the reservoir with

properties no more favorable than in the reservoir as whole the operation of an installed program in the reservoir or

an analogous reservoir or other evidence using reliable technology establishes the reasonable certainty of the

engineering analysison which the project or program was based and ii the project has been approved for development

by all necessary parties and entities including governmental entities

Developed natural gas oil and NGL reserves are reserves of any category that can be expected to be recovered

through existing wells with existing equipment and operating methods or in which the cost of the required equipment

is relatively minor compared to the cost of new well

The information below on our natural gas oil and NGL reserves is presented in accordance with regulations

prescribed by the SEC as in effect as of the date of such estimates Our reserve estimates are generally based upon

extrapolation of historical production trends analogy to similar properties and volumetric calculations Accordingly

these estimates will change as future information becomes available and as commodity prices change Such changes

could be material and could occur in the near term

Presented below is summary of changes in estimated reserves for 2012 2011 and 2010

December 31 2012

Proved developed reserves

Beginning of period

End of period

Proved undeveloped reserves

Beginning of period

End of period

Gas Oil NGL Total

bcf mmbbl mmbbl bcfe

Proved reserves beginning of period

Extensions discoveries and other additions

Revisions of previous estimates

Production

Sale of reserves-in-place

Purchase of reserves-in-place

Proved reserves end of period

15515

3317

6080
1129

704
14

10933

291.6

374.0

67.5

31.3

75.5

4.2

495.5

253.9

139.4

47.3

17.6

31.7

0.6

297.3

130.6

132.1

18789

6391

6763

1422

1347
42

15690

10106

8944

8578 124.0

7174 162.9

6937 167.6

3759 332.6

123.3 8683

165.2 6746
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Gas Oil NGL Total

bcf mmbbl mmbbl bcfe

December 31 2011

Proved reserves beginning of period 15455 150.1 123.3 17096

Extensions discoveries and other additions 4156 .168.4 85.2 5683

Revisions of previous estimates 361 7.8 60.6 50
Production 1004 17.0 14.7 1194

Sale of reserves-in-place 2754 2.6 1.2 2776

Purchase of reserves-in-place 23 0.5 0.7 30

Proved reserves end of period 15515 291.6 253.9 18789

Proved developed reserves

Beginning of period 8246 84.2 64.0 9143

End of period 8578 124.0 130.6 10106

Proved undeveloped reserves

Beginning of period 7209 65.9 59.3 7953

End of period 6937 167.6 123.3 8683

December31 2010

Proved reserves beginning of period 13510 124.0 14254

Extensions discoveries and other additions 4678 47.6 22.3 5098

Revisions of previous estimates 445 3.6 108.3 183

Production 925 10.9 7.5 1035

Sale of reserves-in-place 1426 11.2 1493

Purchase of reserves-in-place 63 4.2 0.2 89

Proved reserves end of period 15455 150.1 123.3 17096

Proved developed reserves

Beginning of period 7859 78.8 8331

End of period 8246 84.2 64.0 9143

Proved undeveloped reserves

Beginning of period 5651 45.2 5923

End of period 7209 65.9 59.3 7953

Includes 91 bcf of natural gas mmbbls of oil and mmbbls of NGL reserves owned by the Chesapeake Granite

Wash Trust 45 bcf of natural gas mmbbls of oil and mmbbls of NGL ofwhich are attributable to the noncontrolling

interest holders

Includes 136 bcf of natural gas mmbbls of oil and 14 mmbbls of NGL reserves owned by the Chesapeake

Granite Wash Trust 67 bcf of natural gas mmbbls of oil and mmbbls of NGL of which are attributable to the

noncontrolling interest holders

Prior to 2010 NGL reserve volumes were recognized as component of natural gas volumes

During 2012 we acquired approximately 42 bcfe of proved reserves through purchases of natural gas and oil

properties for consideration of $332 million and we sold 1.347 tcfe of our proved reserves for approximately $2.381

billion During 2012 we recorded downward revisions of 6.763 tcfe to the December31 2011 estimates of our reserves

Included in the revisions were 5.4 14 tcfe of downward revisions resulting from lower natural gas prices in 2012 and

1.349 tcfe of downward revisions resulting from changes to previous estimates Lower prices decrease the economic

lives of the underlying natural gas and oil properties and thereby decrease the estimated future reserves The natural

gas and oil prices used in computing our reserves as of December 31 2012 were $2.76 per mcf and $94.84 per bbl

before price differentials Including the effect of price differential adjustments the prices used in computing our reserves
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as of December 31 2012 were $1.75 per mcf of natural gas $91.78 per barrel of oil and $30.81 per barrel of NGL
The nonprice-related revisions were primarily the result of our continued execution of the Company strategy to shift

its drilling focus from natural gas to liquids-rich areas and to drill in the core of the core of its acreage positions As

rigs were reallocated PUDs were removed from various non-core areas resulting in downward revisions As of

December 31 2012 there were no PUDsthat had remained undeveloped for five years or more

During 2011 we acquired approximately 30 bcfe of proved reserves through purchases of natural gas and oil

properties for consideration of $48 million and we sold 2.776 tcfe of our proved reserves for approximately $2612

billion including divestitures related to our Fayetteville Shale assets VPP transaction and other non-core asset sales

During 2011 we recorded negative revisions of 50 bcfe to the December31 2010 estimates of our reserves Included

in the revisions were 273 bcfe of positive revisions to producing properties offset by 337 bcfe of negative revisions

associated with the deletion of PUD reserves no longer consistent with our development plans In addition we had 14

bcfe of positive revisions resulting from higher oil prices Higher prices increase the economic lives of the underlying

natural gas and oil properties and thereby increase the estimated future reserves The natural gas and oil prices used

in computing our reserves as of December31 2011 were $4.12 per mcf and $95.97 per bbl before price differentials

Including the effect of price differential adjustments the prices used in computing our reserves as of December 31

2011 were $3.19 per mcf of natural gas $88.50 per bbl of oil and $40.38 per bbl of NGL

During 2010 we acquired approximately 89 bcfe of proved reserves through purchases of natural gas and oil

properties for consideration of $243 million and we sold 1.493 tcfe of our proved reserves for approximately $2.876

billion including divestitures related to three VPP transactions the sale of portion of our Barnett Shale assets and

other non-core asset sales During 2010 we recorded positive revisions of 183 bcfe to the December31 2009 estimates

of our reserves Included in the revisions were 189 bcfe of positive revisions resulting from higher natural gas prices

and bcfe of downward revisions resulting from changes to previous estimates The natural gas and oil prices used

in computing our reserves as of December 31 2010 were $4.38 per mcf and $79.42 per bbl before price differentials

Including the effect of price differential adjustments the prices used in computing our reserves as of December 31
2010 were $3.52 per mcf of natural gas $75.17 per bbl of oil and $32.06 per bbl of NGL

Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash Flows

Accounting Standards Topic 932 prescribes guidelines for computing standardized measure of future net cash

flows and changes therein relating to estimated proved reserves Chesapeake has followed these guidelines which

are briefly discussed below

Future cash inflows and future production and development costs as of December31 2012 2011 and 2010 were

determined by applying the average of the first-day-of-the-month prices for the 12 months of the year and year-end

costs to the estimated quantities of natural gas oil and NGL to be produced Actual future prices and costs may be

materially higher or lower than the prices and costs used For each year estimates are made of quantities of proved

reserves and the future periods during which they are expected to be produced based on continuation of the economic

conditions applied for such year Estimated future income taxes are computed using current statutory income tax rates

including consideration of the current tax basis of the properties and related carryforwards giving effect to permanent

differences and tax credits The resulting future net cash flows are reduced to present value amounts by applying

10% annual discount factor

The assumptions used to compute the standardized measure are those prescribed by the Financial Accounting

Standards Board and as such do not necessarily reflect our expectations of actual revenue to be derived from those

reserves nor their present worth The limitations inherent in the reserve quantity estimation process as discussed

previously are equally applicable to the standardized measure computations since these estimates reflect the valuation

process
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The following summary sets forth our future net cash flows relating to proved natural gas oil and NGL reserves

based on the standardized measure

Years Ended December 31
2012 2011 2010

in millions

Future cash inflows 85537 69616

Future production costs 18 809 23 022 20 384

Future development costs 12656 14471 11602
Future income tax provisions 9824 12266 6859

32465 35778 30771

17799 20148 17588
14666 15630 13183

Calculated using prices of $2.76 per mcf of natural gas and $94.84 per bbl of oil before field differentials

Calculated using prices of $4.12 per mcf of natural gas and $95.97 per bbl of oil before field differentials

Calculated using prices of $4.38 per mcf of natural gas and $79.42 per bbl of oil before field differentials

Excludes future cash inflows attributable to production volumes sold to VPP buyers and includes future cash

outflows attributable to the costsof such production See Note 11

The principal sources of change in the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows are as follows

3867 3993 3199

2720 512 3337

11115 9139 5580

3687 667 173

680 717

708 199

50 255

3246 2083 2235
1988 1515 945

2286 716
1046 76
15630 13183

The impact of cash flow hedges has not been included in any of the periods presented

Excluding gains losses on derivatives

Effect of noncontrolling interest of the Chesapeake Granite Wash Trust is immaterial

The standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows does not include estimated future cash inflows

attributable to future production of VPP volumes sold and does include estimated future cash outflows attributable

to the costs of future production of VPP volumes sold
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Future net cash flows

Less effect of 10% discount factor

Standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows

Years Ended December 31
2012 2011 2010

in millions

15630 13183 8203Standardized measure beginning of period

Sales of natural gas and oil produced net of production COStS

Net changes in prices and production costs

Extensions and discoveries net of production and

development costs

Changes in future development costs

Development costs incurred during the period that reduced

future development costs

Revisions of previous quantity estimates

Purchase of reserves-in-place

Sales of reserves-in-place

Accretion of discount

Net change in income taxes

Changes in production rates and other

Standardized measure end of period

1046

8699
285

1142

1695
14666
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11 Acquisitions and DivØstitures

Acquisition of Bronco Drilling

InJune 201 1we acquired Bronco Drilling Company Inc publicly traded contract land drilling services company

for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $339 million or $11.00 per share of Bronco common stock The

acquisition was accounted for as business combination which among other things requires assets acquired and

liabilities assumed to be measured at their acquisition date fair values Pro forma financial information is not presented

as it would not be materially different from the information presented in the consolidated statement of operations

The following table summarizes the assets acquired and liabilities assumed

Current assets

Drilling rigs and equipment

Goodwill

Intangible assets

Other

Total assets acquired

Current liabilities

Long-term liabilities

Deferred income taxes

Total liabilities assumed

53

290

28

10

16

397

32

25

58

Net assets acquired
339

The acquisition date fair value of the consideration transferred was $339 million in cash We received carryover

tax basis in Broncos assets and liabilities because the acquisition was not taxable transaction under the Internal

Revenue Code Based upon the purchase price allocation step-up in basis related to the assets aàquired from

Bronco resulted in net deferred tax liability of approximately $25 million We recorded goodwill of $28 million which

represents the amount of the consideration transferred in excess of the fair values assigned to the individual assets

acquired and liabilities assumed Goodwill is primarily attributable to operational and cost synergies exected to be

realized from the acquisition by integrating Broncos drilling rigs and assembled workforce and is included in other

long-term assets on our consolidated balance sheets Goodwill was assigned to drilling rig operations within our oilfield

services segment which is discussed in Note 17 Goodwill recorded in the acquisition is not subject to amortization but

is tested annually for impairment on October None of the goodwill is deductible for tax purposes See Goodwill in

Note for further discussion The drilling rigs and equipment we acquired from Bronco are now owned by Nomac

Drilling L.L.C drilling subsidiary of COO

As of

June 2011

in millions
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Divestitures of Natural Gas and Oil Properties

During 2012 and 2011 we engaged in the asset sales transactions described below as well as other individually

insignificant sales

Permian Basin In September and October 2012 we sold the vast majority of our Permian Basin assets

representing approximately 6% of our total proved reserves as of June 30 2012 and 6% of our 2012 second quarter

net production in three separate transactions for total net cash proceeds of approximately $3.091 billion Approximately

$466 million of additional consideration was withheld subject to certain title environmental and other standard

contingencies Following the closing we received approximately $84 million of such consideration including $45 million

received subsequent to December31 2012 and we expect to receive the majority of the remaining contingent amount

in 2013 Of the total proceeds we allocated approximately$42 milion to our Permian Basin midstream and other fixed

assets The remaining proceeds were allocated to our Permian Basin natural gas and oil properties.

We used the net proceeds received from these transactions to reduce the outstanding balance on our May 2012

term loans See Note for further discussion of the term loan repayments

Chit wood Knox In December2012 we sold approximately 40000 net acres of non-core leasehold in the Chitwood

Knox play in Oklahoma for approxJmately $540 million in cash

Non-Core Utica Shale In August 2012 we sold approximately 72000 net acres of non-core leasehold in the

Utica shale play in Ohio to affiliates of EnerVest for approximately $358 million in cash

Texoma Woodford In April 2012 we sold approximately 60 000 net acres of leasehold in the Texoma Woodford

play in Oklahoma to XTO Energy Inc subsidiary of Exxon Mobil Corporation NYSEXOM for approximately $572

million in cash The properties included approximately 25 mmcfe per day of current net production

Fayetteville Shale In March 2011 we sold all of our Fayetteville Shale assets in central Arkansas to BHP Billiton

Petroleum wholly owned subsidiary of BHP Billiton Limited NYSE BHP ASX BHP for net proceeds of approximately

$4.65 billion in cash The properties sold consisted of approximately 487000 net acres of leasehold net production

at closing of approximately 415 mmcfe per day and midstream assets consisting of approximately 420 miles of pipeline

Of the total proceeds received $350 million was allocated to our Fayetteville Shale midstream assets and $7 million

gain was recorded on the divestiture of those assets The remainder of the proceeds was allocated to our Fayetteville

Shale natural gas and oil properties

Under full cost accounting rules we accounted for the sale of natural gas and oil properties as an adjustment to

capitalized costs with no recognition of gain or loss as the sales did not involve significant change in proved reserves

or significantly alterthe relationship between costs and proved reserves In conjunction with certain of these transactions

affiliates of our Chief Executive Offic Aubrey McClendon sold interests in the saEne properties and on the same

terms as those that applied to the interests sold by the Company and the net proceeds were paid to the sellers based

on their respective ownership These interests were acquired through the FWPP as described in Note
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Joint Ventures

As of December31 2012 we had entered into seven significant joint ventures with other leading energy

companies pursuant to which we sold portion of our leasehold producing properties and other assets located in

seven different resource plays and received cash of $7.1 billion and commitments for future drilling and completion

cost sharing totaling $9 billion In each of these joint ventures Chesapeake serves as the operator and conducts all

teasing drilling completion operations and marketing activities for the project The carry obligations paid by joint

venture partner are for specified percentage of our drilling and completion cost obligations In addition joint venture

partner is responsiblefor its proportionate share of drilling and completion costs as working interest owner We bill

our joint venture partners for their drilling carry obligations at the same time we bill them and other joint working interest

owners for their share of drilling costs as they are incurred For accounting purposes initial cash proceeds from these

joint venture transactions were reflected as reduction of natural gas and oil properties with no gain or loss recognized

The transactions are detailed below

Cash Total Cash

Joint Joint Proceeds Total and Drilling Drilling

Primary Venture Venture Interest Received Drilling Carry Carries

Play Partner Date Sold at Closing Carries Proceeds Remaining

in millions

Utica TOT December2011 25.0% 610 1422 2032 1153

Niobrara CNOOC February 2011 33.3% 570 697 1267 463

Eagle Ford CNOOC November2010 33.3% 1120 1080 2200

Barnett TOT January 2010 25 0% 800 404 204

Marcellus STO November2008 32.5% 1250 2125 3375

Fayetteville BP September2008 25.0% 1100 800 1900

Haynesville

Bossier PXP July 2008 20 0% 650 508 158

7100 9036 16136 1616

Joint venture partners include Total S.A TOT CNOOC LimitedCNOOC Statoil STO BPAmerica BP and

Plains Exploration Production Company PXP

AsofDecember3l 2012

The Utica drilling carries cover 60% of our drilling and completion costs for Utica wells drilled and must be used

by December 2018 We expect to fully utilize these drilling carry commitments prior to epiration See Note for

further discussion of the Utica drillingcarries

The Niobrara drilling carries cover 67% of our drilling and completion costs for Niobrara wells drilled and must be

used by December 2014 We expect to fully utilize these drilling carry commitments prior to expiration

In conjunction with an agreement requiring us to maintain our operated rig count at no less than 12 rigs in the

Barnett Shale through December 31 2012 TOT accelerated the payment of its remaining joint venture drilling

carry in exchange for an approximate 9% reduction in the total amount of drilling carry obligation owed to us at

that time As result in October2011 we received $471 million in cash from TOT which included $46 million of

drilling carry obligation billed and $425 million for the remaining drilling carry obligation In January 2012

Chesapeake and TOT agreed to reduce the minimum rig count from 12 to six rigs In May 2012 Chesapeake

and TOT agreed to further reduce the minimum rig count from six to two rigs

In September 2009 PXP accelerated the payment of its remaining drilling carry
in exchange for an approximate

12% reduction to the remaining drilling carry obligation owed to us at that time

During 2012 2011 and 2010 our drilling and completion costs included the benefit of approximately $784 million

$2570 billion and $1151 billion respectively in drilling and completion carries paid by our joint venture partners
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During 2012 2011 and 2010 as part of our joint venture agreements with CNOOC TOT STO and PXP we sold

interests in additional leasehold we acquired in the Niobrara Eagle Ford Marcellus Barnett Utica Haynesville and

Bossier shale plays to our joint venture partners for approximately $272 million $511 million and $440 million

respectively For accounting purposes cash proceeds from these transactions were reflected as reduction of natural

gas and oil properties with no gain or loss recognized

Volumetric Production Payments

From time to time we have sold certain of our producing assets which are located in more mature producing

regions through the sale of volumetric production payments VPPs VPP is limited-term overriding royalty interest

in natural gas and oil reserves that entitles the purchaser to receive scheduled production volumes over period

of time from specific lease interests ii is free and clear of all associated future production costs and capital

expenditures iii is nonrecourse to the seller i.e the purchasers only recourse is to the reserves acquired

iv transfers title of the reserves to the purchaser and allows the seller to retain all production beyond the specified

volumes if any after the scheduled production volumes have been delivered For all of our VPP transactions we have

novated hedges to each of the respective VPP buyers and such hedges covered all VPP volumes sold If contractually

scheduled volumes exceed the actual volumes produced from the VPP wellbores that are attributable to the ORRI

conveyed either the shortfall will be made up from future production from these wellbores or at our option from our

retained interest in the wellbores through an adjustment mechanism or the initial term of the VPP will be extended

until all scheduled volumes to the extent produced are delivered from the VPP wellbores to the VPP buyer We retain

drilling rights on the properties below currently producing intervals and outside of producing well bores

As the operator of the properties from whiÆh the VPP volumes have been sold we have the responsibility to bear

the cost of producing the reserves attributable to such interests which we include as component of production

expenses and production taxes in our consolidated statements of operations in the periods such costs are incurred

As with all non-expense-bearing royalty interests volumes conveyed in VPP transaction are excluded from our

estimated proved reserves however the estimated production expenses and taxes associated with VPP volumes

expected to be delivered in future periods are included as reduction of the future net cash flows attributable to our

proved reserves for purposes of determining the cost center ceiling for impairment purposes and in determining our

standardized measure Pursuant to SEC guidelines the estimates used for purposes of determining the cost center

ceiling and the standardized measure are based on current costs Our commitment to bear the costs on any future

production of VPP volumes is not reflected as liability on our balance sheet The costs that will apply in the future

will depend on the actual production volumes as well as the production costs and taxes in effect during the periods in

which such production actually occurs whiàh could differ materially from our current and historical costs and production

may not occur at the times or in the quantities projected or at all

We have committed to purchase natural gas and liquids associated with our VPP transactions Production

purchased under these arrangements is based on market prices at the time of production and the purchased natural

gas and liquids are resold at market prices
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10 March2012

May2011

September 2010

February 2010

August2009

December2008

August2008

May2008

Natural

VPP Gas

bcf

18

18

80

12

11

Division

Anadarko Basin Granite

Wash

Mid-Continent

Barnett Shale

East Texas and Texas

Gulf Coast

South Texas

Anadarko and Arkoma
Basins

Anadarko Basin

Texas Oklahoma and

Kansas

Kentucky and West

Virginia

Natural

Gas

bcf

17

101

11

14

11

13

16

189

Oil

mbbl

250.5

773.0

27.0

35.9

75.1

613.0

43.2

53.3

86.1

18

125 795.6

Our outstanding VPPs consist of the following

VPP Date of VPP

Volume Sold

Natural

Proceeds Gas Oil NGL Total

in millions bcf mmbbl mmbbl bcfe

744 87 3.0 9.2 160

853 138 17 48 177

1150 390 390

180 44 0.3 46

370 67 0.2 68

412 95 0.5 98

600 93 93

622 94 94

1100 208 208December 2007

6031 1216 14.0 1334

The volumes produced on behalf of our VPP buyers for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010

were as follows

Volume Produced in 2012 Volume Produced in 2011 Volume Produced in 2010

Natural

Oil

mbbl

723.3

249.3

288.0

23.9

27.3

64.2

10

NGL

mbbl

1729.1

643.6

Gas Oil NGL

bcf mbbl mbbl

NGL

mbbl

615.4

44

15

16

13

13

15

177 1376.0 2372.7 1161.5 615.4
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The volumes remaining to be delivered on behalf of our VPP buyers as of December 31 2012 are as follows

Volume Remaining as of December 31 2012

VPP Term Remaining Natural Gas Oil NGL Total

in months bcf mmbbl mmbbl bcfe

10 110 68 2.3 7.5 127

98 102 1.2 3.5 130

32 164 164

85 26 0.2 27

49 24 0.1 25

48 35 0.2 36

79 39 39

76 31 31

120 120 120

609 4.0 11.0 699

For accounting purposes cash proceeds from the sale of VPPs were reflected as reduction of natural gas and

oil properties with no gain or loss recognized and our proved reserves were reduced accordingly

In September 2012 to facilitate the sales process associated with our Permian Basin divestiture packages we

purchased the remaining reserves from our Permian Basin VPP VPP originally sold in June 2010 for $313 million

The reserves purchased totaled 28 bcfe and were subsequently sold to the buyers of our Permian Basin assets

Midstream Divestitures

As of December 31 2012 we had sold substantially all of our remaining midstream business as described below

Chesapeake Midstream Operating In December 2012 our wholly owned midstream subsidiary CMD sold its

wholly owned subsidiary CMO which held majority of our midstream business to ACMP for total consideration of

$2.16 billion in cash subject to post-closing adjustments In connection with the sale Chesapeake entered into new

long-term agreements in which ACMP agreed to perform certain natural gas gathering and related services for us

within specified acreage dedication areas in exchange for cost-of-service based fees redetermined annually

beginning January 2014 in the Niobrara and Marcellus shale plays iicost-of-service based fees redetermined annually

beginning October 2013 for the wet gas gathering systems and January 2014 for the dry gas gathering systems in the

Utica Shale play iiitiered fees based on volumes delivered relative to scheduled volumes through 2015 and thereafter

cost-of-service based fees redetermined annually in the Eagle Ford Shale play and iv annual minimum volume

commitments and fixed fee per mmbtu of natural gas gathered subject to an annual 2.5% rate escalation through

2017 and thereafter tiered fees based on volumes delivered relative to scheduled volumes in the Haynesville Shale

play We recorded $289 million pre-tax gain associated with this transaction

Midstream Eagle Ford Oil Gathering Assets In November 2012 we sold our oil gathering business and related

assets in the Eagle Ford Shale to Plains Pipeline L.P for cash proceeds of approximately $115 million Subsequent

to December 31 2012 we received an additional $10 million of proceeds upon satisfaction of certain closing

contingency We recorded $7 million pre-tax loss associated with this transaction that will adjust to $3 million pre
tax gain with the receipt of the $10 million contingency payment in 2013 In connection with the sale we entered into

new gathering and transportation agreements covering acreage dedication areas
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Appalachia Midstream Services In December 2011 CMD sold its wholly owned subsidiary Appalachia Midstream

Services L.L.C AMS which held substantially all of our Marcellus Shale midstream assets to ACMP for total

consideration of $884 million and recorded gain of $439 million At closing we received cash of $605 million and

9791605 common units of ACMP that had value at closing of $279 million The stock consideration increased our

ownership in ACMP from 42 3% to 46 1% The assets sold included an approximate 47% ownership of an integrated

system of assets that consist of 200 miles of pipeline in the Marcellus Shale In addition CMD has committed to pay

ACMP any quarterly shortfall between the actual EBITDA from the assets sold and specified quarterly targets which

total $100 million in 2012 and $150 millionin 2013 We have recorded the fair value of this guarantee as liability See

Note for further discussion of this commitment We and other producers in the area have 5-year cost of service

gathering and compression agreements with AMS that include significant acreage dedications and an annual fee

redetermination

Springridge Gas Gathering System In December 2010 CMD sold its Springridge natural gas gathering system

and related facilities in the Haynesville Shale to ACMP for $500 million and recorded gain on the sale of $157 million

In connection with this transaction ACMP and certain Chesapeake subsidiaries entered into ten-year gathering and

compression agreements covering Chesapeakes and other producers upstream assets within an area of dedication

around the existing pipeline system The gathering and compression agreements are similar to the previously existing

gathering agreement between Chesapeake and ACMP and include minimum volume commitment through 2013 and

annual rate redetermination

12 Investments

At December31 2012 and 2011 we had the following investments

Carrying Value

Approximate Accounting
Dccember 31

Ownership Method 2012 2011

in millions

FTS International Inc 30% Equity 298 235

Chaparral Energy Inc 20% Equity 141 143

Sundrop Fuels Inc 50% Equity
111 34

Clean Energy Fuels Corp Cost 100 50

Twin Eagle Resource Management LLC 30% Equity 34 20

Maait Specialized Bulk LLC 49% Equity
13 12

Clean Energy Fuels Corp 1% Fair Value 12 12

Gastar Exploration Ltd 10% Fair Value 22

Chesapeake Midstream Partners L.P.. Equity 987

Other 11 16

Total investments 728 531

See Sold Investments below

FTS International Inc FTS International Inc FTS based in Fort Worth Texas is privately held company

which through its subsidiaries provides hydraulic fracturing and other services to oil and gas companies

In 2012 we recorded negative equitymethod adjustments prior to intercompany profit eliminations of $91 million

for our share of FTSs net loss and recorded accretion adjustments of $45 million related to the excess of our underlying

equity in net assets of FTS over our carrying value We also funded capital call of $3 million in 2012 The carrying

value of our investment in FTS was less than our underlying equity in net assets by approximately $622 million as of

December 31 2012 of which $296 million was attributed to goodwill The value attributed to goodwill decreased by

$200 million during 2012 which represents our proportionate share net of tax of an impairment recorded by FTS

related to its goodwill The value not attributed to goodwill is being accreted over the nine-year estimated useful lives

of the underlying assets
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In addition in November 2012 we purchased our pro-rata share equal to approximately $1 06million of preferred

equity securities offered by FTS to existing stockholders Each share of preferred stock isconvertible into specified

number of shares of FTS common stock automatically upon qualified initial pUblic offering of FTS common stock

and at our option at any time following the second anniversary of the issue date

Chaparral Energy Inc Chaparral Energy Inc based in Oklahoma City OlIahoma is private independent oil

and natural gas company engaged in the production acquisition and exploitation of oil and natural gas properties

In 2012 we recorded positive equity method adjustment of $4 million related to our share of Chaparrals net

income $3 million charge related to our share of its other comprehensive income and an amortization adjustment
of $3 million related to our carrying value in excess of our underlying equity in net assets The carrying value of our

investment in Chaparral was in excess of our underlying equity in net assets by approximately $52 million as of

December 31 2012 This excess is attributed to the natural gas and oil reserves held by Chaparral and is being

amortized over the estimated life of these reserves based on unit of production rate

Sundrop Fuels Inc In July 2011 we agreed to invest $155 million in preferred equity securities of Sundrop Fuels
Inc privately held cellulosic biofuels company based in Longmont Colorado The investment is being used to fund

construction of nonfood biomass-based green gasoline plant capable Of annually producing more than 40 million

gallons of gasoline from natural gas and waste cellulosic material The investment is intended to accelerate the

development of an affordable stable room-temperature natural gas-based fuel for immediate use in automobiles

diesel engine vehicles and aircraft As of December 31 2012 we had funded $115 million of our commitment of which

$80 million was funded in 2012 The remaining tranches of preferred equity investment will be scheduled around certain

funding and operational milestones that are expected to be reached by July 2013 The full investment will represent

approximately 50% of Sundrop Fuels equity on fully diluted basis

In 2012 we recorded $3 million charge related to our share pf Sundrops net loss The carrying value of our

investment in Sundrop was in excess of our underlying equity in net assets by approximately $53 million as of

December31 2012 This excess will be amortized over the life of the plant once it is placed into service

Clean Energy Fuels Corp In July 2011 we agreed to invest $150 million in newly issued convertible promissory
notes of Clean Energy Fuels Corp NasdaqCLNE based in Seal Beach California The investment is being made
in three equal $50 million promissory notes the first two of which were issued in July2011 and July 2012 with the

remaining note scheduled to be issued in June2013 The notes bear interest at the annual rate of 7.5% payable

quarterly and are convertible at our option into shares of Clean Energys common stock at 22.5% conversion premium
resulting in conversion price of $15.80 per share Under certain circumstances following the second anniversary of

the issuance of note Clean Energy can force conversion of the debt The entire principal balance of each note is

due and payable seven years following issuance Clean Energy is using our $150 million investment to accelerate its

build-out of LNG fueling infrastructure for heavy-duty trucks at truck stops across interstate highways in the U.S

In December 2011 we also purchased one million shares of Clean Energy common stock for $10 million and

classified this investment as available-for-sale and reported it at fair value During 2012the carrying value of our

investment remained the same as the common stock price of Clean Energy changed from $12.46 per share as of

December 31 2011 to $12.45 per share as of December 31 2012 Through December 31 2012 we had recorded

mark-to-market pre-tax gain of $2 million in accumulated other comprehensive income for this investment

Twin Eagle Resource Management LLC In 2010 we invested $20 million in Twin Eagle Resource Management
LLC natural gas trading and management firrn During 2012 we invested an additional $19 million and we recorded

$5 million charge related to our share of Twin Eagles net loss

Maalt Specialized Bulk LLC In 2011 PTL Prop Solutions LLC wholly owned subsidiary of Chesapeake
invested $12 million in Maalt Specialized Bulk LLC Maalt which engages in bulk transportation services of sand In

2012 we funded an additional investment of $1 million related to Maalt meetingcertain performance targets as outlined

in our investment agreement

Gastar Exploration Ltd Gastar Exploration Ltd NYSE MKT GST based in Houston Texas is an independent

energy company engaged in the exploration development and production of natural gas and oil in the Our
investment in Gastar has cost basis of $89 million and is classified as available-for-sale and reported at fair value

During 2012 the carrying value of our investment decreased as the common stock price of Gastar decreased from

$3 18 per share as of December 31 2011 to $1 21 per share as of December31 2012 In March 2009 we booked
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an other-than-temporary-impairment of $70 million and through December 31 2012 we had recorded mark-to-

market pre-tax loss of $11 million in accumulated other comprehensive income for this investment

Sold Investments

Chesapeake Midstream Partners L.P In June 2012 we sold all of our common and subordinated units

representinglimited partner interests in Chesapeake Midstream Partners L.P now named Access Midstream Partners

L.P NYSEACMP and all of our limited liability company interests in the sole member of its general partner to funds

affiliated with Global Infrastructure Partners for cash proceeds of $2.0 billion We recorded $1 .032 biltion gain

associated with the transaction including the recognition of $13 million deferred gain related to equipment previously

sold toACMP

During 2012 we recorded positive equity method adjustments of $46 million for our share ofACMPs income

received cash distributions of $56 million from ACMP and recorded accretion adjustments of $4 million related to our

share of equity in excess of cost See Note 13 for further discussion of ACMP

Utica East Ohio Midstream LLC In March 2012 CMD entered into an agreement to form Utica East Ohio

Midstream LLC UEOM with M3 Midstream L.L.C and EV Energy Partners L.P to develop necessary infrastructure

for the gathering
and processing of natural gas and NGL in the Utica Shale play in eastern Ohio We sold this investment

in connection with thesale of CMO to ACMP in December 2012 See Note 11 for further discussion

Ranch Westex JVLLC In December 2011 CMD entered into an agreement to form Ranch Westex JV LLC with

two other parties to develop construct and operate necessary infrastructure for the processing and gathering of natural

gas in Ward County Texas We sold this investment in connection with the sale of CMO to ACMP in December 2012

See Note 11 for further discussion

Glass Mountain Pipeline LLC In April 2012 CMD entered into an agreement with two other parties to form Glass

Mountain Pipeline LLC to construct 210 mile pipeline in western and north central Oklahoma in which CMD had

50% ownership interest In 2012 CMD sold its interest for $99 million and recorded gain of $62 million

13 Variable Interest Entities

We consolidate the activities of VIEs of which we are the primary beneficiary The primary beneficiary of VIE

is that variable interest holder possessing controlling financial interest through its power to direct the activities of

the VIE that most significantly impaôt the VIEs econOmic performance and ii its obligation to absorb losses or its

right to receive benefits from the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE In order to determine whether we

own variable interest in VIE we perform qualitative analysis of the entitys design organizational structure primary

decision makers and relevant agreements

Consolidated VIE

Chesapeake Granite Wash Trust For discussion of the formation operations and presentation of the Trust

please see Noncontrolling Interests in Note The Trust is considered VIE due to the lack of voting or similardecision-

making rights by its equity holders regarding activities that have significant effect on the economic success of the

Trust Our ownership in the Trust and our obligations under the development agreement and related drilling support

lien constitute variable interests We have determined that we are the primary beneficiary of the Trust as we have

the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the economic performance of the Trust via our obligations

to perform under the development agreement and ii as result of the subordination and incentive thresholds

applicable to the subordinated units we hold in the Trustwe have the obligation to absorb losses and the right to

receive residual returns that could potentially be significant to the Trust As result we consolidate the Trust in our

financial statements and the common units of the Trust owned by third parties are reflected as noncontrolling interest

The Trust is consolidated entity whose legal existence is separate from Chesapeake and our other consolidated

subsidiaries and the Trust is not guarantor of any of Chesapeakes debt The creditors or beneficial holders of the

Trust have no recourse to the general credit of Chesapeake however we have certain obligations to the Trust through

the development agreement that are secured by drilling support lien on our retained interest in the development

wells up to specified maximum amount recoverable by the Trust which could result in the Trust acquiring all or

portion of our retained interest in the undeveloped portion of an area of mutual interest if we do not meet our drilling

commitment In consolidation as of December 31 2012 approximately $430 million of net natural gas and oil properties

$21 million of current liabilities $1 million of cash and cash equivalents $4 million of short-term derivative liabilities
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and $3 million of long-term derivative liabilities were attributable to the Trust We have presented parenthetically on

the face of the consolidated balance sheets the assets of the Trust that can be used only to settle obligations of the

Trust and the liabilities of the Trust for which creditors do not have recourse to the general credit of Chesapeake

Unconsolidated VIE

Mineral Acquisition Company In 2012 MAC-LP wholly owned non-guarantor unrestricted

subsidiary of Chesapeake entered into partnership agreement with KKR Royalty Aggregator LLC KKR to form

Mineral Acquisition Company L.P The purpose of the partnership is to acquire mineral interests or royalty interests

carved out of mineral interests in oil and natural gas basins in the continental United States We are committed to

acquire for our own account outside the partnership 10% of any acquisition agreed upon by the partnership up to

maximum of $25 million and the partnership will acquire the remaining 90% up to maximum of $225 million funded

entirely by KKR making KKR the sole equity investor We have significant influence over the decisions made by the

partnership as we hold two of five seats on the board of directors We will receive proportionate distributions from the

partnership of any cash received from royalties in excess of expenses paid ranging from 7%to 22.5% The partnership
is considered VIE because KKRs control over the partnership is disproportionate to its economic interest This VIE

remains unconsolidated as the power to direct the activities of the partnership is shared between the Company and
KKR We are using the equity method to account for this investment

14 Net Gains on Sales of Fixed Assets and Impairments of Fixed Assets and Other

Net Gains on Sales of Fixed Assets

For assets outside of our full cost pool the costs of assets retired or otherwise disposed of and the applicable
accumulated depreciation are removed from accounts and the resulting gain or loss is reflected in operating costs

summary of our gains or losses by asset class for the years ended December31 2012 2011 and 2010 is as follows

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

in millions

Gathering systems and treating plants 286 440 139

Drilling rigs and equipment 10
Buildings and land

Other

Total net gains on sales 267 437 137

The net gains on sales of gathering systems and treating plants were primarily from the sale of our midstream

subsidiary CMO to ACMP in 2012 the sale of our midstream subsidiary AMS to ACMP in 2011 and the sale of our

Springridge gas gathering system t0ACMP in 2010 See Note 11 for further discussion of these transactions
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Impairments of Fixed Assets and Other

We test our long lived assets other than natural gas and oil properties for recoverability whenever events or

changes in circumstances indicate that carrying amounts may not be recoverable and recognize an impairment loss

if the carrying amount of long-lived asset is not recoverable and exceeds its fair value In 2012 2011 and 2010 we

determined that certain of our property plant and equipment were being carried at values that were not recoverable

and in excess of fair value summary of impairments by asset class for the years ended December 31 2012 2011

and 2010 is as follows

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

in millions

Buildings and land
248

Drilling rigs and equipment
60

Gathering systems and treating plants
43 21

Other 26

Total impairments
340 46 21

Buildings and Land In 2012 and 2011 we recognized $248 million and $3 million of impairment losses

respectively primarily associated with an office building and surface land located in our Barnett Shale operating area

Due to depressed natural gas prices during 2012 and Shift to more liquids-focused drilling program we have

significantly reduced our Barnett Shale operations The change in business climate related to the Barnett Shale required

us to test these long-lived assets for recoverability in 2012 We have purchase offer from third party that we used

to determine the fair value of the office building and measured the fair value of the surface land using prices from

orderly sales transactions for comparable properties between market participants The office building and surface land

are included in our other operating segment

Drilling Rigs and Equipment As our strategic focus is shifting from natural gas asset base to more balanced

natural gas and liquids asset base and as our budgeted capital expenditures are being reduced our active rig count

has decreased significantly with corresponding increase in the number of idle rigs we own or lease In 2012 we

negotiated the purchase of 25 rigs previously sold in our sale leaseback transactions described in Note from various

lessors for an aggregate price of $61 million of which $25 million was deemed to be early lease termination costs and

was recognized as impairments of fixed assets and other in the consolidated statement of operations

In 2012 we recognized $26 million of impairment losses on certain of our owned drilling rigs due to the expectation

that these particular drilling rigs would have insufficient cash flow to recover their carrying values in the business climate

due to depressed natural gas prices We estimated the fair value of the drilling rigs using prices that would be received

to sell each rig in an orderly transaction between market participants Also in 2012 we recognized $9 million of

impairment losses primarily related to drill pipe and other equipment The drilling rigs and equipment are included in

our oilfield services operating segment

Gathering Systems and Treating Plants In 2012 2011 and 2010 we recognized impairments of $6 million $43

million and $21 million respectively related to certain of our midstream assets The gathering systems and treating

plants are included in our marketing gathering and compression operating segment

Other In 2012 we recorded $26 million charge related to the shortfall of our net acreage maintenance

commitment with Total in the Barnett Shale See Net Acreage Maintenance Commitments in Note for further

discussion
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15 Fair Value Measurements

Certain financial instruments are reported at fair value on the consolidated balance sheets Under fair value

measurement accounting guidance fair value is defined as the amount that would be received from the sale of an

asset or paid for the transfer of liability in an orderly transaction between market participants i.e an exit price To

estimate an exit price three level hierarchy is used The fair value hierarchy prioritizes the inputs which refer broadly

to assumptions market participants Nould use in pricing an asset or liability into three levels Level inputs are

unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities and have the highest priority Level

inputs are inputs other than quoted prices within Level that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or

indirectly Level inputs are unobservable inputs for the financial asset or liability and have the lowest priority

Chesapeake uses market valuation approach based on available inputs and the following methods and assumptions

to measure the fair values of its assets and liabilities which may or may not be observable in the market

Recurring Fair Value Measurement

Other Current Assets Current assets related to forfeited 401k employee contributions are invested in traded

securities

Investments The fair value of Chesapeakes investment in Gastar Exploration Ltd NYSE MKT GST and Clean

Energy Fuels Corp NASDAQ CLNE common stock is based on quoted market price

Other Long-Term Assets and Liabilities Assets and liabilities related to Chesapeakes deferred compensation

plan are included in other long-term assets and other long-term liabilities respectively The fair values of these assets

and liabilities are determined using quoted market prices as the plan consists of exchange-traded mutual funds and

company common stock

Derivatives The fair value of our derivatives is based on third-party pricing models which utilize inputs that are

either readily available in the public market such as natural gas and oil forward curves and discount rates or can be

corroborated from active markets or broker quotes These values are then compared to the values given by our

counterparties for reasonableness Since natural gas oil NGL interest rate and cross currency swaps do not include

optionality and therefore generally have no unobservable inputs they are classified as Level All other derivatives

have some level of unobservable input such as volatility curves and are therefore classified as Level Derivatives

are aFso subject to the risk that either party to contract will be unable to meet its obligations We factor non-performance

risk into the valuation of our derivatives using current published credit default swap rates To date this has not had

material impact on the values of our derivatives

Debt The fair value of certain of our long-term debt is based on the face amount of that debt alpng with the value

of related designated fair value interest rate swaps We currently do not have any debt recorded at fair value since we

have no open fair value hedges
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The following table provides fair value measurement information for financial assets liabilities measured at fair

value on recurring basis as of December 31 2012

Quoted Significant

Prices in Other Significant

Active Observable Unobservable

Markets Inputs Inputs Total

Level Level Level Fair Value

in millions

Financial Assets Liabilities

Other current assets

Investments 20 20

Other long-term assets 88 88

Other long-term liabilities 87 87
Derivatives

Commodityassets 105 10 115

Commodity liabilities 13 1026 1039
Interest rate liabilities 35 35
Foreign currency liabilities 20 20

Total derivatives 37 016 979

Total 25 37 016 954

The following table provides fair value measurement information for financial assets liabilities measured at fair

value on recurring basis as of December 31 2011

Quoted Significant

Prices in Other Significant

Active Observable Unobservable

Markets Inputs Inputs Total

Level Level Level Fair Value

in millions

Financial Assets Liabilities

Investments 34 34

Other long-term assets 61 61

Other long-term liabilities 62 62
Derivatives

Commodity assets 46 55

Commodity liabilities 31 1663 1694
Interest rate liabilities 42 42

Foreign currency liabilities 38 38
Total derivatives 65 1654 1719

Total 33 65 1654 1686
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Beginning Balance as of January 12011

Total gains losses realized/unrealized

Included in earnings

Total purchases issuances sales and settlements

Sales

Settlements

Transfers in and out of Level

Ending Balance as of December 31 2011

71

1016$

1954 69 43 1371

summary of the changes in Chesapeakes financial assets liabilities classified as Level measurements

during 2012 and 2011 is presented below

Derivatives

Interest Foreign

Commodity Rate Currency

in millions

Beginning Balance as of January 2012 1654
Total gains losses realized/unrealized

Included in earnings 567

Total purchases issuances sales and settlemEnts

Sales

Settlements
____________ ___________ ___________ ___________

Ending Balance as of December 31 2012
___________ ___________ ___________

Debt

113 23

188

54 43 1371

1654$

Natural Gas Oil and
NGL Sales Interest Expense

2012 2011 20.12 2011

in millions

Total gains losses included in earnings for the period 567 113 23

Change in unrealized gains losses relating to assets

still held at reporting date 374 263

The values related to interest rate and cross currency swaps were transferred from Level to Level as

result of our ability to use data readily available in the public market to corroborate our estimated fair values
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Qualitative Disclosures about Unobseivable Inputs for Level Fair Value Measurements

The significant unobservable inputs for Level derivative contracts include unpublished forward prices of natural

gas and oil market volatility and credit risk of counterparties Changes in these inputs will impact the fair value

measurement of our derivative contracts For example an increase decrease in the forward prices and volatility of

natural gas and oil prices will decrease increase the fair value of natural gas and oil derivatives and adverse changes

to our counterparties creditworthiness will decrease the fair value of our derivatives

Quantitative Disclosures about Unobservable Inputs for Level Fair Value Measurements

FairValue
Instrument Unobservable Weighted December 31

Type Input Range Average 2012

in millions

Oil Trades Oil price volatility curve 15.79% 28.74% 21.94% 761
Physical pricing point forward

Oil Basis Swapsb curves $8.21 $18.49 13.23

Natural Gas Trades Natural gas price volatility curve 20.93% 39.44% 22.45% 240

Physical pricing point forward

Natural Gas Basis Swapsb curves $1.73 -$0.02 0.20 15

Fair value is based on an estimate derived from option models

Fair value is based on an estimate of discounted cash flows

Nonrecurring Fair Value Measurements

Fair value measurements were applied with respect to our non-financial assets measured on nonrecurring

basis to determine impairments These assets consist primarily of land buildings drilling rigs and drill pipe We have

either received bid from third party or used third party to assess the fair value of these assets Since the inputs

used are not observable in the market these assets are classified as Level in the fair value hierarchy See Note 14

for additional discussion

Fair Value of Other Financial Instruments

The following disclosure of the estimated fair value of financial instruments is made in accordance with accounting

guidance for financial instruments The carrying values of financial instruments comprising cash and cash equivalents

restricted cash accounts payable and accounts receivable approximate fair values due to the short-term maturities

of these instruments We estimate the fair value of our exchange-traded debt using quoted market prices Level

The fair value of all other debt which consists of our credit facilities and our term loans is estimated using our credit

default swap rate Level Fair value is compared to the carrying value excluding the impact of interest rate derivatives

in the table below

December 31 2012 December31 2011

Carrying Estimated Carrying Estimated

Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value

in millions

Current maturities of long-term debt Level 463 480

Long-term debt Level 9759 10457 8849 9709

Long-term debt Level 2378 2284 1749 1690
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16 Asset Retirement Obligations

The components of the change in our asset retirement obligations are shown below

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011

in millions

Asset retirement obligations beginning of period 323 301

Additions 29 20

Revisions 42

Settlements and disposals 41 16
Accretion expense 22 19

Asset retirement obligations end of period 375 323

Revisions in estimated liabilities can result from changes in estimated service and equipment costs changes in

the estimated timing of settling asset retirement obligations and changes in estimated inflation rates In 2012 we

revised our asset retirement obligations related to natural gas and oil properties based on an increase in estimated

service and equipment costs and changes to the estimated timing of settling the asset retirement obligations

17 Major Customers and Segment Information

Sales to Plains Marketing L.P constituted 11% of our total natural gas oil and NGL revenues before the effects

of hedging for the year ended December 31 2012 There were no sales to individual customers constituting 10% or

more of total revenues before the effects of hedging for the years ended December31 2011 and 2010

In accordance with accounting guidance for disclosures about segments of an enterprise and related information

we have three reportable operating segments Our exploration and production operating segment natural gas oil and

NGL marketing gathering and compression operating segment and oilfield services operating segment are managed

separately because of the nature of their products and services The exploration and production operating segment

is responsible for finding and producing natural gas oil and NGL The marketing gathering and compression operating

segment is responsible for marketing gathering and compression of natural gas oil and NGL primarily from

Chesapeake-operated wells The oilfield services operating segment is responsible for contract drilling oilfield trucking

oilfield rentals hydraulic fracturing and other oilfield services operations for both Chesapeake-operated wells and wells

operated by third parties

COO wholly owned subsidiary of COS is diversified oilfield services company that we formed in October

2011 to own and operate our oilfield services business COO provides wide range of well site services primarily to

Chesapeake and its working interest partners including contract drilling hydraulic fracturing oilfield rentals

transportation and manufacturing of natural gas compressor packages and related production equipment In connection

with the reorganization of our oilfield services subsidiaries and operations those subsidiaries were released from the

guarantees and other credit support obligations that existed for the benefit of Chesapeake and its other subsidiaries

including Chesapeakes senior notes and contingent convertible senior notes its corporate revolving bank credit facility

and its multi-counterparty hedging facility In addition COO and its subsidiaries entered into agreements with

Chesapeake pursuant to which they sublease rigs provide certain oilfield services and obtain certain administrative

services
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Management evaluates the performance of our segments based upon income loss before income taxes

Revenues from the sale of natural gas oil and NGL related to Chesapeakes ownership interests by the marketing

gathering and compression operating segment are reflected as exploration and production revenues Such amounts

totaled $5.5 billion $5.2 billion and $42 billion forthe years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

The following table presents selected financial information for Chesapeakes operating segments

For the Year Ended

December 31 2012

Revenues

Intersegment revenues

Total revenues

Exploration

and

Production

Consolidated

Total

Marketing

Gathering

and

Compression

OlIfield Other Intercompany
Services Operations Eliminations

in millions

6278 10895

5464
6278 5431

561

2624 54

3315

14

1917 21

1315 16
602

232 46

Unrealized gain loss on

natural gas oil and NGL
derivatives

Depreciation depletion

and amortization

Impairment of natural gas
and oil properties

Gains losses on sales of

fixed assets

Impairments of fixed

assets and other

Interest expense

Earnings losses on

investments

Gains losses on sales of

investments

Losses on purchases or

exchanges of debt

Income Loss Before

Income Taxes

Total Assets

Capital Expenditures

28 60

47 20 76

298 10

246

364

152

6795 12316

6795
____________

12316

561

145 2811

3315

267

340

430 77

103

1092

290

475 974

2328 41611

14108

1094

200

1798

37004

12044

1665

2291

852

112

2115

658

478

2529

554

158



CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLtDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

Marketing

Exploration Gathering

and and Oilfield Other Intercompany Consolidated

Production Compression Services Operations Eliminations Total

in millions

For the Year Ended

December 31 2011

Revenues 6024 10336 1258 5983 11635

Intersegment revenues 5246 737 5983

Total revenues 6024 5090 521 11635

Unrealized gains losses

on natural gas oil and

.JGL derivatives 789 789

Depreciation depletion

and amortization 1759 55 172 37 100 1923

Gains losses on sales of

fixed assets 441 437

Impairments of fixed

assets and other 43 46

Interest expense 42 15 48 195 256 44

Earnings on investments. 95 61 156

Losses on purchases or

exchanges of debt 176 176

Other income 260 35 278 23

Income Loss Before

Income Taxes 2561 745 72 168 330 2880

TotalAssets 35403 4047 1571 2718 1904 41835

Capital Expenditures 12201 1219 657 484 14561
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43

Marketing

Exploration Gathering
and and Oilfield Other Intercompany Consolidated

Production Compression- Services Operations Eliminations Total

in millions

For the Year Ended

December 31 2010

Revenues 5647 7655 757 4693 9366

lntersegment revenues 4176 517 4693

Total revenues 5647 3479 240 9366

Unrealized gains losses

on natural gas oil and

NGL derivatives 658 658

Depreciation depletion
and amortization 1518

Gains losses on sales of

fixed assets 139

Impairments of fixed

assets and other 20

Interest expense 17
Earnings on investments 193

Losses on purchases or

exchanges of debt

Impairment of investments

Other income 128

Income Loss Before

IncomeTaxes 2663 584 10 102 271 2884

TotalAssets 31840 3436 875 2044 1016 37179

Capital Expenditures 12932 624 313 163 14032

94 28

15

69 1614

25

137

90
34

129

134

128

21

19
227

16
129

16
16
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18 Condensed Consolidating Financial Information

Chesapeake Energy Corporation is holding company owns no operating assets and has no significant

operations independent of its subsidiaries Our obligations under our outstanding senior notes and contingent

convertible senior notes listed in Note are fully and unconditionally guaranteed jointly and severally by certain of

our wholly owned subsidiaries on senior unsecured basis Our oilfield services subsidiary COS and its subsidiaries

are not guarantors of our senior notes contingent convertible senior notes term loan or corporate credit facility but

are subject to the covenants and guarantees in the ollfield services revolving bank credit facility agreement referred

to in Note that Iimittheir abilityto pay dividends ordistributions or make loans to Chesapeake COS and its subsidiaries

were released as guarantors of our senior notes contingent convertible senior notes and corporate credit facility in

October 2011 when they were formally reorganized and capitalized Our midstream subsidiary CMD and certain of

its subsidiaries were added as guarantors of our senior notes contingent convertible senior notes term loans and

corporate credit facility in June 2012 upon the termination of the midstream credit facility CMO and those subsidiaries

were released as guarantors of our senior notes contingent convertible senior notes term loan and corporate credit

facility in December 2012 upon the sale of CMO to ACMP All prior year information has been restated to reflect COS

CMO and their subsidiaries as non-guarantor subsidiaries and CMD and certain of its subsidiaries as guarantor

subsidiaries Certain of our oilfield services subsidiaries subsidiaries with noncontroLling interests subsidiaries qualified

as variable interest entities and certain de minimis subsidiaries are also non-guarantors

Set forth below are condensed consolidating financial statements for Chesapeake Energy Corporation parent

on stand-alone unconsolidated basis and its combined guarantor and combined non-guarantor subsidiaries as of

December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 The financial information may not necessarily be indicative of results of operations

cash flows or financial position had the subsidiaries operated as independent entities
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEET

AS OF DECEMBER 31 2012

in millions

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents

Restricted cash

Other

Current assets held for sale

Total Current Assets

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Natural gas and oil properties at

bost based on full cost accounting

net

Other property and equipment net..

Property and equipment held for

sale net

Total Property and Equipment
Net

LONG-TERM ASSETS

Other assets

Long-term assets held for sale

Investments in subsidiaries and

intercompany advances

TOTAL ASSETS

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Current liabilities held for sale

Intercompany payable to receivable

from parent

Total Current Liabilities

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Long-term debt net

Deferred income tax liabilities

Other liabilities

Total Long-Term Liabilities

EQUITY

Chesapeake stockholders equity

Noncontrolling interests

Total Equity

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

2254
_____________

2472
_____________

789 5368

25571
______________

24782
______________

361 2415

235 1783

11685 4198

1068 12157

127 96 2807

839 372 2485

2034 468 17449

228

2369

111

513

29063

3066

3077

1549

Non-

Guarantor Guarantor

Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Cohsolidated

59$ 287

111

337 2546

._____
2597 687 337 2948

222 31918

4615

255 379 634

32384 5005 222 37167

217 1396 261 378 1496

185 2069
36192 5953 3006 41611

426 338 6245

24372 1330 131

29740 1777 469 6266

21 21

11089

15569 2254 2142 4396 15569

2327 2327

15569 2254 2142 2069 17896

2472 36192 5953 3006 41611
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEET

ASOF DECEMBER 31 2011

$in millions

Guarantor
Parent Sübsidiaries

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents

Restricted cash

Other 2647
__________

Total Current Assets 2649
___________

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Natural gas and oil properties at

cost based on full cost

accounting net

Other property and equipment net
___________

Total Property and Equipment
Net

_______ ___________ _________
LONG-TERM ASSETS

Other assets

Investments in subsidiaries and

intercompany advances

TOTAL ASSETS
_________

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Intercompany payable to receivable

from parent

Total Current Liabilities

_________ ______________ ____________

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Long-term debt net

Deferred income tax liabilities

Other liabilities

__________ _______________ ____________

Total Long-Term Liabilities

_________ ______________ ____________

EQUITY

Chesapeake stockholders equity

Noncontrolling interests

Total Equity ________ _____________ ___________
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Non-

Guarantor

Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

349 351

44 44

344 210 2782

737 210 3177

2$

29284 2017 101 31200

2828 2732 5560

32112 4749 101 36760

162 865 1248 377 1898

3553 1764 5317

3716 37390 6734 6005 41835

288 6431 497 134 7082

21 850 20633 1356 139

21562 27064 1853 273 7082

8226 1720 680 10626

390 2767 365 38 3484

38 2286 735 377 2682

8654 6773 1780 415 16792

16624 3553 3101 6654 16624

1337 1337

16624 3553 3101 5317 17961

3716 37390 6734 6005 41835

We have revised the amounts presented as long-term debt in the Guarantor Subsidiaries and Parent columns to

properly reflect the long-term debt issued by the Parent of $8.2 billion which wasincorrectly presented as long

term debt attributable to the Guarantor Subsidilaries as of December 31 2011 The impact of this error was not

material to our December 31 2011 financial statements
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

AS OF DECEMBER 31 2012

in millions

REVENUES

Natural gas oil and NGL

Marketing gathering and compression.

Oilfield services

Total Revenues

OPERATING EXPENSES

Natural gas oil and NGL production

Production taxes

Marketing gathering and compression.

Oilfield services

General and administrative

Natural gas oil and NGL depreciation

depletion and amortization

Depreciation and amortization of other

assets

Impairment of natural gas and oil

properties

Net gains losses on sales of fixed

assets

Impairments of fixed assets and other..

Employee retirement and other

termination benefits

Total Operating Expenses

INCOME LOSS FROM OPERATIONS

OTHER INCOME EXPENSE
Interest expense

Earnings losses on investments

Gains on sales of investments

Losses on purchases or exchanges of

debt

Other income expense

Equity in net earnings of subsidiary

Total Other Income Expense

INCOME LOSS BEFORE INCOME
TAXES

1304

188

87 5312

1136 465

535

2507

272 144 304

3315

267
340

Non
Guarantor Guarantor

Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

5858 348 72 6278

5371 211 151 5431

1940 1333 607

11229 2499 1412 12316

1280 24

182

5285

419

114

1598

122

2361 146

176

3174 141

269

275 65

12891 2492 1373 14010

1662 39 1694

858 50 84 915 77
167 55 103

1030 62 1092

200 200

891 116 15 782

667 211 878

834 486 48 1020 720

834 1176 55 981 974
INCOME TAX EXPENSE BENEFIT 65 376 21 40 380
NET INCOME LOSS 769 800 34 941 594

Net income attributable to

noncontrolling interests 175 175
NET INCOME LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE

TO CHESAPEAKE 769 800 34 766 769
Other comprehensive income loss 22 16

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME LOSS
ATTRIBUTABLE TO CHESAPEAKE 763 822 34 766 785
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

AS OF DECEMBER 31 2011

in millions

REVENUES

Natural gas oil and NGL

Marketing gathering and compression

Oilfield services

Total Revenues
_______

10936

OPERATING EXPENSES

Natural gas oil and NGL production ...
1073

Production taxes

Marketing gathering and compression

Oilfield services

General and administrative

Natural gas oil and NGL depreciation

depletion and amortization

Depreciation and amortization of other

assets

Net gains on sales of fixed assets

Impairments of fixed assets and other

Total Operating Expenses
________ ____________

INCOME LOSS FROM OPERATIONS
_______ __________

OTHER INCOME EXPENSE
Interest expense

Earnings losses on investments

Losses on purchases or exchanges of

debt

Other income

Equity in net earnings of subsidiary

Total Other Income Expense

INCOME LOSS BEFORE INCOME
TAXES

INCOME TAX EXPENSE BENEFIT
_______ __________

NET INCOME LOSS
Net income attributable to

noncontrolling interests

NET INCOME LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE
TO CHESAPEAKE

Other comprehensive income loss

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME LOSS
ATTRIBUTABLE TO CHESAPEAKE

84 54 6024

171 131 5090

1260 739 521

1515 816 11635

Non-

Guarantor Guarantor

Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

5886

5050

190

4946

477

1625

113

976

71

92
575

1073

192

4967

402

548

1632

169 217 95 291

435 437
46 46

8479 997 762 8714

2457 518 54 2921

640 12 50 658 44
61 95 156

176 176

646 20 649 23

1845 276 2121
1675 331 65 2112 41

675 788 583 166 880

67 980 227 17 1123

1742 1808 356 2149 1757

15 15

1742 1808 356 2164 1742

1751 1801 356 2164 1744
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REVENUES

Natural gas oil and NGL

Marketing gathering and compression

Oilfield services

Total Revenues

OPERATING EXPENSES

Natural gas oil and NGL production

Production taxes

Marketing gathering and compression

Oilfield services

General and administrative

Natural gas oil and NGL depreciation

depletion and amortization

Depreciation and amortization of other

assets

Net gains on sales of fixed assets

Impairments of fixed assets and other

Total Operating Expenses

INCOME LOSS FROM OPERATIONS.

OTHER INCOME EXPENSE
Interest expense

Earnings losses on investments

Gains on sales of investments

Losses on purchases or exchanges of

debt

Impairment of investments

Other income

Equity in net earnings of subsidiary

Total Other Income Expense

INCOME LOSS BEFORE INCOME
TAXES

INCOME TAX EXPENSE BENEFIT

NET INCOME LOSS
Net income attributable to

noncontrolling interests

NET INCOME LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE
TO CHESAPEAKE

Other comprehensive income loss

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME LOSS
ATTRIBUTABLE TO CHESAPEAKE

157

41 45 3352

614 406 208

410 41 453

1394 1394

161 130 71 220

135 137
21 21

712 524 6561

157 57 2805

637 74 26 718 19
34 193 227

129 129

16 16
718 11 718 16

1804 144 1948

1756 99 172 1948 79

1754 2806 329 2005 2884

20 1025 127 22 1110

1774 1781 202 1983 1774

1774 1781 202 1983 1774

14 256
___________

270

1760 1525 202 1983 1504
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

AS OF DECEMBER 31 2010

in millions

Non-

Guarantor Guarantor

Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

5603 44 5647

3475 104 100 3479

765 525 240

9078 869 581 9366

893 893

157

3356

6371
___________ ___________ ____________

2707
____________ ____________ _____________
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FORTHE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2012

in millions

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

______ _________ _________

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING

ACTIVITIES

Additions to proved and unproved

properties

Proceeds from divestitures of proved

and unproved properties

Additions to other property and

equipment ..

Other investing activities

________ ____________ ____________

Cash used in investing activities..
________ ____________ ____________

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING

ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from credit facilities

borrowings

Payments on credit facilities

borrowings

Proceeds from issuance of term loans

net of discount and offering costs

Proceeds from issuance of senior

notes net of discount and offering

costs

Cash paid to purchase debt

Proceeds from sales of noncontrolling

interests

Other financing activities

Intercompany advances net
____________

Cash provided by financing

activities
________ ____________ ____________

Net increase decrease in cash and cash

equivalents ________ ____________ ____________

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of

period
________ ____________ ____________

Cash and cash equivalents end of period..

Non
Guarantor Guarantor

Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

909 305 377 837

Ii 448 643 12091

5583 301 5884

855 1796 2651

4581 2133 2840 3874

2139 2840 4984

18336 1982 20318

20056 1594 21650

5722 5722

1263 1263

4000 4000

1077 1077

417 328 4119 4217 647

2568 504 2064 -i--

1544 590 4217 2083

226 290 64

349 351

228 59 287
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASHFLOWS
FOR THE.YEAR DECEMBER 31 2011

in millions

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

_____
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING

ACTIVITIES

Additions to proved and unproved

properties

Proceeds from divestitures of proved
and unproved properties

Additions to other property and

equipment

Other investing activities

Cash used in investing activities.

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from credit facilities

borrowings

Payments on credit facilities

borrowings

Proceeds from issuance of senior

notes net of discount and offering

costs

Cash paid to purchase debt

Proceeds from sales of noncontrolling

interests

Other financing activities

Intercompany advances net

Cash provided by financing

activities

Net increase decrease in cash and cash

equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of

period

Cash and cash equivalents end of period.
_______

Non-
Guarantor Guarantor

Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

5868 438 403 5903

10420 2021 12441

7651 -- 7651

520 1489 2009
348 719 616 987

3637 2791 616 5812

14005 1504 15509

15898 1568 17466

977 637 1614

2015 2015

1348 1348

494 1413 462 213 1168

1532 1750 218

2230 2601 213 158

248 249

101 102

2$ 349$ 351
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2010

in millions

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

Additions to proved and unproved

properties

Proceeds from divestitures of proved
and unproved properties

Additions to other property and

equipment

Other investing activities

Cash used in investing activities...

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from credit facilities

borrowings

Payments on credit facilities

borrowings

Proceeds from issuance of senior

notes net of discount and offering

costs

Proceeds from issuance of preferred

stock net of offering costs

Cash paid to purchase debt

Proceeds from sales of noncontrolling

interests

Other financing activities

Intercompany advances net

Cash provided by financing

activities

Net increase decrease in cash and cash

equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of

period

Cash and cash equivalents end of period

292 87 205

14 307

______ __________
101 102

Guarantor

Parent Subsidiaries

Non-

Guarantor

Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

5062 325 270 5117

12187

4292

502

41
8438

14384

12664

1967

2562

3434

367 641

728 723

12187

4292

824 1326
627 132 718

197 132 8503

733 15117

639 13303

1967

2562

3434

149 147 272

14
___________

______
3084 41 138 3181

293
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19 Quarterly Financial Data unaudited

data

Summarized unaudited quarterly financial data for 2012 and 2011 are as follows in millions except per share

Net earnings loss per common share

Quarters Ended

Basic

Diluted

0.11

0.11

0.39

039

Total revenues

Gross profit

Net income loss attributable to

Chesapeake

Net income loss available to common
stockholders

Net earnings loss per common share

Basic

Diluted

Quarters Ended

Total revenue less operating costs

Includes $3.315 billion ceiling testwrite-down on our natural gas and oil properties for the quarter ended

September 30 2012

March 31
2012

2419Total revenues

Gross profit

Net income loss attributable to

Chesapeakeb

Net income loss available to common
stockholders

June 30
2012

3389

738

September 30
2012

2970

3194

December 31
2012

3538

756

28 972 2012 299

71 929 2055 257

1.45 3.19

1.29 3.19

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
2011 2011 2011 2011

1612 3318 3977 2728

284 985 1483 737

162 510 922 472

205 467 879 429

0.32 0.74 1.38 0.67

0.32 0.68 1.23 0.63
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20 Recently Issued and Proposed Accounting Standards

The Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB recently issued the following standards which we reviewed

to determine the potential impact on our financial statements upon adoption

In February 2013 the FASB issued guidance on disclosure of information about changes in accumulated other

comprehensive income balances by component and significant items reclassified out of accumulated other

comprehensiveincome The new requirements include disclosing significant amountseclassified out of accumulated

other comprehensive income by the respective line items of net income if required to be reclassified to net income in

their entirety Other items are to be cross-referenced to other required disclosures that provide additional information

about those amounts The guidance is effective.for interim and annual periods beginning after December 152012
This guidance will not have an impact on our financial position or results of operations

In December 2011 the FASB issued guidance on disclosure of information about offsetting and related

arrangements to enable users of companys financial statements to understand theeffect of those arrangements on

its financial position In January 2013 the FASB issued additional guidance to clarify the scope of disclosures about

offsetting and related arrangements noting this guidance only applies to derivatives repurchase agreements and

reverse repurchase agreements and securities borrowing and securities lending transactions that are either offset in

accordance with specific criteria contained in other guidance or subject to master nethng arrangement or similar

agreement Both standards are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 2013 This

guidance will not have an impact on our financial position or results of operations
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CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Cdntinued

21 Subsequent Events

In December 2012 Chesapeake announced that it had offered voluntary separation program VSP tocertain

employees as part of the Companys ongoing efforts to improve efficiencies and reduce costs The VSP was offered

to approximately 275 employees who met criteria based upon combination of age and years of Chesapeake service

Employees had until February 201 to respond to the offer Prior to December31 2012 14 employees accepted

the offer and we recorded $2 million in charges related to their termination Subsequent to December 312012 197

employees accepted the offer and we expect to record approximately $62 million of charges in 2013 related to their

termination

On January 23 2013 Methanex Corporation and Chesapeake announced the execution of 10-year agreement

to supply all of the natural gas required for Methanexs one million tonne per year methanol plant in Geismar Louisiana

Commencement of natural gas deliveries will coincide with the startup of the plant which is expected by the end of

2014 The agreement is structured so that the natural gas price is linked to the methandl price however Chesapeake

will never receive less than $400 per mmbti for the natural gas it delivers to the plant regardless of methancilpricØs

On January 2013 we announced thatAubrey McClendon our President Chief Executive Officer CEO
and director agreed to retire from the Company Mr McClendon will continue to serve as President CEO and

director until the earlier ofApril 2013 or the time at which his successor is appointed Mr McClendons departure

from the Company will be treated as termination without cause under his employment agreement

Also on January 29 2013 the Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors approved retention awards

for 14 of the Companys senior management team in the form of time-vested stock options to purchase an aggregate

of 2.560 million shares of common stock These awards ranging from 150000 to 360000 stock options have an

exercise price equal to the closing price of the Companys common stock on the grant date and vest one-third on each

of the third fourth and fifth anniversaries of the grant date The options are subject to accelerated vesting if the executive

is terminated other than for cause during the vesting period however no accelerated vesting will occur if the executive

retires or voluntarily resigns prior to vesting

On February 25 2013 Chesapeake Energy Corporation and Sinopec International Petroleum Exploration and

Production Corporation Sinopec announced the execution of an agreement which provides for Sinopec to purchase

50% undivided interest in 850000 of our net oil and natural gas leasehold acres in the Mississippi Lime play in

northern Oklahoma 425000 acres net to Sinopec The total consideration for the transaction will be $1.02 billion in

cash of which approximately 93% will be received upon closing Payment of the remaining proceeds will be subject

to certain customarytitle contingencies Production from these assets including Mississippi Lime and otherformations

net to our interest and prior to Sinopecs purchase averaged approximately 34 thousand barrels of oil equivalent per

day in the 2012 fourth quarter and as of December 31 2012 there was approximately 140 million barrels of oil

equivalent of net proved reserves associated with the assets All future exploration and development costs in the joint

venture will be shared proportionately between the parties with no drilling carries involved As the operator of the

project we will conduct all leasing drilling completion operations and marketing activities for the joint venture The

transaction is anticipated to be completed in the 2013 second quarter
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Schedule II

CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNT

Description
___________ ___________ ___________ ____________

December 31 2012

Allowance for doubtful accounts

Valuation allowance for deferred tax

assets

December31 2011

Allowance for doubtful accounts

Valuation allowance for deferred tax

assets

December 31 2010

Allowance for doubtful accounts

Valuation allowance for deferred tax

assets

Additions

Balance Charged Charged Balance

Beginning to to Other at End

of Period Expense Accounts Deductions of Period

in millions

19 19

18 19

24 18
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ITEM Changes In and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Not applicable

ITEM 9A Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures designed to ensUre that information required to be disclosed in

reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded processed summarized and reported within the time

periods specified in SEC rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to management

including our principal executive and principal financial officers as appropriate to allow timelydecisions regarding

required disclosure At the end of the period covered by this report we carried out an evaluation under the supervision

and with the participation of management including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of the

effectiveness of the design and operation of Chesapeakes disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Exchange

Act Rule 13a-15b Based upon that evaluation our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded

that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31 2012

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31 2012

which materially affected orwas reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting

Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Managements annual report on internal control over financial reporting is included in Item of this report

ITEM 9B Other Information

Not applicable
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Part III

ITEM 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The names of executive officers and certain other senior officers of the company and their ages titles and

biographies as of the date hereof are incorporated by reference from Item of this report The other information called

for by this Item 10 is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive Proxy Statement to be filed by Chesapeake

pursuant to Regulation 4A of the General Rules and Regulations under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 not later

thanApril302013

ITEM 11 Executive Compensation

The information called for by this Item 11 is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive Proxy Statement to

be filed by Chesapeake pursuant to Regulation 14A of the General Rules and Regulations under the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 not later than April 30 2013

ITEM 12 Security Ownership of CertainBeneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder

Matters

The information called for by this Item 12 is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive Proxy Statement

to be filed by Chesapeake pursuant to Regulation 14A of the General Rules and Regulations under the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 not later than April 30 2013

ITEM 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

The information called for by this Item 13 is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive Proxy Statement

to be filed by Chesapeake pursuant to Regulation 14A of the General Rules and Regulations under the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 notlater than April30 2013

ITEM 14 PrincipalAccountant Fees and Services

The information called for by this Item 14 is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive Proxy Statement

to be filed by Chesapeake pursuant to Regulation 14A of the General Rules and Regulations under the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 not later than April 30 2013
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PART IV

ITEM 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

The following financial statements financial statement schedules and exhibits are filed asa part of this report

Financial Statements Chesapeake consolidated financial statements are included in Item of this report

Reference is made to the acconpanying Index to Financial Staternents

Financial Statement Schedules Schedule II is included in Item of this report with our consolidated financial

statements No other financial statement schedules are applicable or required

Exhibits The following exhibits are filed herewith pursuant to the requirements of Item 601 of Regulation

Exhibit Description
________ ___________ ________ __________ __________ __________

Purchase Agreement dated June
-________ ___________ _________ ___________ __________ __________

2012 by and among
Chesapeake Mktream Holdings

L.L.C and GIP II Eagle Holding

L.P GIP II Eagle Holding L.P

and GIP II Eagle Holding L.P

Purchase Agreement dated Jvne 8-K

2012 by and betWeen

Chesapeake Midstream Holdings
L.L.C and GIP II Eagle Holding
L.P

Unit Purchase Agreement dated

December 11 2012 between

Access Midstream Partners L.P
and Chesapeake Midstream

Development L.L.C

3.1.1 Chesapeakes Restated Certificate

of Incorporation as amended

3.1.2 Certificate of Designation of 5%
Cumulative Convertible Preferred

Stock Series 2005B as

amended

Certificate of Designation of 4.5%

Cumulative Convertible Preferred

Stock as amended

Certificate of Designation of 5.75%
Cumulative Non-Voting

Convertible Preferred Stock

Series

8-K 001-13726 2.1 12/17/2012

10 001 13726 31 8/10/2009

10-Q 001-13726 3.1.4 11/10/2008

Certificate of Designation of 5.75% 0-Q 001-13726 3.1.5 8/9/2010

Cumulative Non-Voting
Convertible Preferred Stock as

amended

3.2 Chesapeakes Amended and 8-K 001-13726 3.2 6/8/2012

Restated Bylaws

Indenture dated as of August 16
2005 among Chesapeake as

issuer the subsidiaries signatory

thereto as Subsidiary Guarantors

and The Bank of New York Mellon

Trust Company N.A as Trustee

with respect to 6.5% Senior Notes

due 2017

Exhibit

Number

2.1

2.3

Incorporated by Reference

SEC File Filing Filed Furnished
Form Number Exhibit Date Herewith Herewith

8-K 001-13726 2.1 6/13/2012

001-13726 2.2 6/13/2012

3.1.3

3.1.4

3.1.5

10-Q 001-13726 3.1.6 8/11/2008

8-K 001-13726 3.2 5/20/2010

4.1 8-K 001-13726 4.1 8/16/2005
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incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Description

Indenture dated as of November
2005 among Chesapeake as

issuer the subsidiaries signatory
thereto as Subsidiary Guarantors

and The Bank of New York Mellon
Trust Company N.A as Trustee
with respect to 6.875% Senior

Notes due 2020

Indenture dated as of NQvember
2005 among Chesapeake as

issuer the subsidiaries signatory
thereto as Subsidiary Guarantors

and The Bank of New York Mellon

Trust Company N.A as Trustee
with respect to 2.75% Contingent
Convertible Senior Notes due
2035

Indenture dated as of June 30
2006 among Chesapeake as

issuer the subsidiaries signatory
thereto as Subsidiary Guarantors

and The Bank of New York Mellon
Trust Company N.A as Trustee
with respect to 7.625% Senior

Notes due 2013

Indenture dated as of December
2006 among Chesapeake as

issuer the subsidiaries signatory
thereto as Subsidiary Guarantors
The Bank of New York Mellon Trust

Company N.A as Trustee AIB/

BNY Fund Management Ireland
Limited as Irish Paying Agent and
Transfer Agent and The Bank of

New York London Branch as

Registrar Transfer Agent and

Paying Agent with respect to

6.25% Senior Notes due 2017

Indenture dated as of May 15 2007

among Chesapeake as issuer the

subsidiaries signatory thereto as

Subsidiary Guarantors and The
Bank of New York Mellon Trust

Company N.A as Trustee with

respect to 2.5% Contingent
Convertible Senior Notes due
2037

Indenture dated as of May 27 2008

among Chesapeake as issuer the

subsidiaries signatory thereto as

Subsidiary Guarantors and The
Bank of New York Mellon Trust

Company N.A as Trustee with

respect to 7.25% Senior Notes due
2018

Indenture dated as of May 27 2008

among Chesapeake as issuer the

subsidiaries signatory thereto as

Subsidiary Guarantors and The
Bank of New York Mellon Trust

Company N.A as Trustee with

respect to 2.25% Contingent
Convertible Senior Notes due
2038

Furnished

Herewith

Exhibit

Number

45

4.6

4.8

SEC File Filing Filed
Form Number Exhibit Date Herewith

8-K 001-13726 4.12.1 11/15/2005

8-K 001-13726 4.12.2 11/15/2005

001 13726 6/30/2006

001-13726 12/6/2006

8-K 001 -1 3726 4.1 5/15/2007

001 13726 5/29/2008

8-K 001-13726 4.2 5/29/2008
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit
SEC File Filing Filed

Number Exhibit Description
Form Number Exhibit Date Herewith

4.9.1 Indenture dated as of February 8-K 001-1 3726 4.1 213/2009

2009 among Chesapeake as

issuer the subsidiaries signatory

thereto as Subsidiary Guarantors

and The Bank of New York Mellon

Trust Company N.A as Trustee

with respect to 9.5% Senior Notes

due 2015

First Supplemental Indenture dated

as of February 10 2009 to

Indenture dated as of February

2009 with respect to additional

9.5% Senior Notes due 2015

4.10.1 Indenture dated as of August

2010 among Chesapeake as

issuer the subsidiaries signatory

thereto as Subsidiary Guarantors

and the Bank of New York Mellon

Trust Company N.A as Trustee

4.10.2 First Supplemental Indenture dated

as of August 17 2010 to Indenture

dated as of August 2010 with

respect to 6.875% Senior Notes

due 2018

4.10.3 Second Supplemental Indenture

dated as of August 17 2010 to

Indenture dated as of August

2010 with respect to 6.625% Senior

Notes due 2020

4.10.4 Fifth Supplemental Indenture dated

February 11 2011 to Indenture

dated as of August 2010 with

respect to 6.125% Senior Notes

due 2021

4.10.5 Ninth Supplemental Indenture

dated February 16 2012 to

Indenture dated as of August

2010 with respect to 6.775%

Senior Notes due 2019

4.11.1 Eighth Amended and Restated

Credit Agreement dated as of

December 2010 among

Chesapeake Energy Corporation

as the Company Chesapeake

Exploration L.L.C as Borrower

Union Bank N.A as

Administrative Agent Wells Fargo

Bank National Association The

Royal Bank of Scotland plc and

BNP Paribas as Co-Syndication

Agent Credit Agricole Corporate

and Investment Bank as

Documentation Agent and the

several lenders from time to time

parties thereto

4.11.2 First Amendment to Eighth

Amended and Restated Credit

Agreement dated as of September

19 2011 among Chesapeake

Energy Corporation as the

Company Chesapeake

Exploration L.L.C as Borrower

Union Bank N.A as

Administrative Agent the other

agents named therein and the

several lenders parties thereto

4.9.2

Furnished

Herewith

8K 001-13726 4.2 2/17/2009

S-3 333-168509 4.1 8/3/2010

BA 001 13726 42 9/24/2010

8-A 001-13726 4.3 /24/2010

BA 001 13726 42 2/22/2011

8A 001 13726 42 2/24/2012

001 13726 41 12/8/2010

10-Q 001-13726 4.12.1 11/9/2011
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Description

Second Amendment to Eighth

Amended and Restated Credit

Agreement dated as of October12

2011 among Chesapeake Energy

Corporation as the Company
Chesapeake Exploration L.L.C as

Borrower Union Bank N.A as

Administrative Agent the other

agents named therein and the

several lenders parties thereto

4.11.4 Third Amendment to Eighth

Amended and Restated Credit

Agreement dated as of September

25 2012 among Chesapeake

Energy Corporation as the

Company Chesapeake

Exploration L.L.C as Borrower

Union Bank N.A as

Administrative Agent the other

agents named therein and the

several lenders parties thereto

4.11.5 Fourth Amendment to Eighth

Amended and Restated Credit

Agreement dated as of December

19 2012 among Chesapeake

Energy Corporation as the

Company Chesapeake

Exploration L.L.C as Existing

Borrower Chesapeake

Appalachia L.L.C and

Chesapeake Louisiana L.P as

New Borrowers Union Bank N.A
as Administrative Agent the other

agents named therein and the

several lenders parties thereto

4.12 Credit Agreement dated as of

November 2012 among

Chesapeake Energy Corporation

as Borrower Bank of America as

Administrative Agent Goldman

Sachs Bank USA and Jefferies

Finance LLC as Syndication

Agent and the several banks and

other financial institution or entities

from time to time parties thereto

10.1ff Chesapeakes 2003 Stock

Incentive Plan as amended

10.1.2t Form of Amended 2012 Restricted

Stock Award Agreement for

Chesapeakes 2003 Stock

Incentive Plan

10.1.3t Form of 2013 Restricted

Award Agreement

Chesapeakes 2003

Incentive Plan

10.2t Chesapeakes 1992 Nonstatutdry

Stock Option Plan as amended

10.3j- Chesapeakes 1994 Stock Option

Plan as amended

10.4t Chesapeakes 1996 Stock Option

Plan as amended

10.5t Chesapeakes 1999 Stock Option

Plan as amended

0.6t Chesapeakes 2000 Employee
Stock Option Plan as amended

Exhibit

Number

4.11.3

SEC File Filing Filed Furnished

Form Number Exhibit Date Herewith Herewith

10-0 001-13726 4.12.2 11/9/2011

10-0 OQI-13726 4.1 10/1/2012

8-K 001-13726 4.1 11/13/2012

10-0 001-13726 10.1 .1 11/9/2009

10-Q 001-13726 10.1.2 2/14/1997

10-0 001-13726 10.1.3 11/7/2006

10-0 001-13726 10.1.4 11/712006

10-0 001-13726 10.1.5 8/11/2008

10-0 001-13726 10.1.6 8/11/2008

Stock

for

Stock
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit SEC File Filing Filed Furnished

Number Exhibit Description Form Number Exhibit Date Herewith Herewith

10.7t Chesapeakes 2001 Stock Option 10-0 001-13726 10.1.8 8/11/2008

Plan as amended

10.8t Chesapeakes 2001 Nonqualified 10-0 001-13726 10.1.10 8/11/2008

Stock Option Plan as amended

10.9t Chesapeakes 2002 Stock Option 10-Q 001-13726 10.1.11 8/11/2008

Plan as amended

10.lOt Chesapeakes 2002 Non- 10-Q 001-13726 10.1.12 8/11/2008

Employee Director Stock Option
Plan

10.1ff Chesapeakes 2002 Nonqualified 10-Q 001-13726 10.1.13 8/11/2008

Stock Option Plan as amended

10.12 Chesapeakes 2003 Stock Award 10-K 001-13726 10.1.14 2/29/2008
Plan for Non-Employee Directors

as amended

10.13.lt Chesapeakes Amended and 8-K 001-13726 10.1.14 6/8/2012
Restated Long Term Incentive

Plan

10.13.2t Form of Amended 2012 Restricted

Stock Award Agreement for

Amended and Restated Long Term
Incentive Plan

10.13.3t Form of 2013 Restricted Stock 8-K 001-13726 10.3 2/4/2013
Award Agreement for Amended
and Restated Long Term Incentive

Plan

10.13.4t Form of Nonqualified Stock Option 8-K 001-13726 10.1 2/4/2013

Agreement for Amended and
Restated Long Term Incentive Plan

10.13.51- Form of Retention Nonqualified 8-K 001-13726 10.2 2/4/2013

Stock Option Agreement for

Amended and Restated Long Term

Incentive Plan

10.13.61- Form of Amended 2012 Non-

Employee Director Restricted

Stock Award Agreement for

Amended and Restated Long Term

Incentive Plan

10.13.71- Form of 2013 Non-Employee
Director Restricted Stock Award

Agreement for Amended and
Restated Long Term Incentive

Plan

10.13.8t Form of 2012 Performance Share 8-K 001-13726 10.1.17 12/21/2011

Unit Award Agreement for

Amended and Restated Long Term
Incentive Plan

10.13.91- Form of 2013 Performance Share

Unit Award Agreement for

Amended and Restated Long Term

Incentive Plan

10.14t Restated Founder Well 8-K 001-13726 1.2 5/2/2012

Participation Program

10.151- Chesapeake Energy Corporation 10-K 001-13726 10.1.13 .3/1/2011

Amended and Restated Deferred

Compensation Plan

10.16t Chesapeake Energy Corporation
Deferred Compensation Plan for

Non-Employee Directors
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit SEC File Filing Filed Furnished

Number Exhibit Description Form Number Exhibit Date Herewith Herewith

10.17t Third Amended and Restated 10-Q 001-13726 10.2.1 5/1112009

Employment Agreement dated as

of March 2009 between Aubrey
McClendon and Chesapeake

Energy Corporation

10.18t Employment Agreement dated as

ofJanuaryl 2013 between Steven

Dixon and Chesapeake Energy

Corporation

10.19t Employment Agreement dated as

of January 2013 between

Domenic DellOsso Jr and

Chesapeake Energy Corporation

10.20t Employment Agreement dated as

of January 2013 between

Douglas Jacobson and

Chesapeake Energy Corporation

10.2ff Employment Agreement dated as

of January 2013 between Jeffrey

Fisher and Chesapeake Energy

Corporation

10.22t Form of Employment Agreement 8-K 001-13726 10.1 1/7/2013

dated as of January 2013

between Executive Vice Presidentl

Senior Vice President and

Chesapeake Energy Corporation

10.23 Letter Agreement dated as of April 8-K 001-13726 1.1 5/2/2012

30 2012 between the Board of

Directors and Aubrey
McClendon

10.24t Form of Indemnity Agreement for 8-K 001-13726 10.3 6/27/2012

officers and directors of

Chesapeake and its subsidiaries

12 Ratios of Earnings to Fixed

Charges and Combined Fixed

Charges and Preferred Dividends

21 Subsidiaries of Chesapeake

23.1 Consent of

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

23.2 Consent of Netherland Sewell

Associates Inc

23.3 Consent of PetroTechnical

Services Division of Schlumberger

Technology Corporation

23.4 Consent of Ryder Scott Company
L.P

31.1 Aubrey McClendon President

and Chief Executive Officer

Certification pursuant to Section

302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of

2002

31.2 Domenic DellOsso Jr
Executive Vice President and Chief

Financial Officer Certification

pursuant to Section 302 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 Aubrey McClendon President

and Chief Executive Officer

Certification pursuant to Section

906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of

2002
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Exhibit Description

Domenic DØliOsso Jr
Executive Vice President and Chief

Financial Officer Certification

pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

99.1 Report of Netherland Sewell

Associates Inc

99.2 Report of PetroTechnical Services

Division of Schlumberger

Technology Corporation

99.3 Report of Ryder Scott Company

101.INS XBRL Instance Document

101 .SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension

Schema Document

101 .CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension

Calculation Linkbase Document

101 .DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension

Definition Lirikbase Document

101 .LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels

Linkbase Document

101 .PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension

Presentation Linkbase Document

Schedules and exhibits omitted pursuant to Item 601b2 of Regulation S-K The Company agrees to furnish supplementally copy of any
omitted schedule or exhibit to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request subject to the Companys right to request confidential

treatment of any requested exhibit or schedule

The Company agrees to furnish copy of any of its unfiled long-term debt instruments to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon

request

Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement

Exhibit

umber

32.2

Incorporated by Reference

SEC File Filing Filed

Form Number Exhibit Date Herewith

FurniØhed

Herewith
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the registrant has

duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION

Date March 2013 By IS AUBREY MCCLENDON

Aubrey McClendon
President and Chief Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

Each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Aubrey McClendon and Domenic

DellOsso Jr and each of them either one of whom may act without joinder of the other his true and lawful attorneys-

in-fact and agents with full power of substitution and resubstitution for him and in his name place and stead in any

and all capacities to sign any or all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and to file the same with all

exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith with the Securities and Exchange Commission granting

unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents and each of them full power and authority to do and perform each and every

act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises as fully to all intents and purposes as he

might or could do in person hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents and each of

them or the substitute or substitutes of any or all of them may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by the

following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated

/s LOUIS SIMPSON

Louis Simpson

Date

March 12013

March 2013

March 12013

Signature Capacity

/s AUBREY MCCLENDON
President and Chief Executive Officer

Aubrey McClendon Principal Executive Officer

Is DOMENIC DELLOSSO JR Executive Vice President

and Chief Financial Officer

Domenic DellOsso Jr
Principal Financial Officer

Is MICHAEL JOHNSON Senior Vice President Accounting Controller

and Chief Accounting Officer

Michael Johnson
Principal Accounting Officer

Is ARCHIE DUNHAM

Archie Dunham Chairman of the Board

/s/ BOB ALEXANDER

Bob Alexander Director

Is BURNS HARGIS

Burns Hargis Director

Is VINCENT INTRIERI

Vincent Intrieri Director

1sf BRAD MARTIN

Brad Martin Director

Is MERRILL MILLER JR

Merrill Miller Jr Director

IS FREDRIC POSES

Fredric Poses Director

March 2013

March 12013

March 12013

March 2013

March 2013

March 12013

March 2013

Director March 12013
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NFORMA

6100 North Western Avenue The letter to shareholders includes forward-looking statements that give our

Oklahoma City OK 73118 current expectations or forecasts of future events They include our planned

405 848 8000 drilling activity and capital expenditures resulting expected production natural

gas price trends and future asset sales as well as statements concerning

anticipated cash flow and liquidity our business strategy and objectives for fu

Company financial information public disclosures ture operations Although we believe the expectations and forecasts reflected

and other information are available through in these and other forward looking statements are reasonable we can give no

Chesapeakes website at We will assurance they will prove to have been correct They can be affected by mac

promptly deliver free of charge upon request curate assumptions or by known or unknown risks and uncertainties Factors

copy of the annual report on Form 10-K to any that could cause actual results to differ materially from expected results are

shareholder requesting copy Requests should described under Risk Factors in Item 1A of our 2012 Annual Report on Form

be directed to Investor Relations at our corporate 10 included in this report We caution you not to place undue reliance on

headquarters address forward looking statements and we undertake no obligation to update this in

formaiion We urge you to carefully review and consider the disclosures made

in this report and our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission

Chesapeake Energy Cci porations common stock regarding the risks and factors that may affect our business

is listed on the New York Stock Exchange NYSE

under the symbol CHK As of March 31 2013

there were approximately 355000 beneficial own

ers of our common stock
2013 High Low Last

First Quarter 22.97 16.32 20.41

During 2012 the company declared cash dlvi

dend of $00875 per share on March June 12 2012 High Low Last

September 24 and December 17 for total divi

Fourth Quarter 21.66 16.23 16.62

dend declared of $0 35 per share
Third Quarter 20 64 16 62 1887

Second Quarter 23.69 13 32 18.60

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
First Quarter 26.09 20 41 23.17

6120 South Yale Suite 1850

Tulsa OK 74136 201 High ow as

918 524-1200
Fourth Quarter 29.87 22.00 22.29

Third Quarter 35 75 25 54 25 55

Communication concerningthe transfer of shares
Second Quarter 34.70 27.28 29.69

lost certficates duplicate mailings or change of First Quarter 35.95 25 93 33 52

address notifications should be directed to our

transfer agent
oio High Low Last

Computershare Trust Company

250 Royall Stre
Fourth Quarter 26 43 20.97 25 91

Canton MA 02021
hird Quarter 23.00 19.68 22.65

800 884 4225
Second Quarter 25 55 19 62 20 95

FirstQuarter 29.22 22.10 23.64

Issued prior to 2073

The Bank of New York

Mellon Trust Company

101 Barclay Street 8th Floor
CHK

New York NY 10286

110 NYSE

/ssuedin2Ol3 /CHESAPEAK

Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas

60 Wall Street 37th Floor

NewYork NY 10005

or
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